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FRB RICHMOND 
Annual Report of Holding Companies-FR Y-6 

Report at the close of business as of the end of fiscal year 

This Report is required by law: Section 5(c)(1 )(A) of the Bank 
Holding Company Act (12 U.S.C. § 1844(c)(1 )(A)); sections 8(a) 
and 13(a) of the International Banking Act (12 U.S.C. §§ 3106(a) 
and 3108(a)); sections 11(a)(1), 25, and 25A of the Federal 
Reserve Act (12 U.S.C. §§ 248(a)(1), 602, and 611a); and sec­
tions 113,165,312,618, and 809 of the Dodd-Frank Act (12 U.S.C. 
§§ 5361, 5365, 5412, 1850a(c)(1), and 5468(b)(1)). Return to the 
appropriate Federal Reserve Bank the original and the number of 
copies specified. 

NOTE: The Annual Report of Holding Companies must be signed by 
one director of the top-tier holding company. This individual should 
also be a senior official of the top-tier holding company. In the event 
that the top-tier holding company does not have an individual who is 
a senior official and is also a director, the chairman of the board must 
sign the report. If the holding company is an ESOP/ESOT formed as 
a corporation or is an LLC, see the General Instructions for the 
authorized individual who must sign the report. 
I, James S. Mahan, Ill 

Name of the Holding Company Director and Official 

Chairman of Board/CEO 
Title of the Holding Company Director and Official 

attest that the Annual Report of Holding Companies (including 
the supporting attachments) for this report date has been pre­
pared in conformance with the instructions issued by the Federal 
Reserve System and are true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge and belief. 

With respect to information regarding individuals contained in this 
report, the Reporter certifies that it has the authority to provide this 
information to the Federal Reserve. The Reporter also certifies 
that it has the authority, on behalf of each individual, to consent or 
object to public release of information regarding that individual. 
The Federal Reserve may assume, in the absence of a request for 
confidential treatment submitted in accordance with the Board's 
"Rules egarding Availability of Information," 12 C.FR. Part 261, 
that e eporter and individual consent to public release of all 
det Is I the report c nc ning tha~ al. 

. II./ 

or holding companies not registered with the SEC­
Indicate status of Annual Report to Shareholders: 

D is included with the FR Y-6 report 

D will be sent under separate cover 
D is not prepared 

For Federal Reserve Bank Use Only 

RSSDID 

C.I. ---------

This report form is to be filed by all top-tier bank holding compa­
nies, top-tier savings and loan holding companies, and U.S. inter­
mediate holding companies organized under U.S. Jaw, and by 
any foreign banking organization that does not meet the require­
ments of and is not treated as a qualifying foreign banking orga­
nization under Section 211.23 of Regulation K (12 C.F.R. § 
211.23). (See page one of the general instructions for more detail 
of who must file.) The Federal Reserve may not conduct or spon­
sor, and an organization (or a person) is not required to respond 
to, an information collection unless it displays a currently valid 
0MB control number. 

Date of Report (top-tier holding company's fiscal year-end): 

December 31, 2017 
Month / Day/ Year 

N/A 
Reporter's Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) (20-Character LEI Code) 

Reporter's Name, Street, and Mailing Address 

Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 

Legal Title of Holding Company 

1741 Tiburon Drive 
(Mailing Address of the Holding Company) Street/ P.O. Box 

Wilmington North CarolirE) 28403 -------
City State Zip Code 

Physical Location (if different from mailing address) 

Person to whom questions about this report should be directed: 
S. Brett Caines Chief Financial Officer 
Name 

910-796-1645 
Area Code/ Phone Number/ Extension 

910-799-7104 
Area Code/ FAX Number 

brett.caines@liveoak.bank 
E-mail Address 

www.liveoakbank.com 

Title 

Address (URL) for the Holding Company's web page 

Is confidential treatment requested for any portion ~ 
of this report submission?.............................. '1=vesCTJ 
In accordance with the General Instructions for this report 
(check only one), 

1. a letter justifying this request is being provided along 
with the report ...• .. , . . .. .. .. . .. . ... . ... ..... . ... . .................. D 

2. a letter justifying this request has been provided 
separately ............................................................ D 

NOTE: Information for which confidential treatment is being 
requested must be provided separately and labeled 
as "confidential." 

Public reporting burden for this information collection is estimated to vary from 1.3 to 101 hours per response, with an average of 5.50 hours per response, including lime to gather and 
maintain data in the required form and to review instructions and complete the information collection. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of 
information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to: Secretary, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2Dth and C Streets, NW, Washington, DC 20551, and to the 



FormFRY..fi 

UVE OAK BANCSHARES, INC 
Wilmington, North Carolina 
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2017 

Report Item 1: Annual Report to Sharehof~rs 

The bank holding company prepares an audited annual report for its shareholders and it is part of its annual SEC Forni 1~ filil'IQ. 

Report Item 2: Organization Chart 

!Q.fil§Q_ ~ 

3884863 Live Oak Bancshares, Inc 
3650808 Live Oak Banking Company 
4558312 Government Loan SoMions, Inc 
4905813 Live Oak Grove, LLC 
4552673 504 Fund Advisors, LLC 
5046937 Canapi, Inc (formerly Live Oak Ventures, Inc) 
5099979 Relteo, Inc. 
5099988 N111:l0Nt ~m'lnoa, ~ . Inc 
5167216 Apiture, LLC 
5130304 Payrailz, LLC 

Live Oak Clean Energy Financing, LLC 
Finxact LLC 

Report ftffl1 2b: Depository Institution Branch Listing 
Detail report enclosed 

Report Item 3: Securities Holders 
Detail report enclosed 

Report Item 4: Insiders 
Detail report enclosed. 

~ 

Wifmington, North Carolina, US 
Wilmington, North Carolina, US 
Wilmington, North Carolina, US 
Wilmington, North Carolina, US 
WUmi~on. North Carolina, US 
Wilmington, North Carolina, US 
Tampa, Florida, US 
Tampa, Florida, US 
Austin, Texas. US 
Glastonbury, Connecticut, US 
Wilmington, North Carolina. US 
Jacksonville, FL, US 

INTERCOMPANY OVVNERSHIP 

Bank Holding Company 
Subsidiary-state Non~ember Bank 
Subsidiary Non-Sank Other Company 
Subsidiary Non-Bank oth~r Company 
Subsidiary Non-Sank Other Company 
Subsidiary Non-Bank other Company 
Subsidiary Non-Sank other Company 
Subsidiary Non-Bank Other Company 
Subsidiary No~Bank other Company 
S~idiary Non-Bank other Company 
Subsidiary Non-Sank Other Company 

OWNERSHIP% 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
1000Ai 
100% 
100% 
50% 

<25% 
100% 

MANAGEMENT 

Managing Direct Hofder of Uve Oak Banking Company; Live Oak Ventures, Inc; Reltco, Inc,; National Assurance rctte, Inc, and Government Loan S<lluttons, Inc 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Manager) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Manag9') 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. (Non-Managing Member) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Non-ManaSJinA Member) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Manager) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (MaMger) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Manager) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Non-Managing Member) 
Live oak Bancshares, Inc (No~Managing Member) 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc (Manager) 
Not reportable on FRY-10 

\ 



r+exn g.._ 

Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. Organizational Chart as of 12/31/17 

Live Oak Bancshares, Inc.* 
Wilmington, NC 

State of Incorporation: NC 

' 
Live Oak Clean Energy Financing LLC* Canapi, Inc.* 

Wilmington, NC Live Oak Banking Company* Wilmington, NC 
State of Incorporation: NC Wilmington, NC State of Incorporation: DE 

100% Member and Sole Manager State of Incorporation: NC 100% of Common Stock 

100% of Common Stock I 
Live Oak Grove, LLC* 

Finxact LLC* 
Wilmington, NC 

Jacksonville, FL 
State of Incorporation: NC 

100% Non-Managing Member 
, State of Incorporation: DE 

(Not reportable on FR Y-10) Apiture LLC* 
~ Wilmington NC ' 

Reltco, Inc.* State of Incorporation: DE Payrailz LLC* 
Tampa, FL 50% Voting in Class L Units Glastonbury, CT 

State of Incorporation: Fl State of Incorporation: DE 
100% of Common Stock 17% Voting in Class A Units 

l 
National Assurance Title, Inc.* 

Government Loan Solutions, Inc.* 504 Fund Advisors, LLC* 

Tampa, FL 
Wilmington, NC 

4--- '-----+ 
Wilmington, NC 

State of Incorporation: Fl 
State of Incorporation: NC State of Incorporation: IL 

100% of Common Stock 100% of Common Stock 100% Non-Managing Member 

• No entities have an LEI 



Uve O•k S.ncdu:ra., Inc. 
Wilmington, NC 28403 
2017fRY-6 
ltem2b. 

R ... lt<: A list of bnon<M> foryo<&t d•pository ln,lflvtlon! LIVE OOX SANiuNG COMPA/IY (ID.=: 36'5080$). 
ThOI d<po,itory IMtnutlon b h<ld b'( lM OJ« 8Ar,CSKAP_fS. INC. (3864S63) of Wl~MINGTO!v, NC. 
The daui U* as of 12/31}2017. O•t• r'C'Ht<ts lnfom,.a,tiof't th• l WH rec~ aind proceued throuah OJ/ 10/)017. 

A:!(Ondlt.tlon ! 9d V•riflatign Sttp'J 
L ·tn t h& D•lll A.t:tion column or CKh branch row, enter one or more of the actions specified below 
2. If required, enter the date in the Effectfve Date column 

~ 
OIC:: tf the: bt~nch lnform,Uon ti corr«t, t'n~ , 'OK' In th!! Oat. Actlcn coJufTIA, 
OMinp: Uthe b,-l'd, fn rormin1on 1, M'ICOffC'd Of lncamplett, n?o/1.s.t the d.al3. 111,tcr ·~ e· In tM Oata AttiOn column 11nd tht. d&tl' when this JO formation fir,-1 became v•Ud In the Effective Date column. 
Oo,.e,: tf 11 brillnc.h i.,1ect wms sold or dosed, e:nlcr ·aos.e• In lhie Oat.a Action column and the wilf. o, dosu~ d1ue n, thct EffffliY• D.ate column. 
Offl'te,: If~ bRnch listed wuncwr ownff by thii. ~my l~tltut.ion, tmftt · Otkttc' In 1.he- om ACUOD column. 
A.dd: If 11 roP(>M1blt! briln<:h b mWfnC, lft$fft • row~ add the brtrKh data.. and en·rer 'Add' in the Data Action colr.m'ln arwf 1he ope.nine, 0t !kqul!'Jtlon date in the!' £ff~ Oi ta column. 

If printing this list, you may need to adjust your page setup in MS Excel , Try using landscape orientation, page scaling, and/or legal sized paper. 

5ubmki k,n Progd·a,e 
When you are finlshe,d. send a uved copy to your FRB contact See the detailed instructions on this site for more information. 
rf vov ;:,, ,-e- e-m.11lin,: thl-s: to your FA.8 con tact, put your institution name, city and state in the subject line of the e-mail. 

Note: 
To satisfy the FRY-JO r~ t tqulremtnts., 'fOU must also submit FR Y·lO Oc>n,ewc Branch Schocfules foroach .bcanc.h w!lh • Data Attion of Olange, dose, DeMe. or Add 
The FR Y-10 report m;ay bt!.wbmhtlKI in a hJfUCOJJ"II format or via the FR Y-10 Oflllrli:11 pplication -hups://y1Donlint.ledenilrt,k1'V'C..SOV. 

• FDIC UNINUM, Office Number, and ID_RSSD columns are for reference only. Verification of these values is not required. 

D1l11.Ad$Oa JEffective oat. I Branch Service Type 5.treetAddress JCitv !State ZipCode \County ]Coun"V IFDICU'NINUM• IOfflai.Numbor' IHe-ad Offla, _ l~_bdOffiat f_Q_RSSD" l~rnants 
OX I !Full Senn_ce _[Head Office 174!"TIBIJRON D_RM IWJU,!INGTOH IN, ,S,03 INEW IWIOVE.ltjl.)NITTI) STAlIS 1"62~ LL_ _ _IUVEQAX8ANKING C0MPANY I 3650808 



FRV-6 

Item 3.1 
12/31/2017 

List of individuals/companies that held voting securities of 5% or more at fiscal year end: 

(1)(a) Name/City, State, Country 

Mahan, Ill James S. Trustee of the James S. Mahan, Ill 

Revocable Trust under agreement dated August 22, 2006 

Wilmington, NC, USA 

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. 

Baltimore, MD, USA 

RMB Capital Holdings, LLC 

Chicago, IL, USA 

Item 3.2 

(l)(c) Number of 

(l)(b) Country of Each Class of Voting 

Citizenship or Securities-All Voting 

Incorporation Common Stock 

USA 6,100,478 

USA 4,855,660 

USA 1,872,660 

(1)(c) Percentage of 

Each Class of Voting 

Securities-All Voting 

Common Stock 

17.31% 

13.77% 

5.31% 

List of individuals/companies that held 5% or more voting securities during the year but not at the end of the year: 

Maurice J. Koury Trust 

Burlington, NC, USA 

USA 1,952,560 5.54% 



Report Item 4: Insiders 

(1), (2), (3)(a)(b)(c), and 4(a)(b)(c) 

Note: See "Legend" below table for abbreviations used for subsidiary names. 

Occupation if Voting List names of other 
Name, other Title & Position Shares/Percentage Percentage of companies (includes 

City, State, than with Bank with Bank Title & Position in Voting Shares partnerships) if25% or 
Country Holding Holding Title & Position with Other Bank Holding in more of voting securities 

Comoanv Comoany with Su.bsidia.ries Businesses Company Subsidiaries are held 
William H. Cameron Partner and Director Director - Live President - Cameron 155,749 / 0.4% n/a Cameron Management, Inc. 
Wilmington, NC Principal of Oak Bank Management, Inc. Common Stock -50% 
USA Cameron family 

businesses President - Dan 30,000 I 0.1 % Cameron HR, LLC - 58.34% 
Cameron Family Options on Common 
Foundation Stock Mary Jo Pappas Designs, 
(nonprofit) Inc. - 100% 

President - Bayshore WHC Holdings LLC - I 00% 
Estates, Inc. . 

TriState Properties, Inc. -
President - Tri State 100% 
Properties, Inc. 

Trustee - GST 
Exempt Trust FBO 
William H. Cameron 

Trustee - William H. 
Cameron Revocable 
Trust 

Trustee - I 986 
Grandchildrens Trust 



Diane B. Glossman Retired Director Director - Live Director - Ambac 26,892 I 0.1 % n/a n/a 
NewHope,PA Investment OakBanlc Assurance Co. Common Stock 
USA Analyst and 

Consultant Director - WMI 30,000 I 0.10% 
Holdings Corp. Options on Common 

Stock 
Director - Barclays 
USLLC 

Director - Barclays 
Banlc of Delaware 

Director - Bucks 
County SPCA 

Glen F. Hoffsis Special Assistant Director Director - Live Trustee - Ross 86,982 I 0.2% n/a n/a 
Bonita Springs, FL to the President of Oak Bank University Medical Common Stock 
USA Lincoln Memorial Group 

University 24,000 I O. l % 
Options on Common 
Stock 

H. Ke! Landis, III Principal - Plexus Director Director - Live Principal - Plexus 192,100 I 0.5% n/a n/a 
Raleigh, NC Capital Oak Banlc Capital Management, Common Stock 
USA Management, LLC 

LLC 30,000 I 0.1 % 
Options on Common 
Stock 



James S. Mahan, III n/a Chairman, CEO Director, Chairman Director- 3,001,708 / 8.5% 2.4% in Peapod II, LLC - 100% 
Wilmington, NC and Director and CEO - Live Plexus Capital Common Stock Payrailz 
USA Oak Bank Management, LLC (held by James S. 

Mahan Revocable 
Director - Apiture Director, Chairman - Trust) 

nCino, Inc. 
Director - 504F A 2,898,770 / 8.2% 

Director, President - Common Stock 
Director - GLS Salt Water Fund (held by Marguerite 

(nonprofit D. Mahan Revocable 
Director, Chairman corporation) Trust) 
and CEO - Canapi 

200,000 I 0.6% 
CEO-LOCEF Common Stock 

(held by Salt Water 
Director, Chairman Fund) 
and CEO - Reltco 

Director, Chairman 
and CEO-NAT 

Director - Payrailz 
Miltom E. Petty Chief Financial Director Director - Live CFO - Carolina 85,302 / 0.2% n/a n/a 
Burlington, NC Officer - Carolina Oak Bank Hosiery Mills, Inc. Common Stock 
USA Hosiery Mills, Inc. 

30,000 I 0.10% 
Options on Common 
Stock 



Jerald L. Pullins Consultant and Director Director - Live Managing Member - 236,272 / 0. 7% n/a SeniorCare Homes, LLC-
Robe Sound, FL Manager of Oak.Bank SeniorCare Homes Common Stock 60% 
USA healthcare LLC 

companies 30,000 I 0.1 % Baldwin Brothers Cremation 
Chairman, Director - Options on Common Society, Inc. - 43% 
US Physical Therapy, Stock 
Inc. SeniorCare Real Estate, LLC 

-99% 
Chairman, Director -
Baldwin Brothers 
Cremation Society, 
Inc. 

Trustee - Nancy J. 
Pullins Revocable 
Trust 

Trustee - Jerald L. 
Pullins Revocable 
Trust 

Neil L. Underwood n/a President and Director - Live Sole Owner- 1,282,723 / 3.6% 2.4% in Underwood Ventures -
Wilmington, NC Director Oak.Bank Underwood Ventures Common Stock Payrailz 100% 
USA 

Director - Apiture Sole Owner- NuEquity - 100% 
NuEquity 

Director, President 
-Canapi Director-

DefenseStorm, Inc. 
President - LOCEF 

Director - Payrailz 



William L. Williams, n/a Vice Chairman and Director, Vice n/a 1,316,520 / 3.7% n/a Medical Park Hotels, LLC -
III Director Chairman and EVP Common Stock 25% 
Wilmington, NC - Live Oak Bank Billee, LLC - 50% 
USA WL W Family Holdings, 

Director - 504F A LLC-60% 
Eucallee, LLC - 25% 

Director - GLS 

EVP-LOCEF 

Director, Vice 
Chairman and EVP 
-Reltco 

Director, Vice 
Chairman and EVP 
-NAT 

Steven Brett Caines n/a Chief Financial CFO - Live Oak n/a 434,510 I 1.2% n/a n/a 
Wilmington, NC Officer Bank Common Stock 
USA 

Director, Treasurer 
-GLS 

Director, CFO -
Canapi 

CFO-LOCEF 

CFO-Reltco 

CFO-NAT 
Scott M. Custer n/a President, Live President - Live n/a 80,000 I 0.2% n/a n/a 
Wilmington, NC Oak Bank Oak Bank Common Stock 
USA 



Thomas A. Hill n/a Chief Information CIO - Live Oak n/a 15,824 / 0.0% n/a n/a 
Wilmington, NC Officer Bank Common Stock 
USA 

CIO-LOCEF 56,750/0.2% 
Options on Common 

CIO-Reltco Stock 

CIO-NAT 
Gregory W. Seward n/a General Counsel General Counsel n/a I 0,000 / 0.0% n/a n/a 
Wilmington, NC Common Stock 
USA 

30,000 IO. l % 
Options on Common 
Stock 

Steven J. Smits n/a Chief Credit CCO - Live Oak n/a 60,131 / 0.2% n/a n/a 
Wilmington, NC Officer Bank Common Stock 
USA 

CCO-LOCEF 113,500 / 0.3% 
Options on Common 
Stock 

John Wesley n/a Chief Accounting CAO - Live Oak n/a 34,381 / 0.1% n/a n/a 
Sutherland Officer Bank Common Stock 
Wilmington, NC 
USA CAO-Canapi 30,000 I 0.1 % 

Options on Common 
CAO-LOCEF Stock 

Director, CAO -
Reltco 

Director, CAO -
NAT 



Gregory B. Thompson n/a Chief Operating COO - Live Oak n/a 20,000/0.1% n/a n/a 
Wilmington, NC Officer Bank Common Stock 
USA 

COO-Canapi 60,000/0.1% 
Options on Common 

COO-LOCEF Stock 

Director, COO -
Reltco, Inc. 

Director, COO -
National Assurance 
Title, Inc. 

T. Rowe Price Money Manager Principal n/a Unknown 4,855,660 I 13.8% n/a Unknown 
Associates, Inc. Shareholder Common Stock 
Baltimore, MD 
USA* 

* A Schedule 130/A filed with the Securities Exchange Commission on February 14, 2018, by T. Rowe Price Associaies, Inc. and T. Rowe Price Small-Cap Value Fund, Inc. 
reported beneficial ownership of 4,855,660 shares of voting common stock as of December 31, 2017, with (i) T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. having sole voting power over 
855,946 shares and sole dispositive power over 4,855,660 shares and (ii) T. Rowe Price Small-Cap Value Fund, Inc. having sole voting power over 2,203,S 14 shares. 

Legend: 

504FA = 504 Fund Advisors, LLC 
Apiture = Apiture LLC 
Canapi = Canapi, Inc. (ft'k/a Live Oak Ventures, Inc.) 
GLS = Government Loan Solutions, Inc. 
Live Oak Bank = Live Oak Banking Company 
LOCEF = Live Oak Clean Energy Financing LLC 
NAT= National Assurance Title, Inc. 
Payrailz = Payrailz, LLC 
Reltco = Reltco, Inc. 



L I V E OAK BANCSHARES 
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

To Our Shareholders, 

'Ne were busy lasl year. In 2017, the Live Oak Bancshares team continued pursuing a business model that is anchored 

by the guiding principles or Soundness, Profitability and Growth. Here are a few highlighLs: 

ll1e Company entered seven new markets bringing the total number of verticals and business units at year­

end lo 20. 

During the third quarter, the Company completed a successful secondary public offering which generated 

an additional $113.1 million in capital. 

As a result of the Tax Cut and Jobs Act on December 22, 2017, the Company recorded a one-time reduction 

in tax expense of $18.9 million arising from the revaluation of its net deferred tax liability. 

Apiture, our digital banking joint venture formed with First Data Corporation, was established in the fourth 

quarter of 2017 generating a one-time gain for the Bank of $68.0 million. Apiture combines First Data and 

Live Oak Bank's digital banking platforms, products, and services, delivering innovative technology solutions 

tailored for financial institutions. 

Tn addition, our operating results continued to deliver solid earnings. 

Net interest income and loan servicing revenue increased by £38.6 million, or 60.2%, to $102.6 million in 

2017. 

Loan and lease production increased to $1.93 billion for 2017, a 25.8% increase over 2016. 

$24.9 million in investment tax credits were generated by the Company's investment of $90.6 million in 

renewable energy lease assets. 

Our guaranteed loan sales were relatively flat at $787.9 million in 2017, a 3.4% increase over 2016, as the 

Company focused on guaranteed loan retention to increase recurring revenue. 

Loans and leases held for investment increased by $436.4 million , or 48 . l %, to $ l.34 billion at the end of 201 7 

because of robust 2017 loan and lease originations. 

Total nonperforming unguaranteed loans and leases as a percentage of total loans and leases held for 

investment declined from 0.53% at the end of 2016 to 0.27% at the end of 2017. 

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average held for investment loans and leases, for the years ended December 

31, 2017 and 2016, were 0.32% and 0.29%, respectively 

Core revenues consisting of net interest income, servicing revenue and gains on sales ofloans increased to 

$181.2 million, a 30.0% increase over 2016. 

Total deposits rose by 52.2% to $2.26 billion at the end of 2017 following successful deposit gathering 

campaigns. 

-- - ------
(dollars in thouscmds, exc:ept pri share data) 2 015 2016 2 017 

Net income I $20,625 I $13,773 $100,499 

Diluted earnings per share 

' 
0.65 0.39 2.65 

Non-GAAP net income• I 18,356 I 20,148 47,187 
- -l Non-GAAP diluted earnings per share• I 0.57 I 0.57 1.25 

I _J 

• See "No11-GAA P Fin11ncial 1\'feasures" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for details 011 

the calculation of Non-GAAP net income and diluted earnings per share. 



ON TO THE FUTURE 

I. THE BANK 

Operating Leverage and the 1l1eory of Verticality Continues. 

As of today, we operate in 20 industries. Our Emerging Markets group identifies new verticals by methodically analyzing 

payment records, level of competition, and most importantly, conducts a relentless search for a Domain Expert that not 

only understands the industry but also is a fit with our unique culture. \Ve will strive to create at least four new verticals 

per year. 

Similar to exploring new markets, we are researching the best people to help grm-v the business. It is not lost on us that 

there are 4,800 SBA lenders Lhal work al other banks . Most of Lhese folks are commission based and nol a fiL for how we 

operate. \Ve have uncovered a few that understand our technology and our "marathon not a sprint" culture. TI1ese folks 

are meticulously vetted and typically perform at the top of the class relative to loan originations and credit quality. Our 

goal is to bring them onto our platform, empower them, and turn them loose to help us grow the franchise. 

In addition, we have learned over the years that the SBA product is not for everyone. v\le are beginning to add 

products that provide above average returns on capital while not taking extraordinary risk. To this end, we have added 

professionals with asset-based lending experience to our platform. You should expect further product diversification 

lo conlinue. 

Lastly, sometimes we are asked why we don't go faster. If there are 1, l 00 eligible SBA industries, why are you only in 20 

after 10 years? Our answer is that there is a delicate dance of orchestration. First, identifying an industry that needs a 

nationwide 7(a) program lender, and second, finding a Domain Expert that shares our core principles. We must organize 

the right sales and marketing effort internally as we do not want to put undue stress on our credit team by growing too 

fast. When these stars align, we go! 

We are highly confident of our ability to effectively deploy excess capital in fulfillment of strategic growth initiatives. 

\Ale are excited about our capacity for smart grmvth and how we can scale this model to truly change the financial 

services industry. 

II. CANAPI 

\Ve announced this year that Live Oak Ventures has been renamed Canapi Inc., to further demonstrate our commitment 

to strategically investing and partnering with open API technology companies. Through Neil L'nderwood's leadership, 

we have invested in finxact, Payrailz, Green light, and Defense Storm, modeling off of our success with nCino. 

\Ve are incredibly excited to be a part of launching an ecosystem oflike-minded companies that will build open 

platforms allowing for new innovation and new opportunities for the market to compete. \Ve believe the time of 

outdated data centers and business models thal hold financial service companies back from doing what is right for their 

customers is over. 

\Ve are assembling an investmenl and business parlner Leam Lo allow Canapi Lo be a calalysl for companies like Finxacl 

and Apiture. TI1rough proven leaders, ,vith industry expertise, experience, and tools necessary to deliver best in class 

technology, we can help make this happen. 



III. APITURE 

Across Lhe U.S., Lhere are 6,400 communiLy banks thaL fundamenlally rely on legacy sysLems for regulatory compliant 

front-end and back-end technologies to operate their business. 

Our exciling joinl venture with first Data allows the learn of software enginetTS previously working for Live Oak 

Bank Lo produclize whaL they builL for us and make il available Lo the banks doing business wilh Firsl DaLa, using the 

FundsExpress platform. Almost all Apiture customers deal with the limitations of the old technology providers in the 

market. These community banks need next generation, cloud-based technology to compete with the largest banks in the 

land. Leveraging the Canapi ecosystem, Apiture will begin to deliver that. 

IN SUMMARY 

In summary we have reached an exciting point where we have two eminently scalable platforms. 

One is a federally regulated bank scaling a model of nationwide, industry-specific expertise which, ,vhen combined with 

next-gen technology and the right people, has and will continue to run circles around the competition. 

TI1e other is our technology ecosystem, which combines the collective years of experience of leaders who have done 

it before in the highly regulated financial services industry. This uniquely positions us to make investments in those 

companies who have the ability to change an industry as we know it. 

Let the game changing begin . Join us. 

All the best, 

Chip ~ SJC~ 
Chairman and Chief Exerntive Officer 
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SOLAR PANEL LEASING 

EQUIPMENT LEASING 

EARLY EDUCATION SERVICES 

SENIOR CARE 

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

AUTOMOTIVE AFTER CARE 



LOAN AND LEASE PORTFOLIO 

°lo 
Increase vs FY 2016 

Loan & Lease Originations 

$1.93 BILLION 

Compound Annual Growth Rate 

Portfolio Growth 

Increase vs FY 2016 

Net Interest Income & Loan Servicing Revenue 

$103 MILLION 

°lo 
Net Charge-Offs to Average Loans and Leases 

Held for Investment 

DEPOSITS PORTFOLIO 
AS OF 12/31/17 

$2.3 BILLION I 
Total Deposit Amount 

52°lo 
Increase vs FY 

2016 

I 17,344 
Open Accounts 



2017 PHILANTHROPIC MISSION STATISTICS 

SER C OU 

In 2017, we launched the philanthropic arm of Live Oak Bank. 

Our mission aims to align corporate funds with employee interests to promote education, 

health, human services and workforce development. 

In just one year, our team accomplished a great deal of goodwill and support for the 

Wilmington community and beyond. Here are some highlights: 

86 
B ARDANDC MITTEE 

EMBE S 

32 
GRA SM D 

46 
UN QUE ORGA IZA ONS 

R CEIVED F NOS 

20 
E 0 E 

78% of our giving was for Human Services, 17% for Health, 5% for Education. 

87% of giving was local, 7% regional, 6% national. 
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Important Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

This Annual Report on Form I 0-K (this "Report") contains statements that management believes are forward-looking statements, 
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements generally relate to the financial 
condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, future performance or business of Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. (the "Company"). 
They usually can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as "believes," "expects," or "are expected to," 
"plans," "projects," "goals," "estimates," "will," "may," "should," "could," "would," "continues," "intends to," "outlook" or 
"anticipates," or variations of these and similar words, or by discussions of strategies that involve risks and uncertainties. You 
should not place undue reliance on these statements, as they are subject to risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to, 
those described in this Report. When considering these forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind these risks and 
uncertainties, as well as any cautionary statements management may make. Moreover, you should treat these statements as speaking 
only as ofthe date they are made and based only on information actually known to the Company atthetime. Management undertakes 
no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result ofnew information, future events or otherwise. 
Forward-looking statements contained in this Report are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about the 
Company's business, management's beliefs and assumptions made by management. These statements are not guarantees of the 
Company's future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict. Therefore, 
actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements. These 
risks, uncertainties and assumptions include, without limitation: 

deterioration in the financial condition of borrowers resulting in significant increases in the Company's loan and lease 
losses and provisions for those losses and other adverse impacts to results of operations and financial condition; 

changes in Small Business Administration ("SBA") rules, regulations and loan products, including specifically the 
Section 7(a) program, changes in SBA standard operating procedures or changes to the status of Live Oak Banking 
Company (the "Bank") as an SBA Preferred Lender; 

changes in rules, regulations or procedures for other government loan programs, including those of the United States 
Department of Agriculture; 

changes in interest rates that affect the level and composition of deposits, loan demand and the values of loan collateral, 
securities, and interest sensitive assets and liabilities; 

the failure of assumptions underlying the establishment ofreserves for possible loan and lease losses; 

changes in loan underwriting, credit review or loss reserve policies associated with economic conditions, examination 
conclusions, or regulatory developments; 

a reduction in or the termination of the Company's ability to use the technology-based platform that is critical to the 
success of the Company's business model, including a failure in or a breach of the Company's operational or security 
systems or those of its third party service providers; 

changes in financial market conditions, either internationally, nationally or locally in areas in which the Company conducts 
operations, including reductions in rates of business formation and growth, demand for the Company's products and 
services, commercial and residential real estate development and prices, premiums paid in the secondary market for the 
sale of loans, and valuation of servicing rights; 

changes in accounting principles, policies, and guidelines applicable to bank holding companies and banking; 

fluctuations in markets for equity, fixed-income, commercial paper and other securities, which could affect availability, 
market liquidity levels, and pricing; 

the effects of competition from other commercial banks, non-bank lenders, consumer finance companies, credit unions, 
securities brokerage firms, insurance companies, money market and mutual funds, and other financial institutions operating 
in the Company's market area and elsewhere, including institutions operating regionally, nationally and internationally, 
together with such competitors offering banking products and services by mail, telephone and the Internet; 

the Company's ability to attract and retain key personnel; 

changes in governmental monetary and fiscal policies as well as other legislative and regulatory changes, including with 
respect to SBA lending programs and investment tax credits; 

changes in political and economic conditions; 

the impact of heightened regulatory scrutiny of financial products and services, primarily led by the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau; 



the Company's ability to comply with any requirements imposed on it by regulators, and the potential negative 
consequences that may result; 

operational, compliance and other factors, including conditions in local areas in which the Company conducts business 
such as inclement weather or a reduction in the availability of services or products for which loan proceeds will be used, 
that could prevent or delay closing and funding loans before they can be sold in the secondary market; 

the effect of any mergers, acquisitions or other transactions, to which the Company or the Bank may from time to time 
be a pa11y, including management's ability to successfully integrate any businesses acquired; 

other risk factors listed from time to time in reports that the Company files with the SEC, including those described under 
"Risk Factors" in this Report; and 

the success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing . 

Except as otherwise disclosed, forward-looking statements do not reflect: (i) the effect of any acquisitions, divestitures or similar 
transactions that have not been previously disclosed; (ii) any changes in laws, regulations or regulatory interpretations; or (iii) any 
change in current dividend or repurchase strategies, in each case after the date as of which such statements are made. All forward­
looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statements are made, and the Company undertakes no obligation to 
update any statement, to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence 
of unanticipated events. 



PART I 

Item 1. BUSINESS 

General 

Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. ("LOB" and, collectively with its subsidiaries including Live Oak Banking Company, the "Company," 
also referred to as "our" and "we" headquartered in Wilmington, North Carolina is the bank holding company for Live Oak 
Banking Company {the "Bank' or "Live Oak Bank"). The Bank was incorporated in February 2008 as a North Carolina-cha1tered 
commercia l bank and operates an established national Online platform for small business lend ing. LOB was incorporated under 
the laws of the state of North Carolina on December J 8, 2008, for the purpose of serving as the bank holding company of Live 
Oak Bank. LOB completed its initial public offering ("IPO") in July 2015. 

The Company 

The Company predominantly originates Joans partially guaranteed by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the "SBA") and 
to a lesser extent by the U.S. Department of Agricu lture ("USDA") Rural Energy for America Program ("REAP") and Business 
& Industry ("8&1" loan programs. These loans are to small businesses and professionals with what the ompany believes are 
lower risk characteristics. Industries, or ' verticals 'on which the Company focuses its lending efforts are carefully selected. Within 
each vertical the ompany retains individuals who possess extensive industry-specific experience. Additionally the ·ompany' s 
domain experts are engaged and active in each of the industries served. 

In addition to focusing on industry verticals, the Company emphasizes developing detailed knowledge ofits customers' businesses. 
This knowledge is developed, in part, through regular visits to customers' operations, wherever they are located. These regular 
visits are designed to foster both fo r the ompany and for the customer a deep and personalized experience throughout the lending 
relationship. The Company has developed and continues to refine a technology-based platform to facilitate providing financial 
services to the sma ll business community on a national sca le and has leveraged Lhis technology to optimize the Company's loan 
origination process. customer experience reporting metrics, and servicing activity. The Company se1vices customers efficiently 
thrqughout the loan proce.ss and monitors their performance by means of the technology-based platform whi.ch eliminates the 
need to maintain traditional branch locations. 

For additional information on the Company's business, financial performance and results of operations, see "Overview• and 
"Executive Summary" in Part II, Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results ofOpcrations 
of this Report. For information on the Company's financial information about geographic areas, see Part TI, Item 8 of this Report. 

LOB's voting common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Markel ("Nasdaq") underthe symbol "LOB." As of January 31, 
2018, there were 342 holders of record of LO B's voting common stock. The Company's principal execurive office is located at 
1741 Tiburon Drive, Wilmington, North Carolina 28403, telephone number (910) 790-5867. The Company maintains a website 
at www. liveoakbank.com. Documents available on !he website include: (i) the Company's Code of Ethics and Contlid oflnterest 
Policy· and (ii) charters for the Audi! and Risk, ompensation, and ominating and Corporate Governance Comm illees of the 
Board of Directors. These documents also are available in print to any shareholder who requests a copy. 

In addition, available free of charge through the Company's website is the Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on 
Form I 0-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to tho e reports as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically 
filing or furnishing uch material to the U .. Securities and Exchange Commission (· SEC"). These filings are also accessible on 
the SE 's website at www.sec.gov. You may read and copy any material LOB files with the SEC at the SE s Public Reference 
Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained 
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. 

The Company also will provide without charge a copy of this Report, as well as any documents available on the Company's website, 
to any shareholder by mail. Requests should be sent to Live Oak Bancshares, Inc., Attention: Corporate Secretary, 1741 Tiburon 
Drive, Wilmington, NC 28403. 



Competition 

Commercial banking in the United States is extremely competitive. The Company competes with national banking organizations, 
including the largest commercial banks headquartered in the country, all of which have small business lending divisions. The 
Company also competes with other federally and state chartered financial institutions such as community banks and credit unions, 
finance and business development companies, peer-to-peer and marketplace lenders and other non-bank lenders. Many of the 
Company's competitors have higher legal lending limits and are also able to provide a wider array of services and make greater 
use of media advertising given their size and resources. 

Despite the intense level of competition among small business lenders, the Company believes that it occupies a lending category 
distinct from its competitors . One of the Company's principal advantages is the technology-based platform it uses, which 
management believes has accelerated the Company's ability to issue proposals, complete credit due diligence, finalize commitments 
and improve the overall customer experience. The Company believes that its personnel also provide a competitive advantage 
because they are industry participants with relevant experience in the Company's identified verticals. 

Employees 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had 504 full-time employees and 24 part-time employees. None of these employees are 
covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and management considers relations with employees to be good. 

Subsidiaries 

In addition to the Bank, the Company held the following wholly-owned subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017: 

Reltco, Inc. and National Assurance Title, Inc. ( collectively referred to as "Reltco"), two companies under common control 
acquired on February 1, 2017, that provide nationwide title agency and settlement services; 

Live Oak Clean Energy Financing LLC, formed in November 2016 for the purpose of providing financing to entities for 
renewable energy applications; 

Canapi, Inc (formerly Live Oak Ventures, Inc.), formed in August 2016 for the purpose of investing in businesses that 
align with the Company's strategic initiative to be a leader in financial technology; 

Live Oak Grove, LLC, opened in September 2015 for the purpose of providing Company employees and business visitors 
an on-site restaurant location; 

Government Loan Solutions, Inc. ("GLS"), a management and technology consulting firm that specializes in the 
settlement, accounting, and securitization processes for government guaranteed loans, including loans originated under 
the SBA 7(a) loan program and USDA-guaranteed loans; and 

504 Fund Advisors, LLC ("504FA"), formed to serve as the investment advisor to the 504 Fund, a closed-end mutual 
fund organized to invest in SBA section 504 Joans. 

In 20 I 0, the Bank formed Live Oak Number One, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, to hold properties foreclosed on by the Bank. 

SUPERVISION AND REGULATION 

Federal Bank Holding Company Regulation and Structure 

As a registered bank holding company, LOB is subject to regulation under the Bank Holding Company Act, or BHCA, and to the 
supervision, examination and reporting requirements of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "Federal 
Reserve"). The Bank is a North Carolina-chartered commercial bank and is subject to regulation, supervision and examination by 
the FDIC and the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks, or NCCOB . 
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The BHCA requires every bank holding company to obtain the prior approval of the Federal Reserve before: 

it may acquire direct or indirect ownership or control of any voting shares of any bank if, after the acquisition, the bank 
holding company will directly or indirectly own or control more than 5% of the voting shares of the bank; 

it or any of its subsidiaries, other than a bank, may acquire all or substantially all of the assets of any bank; or 

it may merge or consolidate with any other bank holding company. 

The BHCA further provides that the Federal Reserve may not approve any transaction that would result in a monopoly or that 
would substantially lessen competition in the banking business, unless the public interest in meeting the needs of the communities 
to be served outweighs the anti-competitive effects. The Federal Reserve is also required to consider the financial and managerial 
resources and future prospects of the bank holding companies and banks involved and the convenience and needs of the communities 
to be served. Consideration of financial resources generally focuses on capital adequacy, and consideration of convenience and 
needs issues focuses, in part, on the performance under the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977, both of which are discussed 
elsewhere in more detail. 

Subject to various exceptions, the BHCA and the Change in Bank Control Act, together with related regulations, require Federal 
Reserve approval prior to any person or company acquiring "control" of a bank holding company. Control is conclusively presumed 
to exist if an individual or company acquires 25% or more of any class of voting securities of a bank holding company. Control 
is also presumed to exist, although rebuttable, if a person or company acquires 10% or more, but less than 25%, of any class of 
voting securities and either: 

the bank holding company has registered securities under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 
or the Exchange Act; or 

no other person owns a greater percentage of that class of voting securities immediately after the transaction. 

LOB's common stock is registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act. The regulations provide a procedure for challenging 
rebuttable presumptions of control. 

The BHCA generally prohibits a bank holding company from retaining direct or indirect ownership or control of any voting shares 
ofany company which is not a bank or bank holding company or engaging in activities other than banking, managing or controlling 
banks or other permissible subsidiaries and acquiring or retaining direct or indirect control ofany company engaged in any activities 
other than activities closely related to banking or managing or controlling banks. In determining whether a particular activity is 
permissible, the Federal Reserve considers whether performing the activity can be expected to produce benefits to the public that 
outweigh possible adverse effects, such as undue concentration ofresources, decreased or unfair competition, conflicts of interest 
or unsound banking practices. The Federal Reserve has the power to order a bank holding company or its subsidiaries to terminate 
any activity or control of any subsidiary when the continuation of the activity or control constitutes a serious risk to the financial 
safety, soundness or stability of any bank subsidiary of that bank holding company. 

Under the BHCA, a bank holding company may file an election with the Federal Reserve to be treated as a financial holding 
company and engage in an expanded list of financial activities. The election must be accompanied by a certification that all of the 
company ' s insured depository institution subsidiaries are "well capitalized" and "well managed." Additionally, the Community 
Reinvestment Act of 1977 rating of each subsidiary bank must be satisfactory or better. If, after becoming a financial holding 
company and undertaking activities not permissible for a bank holding company, the company fails to continue to meet any of the 
prerequisites for financial holding company status, the company must enter into an agreement with the Federal Reserve to comply 
with all applicable capital and management requirements. If the company does not return to compliance within 180 days, the 
Federal Reserve may order the company to divest its subsidiary banks or the company may discontinue or divest investments in 
companies engaged in activities permissible only for a bank holding company that has elected to be treated as a financial holding 
company. LOB has filed an election and became a financial holding company in 2016. 

Under Federal Reserve policy and as codified by the Dodd-Frank Act, the Company is expected to act as a source of financial 
strength for Live Oak Bank and to commit resources to support Live Oak Bank. This suppo11 may be required at times when LOB 
might not be inclined to provide it or it might not be in LOB's best interests or the best interests of its shareholders. In addition, 
any capital loans made by the Company to Live Oak Bank will be repaid only after Live Oak Bank's deposits and various other 
obligations are repaid in full. 
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Live Oak Bank is also subject to numerous state and federal statutes and regulations that affect its business, activities and operations 
and is supervised and examined by state and federal bank regulatory agencies. The FDIC and the NCCOB regularly examine the 
operations of Live Oak Bank and are given the authority to approve or disapprove mergers, consolidations, the establishment of 
branches and similar corporate actions. These agencies also have the power to prevent the continuance or development of unsafe 
or unsound banking practices or other violations oflaw. 

Bank Merger Act 

Section 18( c) of the Federal Deposit JnsuranceAct, popularly known as the "Bank Merger Act," requires the prior written approval 
of appropriate federal bank regulatory agencies before any bank may (i) merge or consolidate with, (ii) purchase or otherwise 
acquire the assets of, or (iii) assume the deposit liabilities of, another bank if the resulting institution is to be a state nonmember 
bank. 

The Bank Merger Act prohibits the applicable federal bank regulatory agency from approving any proposed merger transaction 
that would result in a monopoly, or would further a combination or conspiracy to monopolize or to attempt to monopolize the 
business of banking in any pait of the United States. Similarly, the Bank Merger Act prohibits the applicable federal bank regulatory 
agency from approving a proposed merger transaction whose effect in any section of the country may be substantially to lessen 
competition, or to tend to create a monopoly, or which in any other manner would be in restraint of trade. An exception may be 
made in the case of a merger transaction whose effect would be to substantially lessen competition, tend to create a monopoly, or 
otherwise restrain trade, if the applicable federal bank regulatory agency finds that the anticompetitive effects of the proposed 
transaction are clearly outweighed in the public interest by the probable effect of the transaction in meeting the convenience and 
needs of the community to be served. 

In every proposed merger transaction, the applicable federal bank regulatory agency must also consider the financial and managerial 
resources and future prospects of the existing and proposed institutions, the convenience and needs of the community to be served, 
and the effectiveness of each insured depository institution involved in the proposed merger transaction in combating money­
laundering activities, including in overseas branches. 

State Law 

Live Oak Bank is subject to extensive supervision and regulation by the NCCOB. The NCCOB oversees state laws that set specific 
requirements for bank capital and that regulate deposits in, and loans and investments by, banks, including the amounts, types, 
and in some cases, rates. The NCCOB supervises and performs periodic examinations ofNorth Carolina-chartered banks to assure 
compliance with state banking statutes and regulations, and banks are required to make regular reports to the NCCOB describing 
in detail their resources, assets, liabilities, and financial condition. Among other things, the NCCOB regulates mergers and 
consolidations of state-chartered banks, capital requirements for banks, loans to officers and directors, record keeping, types and 
amounts of loans and investments, and the establishment of branches. 

The NCCOB has extensive enforcement authority over North Carolina banks. Such authority includes the ability to issue cease 
and desist orders and to seek civil money penalties. The NCCOB may also take possession ofa North Carolina bank in various 
circumstances, including for a violation of its chatter or of applicable laws, operating in an unsafe and unsound manner, or as a 
result of an impairment of its capital, and may appoint a receiver. 

The NCCOB also enforces specific requirements for bank capital, the payment of dividends, Joans to officers and directors, record 
keeping, and types and amounts of Joans and investments made by commercial banks. 

The Company is also required to maintain registration as a bank holding company with the NCCOB. Subject to certain exceptions, 
the Company may not acquire control over another bank or bank holding company or consummate a merger or other combination 
transaction with another company without the prior approval of the NCCOB. The NCCOB also has authority to assett civil money 
penalties against a holding company if the NCCOB determines such holding company to be in violation of any banking laws and 
the holding company fails to comply with an NCCOB order to cease and desist from such violations of law. 
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Payment of Dividends and Other Restrictions 

The Company is a legal entity separate and distinct from the Bank. While there are various legal and regulatory limitations under 
federal and state law on the extent to which banks can pay dividends or otherwise supply funds to holding companies, the principal 
source of cash revenues for the Company is dividends from the Bank. The relevant federal and state regulatory agencies have 
authority to prohibit a state bank or bank holding company, which would include the Bank and the Company, from engaging in 
what, in the opinion of such regulatory body, constitutes an unsafe or unsound practice in conducting its business. The payment 
of dividends could, depending upon the financial condition of a bank, be deemed to constitute an unsafe or unsound practice in 
conducting its business. 

orth Carolina commercial banks, such as Live Oak Bank, are subject to legal limitations on the amounts of dividends they are 
permitted to pay. Specifically, an insured depository institution, such as Live Oak Bank is prohibited from making capital 
distributions, including the payment of dividends, if, after making such distribution, the institution would become 
"undercapitalized" (as such term is defined in the applicable law and regulations). 

The Federal Reserve has issued a policy statement on the payment of cash dividends by bank holding companies, which expresses 
the Federal Reserve's view that a bank holding company should pay cash dividends only to the extent that the holding company's 
net income for the past four quarters is sufficient to cover both the cash dividends and a rate of earnings retention that is consistent 
with the holding company's capital needs, asset quality and overall financial condition. The Federal Reserve also indicated that it 
would be inappropriate for a holding company experiencing serious financial problems to borrow funds to pay dividends. 
Furthermore, under the prompt corrective action regulations adopted by the Federal Reserve the Federal Reserve may prohibit a 
bank holding company from paying any dividends if any of the holding company's bank subsidiaries are classified as 
undercapitalized. 

A bank holding company is required to give the Federal Reserve prior written notice ofany purchase or redemption ofits outstanding 
equity securities if the gross consideration fi r the purchase or redemption, when combined with the net consideration paid for all 
uch purchases or redemptions during the preceding 12 months, is equal to I 0% or more of its consolidated nel worth . The Federal 

Reserve may disapprove such a purchase or redemption if it determines that the proposal 'vvou ld constitute -an unsafe or unsound 
practice or would violate any law, regulation, Federal Reserve order or any condition imposed by, or written agreement with, the 
Federal Reserve. 

Capital Adequacy 

The Company must comply with the Federal Reserve's established capital adequacy standards, and Live Oak Bank is required to 
comply with the capital adequacy standards established by the FDIC. The Federal Reserve has promulgated two basic measures 
of capital adequacy for bank holding companies: a risk-based measure and a leverage measure. A bank holding company must 
satisfy all applicable capital standards to be considered in compliance. 

The risk-based capital standards are designed to make regulatory capital requirements more sensitive to differences in risk profile 
among banks and bank holding companies account for off-balance-sheet exposure and minimize disincentives for holding liquid 
assets. 

Assets and off-balance-sheet items are assigned to broad risk categories, each with appropriate weights. The resulting capital ratios 
represent capital as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets and off-balance-sheet items. Under applicable capital standards the 
minimum risk-based capital ratios are a common equity Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 4.5% a Tier 1 capital to risk­
weighted assets ratio of 6%, and a total capital to risk-weighted assets ratio of 8%. In addition, to avoid restrictions on capital 
distributions and discretionary bonus payments, the Company and the Bank are required to meet a capital conservation buffer of 
common equity Tier 1 capital in addition to the minimum common equity Tier 1 capital ratio. The capital conservation buffer is 
being phased in from January 1, 2016 until January 1, 2019, at which point it will be set at 2.5% common equity Tier I capital to 
risk-weighted assets, which sits "on top" of the 4.5% minimum common equity Tier 1 to risk-weighted assets ratio. Common 
equity Tier 1 capital is predominantly comprised of retained earnings and common stock instruments (that meet strict delineated 
criteria), net of treasury stock, and after making necessary capital deductions and adjustments. Tier I capital is comprised of 
common equity Tier I capital plus Additional Tier I capital, which consists ofnoncumulative perpetual preferred stock and similar 
instruments meeting specified eligibility criteria and "TARP" preferred stock and other instruments issued under the Emergency 
Economic Stabilization Act of 2008. Total capital is comprised of Tier I capital plus Tier 2 capital, which consists of subordinated 
debt with a minimum original maturity of at least five years and a limited amount of loan loss reserves. 

At December 31, 2017, the Company's risk-based capital ratios, as calculated under applicable capital standards were 17.81% 
common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets, 17.8 I% Tier J capital to risk weighted assets, and J 8.91 % total capital to 
risk weighted assets. 
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In addition, the Federal Reserve has established minimum leverage ratio guidelines for bank holding companies. These guidelines 
provide for a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to average total on-balance sheet assets, less goodwill and certain other intangible 
assets, of 4% for bank holding companies. The Company's ratio at December 31, 2017 was 15.50% compared to 12.00% at 
December 3 I, 20 I 6. The guidelines also provide that bank holding companies experiencing internal growth or making acquisitions 
will be expected to maintain strong capital positions substantially above the minimum supervisory levels without significant 
reliance on intangible assets. Furthermore, the Federal Reserve has indicated that it will consider a "tangible Tier I Capital leverage 
ratio" and other indications of capital strength in evaluating proposals for expansion or new activities. 

Failure to meet capital guidelines could subject a bank to a variety of enforcement remedies, including issuance of a capital 
directive, the termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC, a prohibition on taking brokered deposits and certain other restrictions 
on its business. As described below, the FDIC can impose substantial additional restrictions upon FDIC-insured depository 
institutions that fail to meet applicable capital requirements. 

The Federal Deposit Insurance Act, or FDJ Act, requires the federal bank regulatory agencies to take "prompt corrective action" 
ifa depository institution does not meet minimum capital requirements. The FDJ Act establishes five capital tiers : "well capitalized," 
'adequately capitalized," "undercapitalized,' "significantly undercapitalized" and "critically undercapitalized." A depos.itory 
institution's capital tier will depend upon how its capital levels compare to various relevant cap.ital measures and certain other 
factors, as established by regulation . 

The federal bank regulatory agencies have adopted regulations establishing relevant capital measures and relevant capital levels 
applicable to PDl -insured banks. The relevant capital measures are the Total Risk-Based Capital ratio, Tier I Risk-Based Capital 
ratio Common Equity Tier I apital ratio and the leverage ratio. Under current regulations, an FDIC-insured bank was: 

"well capitalized" if it has a Total Risk-Based Capital ratio of 10% or greater, a Tier I Risk-Based Capital ratio of8% or 
greater, a Common Equity Tier I Capital ratio of6.5% or greater and a leverage ratio of5% or greater and is not subject 
to any order or written directive by the appropriate regulatory authority to meet and maintain a specific capital level for 
any capital measure; 

"adequately capitalized" if it has a Total Risk-Based Capital ratio of 8% or greater, a Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital ratio of 
6% or greater, a Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio of 4.5% or greater and a leverage ratio of 4% or greater and is not 
"well capitalized"; 

"undercapitalized" if it has a Total Risk-Based Capital ratio ofless than 8%, a Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital ratio of less than 
6%, a Common Equity Tier 1 Capital ratio of less than 4% or a leverage ratio ofless than 4%; 

"significantly undercapitalized" if it has a Total Risk-Based Capital ratio of less than 6%, a Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital 
ratio ofless than 4%, a Common Equity Tier I Capital ratio of less than 3% or a leverage ratio of less than 3%; and 

"critically undercapitalized" if its tangible equity is equal to or less than 2% of average quarterly tangible assets. 

An institution may be downgraded to, or deemed to be in, a capital category that is lower than is indicated by its capital ratios if 
it is determined to be in an unsafe or unsound condition or ifit receives an unsatisfactpry examination rating with respect to certain 
matters . As of December 31, 2017, Live Oak Bank had capital levels that qualify as "well capitalized" under the applicable 
regulations. 

The FDI Act generally prohibits an FDIC-insured bank from making a capital distribution (including payment of a dividend) or 
paying any management fee to its holding company if the bank is or would thereafter be "undercapitalized." "Undercapitalized" 
banks are subject to growth limitations and are required to submit a capital restoration plan. The federal regulators may not accept 
a capital restoration plan without determining, among other things, that the plan is based on realistic assumptions and is likely to 
succeed in restoring the bank's capital. In addition, for a capital restoration plan to be acceptable, the bank's parent holding company 
must guarantee that the institution will comply with such capi tal resroraiion plan until the institution has been adequately capitalized 
on average during each of four consecutive calendar quarters. The aggregate liability of the parent holding company under such 
guaranty is limited to the lesser of: (i) an amount equal to 5% of the bank's total assets at the time it became "undercapitalized"; 
and (ii) the amount which is necessary (or would have been necessary) to bring the institution into compliance with all capital 
standards applicable with respect to such institution as of the time it fails to comply with the plan. If a bank fails to submit an 
acceptable plan, it is treated as if it is "significantly undercapitalized." 

"Significantly undercapitalized" insured banks may be subject to a number of requirements and restrictions, including orders to 
sell sufficient voting stock to become "adequately capitalized," requirements to reduce total assets and the cessation of receipt of 
deposits from correspondent banks. "Critically undercapitalized" institutions are subject to the appointment of a receiver or 
conservator. A bank that is not "well capitalized" is also subject to ce11ain limitations relating to brokered deposits. 
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The regulatory capital framework under which the Company and Live Oak Bank operate changed in significant respects as a result 
of the Dodd-Frank Act, which was enacted in July 2010, and other regulations, including the separate regulatory capital requirements 
put forth by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, commonly known "Basel III." 

In July 2013 the Federal Reserve, FDI and Office of the omptrnller of the Currency approved final rules tha'l established an 
integrated regulatory capital frame.work that addressed shortcomings in certain capital requirements. The rules implemented in 
the United tates the Basel Ill regulatory capital reforms from the Basel ommittee on Banking upervision and certain changes 
required by the Dodd-Frank Act. These rule began to apply to the Company effective January 1, 2015. 

The major provisions of the rule applicable to the Company are: 

The rule implements higher minimum capital requirements, includes a new common equity Tierl capital requirement, 
and establishes criteria that instrnments must meet in order to be considered Common Equity Tier 1 capital, additional 
Tier I capital, or Tier 2 capital. These enhancements are intended to both improve the quality and increase the quantity 
of capital required to be held by banking organizations. The minimum capital to risk-weighted assets ("RWA") 
requirements under the rule are a common equity Tier I capital ratio of 4.5% and a Tier I capital ratio of 6.0%, which is 
an increase from 4.0%, and a total capital ratio of 8.0%. The minimum leverage ratio (Tier I capital to total assets) is 
4.0%. The rule maintained the general structure of the current prompt corrective action, or PCA, framework while 
incorporating these increased minimum requirements. 

The rule implements changes to the definition of capital. mong the most important changes are stricter eligibility criteria 
for regulatory capital instrumenrs that disallow the inclusion of instruments such as trust preferred securities in Tier I 
capital going forward, and constraints on the inclusion of minority interests, mortgage-servicing assets ("l\llSAs"), deferred 
tax assets ("DTAs"), and certain investments in the capital of unconsolidated financial insLitutions. In addition, the rule 
requires that certain regulatory capital deductions be made from common equity Tier I capital. 

Under the rule, in order to avoid limitations on capital distributions, including dividend payments and certain discretionary 
bonus payments to executive officers, a banking organization must hold a capital conservation buffer composed of common 
equity Tier I capital above its minimum risk-based capital requirements. The buffer is measured relative to R WA. A three­
year phase-in of the capital conservation buffer requirements began on January l 2016. A banking organization with a 
buffer greater than 2.5% would not be subject to limits on capital distributions or discretionary bonus payments; however. 
a banking organization wid1 a buffer ofless than 2.5% would be subject to increasingly stringent limitations as the buffer 
approaches zero. The rule also prohibits a banking organization from making distributions or discretionary bonus payments 
during any quarter if its eligible retained income is negative in that quarter and its capital conservation buffer ratio was 
Jess than 2.5% at the beginning of the qua1ter. When the rule is fully phased in, the minimum capital requirements plus 
the capital conservation buffer will exceed the PCA well-capitalized thresholds. 

The rule also increases the risk weights for past-due loans, certain commercial real estate loans, and some equity exposures, 
and makes selected other changes in risk weights and credit conversion factors. 

On July 9, 2013, the FDIC confirmed that it would join in the Basel III standards and, on September l 0, 2013, issued an "interim 
final rule" applicable to the Bank that is identical in substance to the final rules issued by the Federal Reserve described above. 
The Bank was required to comply with the interim final rule beginning on January I, 2015. Compliance by LOB and the Bank 
with these capital requirements affects their respective operations by increasing the amount of capital required to conduct operations. 

Acquisitions 

The Company must comply with numerous laws related to any potential acquisition activity. Under the BHCA, a bank holding 
company may not directly or indirectly acquire ownership or control of more than 5% of the voting shares or substantially all of 
the assets of any bank or merge or consolidate with another bank holding company without the prior approval of the Federal 
Reserve. The acquisition of non-banking companies is also regulated by the Federal Reserve. Current federal Jaw authorizes 
interstate acquisitions of banks and bank holding companies without geographic limitation. Furthermore, a bank headquartered 
in one state is authorized to merge with a bank headquartered in another state as long as neither of the states has opted out of such 
interstate merger authority prior to such date, and subject to any stare requirement that the target bank shall have been in existence 
and operating for a minimum period of time, not to exceed five years, and to certain deposit market-share limitations. After a bank 
has established branches in a state through an interstate merger transaction, the bank may establish and acquire additional branches 
at any location in the state where a bank headquartered in that state could have established or acquired branches under applicable 
federal or state law. Additionally, since passage of the Dodd-Frank Act, a bank is now permitted to open a de novo branch in any 
state if that state would permit a bank organized in that state to open a branch. 
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Restrictions on Affiliate Transactions 

Sections 23A and 238 of the Federal Reserve Act establish parameters for a bank to conduct "covered transactions" with its 
affiliates, with the objective oflimiting risk to the insured bank. Generally, Sections 23A and 23B (i) limit the extent to which the 
bank or its subsidiaries may engage in "covered transactions" with any one affiliate to an amount equal to I 0% of such bank's 
capital stock and surplus, and limit the aggregate of all such transactions with all affiliates to an amount equal to 20% of such 
capital stock and surplus and (ii) require that all such transactions be on terms substantially the same, or at least as favorable, to 
the bank or subsidiary as those that would be provided to a non-affiliate. The term "covered transaction" includes the making of 
Joans to the affiliate, purchase of assets from the affiliate, issuance of a guaranty on behalf of the affiliate and several other types 
of transactions. 

The Dodd-Frank Act imposed additional restrictions on transactions between affiliates by amending these two sections of the 
Federal Reserve Act. Under the Dodd-Frank Act, restrictions on transactions with affiliates are enhanced by (i) including among 
"covered transactions" transactions between bank and affiliate-advised investment funds; (ii) including among "covered 
transactions" transactions between a bank and an affiliate with respect to securities repurchase agreements and derivatives 
transactions; (iii) adopting stricter collateral rules; and (iv) imposing tighter restrictions on transactions between banks and their 
financial subsidiaries . 

FDIC Insurance Assessments 

The assessment rate paid by each DIF member institution is based on its relative risks of default as measured by regulatory capital 
ratios and other factors. Specifically, the assessment rate is based on the institution's capitalization risk category and supervisory 
subgroup category. An institution's capitalization risk category is based on the FDIC's determination ofwhetherthe institution is 
well capitalized, adequately capitalized or Jess than adequately capitalized. Live Oak Bank's insurance assessments during 2017 
and 2016 were $3 .2 million and $1.4 million, respectively.An institution's supervisory subgroup category is based on the FDIC's 
assessment of the financial condition of the institution and the probability that FDIC intervention or other corrective action will 
be required. The FDIC may terminate insurance of deposits upon a finding that an institution has engaged in unsafe and unsound 
practices, is in an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations, or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order 
or condition imposed by the FDIC. 

The Dodd-Frank Act expanded the base for FDIC insurance assessments, requiring that assessments be based on the average 
consolidated total assets less tangible equity capital of a financial institution. On February 7, 2011, the FDIC approved a final rule 
to implementthe foregoing provision of the Dodd-Frank Act. Among other things, the final rule revised the assessment rate schedule 
to provide initial base assessment rates ranging from 5 to 35 basis points, subject to adjustments which could increase or decrease 
the total base assessment rates. The FDIC has three possible adjustments to an institution's initial base assessment rate: (I) a 
decrease ofup to five basis points (or 50% of the initial base assessment rate) for long-term unsecured debt, including senior 
unsecured debt (other than debt guaranteed under the Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program) and subordinated debt; (2) an 
increase for holding long-term unsecured or subordinated debt issued by other insured depository institutions known as the 
Depository Institution Debt Adjustment; and (3) for institutions not well rated and well capitalized, an increase not to exceed 10 
basis points for brokered deposits in excess of 10 percent of domestic deposits. 

The Jaw also gives the FDIC enhanced discretion to set assessment rate levels. 

The FDIC also collects a deposit-based assessment from insured financial institutions on behalf of the Financing Corporation, or 
the FICO. The funds from these assessments are used to service debt issued by FICO in its capacity as a financial vehicle for the 
Federal Savings & Loan Insurance Corporation. The FICO assessment rate is set quarterly and was .135 basis points for each the 
first three quarters and .115 basis points for the fourth quarter of 2017, per $100 of assessable deposits. These assessments will 
continue until the debt matures in 2018 through 2019. 

Community Reinvestment Act 

The Community Reinvestment Act requires federal bank regulatory agencies to encourage financial institutions to meet the credit 
needs oflow and moderate-income borrowers in their local communities . An institution's size and business strategy determines 
the type of examination that it will receive. Large, retail-oriented institutions are examined using a performance-based lending, 
investment and service test. Small institutions are examined using a streamlined approach. All institutions may opt to be evaluated 
under a strategic plan formulated with community input and pre-approved by the bank regulatory agency. 
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The Community Reinvestment Act regulations provide for certain disclosure obligations. Each institution must post a notice 
advising the public of its right to comment to the institution and its regulator on the institution's Community Reinvestment Act 
performance and to review the institution's Community Reinvestment Act public file . Each lending institution must maintain for 
public inspection a file that includes a listing of branch locations and services, a summary of lending activity, a map of its 
communities and any written comments from the public on its performance in meeting community credit needs. The Community 
Reinvestment Act requires public disclosure of the regulators' written Community Reinvestment Act evaluations of financial 
institutions. This promotes enforcement of Community Reinvestment Act requirements by providing the public with the status of 
a particular institution's community reinvestment record. 

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act made various changes to the Community Reinvestment Act. Among other changes, Community 
Reinvestment Act agreements with private parties must be disclosed and annual Community Reinvestment Act reports relating to 
such agreements must be made available to a bank's primary federal regulator. A bank holding company will not be permitted to 
become a financial holding company and no new activities authorized under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act may be commenced 
by a holding company or by a bank financial subsidiary if any of its bank subsidiaries received less than a satisfacto1y Community 
Reinvestment Act rating in its latest Community Reinvestment Act examination. 

The Volcker Rule 

Under provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act referred to as the "Volcker Rule," certain limitations are placed on the ability of insured 
depository institutions and their affiliates to engage in sponsoring, investing in and transacting with certain investment funds, 
including hedge funds and private equity funds. The Volcker Rule also places restrictions on proprietary trading, which could 
impact certain hedging activities. The Volcker Rule became fully effective in July 2015, and banking entities had until July 21, 
2017, to divest certain legacy investments in covered funds. 

Additional Legislative and Regulatory Matters 

The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of200 l, 
or the USA PATRIOT Act, requires each financial institution: (i) to establish an anti-money laundering program; (ii) to establish 
due diligence policies, procedures and controls with respect to its private banking accounts involving foreign individuals and 
certain foreign banks; and (iii) to avoid establishing, maintaining, administering or managing correspondent accounts in the United 
States for, or on behalf of, foreign banks that do not have a physical presence in any country. The USA PATRlOT Act also requires 
the Secretary of the Treasury to prescribe by regulation minimum standards that financial institutions must follow to verify the 
identity of customers, both foreign and domestic, when a customer opens an account. In addition, the USA PATRIOT Act contains 
a provision encouraging cooperation among financial institutions, regulatory authorities and law enforcement authorities with 
respect to individuals, entities and organizations engaged in, or reasonably suspected of engaging in, terrorist acts or money 
laundering activities. 

Sarbanes-Oxley mandates for public companies, such as the Company, a variety of reforms intended to address corporate and 
accounting fraud and provides for the establishment of the PCAOB, which enforces auditing, quality control and independence 
standards for firms that audit SEC-reporting companies. Sarbanes-Oxley imposes higher standards for auditor independence and 
restricts the provision of consulting services by auditing firms to companies they audit and requires that certain audit partners be 
rotated periodically. It also requires chief executive officers and chief financial officers, or their equivalents, to certify the accuracy 
of periodic reports filed with the SEC, subject to civil and criminal penalties if they knowingly or willfully violate this certification 
requirement, and increases the oversight and authority of audit committees of publicly traded companies. 

Fiscal and Monetary Policy 

Banking is a business which depends on interest rate differentials for success. In general, the difference between the interest paid 
by a bank on its deposits and its other borrowings, and the interest received by a bank on its loans and securities holdings, constitutes 
a significant portion of a bank's earnings. Thus, the Company's earnings and growth will be subject to the influence of economic 
conditions generally, both domestic and foreign, and also to the monetary and fiscal policies of the United States and its agencies, 
particularly the Federal Reserve. The Federal Reserve regulates the supply of money through various means, including open market 
dealings in United States government securities, the discount rate at which banks may borrow from the Federal Reserve and the 
reserve requirements on deposits. The nature and timing of any changes in such policies and their effect on the Company's business 
and results of operations cannot be predicted. 

Current and future legislation and the policies established by federal and state regulatory authorities will affect the Company's 
future operations. Banking legislation and regulations may limit the Company's growth and the return to its investors by restricting 
certain of its activities. 
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In addition, capital requirements could be changed and have the effect of restricting the activities of the Company or requiring 
additional capital to be maintained. The Company cannot predict with certainty what changes, if any, will be made to existing 
federal and state legislation and regulations or the effect that such changes may have on the Company's business and results of 
operations. 

Real Estate Lending Evaluations 

The federal regulators have adopted uniform standards for evaluations of loans secured by real estate or made to finance 
improvements to real estate. Banks are required to establish and maintain written internal real estate lending policies consistent 
with safe and sound banking practices and appropriate to the size of the institution and the nature and scope of its operations. The 
regulations establish loan to value ratio limitations on real estate loans. Live Oak Bank's respective loan policies establish limits 
on loan to value ratios that are equal to or less than those established in such regulations. 

Commercial Real Estate Concentrations 

Lending operations of commercial banks may be subject to enhanced scrutiny by federal banking regulators based on a bank's 
concentration of commercial real estate, or CRE, loans. On December 6, 2006, the federal banking regulators issued final guidance 
to remind financial institutions of the risk posed by commercial real estate, or CRE, lending concentrations. CRE loans generally 
include land development, construction loans, and loans secured by multifamily property,and nonfarm, nonresidential real property 
where the primary source of repayment is derived from rental income associated with the property. The guidance prescribes the 
following guidelines for bank examiners to help identify institutions that are potentially exposed to significant CRE risk and may 
warrant greater supervisory scrutiny: 

total reported loans for construction, land development and other land, or C&D, represent I 00% or more of the institution's 
total capital; or 

total CRE loans represent 300% or more of the institution ' s total capital, and the outstanding balance of the institution ' s 
CRE loan portfolio has increased over 50% or more during the prior 36 months. 

As of December 31, 2017, the Bank's C&D concentration as a percentage of bank capital totaled I 82.3% and the Bank's CRE 
concentration, net of owner-occupied Joans, as a percentage of capital totaled 112.3%. 

Limitations on Incentive Compensation 

In October 2009, the Federal Reserve issued proposed guidance designed to help ensure that incentive compensation policies at 
banking organizations do not encourage excessive risk-taking or undermine the safety and soundness of the organization. In 
connection with the proposed guidance, the Federal Reserve announced that it would review incentive compensation arrangements 
of bank holding companies such as the Company as part of the regular, risk-focused supervisory process. 

In June 2010, the Federal Reserve issued the incentive compensation guidance in final form and was joined by the FDTC, and the 
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. The final guidance, which covers all employees that have the ability to materially affect 
the risk profile of an organization, either individually or as part of a group, is based upon the key principles that a banking 
organization's incentive compensation arrangements should (i) provide employees incentives that appropriately balance risk and 
reward and, thus, do not encourage risk-taking beyond the organization's ability to effectively identify and manage risks, (ii) be 
compatible with effective internal controls and risk management, and (iii) be supported by strong corporate governance, including 
active and effective oversight by the organization ' s board of directors. Any deficiencies in compensation practices that are identified 
may be incorporated into the organization's supervisory ratings, which can affect its ability to make acquisitions or perform other 
actions. The guidance provides that enforcement actions may be taken against a banking organization if its incentive compensation 
arrangements or related risk-management control or governance processes pose a risk to the organization's safety and soundness 
and the organization is not taking prompt and effective measures to correct the deficiencies. 

As required by the Dodd-Frank Act, in March 2011 the SEC and the federal bank regulatory agencies (including the Federal 
Reserve and the FDIC) proposed regulations that would prohibit financial institutions with assets of at least $1 billion from 
maintaining executive compensation arrangements that encourage inappropriate risk taking by providing excessive compensation 
or that could lead to material financial loss. These proposed regulations incorporate the principles discussed in the Federal Reserve's 
June 2010 incentive compensation guidance. In May 2016, the federal bank regulatory agencies replaced the regulations proposed 
in 2011 with a new proposal. If the regulations are adopted in the form proposed, they will impose limitations on the manner in 
which the Company may structure compensation for its executives. The comment period for these proposed regulations has closed, 
but a final rule has not been published. 
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Economic Environment 

The policies of regulatory authorities, including the moneta1y policy of the Federal Rese1ve, have a significant effect on the 
operating results of bank holding companies and their subsidiaries. Among the means available to the Federal Reserve to affect 
the money supply are open market operations in U.S. government securities, changes in the discount rate on member bank 
borrowings and changes in reserve requirements against member bank deposits. These means are used in varying combinations 
to influence overall growth and distribution of bank loans, investments and deposits, and their use may affect interest rates charged 
on loans or paid on deposits. The Federal Reserve's monetary policies have materially affected the operating results of commercial 
banks in the past and are expected to continue to do so in the future. The nature of future monetary policies and the effect of these 
policies on the Company's business and earnings cannot be predicted. 

Evolving Legislation and Regulatory Action 

The Dodd-FrankAct was signed into law in 2010 and implemented many new changes in the way financial and banking operations 
are regulated in the United States, including through the creation of a new resolution authority, mandating higher capital and 
liquidity requirements, requiring banks to pay increased fees to regulatory agencies and numerous other provisions intended to 
strengthen the financial services sector. Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act the Financial Stability Oversight Council, or the FSOC, 
was created and is charged with overseeing and coordinating the efforts of the primary U.S. financial regulato1y agencies (including 
the Federal Reserve, the FDIC and the SEC) in establishing regulations to address systemic financial stability concerns. Under 
the Dodd-Frank Act, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or the CFPB, was also created as a new consumer financial 
services regulator. The CFPB is authorized to prevent unfair, deceptive and abusive practices and ensure that consumers have 
access to markets for consumer financial products and services and that such markets are fair, transparent and competitive. 

In 2017, both the House of Representatives and the Senate introduced legislation that would repeal or modify provisions of the 
Dodd-Frank Act and significantly impact financial services regulation. Although the bills vary in content, certain key aspects 
include revisions to rules related to mortgage loans, delayed implementation of rules related to the Home Mortgage Disclosure 
Act, and reform and simplifications of ce11ain Volcker Rule requirements. 

New laws or regulations or changes to existing laws and regulations, including changes in interpretation or enforcement, could 
materially adversely affect the Company's financial condition or results of operations. Many aspects of the Dodd-Frank Act are 
subject to further rulemaking and will take effect over several years. As a result, the overall financial impact on the Company and 
Live Oak Bank cannot be anticipated at this time. 

February 3, 2017, Executive Order 

On February 3, 2017, the President of the United States issued an executive order identifying "core principles" for the 
administration ' s financial services regulatory policy and directing the Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation with the heads of 
other financial regulatory agencies, to evaluate how the current regulat01y framework promotes or inhibits the principles and what 
actions have been, and are being, taken to promote the principles. In response to the executive order, on June 12, 2017, October 
6, 2017 and October 26, 2017, respectively, the U.S. Depa11ment of the Treasu1y issued the first three of four repo1ts recommending 
a number of comprehensive changes in the current regulatory system for U.S . depository institutions, the U.S. capital markets and 
the U.S. asset management and insurance industries. 

Federal and State Taxation 

The Company and its subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return and separate state income tax returns in North 
Carolina. All the returns are filed on a calendar year basis. Consolidated income tax returns have the effect of eliminating 
intercompany income and expense, including dividends, from the computation of consolidated taxable income for the taxable year 
in which the items occur. In accordance with an income tax sharing agreement, income tax charges or credits are allocated among 
Live Oak and its subsidiaries on the basis of their respective taxable income or taxable loss that is included in the consolidated 
income tax return. 

Banks and bank holding companies are subjectto federal and state income taxes in essentially the same manner as other corporations. 
Taxable income is generally calculated under applicable sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), 
with some modifications required by state law and the December 2017 tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cut and 
Jobs Act (the "Tax Act"). Although Live Oak's federal income tax liability is determined under provisions of the Code, which is 
applicable to all taxpayers, Sections 581 through 597 of the Code apply specifically to financial institutions. 
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Among oiher things, the new Tax Act (i) estab lishes a new. tlat corporate federal statutory income tax rate of2 IO (ii) eliminates 
the corporate alternati e minimum tax and allows the use of any such carryforwards to offset regular tax liabi lity for any taxable 
year (iii) limits the deduction for net interest expense incurred by U . . corporations, (iv) allows businesses to immediately expense, 
for tax purposes, the cost of new investments in certain qualified depreciable assets, (v) eliminates or reduces certain deductions 
related lo meals and entertainment expenses (vi) modifies the limita tion on excessive employee remuneration to eliminate the 
exception for performance-based compensation and clarifies the definition ofa covered employee and (vii) limits the deductibility 
of deposit insurance premiums. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act also significant ly changes U . . tax law related to foreign operation , 
however, such changes do not curremly impact the Company. Based upon current 20 18 projections, the effective tax rate for 2018 
is expected to be in the low-to-mid single digits· however. there can be no assurance as to the actual amount because it wi ll be 
dependent upon the nature and amount of future income and expenses as well as investments generating investment tax credits 
and transactions with discrete tax effe.cts and any possible changes in the Company's provisional adjustments in revaluing the 
deferred tax liability at December, 31 2017. The accounting for the impact of the Tax Act is expected to be completed during the 
fomth quaiter of2018 and the final amount may differ from the provisiona l amount due to additional analysis regulatory guidance 
that may be issued or changes in interpretation. 
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Item IA. RISK FACTORS 

An investment in LOB common stock involves certain risks. The following discussion highlights the risks that management believes 
are material/or the Company, but do not necessarily include all the risks that ll'e may face. Additional risks and uncertainties that 
are not currently known or that management does not currently deem material could also have a material adverse impact on our 
business, results of our operations and financial condition. You should carefully consider the risk factors and uncertainties 
described below and elsewhere in this Report in evaluating an investment in LOB 's common stock. 

Risks Related to Our Business 

We may experience increased delinquencies and credit Losses, which could have a material adverse effect on our capital, 
financial condition, and results of operations. 

Like other lenders, we face the risk that our customers will not repay their loans . A customer's failure to repay us is usually preceded 
by missed monthly payments. In some instances, however, a customer may declare bankruptcy prior to missing payments, and, 
following a borrower filing bankruptcy, a lender's recovery of the credit extended is often limited. Since many of our loans are 
secured by collateral, we may attempt to seize the collateral if and when a customer defaults on a loan. However, the value of the 
collateral might not equal the amount of the unpaid loan, and we may be unsuccessful in recovering the remaining balance from 
our customer. The resolution of nonperforming assets, including the initiation of foreclosure proceedings, requires significant 
commitments of time from management, which can be detrimental to the performance of their other responsibilities, and which 
expose us to additional legal costs. Elevated levels of loan delinquencies and bankruptcies in our market areas, generally, and 
among our customers specifically, can be precursors of future charge-offs and may require us to increase our allowance for loan 
and lease losses, or ALLL. Higher charge-off rates, delays in the foreclosure process or in obtaining judgments against defaulting 
borrowers or an increase in our ALLL may negatively impact our overall financial performance, may increase our cost of funds, 
and could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

SBA lending is an important part of our business. Our SBA lending program is dependent upon the federal government, and 
we face specific risks associated with originating SBA Loans. 

Our SBA lending program is dependent upon the federal government. As an SBA Preferred Lender, we enable our clients to obtain 
SBA loans without being subject to the potentially lengthy SBA approval process necessary for lenders that are not SBA Preferred 
Lenders. The SBA periodically reviews the lending operations of participating lenders to assess, among other things, whether the 
lender exhibits prudent risk management. When weaknesses are identified, the SBA may request corrective actions or impose 
enforcement actions, including revocation of the lender's Preferred Lender status. lfwe lose our status as a Preferred Lender, we 
may lose some or all of our customers to lenders who are SBA Preferred Lenders, and as a result we could experience a material 
adverse effect to our financial results. Any changes to the SBA program, including changes to the level of guarantee provided by 
the federal government on SBA loans, may also have a material adverse effect on our business. 

We generally sell the guaranteed portion of our SBA 7(a) loans in the secondary market. These sales have resulted in premium 
income for us at the time of sale and created a stream of future servicing income. We may not be able to continue originating these 
loans or selling them in the secondary market. Fmthermore, even ifwe are able to continue originating and selling SBA 7(a) loans 
in the secondary market, we might not continue to realize premiums upon the sale of the guaranteed portion of these loans. When 
we sell the guaranteed portion of our SBA 7(a) loans, we incur credit risk on the non-guaranteed portion of the loans, and if a 
customer defaults on the non-guaranteed portion of a loan, we share any loss and recovery related to the loan pro-rata with the 
SBA. If the SBA establishes that a loss on an SBA guaranteed loan is attributable to significant technical deficiencies in the manner 
in which the loan was originated, funded or serviced by us, the SBA may seek recovery of the principal loss related to the deficiency 
from us, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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The laws, regulations and standard operating procedures that are applicable to SBA loan products may change at any time. For 
example, effective January I , 2018, the SBA changed its procedures relating to equity levels required to qualify for an SBA loan. 
We expect these changes will have an adverse impact on originations, particularly in our Agriculture vertical and other verticals 
where the borrowers historically have faced challenges meeting equity requirements for eligibility. In March 2018, the Office of 
Inspector General (the "OIG") for the SBA issued its Evaluation of SBA 7(a) Loans Made to Poultry Farmers. The report 
summarized the OIG' s review of SBA 7(a) loans made to poultry farmers along with its findings and recommendations. Among 
other things, the OIG report concluded thatthe loans to poultry farmers it had reviewed did not meet regulatory and SBA requirements 
for eligibility. The SBA 's response to the OIG report suggests that it will review the report and recommendations and determine 
whether to take any further action. We are still assessing the potential impact of the rep011 and any SBA actions in response. We 
cannot predict the effects of future changes on our business and profitability. Because government regulation greatly affects the 
business and financial results of all commercial banks and bank holding companies and especially our organization, changes in 
the laws, regulations and procedures applicable to SBA loans could adversely affect our ability to operate profitably. 

We are dependent upon the use of intellectual property owned by third parties, and any change in our ability to use, or the 
terms upon which we may use, this intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

The technology-based platform that is pivotal to our success is dependent on the use of the nCino Bank Operating System and 
Salesforce.com, Inc. 's Force.com cloud computing infrastructure platform. We rely on a non-exclusive license to use nCino's 
platform. Because our license is non-exclusive, the nCino Bank Operating System is available to other lenders and nothing would 
prevent our competitors from developing, licensing or using similar technology. Our license currently expires on November 15, 
2018. Notwithstanding the term of our agreement, our license may be terminated ifwe are in material breach of the license and 
do not cure the breach within 30 days. In addition, nCino relies on a license to use the Salesforce.com platform, and ifnCino were 
unable to maintain its rights under that license, our ability to rely on the nCino license could be adversely affected. We can offer 
no assurance that we will be able to renew or maintain our license to use the nCino Bank Operating System on terms that are 
acceptable. Termination of either of these licenses or the reduction or elimination of our licensed rights may result in our having 
to negotiate new licenses with less favorable terms, or the inability to obtain access to such licensed technology at all. Similarly, 
Apiture provides the Bank significant engineering, development, professional and other services under an agreement we signed 
with Apiture in connection with the closing of the joint venture in October 2017. It would be difficult for the Bank to replace these 
services with a third party. Notwithstanding the Bank's ownership of50% of the voting control ofApiture, there can be no assurance 
that Apiture will continue to provide such services at appropriate service levels or at prices that would be market competitive. If 
we were to lose access to any of this technology, or were only able to access the technology on less favorable terms, we would 
not be able to offer our customers the technology-based platform services they seek from us and our business would be materially 
and adversely affected. 

A failure h, or breach of our operational or security systems, or those of our third party service providers, including as a result 
of cyber-attacks, could disrupt our business, result in unintentional disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary 
information, damage our reputation, increase our costs and cause losses. 

As a financial institution, our operations rely heavily on the secure data processing, storage and transmission of confidential and 
other information on our computer systems and networks. Any failure, interruption or breach in security or operational integrity 
of these systems could result in failures or disruptions in our online banking system, customer relationship management, general 
ledger, deposit and loan servicing and other systems. The security and integrity of our systems and the technology we use could 
be threatened by a variety of interruptions or information security breaches, including those caused by computer hacking, cyber­
attacks, electronic fraudulent activity or attempted theft of financial assets. We may fail to promptly identify or adequately address 
any such failures, interruptions or security breaches if they do occur. While we have ce11ain protective policies and procedures in 
place, the nature and sophistication of the threats continue to evolve. We may be required to expend significant additional resources 
in the future to modify and enhance our protective measures. 
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The nature of our business may make it an attractive target and potentially vulnerable to cyber-attacks, computer viruses, physical 
or electronic break-ins or similar disruptions. The technology-based platform we use processes sensitive data from our borrowers 
and investors. While we have taken steps to protect confidential information that we have access to, our security measures and the 
security measures employed by the owners of the technology in the platform that we use could be breached. Any accidental or 
willful security breaches or other unauthorized access to our systems could cause confidential customer, borrower, employee, 
vendor, partner or investor information to be stolen and used for criminal purposes. Security breaches or unauthorized access to 
confidential information could also expose us to liability related to the loss of the information, time-consuming and expensive 
litigation, and negative publicity. If security measures are breached because of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or 
otherwise, or if design flaws in the technology-based platform that we use are exposed and exploited, our relationships with 
customers, borrowers, employees, vendors, partners and investors could be severely damaged, and we could incur significant 
liability. 

Because techniques used to sabotage or obtain unauthorized access to systems change frequently and generally are not recognized 
until they are launched against a target, we and our collaborators may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement 
adequate preventative measures. In addition, federal regulators and many federal and state Jaws and regulations require companies 
to notify individuals of data security breaches involving their personal data. These mandatory disclosures regarding a security 
breach are costly to implement and often lead to widespread negative publicity, which may cause customers, borrowers, employees, 
vendors, pai1ners or investors to Jose confidence in the effectiveness of our data security measures . Any security breach, whether 
actual or perceived, would harm our reputation, we could lose customers, borrowers, employees, vendors, partners, or investors, 
and our business and operations could be adversely affected. 

Additionally, we face the risk of operational disruption, failure, termination or capacity constraints of any of the third parties that 
facilitate our business activities, including exchanges, clearing agents, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries. Such 
parties could also be the source of an attack on, or breach of, our operational systems. Any failures , interruptions or security 
breaches in our information systems could damage our reputation, result in a loss of customer business, result in a violation of 
privacy or other laws, or expose us to civil litigation, regulatory fines or losses not covered by insurance. 

Our business is dependent on the successful and uninterrupted functioning of our information technology and telecommunications 
systems and third-party providers . The failure of these systems, or the termination of a third-party software license or service 
agreement on which any of these systems is based, could interrupt our operations. Because our information technology and 
telecommunications systems interface with and depend on third-party systems, we could experience service denials if demand for 
such services exceeds capacity or such third-party systems fail or experience interruptions. If significant, sustained or repeated, a 
system failure or service denial could compromise our ability to operate effectively, damage our reputation, result in a loss of 
customer business, and/or subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny and possible financial liability, any of which could materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, as well as the value of our common stock. 

A return of recessionary conditions could result in increases in our level of nonperforming loans and/or reduce demand/or 
our products and services, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. 

Like all financial institutions, we are subject to certain risks resulting from a weakened economy, such as increased charge-offs 
and levels of past-due loans and nonperforming assets. Although the U.S. economy has emerged from the severe recession that 
occurred from 2007 to 2009, economic growth has been slow and uneven, and unemployment levels remain elevated in many 
areas of the country. In addition, recovery by many businesses has been impaired by lower consumer spending. A return of prolonged 
deteriorating economic conditions could adversely affect the ability of our customers to repay their Joans, the value of our 
investments, and our ongoing operations, including our equipment leasing and title insurance businesses, costs and profitability. 
These events may cause us to incur losses and may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 
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Our loan portfolio mix, which includes owner-occupied commercial real estate loans, could result in increased credit risk in 
a challenging economy. 

Our loan portfolio is concentrated in owner-occupied commercial real estate and owner-occupied commercial business loans. 
These types of loans generally are viewed as carrying more risk of default than residential real estate loans or certain other types 
ofloans or investments. In fact, the FDIC has issued pronouncements alerting banks of its concern about heavy loan concentrations 
in ce1tain types of commercial real estate loans, including acquisition, construction and development loans, and heavy loan 
concentrations in certain geographic segments . Because a portion of our loan portfolio is composed of these types of higher-risk 
loans, we face an increased risk of nonperforming loans that could result in a loss of earnings from these loans, an increase in the 
provision for loan and lease losses, or an increase in loan charge-offs, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The current economic environment and any deterioration or downturn in the economies or real estate values in the markets we 
serve could have a material adverse effect on both borrowers' ability to repay their loans and the value of the real property securing 
those loans. Our ability to recover on defaulted loans would then be diminished, and we would be more likely to suffer losses on 
defaulted loans. Any ofthese developments could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and prospects. 

The fair value of our investment securities can fluctuate tlue to factors outside of our control. 

As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of our investment securities portfolio was approximately $93 million . Factors beyond our 
control can significantly influence the fair value of securities in our p01tfolio and can cause potential adverse changes to the fair 
value of these securities. These factors include, but are not limited to, rating agency actions in respect of the securities, defaults 
by the issuer or with respect to the underlying securities, monetary tapering actions by the Federal Reserve, and changes in market 
interest rates and potential instability in the capital markets. Any of these factors, among others, could cause other-than-temporary 
impairments and realized or unrealized losses in future periods and declines in other comprehensive income, which could materially 
and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects, as well as the value of our common 
stock. The process for determining whether impairment of a security is other-than-temporary usually requires complex, subjective 
judgments about the future financial performance and liquidity of the issuer and any collateral underlying the security in order to 
assess the probability ofreceiving all contractual principal and interest payments on the security. Our inability to accurately predict 
the future performance of an issuer or to efficiently respond to changing market conditions could result in a decline in the value 
of our investment securities portfolio, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and 
financial condition. · 

Our allowance for loan losses may prove to be insufficient to cover actual loan losses, which could have a material adverse 
effect 011 our financial condition and results of operations. 

Our future success depends to a significant extent upon the quality of our assets, particularly loans. In originating loans, there is 
a substantial likelihood that we will experience credit losses. The risk ofloss will vary with, among other things, general economic 
conditions, including the current economic environment and real estate market, the type ofloan, the creditworthiness of the borrower 
over the term of the loan, and, in the case of a collateralized loan, the quality of the collateral for the loan. 

Our loan customers may not repay their loans according to the terms of these loans, and the collateral securing the payment of 
these loans may be insufficient to assure repayment. As a result, we may experience significant loan losses, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our operating results. Our management makes various assumptions and judgments aboutthe collectability 
of our loan portfolio, including the creditworthiness of our borrowers and the value of the real estate and other assets serving as 
collateral for the repayment of many of our loans. We maintain an allowance for loan losses in an attempt to cover any loan losses 
that may occur. In determining the size of the allowance, we rely on an analysis of our loan portfolio based on historical loss 
experience, volume and types ofloans, trends in classification, volume and trends in delinquencies and non-accruals, national and 
local economic conditions, and other pertinent information. 

If our assumptions are wrong, our current allowance may not be sufficient to cover future loan losses, and we may need to make 
adjustments to allow for different economic conditions or adverse developments in our loan portfolio. Material additions to our 
allowance in the form of provisions for loan losses would materially decrease our net income. We expect our allowance to continue 
to fluctuate; however, given current and future market conditions, our allowance may not be adequate to cover future loan losses. 
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In addition, federal and state regulators periodically review our allowance for loan losses and may require us to increase our 
provision for loan and lease losses or recognize further loan charge-offs, based on judgments different than those of our management. 
Any increase in our allowance for loan losses or loan charge-offs as required by these regulators could have a negative effect on 
our operating results and could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The valuation of our servicing rights is based on estimates and subject to fluctuation based on market conditions and other 
factors that are beyond our control. 

The fair value of our servicing rights is estimated based upon projections of expected future cash flows generated by the loans we 
service, historical prepayment rates, future prepayment estimates, portfolio characteristics, interest rates based on interest rate 
yield curves, volatility, market demand for servicing rights and other factors. While this evaluation process uses historical and 
other objective information, the valuation of our servicing rights is ultimately an estimate based on our experience, judgment and 
expectations regarding our servicing portfolio and the broader market. This is an inherently uncertain process and the value of our 
servicing rights may be adversely impacted by factors that are beyond our control, which may in turn have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The recognition of gains on the sale of loans reflects certain assumptions. 

Gains on the sale of loans comprise a significant component of our revenue. Noncash gains recognized in the years ended 
December 31 , 2017, 2016 and 2015 were $6.2 million, $7.1 million and $6. l million respectively. The determination of these 
noncash gains is based on assumptions regarding the value ofunguaranteed loans retained, servicing rights retained and deferred 
fees and costs. The value of retained unguaranteed Joans and servicing rights are determined by our wholly owned subsidiary, 
GLS, which applies market derived factors such as prepayment rates, current market conditions and recent loan sales to arrive at 
valuations. Deferred fees and costs are determined using internal analysis of the cost to originate loans. Significant errors in 
assumptions used to compute gains on sale of loans could result in material revenue misstatements, which may have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and profitability. In addition, while we believe that the valuations provided 
by GLS are at arm's length, reflect fair value and are subject to validation by an independent third party on a biannual basis, if 
such valuations are not reflective of fair market value then our business, results of operations and financial condition may be 
materially and adversely affected. 

We anticipate that going forward we will experience increasing growth in our held-for-sale and held-for-investment loan 
portfolios due to our increasing construction portfolio or strategic business decisions. 

Our revenue model has historically been driven by selling loans that we originate, or a portion of the loans, in the secondary market 
when fully funded. The growth of our construction portfolio that typically funds in stages will result in a decrease in the volume 
of loans sold relative to production in any period, which, in turn, decreases our revenue relative to production in any period. Jn 
addition, we anticipate growth in our loans held for investment due to our origination of loans that we choose not to sell or for 
which there is no secondary market or due to other strategic choices, including the pursuit of potential opportunities in conventional 
lending outside of SBA or other government guarantee programs. Growth in our held-for-sale and our held-for-investment loan 
portfolios exposes us to increased interest rate and credit risks . 

Our rental equipment is subject to residual value risk upon disposition, and may not sell at tlte prices or in the quantities we 
expect. 

The market value of any given piece of rental equipment could be less than its depreciated value at the time it is sold. The market 
value of used rental equipment depends on several factors, including: 

the market price for new equipment of a like kind; 

the age of the equipment at the time it is sold, as well as wear and tear on the equipment relative to its age; 

the supply of used equipment on the market; 

technological advances relating to the equipment; 

demand for the used equipment; and 

general economic conditions. 
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We include in income from operations the difference between the sales price and the depreciated value of an item of equipment 
sold. Changes in our assumptions regarding depreciation could change our depreciation expense, as well as the gain or loss rea lized 
upon disposal of equipment. Sales of our used rental equipment at prices that fall significantly below our projections or in lesser 
quantities than we anticipate will have a negative impact on our results of operations and cash flows. 

We are subject to liquidity risk in our operations. 

Liquidity risk is the possibility of being unable, at a reasonable cost and wi thin acceptable risk tolerances, to pay obligations as 
they come due, to capitalize on gro, th opportunities as they arise, or to pay regular dividends because of an inabi li ty to liquidate 
assets or obtain adequate funding on a timely basis. Liquidity is required to fund various obligations, including credit obligations 
to borrowers, loan originations, withdrawals by depositors, repayment of debt dividends to shareholders operat ing expenses and 
capital expenditures. Our liquidity is derived primarily from the sale of loans in the secondary market, retail deposit growth and 
retention, principal and interest payments on loans and investment securities, net cash provided from operations, and access to 
other funding sources. Historically, we have relied on brokered and Internet funds as a large portion of our deposit base. Our access 
to funding sources in amounts adequate to finance our activities or at a reasonable cost could be impaired by factors that affect us 
specifically or the financial services industry in general. Factors that could adversely affect our access to liquidity sources include 
a decrease in the level of our business activity due to a market downturn, our lack of access to a traditional branch banking network 
designed to generate core deposits and adverse regulatory action against us. Our ability to borrow could also be impaired by factors 
that are not specific to us, such as a severe disruption in the financial markets or negative views and expectations about the prospects 
for the financial services industry as a whole. Our access to borrowed funds could become limited in the future, and we may be 
required to pay above market rates for additional borrowed funds, ifwe are able to obtain them at all, which may adversely affect 
our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The amount of other real estate owned, or OREO, may increase significantly, resulting in additional losses, and costs and 
expenses that will negative(v affect our operations. 

In connection with our banking business, we take title to real estate collateral from time to time through foreclosure or otherwise 
in connection with efforts to collect debts previously contracted. Such real estate is referred to as other real estate owned, or OREO. 
As the amount of OREO increases, our losses, and the costs and expenses to maintain the real estate, likewise increase. The amount 
of OREO we hold may increase due to various economic condi1ions or other factors. Any additional increase in losses and 
maintenance costs and other expenses due to OREO may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and 
financial condition. Such effects may be particularly pronounced in a market of reduced real estate values and excess inventory, 
which may make the disposition of OREO properties more difficult, increase maintenance costs and other expenses, and reduce 
our ultimate realization from any OREO sales. In addition, at the time of acquisition of the OREO we are required to reflect its 
fair market value in our financial statements. If the OREO declines in value subsequent to its acquisition, we are required to 
recognize a loss. As a result, declines in the value of our OREO will have a negative effect on our business, results of operations 
and financial condition.As of December 31, 2017, we had four OREO properties with an aggregate carrying value of$ I .3 million. 
For more information about amounts held in OREO, see Note 11 10 our audited consolidated financial statement as of and for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 filed with this Report. 

We are subject to environmental liability risk associated with our lending activities. 

A significant portion of our loan portfolio is secured by rea l proper!)'. During the ordinary course of business, we may foreclose 
on and take title to properties ecuring certain loans. In do·ing so, there is a risk that hazardous or toxic substances could be found 
on these properties. If hazardous or toxic substances are found we may be liable for remediation costs, a well as for personal 
injury and property damage. Environmental laws may require us to incur substantial expenses and may materially reduce the 
affected property's value or limil our ability to use or sell the affected property. In addition, future Jaws or more tringent 
interpretations or enforcement policies with respect to existing laws may increase our exposure to environmental liability. The 
remediation costs and any other financial liabilities associated with an environmental hazard could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Our use of appraisals in deciding whether to make a loan secured by real property or how to value the loan in the future may 
not accurately reflect the net value of the collateral that we can realize. 

In considering whether to make a loan secured by real property, we generally require an appraisal of the property. However, an 
appraisal is only an estimate of the value of the property at the time the appraisal is made and as real estate values may experience 
changes in value in relatively short periods of tim , especially during periods of heightened economic uncertainty this estimate 
might not accurately describe the net value of the real property collatera l after the loan has been closed. If the appraisal does nol 
reflect the amount that may be obtained upon any sale or foreclosure of the property, we may not realize an amount equal to the 
indebtedness secured by the property. In addition, we rely on appraisals and other valuation techniques to establish the value of 
our OREO and to determine certain loan impairments. Ifany ofthesevaluations are inaccurate, our consolidated financial statements 
may not reflect the correct value of OREO, and our Allowance for loans losses may not reflect accurate loan impairments. The 
valuation of the properties securing the loans in our portfolio may negatively impact the continuing value of those loans and could 
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We could be subject to losses, regulatory action or reputational harm due to fraudulent and negligent acts on the part of loan 
applicants, our borrowers, our employees and vendors. 

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions with customers and counterparties, we may rely on information 
furnished by or on behalf of customers and counterparties, including financial statements, property appraisals, title information 
employment and income documentation, account information and other financial information. We may also rely on representations 
of clients and counterparties as to the accuracy and completeness of such information and, with respect to financial statements, 
on reports of independent auditors . Any such misrepresentation or incorrect or incomplete information may not be detected prior 
to funding a loan or during our ongoing monitoring of outstanding loans. In addition, one or more of our employees or vendors 
could cause a significant operational breakdown or failure, either as a result of human error or where an individual purposefully 
sabotages or fraudulently manipulates our loan documentation, operations or systems. Any of these developments could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We may fail to realize all of the anticipated benefits, including estimated cost savings, of potential future acquisitions. 

In the future we may encounter difficulties in obtaining required regulatory approvals for, or face unexpected contingent liabilities 
from, businesses we may acquire. Integration of an acquired business can be complex and costly, sometimes including combining 
relevant accounting and data processing systems and management controls, as well as managing relevant relationships with 
employees, customers, suppliers and other business partners. Integration efforts could divert management attention and resources, 
which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, given continued market 
volatility and uncertainty, we may also experience increased credit costs or need to take additional markdowns and allowances for 
loan losses on assets and loans we may acquire. These increased credit costs, markdowns and allowances could materially adversely 
affect our financial condition and results of operations, as well as the value of our common stock. 

Implementation of our growLh strategy depends, in part, on our ability to successfully identify acquisition opportunities and strategic 
partners that will compleme1it our operating philosophy, and also on the successful integration of their operations with our own. 
To successfully acquire target companies or establish co111ple111enta1)' lines of business we must be able to correclfy identify 
profitable or growing markets, as well as attract the necessaiy relationships and high caliber personnel to make these new business 
lines profitable . 1 n addition we may not be able to identify suitable opportunities for further growth and expansion. As consolidation 
of the financial services industry continues, the competition for suitable acquisition candidates may increase. We will compete 
with other financial services companies for acquisition opportunities, and many of these competitors have greater financial resources 
than we do and may be able to pay more for an acquisition than we are able or willing to pay. If we are unable to effectively 
implement our growth strategies, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially and adversely 
affected. 
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Acquisitions may be delayed, impeded, or prohibited due to regulatory issues. 

Acquisitions by the Company or the Bank, particularly those of financial institutions, are subject to approval by a variety offederal 
and state regulatory agencies. Regulatory approvals could be delayed, impeded, restrictively conditioned or denied due to regulatory 
issues we have, or may have, with regulatory agencies, including, without limitation, issues related to the CRA; fair lending laws; 
fair housing laws; consumer protection laws; unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices regulations; and other similar laws and 
regulations. We may fail to pursue, evaluate or complete strategic and competitively significant acquisition opportunities as a result 
of our inability,or perceived or anticipated inability, to obtain regulatory approvals in a timely manner, under reasonable conditions 
or at all. Difficulties associated with potential acquisitions that may result from these factors could have a material adverse impact 
on our business, and, in turn, our financial condition and results of operations. 

The value of our goodwill and other intangible assets may decline in the future. 

In connection with our acquisitions, we have generally recognized intangible assets, including goodwill, in our consolidated balance 
sheet. We may not realize the value of these assets. Management performs an annual review of the carrying values of goodwill 
and indefinite-lived intangible assets and periodic reviews of the canying values of all other intangible assets to determine whether 
events and circumstances indicate that an impairment in value may have occurred. A variety of factors could cause the carrying 
value of an asset to become impaired. Should a review indicate impairment, a write-down of the carrying value of the asset would 
occur, resulting in a non-cash charge which would adversely affect our results of operations for the period. All goodwill and 
intangibles recorded in 2017 are related to the acquisition of Reltco. During 2017, the Company recognized impairment on the 
entire balance of goodwill and a portion of other intangibles related to this acquisition. See Note 2. Title Insurance Business for 
further information on this transaction and related impairment. 

New lines of business or new products and services may subject us to additional risks. 

From time to time, we may develop, grow and/or acquire new lines of business or offer new products and services within existing 
lines of business. There are substantial risks and unce1tainties associated with these efforts, patticularly in instances where the 
markets are not fully developed. In developing and marketing new lines of business and/or new products and services, we may 
invest significant time and resources. Initial timetables for the introduction and development of new lines of business and/or new 
products or services may not be achieved and price and profitability targets may not prove feasible. External factors, such as 
compliance with regulations, competitive alternatives and shifting market preferences, may also impact the successful 
implementation of a new line of business or a new product or service. Furthermore, any new line of business and/or new product 
or service could have a significant impact on the effectiveness of our system of internal controls. Failure to successfully manage 
these risks in the development and implementation of new lines of business or new products or services could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. All service offerings, including current offerings and 
those which may be provided in the future, may become more risky due to changes in economic, competitive and market conditions 
beyond our control. 

Changes in the interest rate environment could reduce our net interest income, which could reduce our profitabili(v. 

As a financial institution, our earnings depend in part on our net interest income, which is the difference between the interest 
income that we earn on interest-earning assets, such as investment securities and loans, and the interest expense that we pay on 
interest-bearing liabilities, such as deposits and borrowings. Additionally, changes in interest rates affect the premiums we may 
receive in connection with the sale of SBA 7(a) loans in the secondary market, pre-payment speeds of loans for which we own 
servicing rights, our ability to fund our operations with customer deposits, and the fair value of securities in our investment portfolio. 
Therefore, any change in general market interest rates, including changes in federal fiscal and monetary policies, affects us more 
than non-financial companies and can have a significant effect on our net interest income and results of operations. Our assets and 
liabilities may react differently to changes in overall market rates or conditions because there may be mismatches between the 
repricing or maturity characteristics of the assets and liabilities. As a result, an increase or decrease in market interest rates could 
have material adverse effects on our net interest margin, noninterest income and results of operations. Further, since we began 
originating loans in May 2007 we have operated in a period of low market interest rates. Interest rates began increasing in 2017 
and and may continue to increase in 2018 and future periods. In a rising interest rate environment, potential borrowers could seek 
to defer loans as they wait for interest rates to settle, and borrowers of variable rate loans may be subject to increased interest rates, 
which could result in a greater rate of prepayment or default. Rising interest rates may also present additional challenges to our 
business that we have not anticipated. 
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We face strong competition from a diverse group of competitors. 

The banking business is highly competitive, and we experience strong competition from many other financial institutions, including 
some of the largest commercial banks headquartered in the country, as well as other federally and state chartered financial institutions 
such as community banks and credit unions, finance and business development companies, consumer finance companies, peer­
to-peer and marketplace lenders, securities brokerage firms, insurance companies, money market and mutual funds and other non­
bank lenders. 

We compete with these institutions both in attracting deposits and in making loans, primarily on the basis of the interest rates we 
pay and yield on these products. We also compete with these institutions in our other business lines, including equipment leasing 
and title insurance. Many of our competitors are well-established, much larger financial institutions . While we believe we can 
successfully compete with these other lenders in our industry verticals, we may face a competitive disadvantage as a result of our 
smaller size. Furthermore, nothing would prevent our competitors from developing or licensing a technology-based platform 
similar to the technology-based platform we currently use in our business. In addition, many of our non-bank competitors have 
fewer regulatory constraints and may have lower cost structures. We expect competition to continue to intensify due to financial 
institution consolidation, legislative, regulatory and technological changes, and the emergence of alternative banking sources . 

Our ability to compete successfully will depend on a number of factors , including, among other things : 

our ability to build and maintain long-term customer relationships while ensuring high ethical standards and safe and 
sound banking practices; 

the scope, relevance and pricing of products and services that we offer; 

customer satisfaction with our products and services; 

industry and general economic trends; and 

our ability to keep pace with technological advances and to invest in new technology. 

Increased competition could require us to increase the rates we pay on deposits or lower the rates we offer on loans, which could 
reduce our profitability. Our failure to compete effectively in our primary markets could cause us to lose market share and could 
have a material adverse effect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Our investments and/or financings in certain tax-advantaged projects may not generate returns as anticipated and may have 
an adverse impact on our financial results. 

We invest in and/or finance certain tax-advantaged projects promoting renewable energy sources. Our investments in these projects 
are designed to generate a return primarily through the realization of federal and state income tax credits, and other tax benefits, 
over specified time periods. We utilize an investment tax credit for the installation of certain solar power facilities. We are subject 
to the risk that previously recorded tax credits, which remain subject to recapture by taxing authorities based on compliance features 
required to be met at the project level, will fail to meet certain government compliance requirements and will not be able to be 
fully realized. The possible inability to realize these tax credits and other tax benefits can have a negative impact on our financial 
results . The risk of not being able to realize the tax credits and other tax benefits depends on many factors outside of our control, 
including changes in the applicable provisions of the tax code and the ability of the projects to be completed and properly managed. 
In addition, we make loans through the United States Department of Agriculture ' s Rural Energy for America Program, which 
provides guaranteed loan financing and grant funding to agricultural producers and rural small businesses for renewable energy 
systems or to make energy-efficient improvements. Any changes to applicable provisions of the tax code or other developments 
could adversely impact demand for these loans even where we are not utilizing an investment tax credit. 

Our loan portfolio may be a.fleeted by deterioration in real estate markets, including declines in the performance of loans. 

Deterioration in real estate markets could result in declining prices and excess inventories. As a result, developers may experience 
financial deterioration and banking institutions may experience declines in the performance of construction, development and 
commercial loans. We make credit and reserve decisions based on the current conditions of borrowers or projects combined with 
our expectations for the future. If conditions are worse than forecast, we could experience higher charge-offs and delinquencies 
than is provided in the allowance for loan losses, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and 
financial condition. 
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A prolonged U.S. government shutdown or default by the U.S. on government obligations wouh/ harm our results of operations. 

Our results of operations, including revenue, non-interest income, expenses and net interest income, would be adversely affected 
in the event of widespread financial and business disruption on account of a default by the United States on U.S. government 
obligations or a prolonged failure to maintain significant U.S. government operations, particularly those pertaining to the SBA or 
the FDIC. Any such failure to maintain such U.S. government operations would impede our ability to originate SBA loans and 
our ability to sell such loans in the seconda1y market, which would materially adversely affect our business, results of operations 
and financial condition. 

Deterioration in the fiscal position of the U.S.federalgovernment and downgrades in U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities 
could adversely affect us and our subsidiary's banking operations. 

The long-term outlook for the fiscal position of the U.S. federal government is uncertain, as illustrated by the 2011 downgrade by 
certain rating agencies of the credit rating of the U.S. government and federal agencies. In addition to causing economic and 
financial market disruptions, any future downgrade, failure to raise the U.S. statutory debt limit, or deterioration in the fiscal 
outlook of the U .S. federal government, could, among other things, materially adversely affect the market value of the U.S. 
government and federal agency securities that we hold, the availability of those securities as collateral for borrowing, and our 
ability to access capital markets on favorable terms. In particular, it could increase interest rates and disrupt payment systems, 
money markets, and long-term or short-term fixed income markets, adversely affecting the cost and availability of funding, which 
could negatively affect our profitability.Also, the adverse consequences could extend to those to whom we extend credit and could 
adversely affect their ability to repay their loans. Any of these developments could materially adversely affect our business, results 
of operations and financial condition. 

Deterioration in the commercial soundness of our counterparties could adversely affect us. 

Our ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and commercial soundness of other 
financial institutions . Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty or other 
relationships, and we routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the financial industry. As a result, defaults by, or even 
rumors or questions about, one or more financial services institutions, or the financial services industry generally, could create 
another market-wide liquidity crisis similar to that experienced in late 2008 and early 2009 and could lead to losses or defaults by 
us or by other institutions . The deterioration or fa ilure of our counterparties would have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

We have different lending risks than larger, more diversified banks. 

Our ability to diversify our economic risks is limited. We lend primarily to small businesses in selected industries, which may 
expose us to greater lending risks than those of banks lending to larger, better-capitalized businesses with longer operating histories. 
Small businesses generally have fewer financial resources in terms of capital or borrowing capacity than larger entities and may 
have limited operating histories. If economic conditions negatively impact the verticals in which we operate, our business, results 
of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. 

We attempt to manage our credit exposure through careful monitoring of loan applicants and through loan approval and review 
procedures. We have established an evaluation process designed to determine the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses. While 
this evaluation process uses historical and other objective information, the classification of loans and the establishment of loan 
losses is an estimate based on experience, judgment and expectations regarding our borrowers, and the economies in which we 
and our borrowers operate, as well as the judgment of our regulators . This is an inherently uncertain process, and our loan loss 
reserves may not be sufficient to absorb future loan losses or prevent a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations 
and financial condition. 
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We rely heavily on our management team, and the unexpected loss of any of those personnel could adversely affect our 
operations; we depend on our ability to attract and retain key personnel. 

We are a customer-focused and relationship-driven organization . We expect our future growth to be driven in a large part by the 
relationships maintained with our customers by our chief executive officer, president, and other senior officers . The unexpected 
loss of any of our key employees could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The 
implementation of our business strategy will also require us to continue to attract, hire, motivate and retain skilled personnel to 
develop new customer relationships as well as new financial products and services. We are not party to non-compete or non­
solicitation agreements with any of our officers or employees. The market for qualified employees in the businesses in which we 
operate is competitive, and we may not be successful in attracting, hiring or retaining key personnel. Our inability to attract, hire 
or retain key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Our risk management framework may not be effective in mitigating risks and/or losses to us. 

We have implemented a risk management framework to manage our risk exposure. This framework is comprised of various 
processes, systems and strategies, and is designed to manage the types of risk to which we are subject, including, among others, 
credit, market, liquidity, interest rate and compliance risks. Our framework also includes financial and other modeling 
methodologies which involve management assumptions and judgment. Our risk management framework may not be effective 
under all circumstances and it may fail to adequately mitigate risk or loss to us. If our framework is not effective, we could suffer 
unexpected losses and be subject to potentially adverse regulatory consequences, and our business, results of operations and 
financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. 

Hurricanes or other adverse weather events could disrupt our operations, which could have an adverse effect on our business 
or results of operations. 

North Carolina's coastal region is affected, from time to time, by adverse weather events, particularly hurricanes. We cannot predict 
whether, or to what extent, damage caused by future hurricanes or other weather events will affect our operations. Weather events 
could cause a disruption in our day-to-day business activities and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 

Outbreaks of avian disease, such as avian influenza, or the perception that outbreaks may occur, could have a material adverse 
effect on lending operations in our Agriculture vertical. 

Pandemic events beyond our control, such as an outbreak of avian disease, or "bird flu," could have a material adverse effect on 
the performance of our portfolio ofloans in our Agriculture vertical and on the demand for new loans in this vertical. An outbreak 
of disease could result in governmental restrictions on the import and export of fresh and frozen chicken or other poultry products 
to or from our customers. This could result in the cancellation of orders and the curtailment of farming operations by our customers 
and could create adverse publicity that may have a material adverse effect on the performance of our existing loans and future 
business prospects in our Agriculture vertical. In addition, consumer fears about avian disease have, in the past, depressed demand 
for fresh poultry, which may adversely impact the demand for future loans and the performance of existing loans in our Agriculture 
vertical. 

If we fail to maintain a11 effective system of i11ternal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report 
our financial results. As a result, current and potential shareholders could lose confide11ce in our fina11cial reporting which 
would harm our business and the trading price of our securities. 

Ifwe identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or are otherwise required to restate our financial 
statements, we could be required to implement expensive and time-consuming remedial measures and could lose investor confidence 
in the accuracy and completeness of our financial rep011s. We may also face regulatory enforcement or other actions, including 
the potential deli sting of our securities from NASDAQ. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations, and could subject us to litigation. 
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Changes in accounting standards and management's selection of accounting methods, including assumptions and estimates, 
could materially impact our financial statements. 

From time to time the E and the Financial Accounting tandards Board. or FA B update accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United tates ("GAAP") that govern the preparation of our financial statemems. These changes can be hard to 
predict and can materially impact how we record and report our financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, we 
could be required to apply a new or revised standard retroactively resulting in changes to previously reported financial results or 
a cumulative charge to retained earning . ln addition management is required to use certain assumptions and e ti mates in preparing 
our financial statements including determining the fair value of certain assets and liabilities, among other items. lfthe assumptions 
or estimates are incorrect. we may experience unexpected material adverse consequences that could negatively affect our business, 
results of operations and financial condition. 

The FASB has recently is.met/ a11 acco1111tillg standard update that will result in a significant change in how we recognize 
credit losses anti may have a materi(I/ impact on our jilllmcial condition or results of operations. 

In June 2016, the FASB i sued an accounting standard update, 'Financial Instrument -Credil Losses (Topic 326) Measurement 
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments," which replaces the currenl' incurred loss' model for recognizing credit losses with 
an 'expected loss' model referred to as the Current Expected Credit Loss (" E L") model. Under the CECL model , we will be 
required to present certain financial assets carried at amortized cost such as loans held for investment and held-to-maturity debt 
securities. at the net amount expected to be collected over the contractual life of the financial instrument. The measurement of 
expected credit losses is Lo be based on information about past events, including historical experience, current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable forecast that affect the collectabilicy of the reported amount. This measuremelll will take place at the 
time the financial asset is first added to the balance sheet and periodically thereafter. This differs significantly from the "incurred 
loss" model required under current GAAP, which delays recognition until it is I robable a loss has been incurred. Accordingly, we 
expect that the adoption of the CECL model will materially affect how we determine our allowance for loan losses and could 
require u to significantly increase our allowance. Moreover, the CECL model may create more volatility in the level of our 
allowance for loan losses. If we are required to materially increase our level of allowance for loan los es for any reason such 
increase could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The new CECL standard will become effective for us on January 1 2020. We are currently evaluating the impact the ECL model 
will have on our accounting, but .we expect to recognize a one-time cumulative-effect acljustm nt to our allowance for loan losses 
as of the beginning ofthe first repor1ing period in which the new standard is effective consistent with regulatory expectations set 
forth in interagency guidance issued at the end of 20 I 6. We cannot yet determine the magnitude of any such on -time cumulative 
adjustment or of the overall impact of the new standard on our financial condition or re ults of operations. 

Our business reputation is important and any damage to it could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Our reputation is very important to sustain our business, as we rely on our relationships with our current former and potential 
cu tomers and shareholders, and the industries that we serve.Any damage to our reputation, whether arising from legal, regulatory 
supervisory or enforcement actions, matters affecting our financial reporting or compliance with EC and exchange listing 
requirements negative publicity the conduct of our business or otherwise could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
results of operations an.d financial condition. 

Insiders have substantial control over us, and this control may limit our s/rareftolders' ability to influence corporate matters 
and may delay or prevent a third party from acquiring control over us. 

As of January 31 , 2018, our directors and executive officers and their related entities c\lrrently beneficially own, in the aggregate, 
approximately 25.7% of our outstanding common stock. The significant concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect 
the tr·ading price of our common stock due to investors' perception that conflicts of interest may exist or arise. 'In addition. these 
shareholders will be able to exercise influence over all mailers requiring shareholder approval, including the election of directors 
and approval of corporate transactions such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets. This concentration of ownership 
could limit your ability to influence corporate matters and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control 
inc'luding a merger, consolidation or other business combination involving us or discouraging a potential acquirer from making 
a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control, even if that· change in control would benefit our other shareholders. For 
information regarding the ownership of our outstanding stock by our executive officers and directors and related entities see 
" ecurity Ownership of Cena in Beneficial Owners and Managemenr and Related Shareholder Matters ' in this Report 
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Risks Related to Our Investment in Apiture 

I/the market for Apiture's digital banking solutions develops more slowly than we expect or changes in ways that we/ail to 
anticipate, our operating results would be adversely affected 

Use of and reliance on digital banking solutions is at an early stage, and we do not know whether the market will develop more 
slowly than we anticipate. Many financial institutions have invested substantial resources in legacy software, and these 
institutions may be reluctant or unwilling to convert from their existing systems to Apiture's digital banking solutions. 
Fm1hermore, for most financial institutions, transitioning from an existing software provider (or from an internally developed 
legacy system) to a new provider is a significant and expensive undet1aking. Potential customers of Apiture's digital banking 
solutions may conclude that switching providers involves too many potential disadvantages such as disruption of business 
operations, loss of accustomed functionality and increased costs (including conversion and transition costs) . Furthermore, 
some financial institutions may be reluctant or unwilling to use a cloud-based solution over concerns such as the security of 
their data and reliability of the delivery model. These concerns or other considerations may cause potential customers to choose 
not to adopt cloud-based solutions such as those being developed by Apiture or to adopt alternative solutions, either of which 
could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Apiture's future success will depend on its ability to develop, sell and deliver new or enhanced solutions to financial institution 
clients; however, these solutions and related services may not be attractive to existing or prospective clients. In addition, promoting, 
selling and delivering these new and enhanced solutions may require increasingly costly sales, marketing and implementation 
effot1s, and if existing or prospective clients choose not to adopt these solutions, our business, results of operations and financial 
condition could be materially and adversely affected. 

Apiture may experience development delays or software defects, which could adversely impact its potential profitability and 
our results of operations. 

Apiture's digital banking solution will require sophisticated software and computing systems that may encounter development 
delays or software defects. Defects in Apiture ' s software offerings or delays in the development of such software could result in 
unforeseen costs, diversion of technical and other resources, loss of credibility with existing and potential clients or reputational 
harm, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, 
to the extent that the Bank is involved in beta testing or early adoption of Apiture's digital banking solutions, the Bank's 
personnel and resources may be diverted from the day-to-day operation of the Bank and the Bank's operations may be adversely 
impacted. 

Apiture's ability to anticipate and respond to changing industry trends and the needs and preferences of financial institution 
clients may affect its competitiveness or demand for its digital banking solutions, which may adversely affect our operating 
results. 

The financial services, payments, and technology industries are subject to rapid technological advancements, new products and 
services, an evolving competitive landscape, developing industry standards and changing client and consumer needs and 
preferences. We expect that new services and technologies applicable to the financial services, payments and technology 
industries will continue to emerge and evolve. These changes in technology may limit the competitiveness of and demand for 
products or services offered by Apiture. Also, Apiture's existing and prospective financial institution clients and their respective 
customers continue to adopt new technology for business and personal uses. Apiture must anticipate and respond to these 
changes in order to compete in its market. 

Apiture's failure to develop products and services that meet the needs and preferences of its clients could have an adverse effect 
on its ability to compete effectively. Furthermore, potential negative reaction to Apiture's products and services can spread 
quickly through social media and damage its reputation before it has the opportunity to respond . If A piture is unable to anticipate or 
respond to technological changes or evolving industry demands on a timely basis, our business, results of operations and financial 
condition could be materially adversely affected. 
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If Apiture i · unable to effectively i11tegrnte its ,ligital ba11ki11g solutions with other :.,,stems used by financial institutions, its 
so/11/ion.\' wi/11101 opernte effectively and our results of operations could be lldver. e(1• rtJ.fected. 

The functionality of Apiture's digital banking solutions will depend on its ability to integrate with other third-party systems used 
by potential clients, including well-established core pro essing systems. Ce1tain providers of these third-party systems also offer 
solutions that are competitive to the solutions being developed by Apiture and may have an advantage with clients already using 
their software by having better ability to integrate with their so-ftwareand by being able to bundle their competitive products with 
other applications used by Apiture's existing and prospective financial institution clients at favorable pricing. 

Security breaches or attacks on Apiture's systems may have a significant effect on our business. 

In order to offer its products and services, Apiture must process, store, and transmit sensitive business information and personal 
consumer information, including, but not limited to, names, bankcard numbers, home or business addresses, social security numbers, 
driver's license numbers and bank account numbers. Under various federal, state and international laws, Apiture is responsible for 
information provided to it by financial institutions, merchants, third-party service providers, and others. Maintaining the 
confidentiality of such sensitive business information and personal consumer information will be critical to Apiture's business; 
however Apiture cannot be certain thar lh security measures and procedures it puts in place to protect this sensitive data will be 
successful or ufficient to coumer all current and emerging technology threats designed to breach network security in order to gain 
access to confidential information. Theincreasingsophisrication ofcybercriminals and their continuous attempts to breach networks 
present risk of a s~curity breach of Apiture' s systems. A breach of Apiture s systems processing or storing sensitive business 
information or personal consumer information could lead to claims against it, reputational damage, lost clients and I t revenue, 
substantial additional costs (including costs of notification of consumers, credit monitoring, card reissuance, contact centers and 
fore nsics), loss of clients' and their customers' confidence as well as imposition of fines and damages, all of which could materially 
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, as security threats continue to evolve, 
Apiture will be required to invest additional resources to modify and update the security of its systems. The level of required 
investment could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Apiture may experience breakdowns in its processing systems that could damage client relations and expose it to liability. 

Apiture s business will rely heavily on the reliability of its processing systems. A system outage cou ld have a material adverse 
effect on Apiture's business, financial condition and results of operations. ot only would it suffer damage to its reputation in the 
event of a system outage, butApiture may also be liable to third parties. To successfully operate its business, Apiture must be able 
to protect its processing and other systems from interruption, including from events that may be beyond its reasonable control. 
Events that could cause system interruptions include, but are not limited lo, fire , natural disaster, unauthorized entry power loss, 
telecommunications failure, computer viruses, terrorist acts, cyber attacks and war. To the extent Apiture outsources its disaster 
recovery functions, it is at risk of the vendor's unresponsiveness or other failures in the event of system breakdowns. 
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Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment 

We are subject to extensive regulation that could limit or restrict our activities. 

We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to examination, supervision, and comprehensive regulation by various 
federal and state regulatory agencies . Our compliance with these regulations is costly and restricts certain of our activities, including 
the declaration and payment of cash dividends to shareholders, mergers and acquisitions, investments, loans and interest rates 
charged, interest rates paid on deposits, and locations of offices. We are also subject to capitalization guidelines established by our 
regulators, which require us to maintain adequate capital to support our growth and operations. Should we fail to comply with 
these regulatory requirements, federal and state regulators could impose additional restrictions on the activities of the Company 
and the Bank, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The laws and regulations applicable to the banking industry have changed in recent years and may continue to change, and we 
cannot predict the effects of these changes on our business and profitability. Because government regulation greatly affects the 
business and financial results of all commercial banks and bank holding companies, our cost ofcompliance could adversely affect 
our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted on July 21, 2010. The 
provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act, and its implementing regulations may materially and adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition. Some or all of the changes, including the rulemaking authority granted to the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau, or the CFPB, may result in greater liability, reporting requirements, assessment fees, operational restrictions, 
capital requirements, and other regulatory burdens applicable to us while many of our non-bank competitors may remain free from 
such burdens. The changes arising out of the Dodd-Frank Act could adversely affect our ability to attract and maintain depositors, 
to offer competitive products and services, to attract and retain key personnel and to expand our business. 

Congress may consider additional proposals to change substantially the financial institution regulatory system and to expand or 
contract the powers of banking institutions and bank holding companies. Such legislation may change existing banking statutes 
and regulations, as well as our current operating environment significantly. If enacted, such legislation could increase or decrease 
the cost of doing business, limit or expand our permissible activities, or affect the competitive balance among banks, savings 
associations, credit unions, other financial institutions and non-bank lenders. We cannot predict whether new legislation will be 
enacted and, if enacted, the effect that it, or any regulations, would have on our business, results of operations or financial condition. 

Our financial condition and results of operations are affected by credit policies of monetary authorities, particularly the Federal 
Reserve. Actions by monetary and fiscal authorities, including the Federal Reserve, could have an adverse effect on our deposit 
levels, loan demand, or business and earnings, as well as the value of our common stock. 

On February 3, 2017, the President of the United States issued an executive order identifying "core principles" for the 
administration's financial services regulatory policy and directing the Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation with the heads of 
other financial regulatory agencies, to evaluate how the current regulatory framework promotes or inhibits the principles and what 
actions have been, and are being, taken to promote the principles. In response to the executive order, on June 12, 2017, October 
6, 2017 and October 26, 2017, respectively, the U.S . Department of the Treasury issued the first three of four reports recommending 
a number of comprehensive changes in the current regulatory system for U.S. depository institutions, the U.S. capital markets and 
the U .S. asset management and insurance industries . It is not clear whether the executive order will result in material changes to 
the current laws and rules, or those that are in process, applicable to financial institutions and financial services or products like 
ours. It also is not clear what the impact from any such changes would be on our business or the markets and industries in which 
we compete. There is no guarantee that any changes from this review would be positive for us, and any such changes could have 
a material adverse impact on our business and our prospects. 

We may be required to raise additional capital in the future, including to comply with increased minimum capital thresholds 
established by our regulators as part of their implementation of Basel /Il, but that capital may not be available when it is needed 
and could be dilutive to our existing shareholders, wltich could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operatio,zs. 

In July 2013, the Federal Reserve, FDIC and Office of the Comptroller of the Currency approved final rules that establish an 
integrated regulatory capital framework that addresses perceived shortcomings in certain capital requirements. The rules implement 
in the United States the Basel III regulatory capital reforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and certain changes 
required by the Dodd-Frank Act. 
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The major provisions of the rule applicable to the Company are: 

The rule implements higher minimum capital requirements, includes a new common equity Tier I capital requirement, 
and establishes criteria that instruments must meet in order to be considered Common Equity Tier 1 capital, additional 
Tier I capital, or Tier 2 capital. These enhancements are intended to both improve the quality and increase the quantity 
of capital required to be held by banking organizations. The minimum capital to risk-weighted assets ("RWA") 
requirements under the rule are a common equity Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.5% and a Tier I capital ratio of 6.0%, which 
is an increase from 4.0%, and a total capital ratio that remains at 8.0%. The minimum leverage ratio Tier I capital 
to total assets) is 4.0%. The rule maintains the general structure of the current prompt corrective action, or PCA, 
framework while incorporating these increased minimum requirements. 

The rule implements changes to the definition of capital. Among the most important changes are stricter eligibility 
criteria for regulatory capital instruments that would disallow the inclusion of instruments such as trust preferred 
securities in Tier l capital going forward, and new constraints on the inclusion of minority interests, mortgage­
servicing assets ("MSAs"), deferred tax assets ("DTAs"), and certain investments in the capital of unconsolidated 
financial institutions. In addition, the rule requires that certain regulatory capital deductions be made from common 
equity Tier 1 capital. 

Under the rule, in order to avoid limitations on capital distributions, including dividend payments and certain 
discretionary bonus payme111s to executive officers a banking organization must hold a capital conservation buffer 
composed of common equity Tier 1 capital above its minimum risk-based capital requirements. The buffer is measured 
relative to RWA. A three-year phase-in of the capital conservation buffer requirements began on January I, 2016. A 
banking organization with a buffer greater than 2.5% would not be subject to limits on capital distributions or 
discretionary bonus payments· however, a banking organization with a buffer of less than 2.5% would be subject to 
increasingly stringent limitations as the buffer approaches zero. The rule also prohibits a banking organization from 
making distributions or discretionary bonus payments during any quarter if its eligible retained income is negative 
in that quarter and its capital conservation buffer ratio was less than 2.5% at the beginning of the quarter. When the 
rule is fully phased in, the minimum capital requirements plus the capital conservation buffer will exceed the PCA 
well-capitalized thresholds. 

The rule also increases the risk weights for past-due loans, certain commercial real estate Joans, and some equity 
exposures, and makes selected other changes in risk weights and credit conversion factors. 

ompliance by LOB and the Bank with these capita l requirements affects their respective operation by increasing the amount of 
capital required to conduct operations. In order to support the operations at the Bank we may need to raise capital in the future. 
Our ability to raise capital will depend in part on conditions in the capital markets at that lime. which are outside our control. 
Accordingly, we may be unable to raise capital on terms acceptable to us if at all. If we cannot raise capita l when needed, our 
ability to operate or further expand our operations could be materially impaired. In addition, ifwe decide to raise equity capital 
under such conditions, the interests of our shareholders could be diluted. 

Our deposit operations are subject to extensive regulation, and we expect additional regulatory requirements to be implemented 
in the future. 

We are subject to significant anti-money laundering, "know your customer" and other regulations under applicable law, including 
the Bank Secrecy Act and the USA PATRIOT Act, and we could become subject in the future to additional regulatory requirements 
beyond those that are currently adopted, proposed or contemplated. We expect that federal and state bank regulators will increase 
their versight inspection and investigatory role over our deposit operations and the financial services industry generally. 
Furthermore, we intend to increase our deposit product offerings and gro, our customer deposit portfolio in the furure and, as a 
result, we are, and will continue to be, subject to heightened compliance and operating costs that cou ld adversely affect our business 
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, legal and regulatory proceedings and other contingencies will arise from 
time to time that may have an adverse effect on our business practices and results of operations. 
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The FDIC Deposit Insurance assessments that we are required to pay may continue to materially increase in tlte future, wlticlt 
would have an adverse effect on our earnings. 

As a member institution of the FDIC, we are assessed a quaiterly deposit insurance premium. Failed banks nationwide have 
significantly depleted the insurance fund and reduced the ratio of reserves to insured deposits. As a result, we may be required to 
pay significantly higher premiums or additional special assessments that could adversely affect our business, results of operations 
and financial condition. 

On October 19, 2010, the FDIC adopted a Deposit Insurance Fund, or DIF, Restoration Plan, which requires the DIF to attain a 
1.35% reserve ratio by September 30, 2020. The Dodd-Frank Act directs the FDIC to "offset the effect" of the increased reserve 
ratio for insured depository institutions with total consolidated assets of less than $10 billion. In addition, the FDIC modified the 
method by which assessments are determined and, effective April I, 2011, adjusted assessment rates, which will range from 2.5 
to 45 basis points (annualized), subject to adjustments for unsecured debt and, in the case of small institutions outside the lowest 
risk category and certain large and highly complex institutions, brokered deposits. Further increased FDIC assessment premiums, 
due to our risk classification, emergency assessments, or implementation of the modified DIF reserve ratio, could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition . 

The effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act on our business have not yet been fully analyzed and could have a signijiCllnt impact 
on our net income. 

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ( "Tax Reform Act") was signed into law. We are in the process of analyzing 
the Tax Reform Act and its possible effects on the Company and the Bank. The Tax Reform Act reduces the corporate tax rate to 
21 % from 35%, among other things. As a result of this Tax Reform Act, we have revalued our net deferred tax liability and recorded 
a provisional $18.9 million income tax benefit as of December 31 , 2017. The Company will continue to evaluate the application 
of this Tax Reform Act and the related interpretations and guidance on our financial position, which could result in additional 
income tax expense or benefit during 2018. 

Risks Related to our Common Stock 

The low trading volume in our common stock may adversely affect your ability to resell sit ares at prices that you find attractive 
or at all. 

Our common stock is listed for quotation on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol "LOB" . The average daily 
trading volume for our common stock is less than that of larger financial institutions. Due to its relatively low trading volume, 
sales of our common stock may place significant downward pressure on the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, it 
may be difficult for holders to resell their shares at prices they find attractive, or at all. 

We are an "emerging growth company," and the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies 
may make our common stock less attractive to investors. 

We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the federal securities laws. For as long as we continue to be an emerging 
growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public 
companies that are not emerging growth companies, including reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation 
in our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on 
executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an 
emerging growth company for up to five years, although we could lose that status sooner if our gross revenues exceed$ I .0 billion, 
ifwe issue more than $1 .0 billion in non-convertible debt in a three-year period, or if the market value of our common stock held 
by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, in which case we would no longer be an emerging growth 
company as of the following December 31. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we 
may rely on these exemptions, or ifwe choose to rely on additional exemptions in the future. If some investors find our common 
stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more 
volatile. 
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Securities analysts may not initiate or continue coverage 011 our common stock. 

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the re earch and repo1ts that securities analysts publish about us and 
our business. We do not have any control over these securities analyslS, and Lhey may not cover our common stock. If securities 
analysts do not cover our common stock the Jack of research coverage may adversely affect its market price. If we are covered 
by ecurities analysts and our common stock is the ubject of an unfavorable report, the price of our common stock may decline. 
If one or more of these analysts cease to cover us or fail Lo publish regular reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial 
markets, which could cause the price or trading volume of our common stock to decline. 

We are incurring increased costs and obligations as a result of being a public company. 

As a relatively new public company, we are required to comply with certain additional corporate governance and financial reporting 
practices and policies required of a publicly traded company. As a resuh we have and will conti nue to incur significant lega l, 
accounting and other expenses that we were not required to incur as a privately held company, due to compl iance requirements of 
the Exchange Act, Sarbanes-Oxley, the Dodd-Frank ct the listing requirements of asdaq and other applicable securit ies rules 
and regulations. The Exchange Act requires, among other things that we file annual quarterly and current reports with respect 
to our business and operating results with the SEC. We are also requi red to enSLLre that we have the abi li ty to prepare financial 
statements that are fully compliant with all SEC reporting requirements on a timely basis. Compliance with these rules and 
regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, and might make some activities more difficult, time-consuming 
or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources. 

Future sales of shares of our common stock by existing shareholders could depress the market price of our common stock. 

LOB had 39,903, I 86 shares of common stock outstanding at January 3 I, 2018. In addition, as of .January 31, 2018, there were 
outstanding options to purchase 3,047,017 shares of our common stock that, if exercised, will result in these additional shares 
becoming available for sale. Also, as of January 31, 2018, there were 178,768 outstanding restricted stock units that vest over time 
and 2,532,808 outstanding restricted stock units that vest based on revenue and stock price performance criteria, that when vested 
will result in additional shares becoming available for sale. A large portion of these shares, options and restricted stock units are 
held by a small number of persons. ales by these shareholders or option and restricted stock unit holders of a substantial number 
of shares could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock. 

Our ability to pay cash dividends on our securities is limited and we may be unable to pay future dividends. 

We may not declare or pay dividends on our securities, including our common stock, in the future. Any future determination relating 
to dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on a number of factors, including our 
future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, future prospects, regulatory restrictions, and other factors that our board 
of directors may deem relevant. The holders of our capital stoc:k are entitled to receive dividends when, and if, declared by our 
board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose. As part of our consideration to pay cash dividends , e intend to 
retain adequate fonds from future earning.s to support the development and grmvth of our business. In addi ti on our abi lity to pay 
dividends is restricted by federal policies and regulations. It is !he current policy of the Federa l Reserve that bank holding companies 
shou ld pay cash dividends on capital stock only out of net income available over the past year and on ly if prospective earnings 
retention is consistent with the organization's expected future needs and financial condition. Further, our principal source of funds 
to pay dividends is cash dividends that we receive from the Bank which in turn will be highly dependent upon the Bank s historical 
and projected results ofoperntions liquidity cash flows and financial condition as well as various legal and regulatory prohibitions 
and other restrictions on the ability of the Bank to pay dividends, extend credit or otherwise transfer funds to LOB. 

Additional issuances of common stock or securities convertible into common stock may dilute holders of our common stock. 

LOB may, in the future, determine that it is advisable, or LOB may encounter circumstances where it is de1ermined that it is 
necessary, to issue additional shares of common stock, securities convertible into, exchangeable for or that represent an interest 
in common stock or common stock-equ ivalent securities to fund strategic initiatives or other business needs or to build additional 
capital. Our board of directors is authorized to cause us 10 issue additional shares of common stock from time to time for adequate 
consideration without any additional action on the part of our shareholders. The market price of our common stock could decline 
as a result of other offerings, as well as other sales of a large block of common stock or the perception that such sales could occur. 
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LOB is subject to extensive regulation, and ownership of its common stock may have regulatory implications for holders thereof. 

LOB is subject to extensive federal and state banking laws, including the Bank Holding ompan Act of 1956 as amended , or 
BHCA, and federa l and state banking regulations, that will i111pac1 the rights and obligati ons of own rs of its common stock, 
including, for example its ability ro declare and pay dividends on its common stock. hares of LOB ' s common stock are voting 
securities for purposes of the BHCA and any bank holding company or foreign bank that is subject to the BHCA may need approval 
to acquire or retain more than 5% of the then outstanding shares of LO B's common stock, and any holder ( or group of holders 
deemed to be acting in concert) may need regulatory approval to acqu ire or retain I 0% or more of the hares of LOB ' s common 
stock. A holder or group of holders may also be deemed to control LOB if they own 25% or more of our total equity. Under certain 
limited circumstances, a holder or group of holders acting in concert may exceed the 25% percetll threshold and not be deemed 
to control us until they own 33% percent or more of our total equity. The amount of total equity owned by a holder or group of 
holders acting in conceit is calculated by aggregating all shares held by the holder or group whether as a combina1 ion of voting 
or non-voting shares or through other positions treated as equity for regulatory or accounting purposes and meeting ce11ain other 
conditions. Holders of LOB common stock should consult their own counsel with regard to regulatory implications. 

Holders should not expect us to redeem or repurchase outstanding shares of LOB common stock. 

LOB's common stock is a perpetual equity security. This means that it has no maturity or mandatory redemption date and will not 
be redeemable at the option of the holders. Any decision LOB may make at any time to propose the repurchase or redemption of 
shares ofilS common stock will depend upon among ocher things, our evaluation of the Company's capital position, the composition 
of our shareholders' equity, general market conditions at that time and other factors we deem relevant. LOB's ability to redeem 
shares of its common stock is subject to regulat01y restrictions and limitations, including those of the Federal Reserve Board. 

Offerings of debt, which would rank senior to LOB's common stock upon liquidation, may adversely affect the market price 
of LOB common stock. 

The Company may attempt to increase its capital resources or, ifregulatory capital ratios fall below the required minimums, The 
Company could be forced to raise additional capital by making additional offerings of debt or equity securities, senior or subordinated 
notes, preferred stock and common stock. Upon liquidation, holders of the Company's debt securities and lenders with respect to 
other borrowings will receive distributions of available assets prior to the holders of LOB common stock. 

Anti-takeover provisions could adversely affect LOB shareholders. 

In some cases, shareholders would receive a premium for their shares if LOB were acquired by another company. However, state 
and federal law and LOB's articles of incorporation and bylaws make it difficult for anyone to acquire the Company without 
approval of the LOB board of directors. For example, LOB 's articles of incorporation require a supermajority vote of two-thirds 
of our outstanding common stock in order to effect a sale or merger of the Company in certain circumstances. Consequently, a 
takeover attempt may prove difficult, and shareholders may not realize the highest possible price for their securities. 

Shares of LOB common stock are not insured deposits and may lose value. 

Shares of LOB common stock are not savings accounts, deposit or other obligations of any deposito1y institOlion and are not 
insured or guaranteed by th.e PDl or any other governmental agency or instrumentality any other deposit i.nsurance fund or by 
any other public or private entity. An investment in our common stock is inherently risky for the reasons described in this "Risk 
Factors" section. As a result, if you acquire shares of our common stock, you may lose some or all of your investment. 
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Item lB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

There were no unresolved comments received from the SEC regarding LOB's periodic or current reports. 

Item 2. PROPERTIES 

The following table sets forth the location of the Company's main offices, as well as additional administrative offices and certain 
information relating to the facilities. 

Approximate Square 
Office Address Year Opened Footage Owned or Leased 

Main Offices 1741 Tiburon Dr 2013 36,000 Owned 
1757 Tiburon Dr 2015 55,000 

Satellite Wilmington 2605 Irongate Dr 2016 10,632 Leased 
Office Ste. 100 

Atlanta Loan Production 3060 Peachtree Rd 2010 4,455 Leased 
Office Ste. 1220 

Santa Rosa, CA Office 100 B Street 2015 2,386 Leased 
Ste. 100 

Houston, TX 16801 Greenspoint Park Dr 2015 3,514 Leased 
Relationship Office Ste. 395 

Roseville, CA Office 1223 Pleasant Grove Blvd 2016 1,186 Leased 
Ste. 120 

Tampa, FL Office 13401 McCormick Dr 2017 10,846 Leased 

Wilmington Flight 1890 Trask Drive 2017 25,500 Owned 
Operations 

Washington, DC Office 2099 Pennsylvania Ave, 2017 3,698 Leased 
NW 

The Company believes that its properties are maintained in good operating condition and are suitable and adequate for its operational 
needs. 

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

In the ordinary course of operations, the Company is at times involved in legal proceedings. In the opinion of management, as of 
December 31, 2017 there are no material pending legal proceedings to which LOB, or any of its subsidiaries, is a party or of which 
any of their property is the subject. 

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART TI 

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Market Information 

The Company's voting common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "LOB." Quotations of 
the sales volume and the closing sales prices of the voting common stock of the Company are listed daily in the NASDAQ Global 
Select Market's listings. As of December 31, 2017, there were 39,895,583 shares outstanding (comprised of 35,252,053 voting 
common shares and 4,643,530 non-voting common shares) and 330 holders of record ( comprised of 325 holders of record for 
voting common shares and 5 holders of record for non-voting common shares) for the Company's common stock. The Company's 
non-voting common stock is not listed for trading on any exchange. 

The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low closing prices for the Company's voting common stock as reported by 
the NASDAQ Global Select Market and the dividends declared per share of common stock for each quarter during 2016 and 2017: 

Closing Price Cash 
Dividends 

Quarter ended High Low Declared 

March 31, 2016 $ 15.29 $ 12.14 $ 0.02 

June 30, 2016 16.50 13.70 0.01 

September 30, 2016 14.96 13.01 0.02 

December 31, 2016 19.85 14.10 0.02 

March 3 I , 20 I 7 24.59 18.00 0.02 

June 30, 2017 26.05 20.95 0.02 

September 30, 2017 25.80 20.75 0.03 

December 31, 2017 26.35 22.00 0.03 

Dividend Policy 

On September 9, 2015 the Company declared its first quarterly cash dividend of$0.0I per share after completing its IPO on July 
23 , 2015. Since declaring this dividend, the Company has declared a dividend to stockholders in each subsequent quarter, with 
the most recent declared in February 2018. 

The timing and amount of cash dividends paid depends on the Company's earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and 
other relevant factors. Although the Company has paid quarterly cash dividends to its stockholders, stockholders are not entitled 
to receive dividends . Downturns in domestic and global economies and other factors could cause the Company's board of directors 
to consider, among other things, the elimination of or reduction in the amount and/or frequency of cash dividends paid on the 
Company's common stock. See "Supervision and Regulation" under Item I of this Report for more information on restrictions 
on the Company's ability to declare and pay dividends . The Company can offer no assurance that the board of directors will 
continue to declare or pay cash dividends in any future period. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

None. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 

See Item 12 of this report for disclosure regarding securities authorized for issuance and equity compensation plans required by 
Item 20 l ( d) of Regulation S-K. 

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 

None. 
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Stock Performance Graph 

The stock performance graph required by Item 20l(e) of Regulation S-K is incorporated into this Report by reference from the 
Company's annual report to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2017, which will be posted on the Company's website 
subsequent to the date of this Report. The stock performance graph shall not be deemed to be "fi led' for purposes of Section 18 
of the Exchange Act, nor shall it be deemed to be "soliciting material" subject to Regulation 14A or incorporated by reference in 
any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing. 
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The tables below set forth selected consolidated financial data as of the dates or for the periods indicated. This data should be read 
in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 and the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes in Item 8 of this Report. 

( dollars in thousands, except per share data) As of and for the Year Ended December 3 J, 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Income Statement Data 

Net interest income $ 78,034 $ 42,649 $ 25,589 $ 14,713 $ 10,779 

Provision for (recovery of) loan and lease loss 9,536 12,536 3,806 2,793 (858) 

Noninterest income 172,921 93,539 84,328 60,042 56,477 

Noninterest expense 143,165 106.445 71 ,715 54,526 40.172 

Income, before income taxes 98,254 17,207 34,396 17,436 27,942 

Income tax (benefit) expense (2,245) 3.443 13,795 7,388 

Net income 100,499 13,764 20,601 10,048 27,942 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 9 24 120 

Net income to common shareholders 100,499 13,773 20,625 10,048 28,062 

Net income (net of tax effect) (I) 100,499 13,773 20,625 10,723 17,258 

Period End Balances 

Assets 2,758,474 1,755,261 1,052,622 673,315 430.355 

Loans held for sale 680,454 394,278 480,619 295,180 159,438 

Loans and leases held for investment 1,343,973 907,566 279,969 203,936 141,349 

Allowance for loan and lease losses 24,190 18,209 7,415 4,407 2,723 

Deposits 2,260,263 1,485,076 804,788 522,080 356.620 

Borrowings 26,564 27,843 28,375 47,949 12.325 

Shareholders' equity 436,933 222,847 199,488 91 ,814 48.390 

Per Common Share Data 

Net income per share - basic 2.75 0.40 0.66 0.42 1.38 

Net income per share - diluted 2.65 0.39 0.65 0.41 1.37 

Net income per share (net of tax effect)- basic (I) 2.75 0.40 0.66 0.45 0.85 

Net income per share (net of tax effect)- diluted (I) 2.65 0.39 0.65 0.44 0.84 

Operating net income per share (Non-GAAP) - basic (2) 1.29 0.59 0.54 0.57 0.48 

Operating net income per share (Non-GAAP) - diluted (2) 1.25 0.57 0.53 0.56 0.48 

Dividends declared 0.10 0.07 0.10 2.18 0.48 

Book value 10.95 6.51 5.84 3.21 2.38 

Tangible book value (2) 10.85 6.51 5.84 3.20 2.36 
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As of and fo,· the Yeu Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Performance Ratios 

Return on average assets 4.55% 0.96% 2.26% 1.77% 6.53% 

Return on average equity 33.80 6.55 14.52 14.11 62.82 

Retum on average assets (net of tax effect) (I) 4.55 0.96 2.26 1.89 4.02 

Return on average equity (net of tax effect) (I) 33.80 6.55 14.52 I 5.05 38.63 

Net interest margin 3.92 3.28 3.26 3.04 2.95 

Efficiency ratio (2) 57.05 78.16 65.25 72.87 59.74 

Noninterest income to total revenue 68.91 68.68 76.72 80.34 83.97 

Average equity to average assets 13.46 14.63 15 .53 12.56 10.40 

Dividend payout ratio (inclusive of tax distributions) 3.64 17.50 15.15 447.33 10.65 

Dividend payout ratio (net of tax effect) (I) 3.64 17.50 15.15 419.17 17.32 

Selected Loan Metrics 

Loans and leases originated $1,934,238 $1,537,010 $1,158,640 $ 848,090 $ 498,752 

Guaranteed loans sold 787,926 761.933 640,886 433 ,912 339,342 

Average net gain on sale of guaranteed loans 100.38 98.86 105.14 115.18 112.64 

Held for sale guaranteed loans (note amount) (3) 1,087,636 754,834 497,875 326,723 144,228 

Annual increase in held for sale guaranteed loans (note amount) 332,802 256,959 171 ,152 182,495 22,562 

Estimated net ga in to be recognized on annual increase in 
guaranteed loans held for sale (4) 33,407 25,403 17,995 21,020 2,541 

Asset Quality Ratios 

Allowance for loan and lease losses to loans and leases held for 
investment 1.80% 2.01% 2.65% 2.16% 1.93% 

Net charge-offs $ 3,555 $ 1,742 $ 798 $ 1,109 $ 1,888 

Net charge-offs to average loans and leases held for investment 0.32% 0.29% 0.37% 1.21% 3.47% 

Nonperforming loans $ 23,480 $ 23,781 $ 12,367 $ 18,692 $ 8,697 

Foreclosed assets 1,281 1,648 2,666 1,084 773 

Nonperforming loans (unguaranteed exposure) 3,610 4.784 2,037 3,137 1.714 

Foreclosed assets (unguaranteed exposure) 90 246 373 371 341 

Nonperfonning loans not guaranteed by the SBA and 
foreclosed assets 3.700 5,030 2,410 3,508 2,055 

Nonperforming loan not ~uaranteed by the SBA and 
foreclosed assets to tota assets 0.13% 0.29% 0.23% 0.52% 0.48% 

Capital and Liquidity Ratios 

Common equity tier I capital (to risk-weighted assets) 17.81% 15.31% 23.22% NIA NIA 

Total capital (to risk-weighted assets) 18.91 16.56 24.12 19.63% 15.95% 

Tier I risk-based capital (to risk-weighted assets) 17.81 15.31 23.22 17.41 15.09 

Tier I leverage capital (to average assets) 15.50 12.00 18.36 13.38 10.39 

(!) 1 et income (net of tax effect), e(lrnings per share (net of tax effect) 011 a basic and diluted b(1sis, return on average assets (nel 
of tax effect), and return on a, erage equity (net of tax effect) for each !'ear shown ll'n determined by calculating (I pmvision 
for income taxes using an assumed annual ef fective income tax rate of 38.5% for tl,e years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013, and acljusting our historical net income for each period presented 10 gil'e effect to the pro Jonna provision.forfederal 
and state income taxes/or such year. For the year ended December 31, 2014 lhe ompany also excluded the initial deferred 
tax liability recorded as a result of the change in tax status on August 3, 2014 due to the conversion from an S corporation to 
a C corporation. 

(2) See "Non-GA AP Measures" in item 7. Management's Discussion and Ana~11sis of Financial Condi/ion and Results of Operations 
of this Report/or more information and a reconciliation to 1he most closely related GAAP measure. 

(3) Includes the entire note amount, including undisbursedfunds for multi-advance loans. 

(4) The estimated revenue from the sale of the annual increase in guaranteed loans is based 011 t!/e average net gain on sole of 
loans for tha1 yea,: This is an estimate based on the respective year activity and does not reflect actual gains 10 be recogni=ed. 
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

Overview 

The following presents management's discussion and analysis of the more significant factors that affected the Company's financial 
condition as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and results of operations for each of the years in the three-year period ended 
December 31, 2017. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes included elsewhere 
in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K. Results of operations for the periods included in this review are not necessarily indicative 
of results to be obtained during any future period. 

Dollar amounts in tables are stated in thousands, except for per share amounts. 

Nature of Operations 

Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. is a bank holding company headquartered in Wilmington, North Carolina, incorporated under the laws 
ofNorth Carolina in December 2008. The Company conducts business operations primarily through its commercial bank subsidiary, 
Live Oak Banking Company. The Bank was incorporated in February 2008 as a North Carolina-chartered commercial bank. The 
Bank specializes in providing lending and deposit related services to small businesses nationwide in targeted industries. The Bank 
identifies and seeks to grow within selected industry sectors, or verticals, by leveraging expertise within those industries. A 
significant portion of the loans originated by the Bank are guaranteed by the Small Business Administration under the 7(a) program 
and to a lesser extent by the U.S. Depaitment of Agriculture Rural Energy for America Program and Business & Industry loan 
programs. 

In 2017, the Bank entered into a joint venture, Apiture LLC ("Apiture"), with First Data Corporation for the purpose of creating 
next generation technology for financial institutions. In addition to the Bank, the Company owns Reltco Inc. and National Assurance 
Title, Inc. (collectively referred to as "Reltco") which were acquired on February 1, 2017; Live Oak Clean Energy Financing LLC, 
formed in November 2016, for the purpose of providing financing to entities for renewable energy applications; Canapi, Inc. 
(formerly known as "Live Oak Ventures, Inc."), formed in August 2016 for the purpose of investing in businesses that align with 
the Company's strategic initiative to be a leader in financial technology; Live Oak Grove, LLC, formed in February 2015 for the 
purpose of providing Company employees and business visitors an on-site restaurant location; Government Loan Solutions, Inc. 
("GLS"), a management and technology consulting firm that specializes in the settlement, accounting, and securitization processes 
for government guaranteed loans, including loans originated under the SBA 7(a) loan program and USDA-guaranteed loans; and 
504 Fund Advisors, LLC ("504FA"), which was formed to serve as the investment advisor to The 504 Fund, a closed-end mutual 
fund organized to invest in SBA section 504 loans. 

The Company generates revenue primarily from the sale of SBA-guaranteed loans and net interest income. During 2016, the 
Company also began originating and selling USDA-guaranteed REAP and B&I loans. Income from the sale of loans is comprised 
of loan servicing revenue and revaluation of related servicing assets and net gains on sales of loans. Offsetting these revenues are 
the cost of funding sources, provision for loan and lease losses, any costs related to foreclosed assets and other operating costs 
such as salaries and employee benefits, travel, professional services, advertising and marketing and tax expense. 

Executive Summary 

Following is a summa1y of the Company's financial highlights and events for 2017: 

The Company entered seven new verticals bringing the total number of vertical business units at year-end to twenty. 

Apiture, a digital bankingjoint venture formed with First Data Corporation, was established in the fourth quarter of2017 
generating a one-time gain for the Bank of $68.0 million. Apiture combines First Data's and Live Oak Bank's digital 
banking platforms, products, and services, delivering innovative technology solutions tailored for financial institutions. 
Both the Bank and First Data Corporation hold 50% voting control of Apiture. 

Net interest income and loan servicing revenue increased by $38.6 million, or 60.2%, to $102.6 million in 2017. 

Loan and lease production increased to $ I.93 billion for 2017, a 25.8% increase over 2016. 

$24.9 million in investment tax credits were generated by the Company's investment of$90.6 million in renewable energy 
assets which are leased under operating lease arrangements. 
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During the third quarter, the Company completed a successful secondary public offering which generated an additional 
$113.1 million in capital. 

Guaranteed loan sales were relatively flat at $787.9 million in 2017, a 3.4% increase over 2016, as the Company focused 
on guaranteed loan retention to increase recurring revenue. 

Loans held for investment increased by $436.4 million, or 48.1 %, to $1.34 billion at the end of20 I 7 as a result ofrobust 
2017 Joan originations. 

Total nonperforming unguaranteed Joans and leases as a percentage of total loans and leases held for investment declined 
from 0.53% at the end of 2016 to 0.27% at the end of 2017. 

Net charge-offs as a percentage of average held for investment loans and leases, for the years ended December 31, 2017 
and 2016, were 0.32% and 0.29%, respectively 

Core revenues consisting of net interest income, servicing revenue and gains on sale ofloans increased to $181 .2 million, 
a 30.0% increase over 2016. 

Total deposits rose by 52.2% to $2.26 billion at the end of 2017 following successful deposit gathering campaigns. 

As a result of the December 22, 2017 Tax Cut and Jobs Act, the Company recorded a one-time reduction in tax expense 
of $18.9 million arising from the revaluation of its net deferred tax liability. 

Reported net income increased by 630.2% over 2016 to $100.5 million. Non-GAAP net income, which excludes non­
routine income and expenses, improved $27.0 million over 20 I 6, or 134.2%, to $4 7.2 million. See "Non-GAAP Financial 
Measures" below for more information about Non-GAAP net income. The reconciliation of non-GAAP measures is 
presented at the conclusion of this Item 7. 

Business Outlook 

Below is a discussion of management's current expectations regarding company performance over the near-term based on market 
conditions, the regulatory environment and business strategies as of the time the Company filed this Repmt. Actual outcomes and 
results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in these forward-looking statements. See "Important Note 
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" in this Report for more information on forward-looking statements. 

The Company's results for 2017 demonstrated strong underlying financial performance and solid growth momentum. Management 
continues to focus on building steady recurring revenue streams, promoting change within the financial technology industry, and 
building out existing verticals while incrementally adding new verticals to the Company's business model. Management anticipates 
that the Company's held-for-sale and held-for-investment loan po1tfolios will continue to grow as a result of continued healthy 
origination volumes and related Joan retention to promote recurring revenue, ongoing growth in the construction portfolio as well 
as ongoing strategic initiatives, including the pursuit of potential opportunities in conventional lending outside of SBA or other 
government guarantee programs. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

Statements included in this management's discussion and analysis include non-GAAP financial measures and should be read along 
with the accompanying tables which provide a reconciliation ofnon-GAAP financial measures to GAAP financial measures. The 
reconciliation ofnon-GAAP measures is presented at the conclusion of this Item 7 section. 

Management believes that non-GAAP financial measures provide additional useful information that allows readers to evaluate the 
ongoing performance of the Company without regard to transactional activities. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be 
considered as an alternative to any measure of performance or financial condition as promulgated under GAAP, and investors 
should consider the Company's performance and financial condition as reported under GAAP and all other relevant information 
when assessing the performance or financial condition of the Company. Non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as 
analytical tools, and investors should not consider them in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of the Company's results or 
financial condition as rep01ted under GAAP. 
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Results of Operations 

)ears ended December 31, 2017 vs. 2016 

The Company reported net income available to common shareholders totaling $100.5 million, or $2.65 per diluted share for 2017 
compared to $13.8 million, or $0.39 per diluted share, for 2016. This increase in net income was primarily attributable to the 
following items: 

Increased net interest income of$35.4 million, or 83%, predominately driven by significant growth in the loans and leases 
held for sale and held for investment portfolios combined with a significantly higher net interest margin; 

A $68.0 million one-time gain arising from the Company's fourth quarter equity method investment in Apiture; and 

A decrease in income tax expense of $5.7 million or 165.2%, due to the generation of investment tax credits by the 
Company's renewable energy leasing business combined with the positive impact of the enactment of the Tax Cuts and 
Jobs Act on December 22, 2017, as further discussed below. 

Other key factors contributing to the year-over-year increase in net income were comprised of the following: 

Decreased provision for loan and lease losses of$3.0 million principally driven by the one-time transfer of$318.8 million 
in unguaranteed loans from held for sale to held for investment classification during the second quarter of 2016; 

Increased loan servicing revenue of $3 .2 million, or I 4.9%, as a result of continued growth in the servicing portfolio due 
to ongoing loan sales; 

Increased net gains on sales of loans of $3.3 million, or 4.3%, due to higher sale volumes combined with an increase in 
the average net gain per loan sold. 

Partially offsetting the above factors was an increase in noninterest expense of$36.7 million, or 34.5% largely attributable to the 
effects of continued investments to support growing levels of business and business diversification. 

Years ended December 31, 2016 vs. 2015 

The Company reported net income available to common shareholders totaling $13.8 million, or $0.39 per diluted share, for 2016 
compared to $20.6 million, or $0.65 per diluted share, for 2015 . This decrease in net income was primarily attribntable to the 
following items: 

An increase in the provision for loan and lease losses of $8. 7 million, or 229.4%, arising primarily from significantly 
higher levels ofloans held for investment, which included the transfer of$318.8 million in unguaranteed loans from being 
classi lied as held for sale to held for investment in the second quarter of 2016. This increase in the loan loss provision 
resulted in significant growth to the allowance for Joan losses of $4.0 million . The higher provision also reflected the 
increase of $944 thousand in net charge-offs during 2016 as compared to 2015. 

Decreased noninterest income from a one-time gain of $3.8 million in the first quarter of 2015 related to the sale of an 
investment in nCino, Inc., a former subsidiary of the Company ("nCino") combined with a higher negative loan servicing 
revaluation adjustment of $2.2 million; and 

Increased noninrerest expense of$34. 7 million, or 48.4%, attributable to Lhe rapid growth of the business franchise. The 
increase in noninterest expense was predominantly driven by higher salaries and employee benefits of$22.7 million, or 
56.2%, occupancy expense of$1.I million, or 31.6%, data processingexpenseof$1.7 million, or47.9%, and other expense 
of$3.3 million, or 56.9%. Factors driving these higher non-interest expense levels were increased investments in human 
capital, infrastructure and regulatory costs to support growing loan production from new and existing verticals as well as 
development of a new small business loan and deposit platform. Also contributing significantly to the increase in 
non interest expense was a renewable energy tax credit investment impairment of $3 .2 million related to a $4.6 million 
renewable energy tax credit investment in the fourth quarter. As reflected in lower income tax expense, this investment 
generated tax savings of$5.5 million for 2016. 

Partially offsetting the above factors were increases in net interest income of$17.1 million, or 66.7% loan serv.icing revenue of 
$5.3 million, or 33.0%, net gains on sale of loans of $7.9 million, or 11 .8%. construction supervision fee income of $1.0 million 
or 64.3%, and reduced income tax expense of$10.4 million, or 75.0%. 
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Net Interest Income and Margin 

et interest income represents the difference between the revenue that the ompany earn on interest-earning asset and the cost 
of interest-bearing liabilities. The Company's net interest income depends upon the volume of interest-earning assets and interest­
bearing liabilities and the intere t rate Lhat the Company earns or pays them respectively. Net interest income is affected by changes 
in the amount and mix of inter t-earning assets and intere !-bearing liabilities, referred to as ' volume changes." It is also affected 
by changes 111 yields earned on interest-earning assets and rates paid on interest-bearing deposits and other borrowed funds, referred 
to as ' rate cl1a11ges. A a bank without a branch network the Bank gathers deposits over the Internet and in the community in 
which it is headquartered. Due to the nature of a branch I es bank and the relatively low overhead required for deposit gathering 
the rates the Bank offers are generally above the industry average. 

Years ended December 31, 2017 vs. 2016 

For 2017, net interest income increased $35.4 million or 83.0% to $78.0 million compared lo $42.6 million in 2016. This increase 
was principally due to the significant growth in average interest earning as els and to a lesser extent by higher yields on these 
assets which outpaced the growth and change in the cost of interest bearing liabilities. Average interest earning a sets ro e by 
$686.6 million or 52.7%, to $1.99 billion for 2017 compared to $1.30 billion for 2016, while the yield on average interest earning 
assets rose sbarply by eighty basis points to 5.20% for 20 I 7 versus 4.40% for 2016. A substantial portion of the Company's loan 
portfolio are variable rate loans that adjust regularly in accordance with changes in designated benchmark indices. The cost of 
funds on interest bearing liabilities for 2017 increased fou11een basis points to I ... 8% and the average balance in interest bearing 
liabilities increased by $658.5 million, or 55.6% during the same period. As indicated in the rate/volume table below, the increase 
in interest bearing liabilities and corresponding cost of funds wa outpaced by the positive effects of the increased volume of 
interest earning assets along with much higher yields, resulting in increased interest income of $46.2 million versus increased 
interest expense of$10.8 million for 2017. The volume of interest b aring liabilities for 2017 was also mitigated somewhat' by 
the August 2017 secondary public offering. For 2017 compared to 2016, net interest margin increased from 3.28% to 3.92% due 
to the aforementioned effects. 

Years ended December 31, 2016vs. 2015 

For 2016 net interest income increased $17.1 million, or 66.7%, to $42.6 million compared to $25.6 million in 2015 due ro 
favorable volume and interest rate factors. Average interest earning assets rose by $517.1 million or 65.9% to $1.30 billion for 
2016 compared to $784 .7 million for 2015 while t.he yield on average interest earning asselo; remained relatively static at 4.40% 
for 2016 versus 4.39% for 2015. The cost of funds on interest bearing liabilities for 2016 increased slightly by five basis points Lo 
1.24%, and the average balance in interest bearing liabilities increased by $440.6 million or 59.3% during the same period. As 
indicated in the rate/volume table below the slight increase in rate and increased volume in imerest bearing liabilities was outpaced 
by the effects of the increased volume and rate of interest earning assets, resulting in increased interest income of $22.8 million 
versus increased interest expense of$5.8 million for 2016. The volume of interest bearing liabilities for 2016 was also mitigated 
somewhat by the July 2015 initial public offering. For 2016 compared to 2015, net interest margin increased from 3.26% to .28% 
due to the aforementioned effects. 
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...Jverage 8ala11ces and Yields. The fo llowi ng table presents information regarding average balances for assets and liabilities, the 
total do ll ar amounts of interest income and dividends from average intere r-earning assets. the total dollar amount of interest 
e ·pense on average interest-bearing liabilities, and the resulting average yields and costs. The yields and costs for the periods 
indicated are derived by dividing the income or expense by the average balances for assets or liabilities, respectively fo r the p riods 
presented. Loan fees are included in interest income on loans. 

2017 2016 2015 

Average Intercs 
vcr:igc 

Average Jnteres 
Average 

Average Jnteres 
Average 

Yield/ Yield/ Yield/ 
Balance t Rate Balance t Rate Balance t Rate 

Interest earning assets: 

Interest earning balances in 
other banks $ 232,398 $ 2.407 1.04% $ 222,704 $ 1,033 0.46% $ 84.782 $ 300 0.35% 

Investment securities 76,250 1,432 1.88 62,746 1,132 1.80 50,431 811 1.61 

Loans held for sale 582,245 34,567 5.94 413,468 22,645 5.48 435,508 22,590 5.19 

Loans and leases held for 
investment 1,097,510 65,066 5.93 602,875 32,462 5.38 213,974 10,750 5.02 

Total interest earning assets 1,988,403 103,472 5.20 1,301,793 57,272 4.40 784,695 34,451 4.39 

Less: Allowance for loan ad 
lease losses (19,230) (10,899) (5.254) 

Non-interest earning assets 239,797 146,169 135,151 

Total assets $2,208,970 $1,437,063 $914,592 

Interest bearing liabilities: 

Interest bearing checking $ 39,2]3 $ 256 0.65% $ 20,410 $ ]16 0.57% $ 6,604 $ 39 0.59% 

Savings 193,083 2.685 1.39 

Money market accounts 413,648 4,060 0.98 423,035 3,197 0.76 347,429 2,562 0.74 

Certificates of deposit 1,161,651 17,222 1.48 712,327 10,346 1.45 343,625 4,778 1.39 

Total deposits 1.807.595 24.223 1.34 1,155,772 13,659 1.18 697 658 7,379 1.06 

Small business lending fund 6,222 94 1.51 

Other borrowings 34,968 1.215 3.47 28,250 964 3.41 39.515 1,389 3.52 

Total interest bearing 
liabilities 1,842,563 25,438 1.38 1,184,022 14,623 1.24 743,395 8,862 1.19 

Non-interest bearing deposits 40,831 21,665 15,131 

Non-interest bearing liabilities 28.248 21,046 14,004 

Shareholders' equity 297,328 210,31 l 142,044 

Noncontrolling interest 19 18 

Total liabilities and 
shareholders' equity $2,208,970 $1,437,063 $914,592 

Net interest income and 
interest rate spread $ 78,034 3.82% $42,649 3.16% $25,589 3.20% 

Net interest margin 3.92 3.28 3.26 

Ratio of average interest-
earning asse ts to average 
intere~st-bearing liabil ities 107.92% 109.95% 105.56% 

(tl Average loan balances include non-accruing loans . 
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Ra1e/ Vo/11me Analysis. The following table sets forth the effects of changing rates and olumes on net interest income. The rate 
column shows rhc effects attributable to changes in rate {changes in rate multiplied by current period volume) . The volume column 
shows the effects attributable to changes in volume (changes in volume multiplied by prior period rate) . The total column represents 
the um of the prior columns. For purposes of this table changes attributable to changes in both rate and volume that cann ot be 
segregated have been allocated proportionally base-d on the changes due to rate and the changes due to volume. 

2017 vs. 2016 20)6 V . 2015 
Increase {Decrease) Due to Increase (Decrease} Due to 

Rate Volume Total Rate Volume Total 
Interest income: 

Interest earning balances in other banks $ 1,301 $ 73 $ 1,374 $ 169 $ 564 $ 733 

Investment securities 51 249 300 111 210 321 

Loans held for sale 2,290 9 632 11 922 1,230 (1 , 175) 55 

Loans and leases held for investment 4 625 27 979 32,604 1,473 20,239 21 ,712 

Total interest income 8 267 37 933 46 200 ? s~ 19,838 22,82 1 -, 
Interest expense: 

Interest bearing checking 25 115 140 (3) 80 77 

Savings 2,685 2,685 

Money market accounts 945 (82) 863 71 564 635 

Certificates of deposit 282 6,594 6,876 327 5,241 5,568 

Small business lending fund (94) (94) 

Other borrowings 20 231 251 (35) (390) (425) 

Total interest expense 1,272 9,543 10,815 360 5,401 5,761 

Net interest income $ 6.995 $ 28.390 $ 35.385 $ 2.623 $ 14,437 $ 17,060 

Provi ·ion for Loan wu/ Lease losses. The provision for loan and lease losses represents the amount necessary ro be charged 
against the current period s earnings to maintain the allowance for loan and lease losses at a level that is appropriate in relation to 
the estimated losses inherent in rhe loan and lea e portfolio. A number of factors are considered in determining the required level 
of loan and lease loss reserves and U1e provision required to achieve the appropriate reserve level, including loan growth, credit 
risk rating trends, nonperforming loan levels, delinquencies, loan portfolio concentrations and economic and market trends. 

Los es inherent in loan relationships are mitigated by the portion oflhe loan that is guaranteed by U.S. government loan programs. 
A typical BA 7(a) loan canies a 75% guarantee while USDA guarantees range from 60% to 80% depending on loan size, which 
reduces the risk profile of these loans. The Company believes that its focus on compliance with regulations and guidance from 
U.S. government loan programs are key factors to managing this risk. 

Years ended December 31, 2017 vs. 2016 

For 2017, the provision for loan and lease losses was $9.5 million, a decrease of$~ .0 million or 23.9% compared to rhe same 
period in 20 16. The decrease in the provision for loan and lease losse for 2017 was principally driven by the one-lime transfer in 
the second quarter of 2016 of $318.8 million in unguaranteed loans and leases from being classified as held for sale to held for 
investment. This reclassification resulted in a $4.0 million increase in the provision for loan and lease losses during the second 
quarter of 2016. Partially offsetting the effects of the 2016 loan reclassification were additional reserves recorded to accommodate 
robust loan and lease growth in 2017. 

Loans and leases held for investment as of December 31, 2017 increased by $436.4 million or 48. I%, compared LO December 31, 
2016. This growth was fueled by strong loan origination volume of $1 .93 billion for the year ended December 31 , 2017. 

Net charge-offs were $3.6 million, or 0.32% of average loans and leases held for investment, for 2017 compared to net charge­
offs of $1.7 million, or 0.29% of average loans and leases held for investment, for 2016. Net charge-offs are a key element of 
historical experience in the Company's estimation of the allowance for loan and lease losses. 
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In addition, at December 31, 2017, nonperforming loans and leases not guaranteed by the SBA totaled $3.6 million, which was 
0.27% of the held-for-investment loan and lease portfolio compared to$4.8 million, or0.53%, ofloans and leases held for investment 
at December 31, 2016. 

Years ended December 31, 2016 vs. 2015 

for 2016, the provision for loan and lea e losses was $12.5 million an increase of$8.7 million, or 229.4% compared to the same 
period in 20 15. The increase in the provision for loan and lease losses was principally driven by growth in loans and leases held 
for investmen! combined with the effect of higher net charge-offs. 

Loans and leases held for investment as of December 31, 2016 increased by $627.6 million, or 224.2%, compared to December 
31, 2015. A significant portion of the increase was the result of the Company transferring $318.8 million in unguaranteed SBA 
loans from being classified as held for sa le to held for investment during the second quarter f 2016. Timing of this transfer was 
largely influenced by the intent an.d abi lity to retain quality credits with higher long term yields. Upon transfer from held for sale 
c lassifi cation loans and leases held for investment become subject to the allowance for loan and lease loss review process. The 
result of this loan reclassification increased the provision for loan and lease losses by $4.0 million during the second quarter of 
2016. 

During the second quarter of2016, the Company also implemented enhancements to the methodology for estimating the allowance 
for loan and lease losses, including refinements to the measurement of qua! itative factors in the estimation process. Management 
believes th ese enhancements have improved the precision of the process for estimating the allowance. The Company e timatcd 
that the effect of revisions to the allowance methodology resulted in an approximately $390 thousand reduction in the provision 
for loan and lease losses during the second quarter of 2016. 

Net charge-offs were $1.7 million, or 0.29% of average loans and leases held for investment, for 2016, compared to net charge­
offs of $798 thousand, or 0.3 7% of average loans and leases held for investment, for 2015. In addition, at December 31, 2016, 
nonperforming loans and leases not guaranteed by the SBA totaled $4.8 million, which was 0.53% of the held-for-investment loan 
and lease portfolio compared to $2.0 million, or 0.73%, of loans and leases held for investment at December 31, 2015. 
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Noninterest Income 

oninterest income is principally comprised of net gains from the sa le of SBA and USDA-guaranteed loans along with servicing 
revenue and revaluation. Revenue from the sale of loans depends upon volume and rates of underlying loans as well as cost and 
availability of funds in the secondary markets prevailing in the period between completed loan funding and closing of sa le. In 
addition the loan servicing revalualion is significantly impacted by changes in market rates and other underlying assumpti ons 
such as prepayment speeds and default rates. Other less common elements of non int erest income include nonrecurring gains and 
losses on investments. 

The following table shows the components ofnoninterest income and the dollar and percentage changes for the periods presented. 

2016/2017 Increase 2015/2016 Increase 
Years Ended December 31, (Decrease) (Decrease) 

2017 2016 2015 Amount Percent Amount Percent 

Noninterest income 

Loan servicing revenue $ 24,588 $ 21,393 $ 16,081 $ 3,195 14.93% $ 5,312 33.03 % 

Loan servicing revaluation (13,171) (8,391) (6,229) (4,780) (56.97) (2,162) (34.71) 

Net gains on sales ofloans 78,590 75,326 67,385 3,264 4.33 7,941 11.78 

Equity in loss of non-consolidated 
(26) 26 100.00 affiliates 

Gain of sale of investment in non-
consolidated affiliate 3,782 (3,782) (100.00) 

Gain on contribution to equity 
68,000 68,000 100.00 method investment 

Gain (loss) on sale of securities 
13 (1) (100.00) (12) (92.31) available-for-sale 

Construction supervision fee 
1,776 2,667 1,623 (891) (33 .41) 1,044 64.33 income 

Title insurance income 7,565 7,565 100.00 

Other noninterest income 5,573 2 543 I 699 3,030 119.15 844 49.68 

Total noninterest income $172,921 $ 93,539 $ 84 328 $ 79,382 84.87% $ 9,211 10.92% 

}ears ended December 31, 2017 vs. 2016 

For 2017, nonintcrest income increased by $79.4 million. or 84.9%. compared to 2016. The increase from the prior year was largely 
driven by the $68.0 million one-time gain recognized as a result of the fourth quarter equity method investment in Apiture, see 
Note 3. Unconsolidated Joinl Vemure for further discussion. Other contributors to the increase in noninterest income was higher 
year-over-year levels in the serviced loan portfolio and the volume of loans sold in the secondary marker which generated $3 .2 
million of increased servicing revenue and $3.3 million of increased net gains on sale of loans. Also driving increased levels of 
noninterest income was $7.6 million in title insurance revenue from the acq uisition of a nationwide title insurance busi.ness in 
early 2017 and increased other noninterest income of $3.0 million. The increase in other noninrerest income was primarily 
comprised of $ .1.9 million of operating lease income from renewable energy assets and trust management income of$ I. I million. 
Partly offsetting the overall increase in non interest income was a higher negative loan servicing revaluation adjustment of $4.8 
million. 

The tables below reflect loan and lease production, sales of guaranteed loans and the aggregate balance in guaranteed loans sold 
that are being serviced. These components are key drivers of the Company's recurring noninterest income. 
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Three months ended Three months ended Three months ended Three months ended 
Deeem ber 31, Sc~tcmbcr 30, June 30, March 31, 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Amount of loans and leases 
originated $ 483,422 $ 514,565 $ 395,682 $ 381,050 $ 586,471 $ 356,865 $ 468,663 $ 284,530 

Guaranteed portions of loans 
21 L654 260,125 163,843 210,610 203,714 135,555 208,715 155,643 sold 

Outstanding balance of 
guaranteed loans sold cii 2,680,641 2,278,618 2,584,163 2,102,468 2,521 ,506 1,970,908 2,410,791 1,894,428 

Vears ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Amount of loans and leases originated $ 1,934,238 $ 1,537,010 $ 1,158,640 $ 848,090 $ 498,752 

Guaranteed portions of loans sold 787,926 761 ,933 640,886 433 ,912 339,342 

Outstanding balance of guaranteed loans sold Pl 2.680.641 2,278,618 1,779.989 1,302,828 1.005.764 

(l) This represents the outstanding principal balance of guaranteed loans serviced, as of the last day of the applicable period, 
which have been sold into th'e secondary market. 

Changes in various components of non interest income are discussed in more detail below. 

loan ervicing Revenue: While portions of the loans that the Bank originates are sold and generate gain on sale revenue, servicing 
rights for all loans lhal the Bank originates including loan sold are retained by the Bank. In exchange for continuing to service 
loans that are old, the Bank receives fee income represented in loan servicing revenue equivalent to one percelll of the outstanding 
balance of SBA loans sold and 0.40% of the outstanding balance of USDA loans sold. In addition. the standard cost of servicing 
sold loans is approximately 0.40% of the balance of the loans sold. which is included in the loan servicing revaluation computations. 
Unrecognized servicing revenue above the cost to service is reflected in a servicing asset recorded on tlte balance sheet. Revenues 
associated with the servicing of loans are recognized over the expected lite of the loan through the income statement and the 
servicing asset is reduced as this revenue is recognized. For the year ended December 31 , 2017, loan servicing revenue increased 
$3.2 million, or 14.9% to $24.6 million as compared to the year ended December 3 1, 2016, as a result of an increase in the average 
outstanding balance of guaranteed loans sold. t December 31, 2017 lhe outstanding balance of guaranteed loans sold in the 
secondary mark.et was $2.68 billion. At December 31 , 2016, the outstanding balance of guaranteed loans sold was $2.28 billion. 

loan ervicing Remluation: The Company revalues its serviced loan portfolio at least quarterly. The re aluation considers the 
amortization of the portfolio, current market conditions for loan sale premiums and current prepayment speeds. For the years 
ended December 31, 20 .17 and 2016, there was a net negative loan servicing revaluation of $13.2 million and $8.4 million 
respectively. The higher negative service revaluation amount for 2017 was principally driven by the increased amortization speed 
of the serviced portfolio which was largely impacted by the rising rate environment. 

In consideration of the sensitivity of servicing rights as discussed above and in Note 6 to the accompanying audited financial 
statements, the following table is provided as of December 31, 2017 reflecting the effect on fair value due lo changes in yield 
curve rates. 

Change in Yield Curve Assumption 

+ 300 basis point 

+200 basis point 

+ I 00 basis point 

- 100 basis point 

Increase (Decrease) in Value 

$(5,235) 

(3,613) 

(1,872) 

2,020 

er Gains on Sale ofLoans: Por the year ended December 31 , 2017 net gains on sales of loans increased $3 .3 million. or 4.3%, 
compared to 2016. This in.crease was primarily due to a higher volume of guaranteed loans sold and to a lesser extent an increase 
in lhe average net gain per loan sold. For 2017 the volume of guaranteed loans sold increased $26.0 million or 3.4%. from $761.9 
million in 2016 to $787.9 million in 2017. The average net gain on sale for 2017 was somewhal higher at$100 thousand of revenue 
for each $1 million in loans sold, compared to $99 thousand of revenue for each $1 million sold for 2016. 
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}ears ended December 31, 2016 vs. 2015 

For 2016, nonintere l income increased by $9.2 million. or I 0.9%, compared to 2015 . 'Increases in 1he serviced loan portfolio and 
the volume of loans sold in the seco11da1y market 1he core components of the Company s business, contributed $13.3 million to 
non interest income growth, including $5."' million of increased servicing revenue and $7.9 million of increased net gains on sale 
of loans. Other factors contributing to the increase in non interest income were an increase of$ I .O million in construction supervision 
fees earned for monitoring higher levels of multi-advance loans in addition to $844 lhousand in higher earnings from other 
noninterest income. The increa e in other non interest income was comprised principally of revenue growth at the Company's new 
trust division. Offsetting these increases were higher downward adjustments in the valua1ion of servicing rights of$2.2 million 
during 20 16 compared to the same period in 2015 along with a one-time gain of $3.8 million in the first quarter of 2015 related 
to the sale of an investment in nCino. 

Changes in various components ofnoninterest income are discussed in more detail below. 

Loan Servicing Revenue: While por1ions of the loans that !he Bank originates are sold and generate premium revenue, servicing 
rights for all loans that the Bank riginares, including loans sold are retained by 'lhe Bank. In exchange for continuing to service 
I.cans that are sold the Bank receives fee income represented in loan servicing revenue equivalent to one percent ofl'he outstanding 
balance of BA loans sold and 0.40% of the outstanding balance of U DA loans sold . In addition , the standard cos! of servicing 
sold loans is approximately 0.40% of the balance ofLhe loans sold, which is included in the loan servicing revaluation computations. 
Unrecognized servicing revenue above the cost to service is reflected in a servicing asset recorded on the balance sheet Revenues 
associa1ed with the servicing of loans are recognized over the expected life of the loan through the income statement, and the 
servicing asset is reduced as this revenue is recognized. For the year ended December 3 1, 2016, loan servicing revenue increased 
$5.3 million or "3.0%, to $21.4 million as compared to the year ended December 31 2015 as a result ofan increas in the average 
outstanding balance of guaranteed loans sold. At December 3 1, 2016 the outslanding balance of guaranteed loans sold in the 
secondary market was $2.28 billion, with a weighted average servicing fee rate of 1.04%. At December 31 , 2015 the outstanding 
balance of guaranteed loans sold was $1.78 billion, with a weighted average servicing fee rate of 1.07%. Prior lo January 20 I 0, 
the Company old loans for servicing in excess of 1.0%. As loai1s sold for servicing fee rates in excess of 1.0% prior to fiscal year 
2010 amortize the ompany expects that the weighted average servicing fee rate will approach and stabilize at approximately 
1.0%. 

Loan en icing Revaluation: The Company revalues its s rviced loan portfolio at least quarterly. The revaluation considers the 
amortization of the portfolio current marker conditions for loan sale premiums, and current prepayment speeds. For the years 
ended December I , 2016 and 2015, there was a net negative loan servicing revaluation of $8.4 million and $6.2 million, 
respectively. The higher negative service revaluation amount for 2016 ·..vas due to an increase in the prepayment rates and a decline 
in the premium market. 

In consideration of the sensitivity of servicing rights as discussed above and in Note 6 to the accompanying audited financial 
statements, the following table is provided as of December 31, 2016 reflecting the effect on fair value due to changes in yield 
curve rates. 

Change in Yield Curve Assumption 

+300 basis point 

+200 basis point 

+100 basis point 

- 100 basis point 

Increase (Decrease) in Value 

$(5,027) 

(3,461) 

(1,789) 

1,918 

1\et Gains on ale of Loans: For the year ended December 3 1 20 16, net gains on sales of loans increased $7.9 million, or I I .8%, 
compared to 2015. This increase was primarily due to a higher volume of guaranteed loans so ld . For 2016 the volume of guaranteed 
loans sold increased $121.0 million, or 18.9% from $640.9 million in 2015 to $761.9 million in 2016. The volume-driven increases 
in the net gain on loan sale comparisons were partially mitigated by lower average premiums paid in the secondaiy market. The 
lower gain per million in 2016 was influenced by the Company's entry into renewable energy lending with high volumes but 
characteristically lower gains per million sold . The average net gain on sale for 2016 was somewhat lower at $99 thousand of 
revenue for each $1 million in loans sold c mpared to $ I 05 thousand of revenue for each $1 million sold for 20 15. 
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Noninterest Expense 

1oninterest expense comprises all operating cost ofrhe Company, such as employee related costs, travel, professional services, 
advertising and marketing expenses, exclusive of imerest and income tax expense. 

The following table shows the components of noninterest expense and the related dollar and percentage changes for the periods 
presented. 

2016/2017 Increase 2015/2016 Increase 
Years Ended December 31, (Decrease.) (Decrease) 

2017 20)6 2015 Amount Percent Amount Percent 

Nonintcrest expense 

Salaries and employee benefits $ 74,669 $ 62,996 $ 40,323 $ 11,673 18.53% $ 22,673 56.23% 

Non-staff expenses: 

Travel expense 8,124 8,205 7,379 (81) (0 .99) 826 11.19 

Professional services expense 4,937 3,482 2,643 1,455 41.79 839 31.74 

Advertising and marketing expense 6,363 4,534 4,333 1,829 40.34 201 4.64 

Occupancy expense 6,195 4,573 3,475 1,622 35.47 1,098 31.60 

Data processing expense 8.449 5,299 3,583 3,150 59.45 1,716 47.89 

Equipment expense 7.479 2,246 2,119 5,233 232.99 127 5.99 

Other loan origination and maintenance 
expense 4.970 2,825 2,069 2,145 75.93 756 36.54 

Renewable energy tax credit investment 
impairment 690 3,197 (2,507) (78.42) 3,197 100.00 

FD1C insurance 3,206 1,417 514 1,789 126.25 903 175.68 

Title insurance closing services expense 2,418 2,418 100.00 

Impairment expense on goodwill and other 
intangibles 3,648 3,648 100.00 

Other expense 12.017 7,671 5,277 4,346 56.65 2.394 45.37 

Total non-staff expenses 68.49 43.449 31 ,392 25.047 57.65 12.057 38.41 

Total noninterest expense $ 143. 165 $ 106.445 $ 71.715 $ 36,720 34.50% $ 34,730 48.43% 

Years ended December 31, 2017 vs. 2016 

Total noninterest expense for 2017 increased $36.7 million, or 34.5%, compared to 2016. The increase in noninterest expense was 
predominately impacted by increased personnel, equipment, data processing, title insurance business operating and impairment 
related costs and other expenses primarily driven by the significant growth of the Company's core business. Changes in various 
components of noninterest expense are discussed below. 

Salaries and employee benefits : Total personnel expense for 2017 increased by $11.7 million, or 18.5% compared to 2016. A 
significant driver for this increase was the acquisition of a nationwide title insurance business on February I, 2017 with 54 full­
time and S part-time employees. Also contributing to the growth in personnel expense was continued investment in human capital 
to support the growing loan and lease production from new and existing ve11icals. Full-time equivalent employees increased from 
411 at December 31, 2016 to S l S at December 31, 2017. Salaries and employee benefits expense included $7.5 million and$ l 2.1 
million of stock based compensation in 2017 and 2016, respectively. Expenses related to the employee stock purchase program, 
stock grants, stock options, stock option compensation and restricted stock expense are all considered stock based compensation. 

Total stock-based compensation included $1.4 million and $9.0 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively, related to restricted stock 
unit ("RSU") awards for key employee retention with an effective grant date of May 24, 2016. See Note 13 - Benefit Plans for 
more information. 

Profe. ·sional services: Total expenses related to professional ser ices for 2017 increased $1.5 mill ion or 41 .8% compared to 2016. 
The increase is the result of legal fees and closing costs associated with the renewable energy leasing initiative that began in 2017. 
Additionally, legal costs and consulting expenses associated with the acquisition ofReltco and the formation of Apiture contributed 
to the increase. 
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Advertising and marketing expense: Advertising and marketing expenses increased $ l .8 mill ion or 40.3%, compared to 2016. 
The increase was primarily the result of efforts to promote brand recognition for new lending activities and maintain existing brand 
reputation and relationships in existing verticals. 

Occ11pa11cJ expense: Total occupancy co ts increased $1.6 million, or 35.5% compared to 2016. The increase in occupancy expense 
resulted from higher levels of personnel 10 support loan production and portfolio service along with related infrastructure. 
Additionally the ompany began incurring costs related to the planned expansion of its main campus in 2017. 

Dma processing expense: The total expenses associated with data processing and development increased $3.2 million or 59.4% 
compared to 2016. The increase was principally due to increased levels of activity in the core system from the ubstantial growth 
in loan originations, and related softwal'e and applications to operate and expand the Company ' digital platform. The formation 
of Apiture resulted in the Company s contribution of development resources that, rere historically reflected in salaries and benefits. 
A ft:er the formation of the joint venture services provided by Apiture to the Company are reflected in data processing expense. 

Equipmef/1 expense: Equipment expenses increased $S.2 million or 233.0%, compared to 20 I 6. This increase was primarily the 
result of depreciation expense incurred on solar panels purchased for the renewable energy leasing initiative. Additionall . the 
Company s aircraft depreciation expense increased for 2017 Following its purchase of new aircraft and shortening the useful life 
of its existing aircraft. 

Other loan origination and maintenance expense: Total expenses related lO loan origination activity increased $2.1 million or 
75 .9%, compared to 2016. The increase is primarily attributable to the ongoing guarantee fee for the retained SBA loan portfolio. 

Renewable energy tax credit im•esrment impairment: The ompany incurred a $690 thousand and $3.2 million in impairment 
charges in 2017 and 2016, respectively, both related to the 20 I 6 renewable energy tax credit investment of$4.6 million. As stated 
in the prior year, investments of this type generate a return primarily through the realization offedera.l and state income tax credits 
and other tax benefits· accordingly, impairment. of the investment amount is recognized in conjunction with the realization of 
related tax benefits. 

FDIC insurance: Total Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FD1C) insurance expense increased $1.8 million, or 126.3% 
com pa.red to 2016. This increase was the result of revised premium requirements of all PDTC- in ured financial institutions in the 
latter pai1 of2016 along with significantly higher deposit levels. 

Title insurance closing services expense: The Company began incur.ring expenses related to is title insmance closing services in 
2017 with the first quarter acquisition of Reltco. The expenses totaled $2.4 million for the year and reflects the cost of closing 
ervices such as notary and abstracting in the delivery of title insurance agency products. 

Impairment expense 011 goodwill and olher intangibles: The Company incurred $3.6 million due to the impairment of intangible 
assets associated with the acquisition of Reltco. See otes I and 2 for additional discussion around the impairment of goodwill 
and intangibles at Reltco. 

Other expenses: Total other expenses increased $4.3 million, or 56.7% compared to 2016. This increase was comprised 
predominately of charitable initiatives costs as ociated with the newly acquired title company, a first quarter 2017 loss incurred 
upon the trade-in of an existing aircraft and general expenditures to support business growth. 

foars ended December 31, 2016 vs. 2015 

Total non interest expense for 20 16 increased $34. 7 million. or 48.4%, compared to 2015. The increase in non interest expense was 
predominately impacted by increased personnel occupancy data processing, renewable energy tax credit investment impairment 
and other expenses. Changes in various components of noninterest expense are discussed below. 

Salaries and employee benefits: Total personnel expense for 2016 increased by $22.7 million, or 56.2% compared to 2015. This 
increase primarily resulted from further investment in human capital to support the growing loan production from new and existing 
verticals as well as development of a new small loan and deposit platform . Full-time equivalent employees increased from 327 
at December 31, 201 S to 411 at December 31, 2016. Salaries and employee benefits expense included $12.1 111 ill ion and $ I .4 
million of stock based compensation in 2016 and 2015, respectively. Expenses related to the employee stock purchase program, 
stock grants, stock options, stock option compensation and restricted stock expense are all considered stock based compensation. 
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Of the total stock based compensation, $9.0 million for 2016 included in salaries and employee benefits is related to restricted 
stock unit ("RSU") awards for key employee retention with an effective grant date of May 24, 2016. On March 23.2016, the 162 
(m) Subcommittee of the Compensation Committee of the Board ofDirectors ofthe ompany approved these RSU awards covering 
a total of I 35 7,500 shares of the ompany' voting common stock· comprised of 507,500 shares related to R U awards and 
850.000 shares related to R U awards with a market price condition of $34 per share. The vesting of the awards was subject to 
the Company achieving total revenue of at least $ 100 million for fiscal year 2016 which has occurred . .fn addition vesting ofthe 
awards was subject to the appro al by the Company's shareholders of certain amendments to the ompany's 2015 Omnibus Plan , 
including an increase in the number of shares authorized under the 2015 Omnibus Plan, which were approved on May 24, 2016. 
The grant date of these awards was effective when shareholder approval was received. See Note 11 - Benefit Plans for more 
information. 

Occupa11cy expense: Total occupancy costs increased $1.1 mi II ion or 31 .6% compared to 2015. The primary driver of the increase 
in occupancy expense was increased levels of personnel to support loan production and portfolio service along with related 
infrastructure including a new bu ilding on the ompany's main campus that was placed in service during the third quarter of2015. 

Data processing expense: For 2016, the total costs associated with data processing and development increased $1.7 million, or 
4 7.9% compared to 20 I 5. The increase was principally due to increased levels of activity in the core system from the substantial 
growth in loan originations, and related software and applications to operate and expand the Company's digital platform. 

Renewable energy tax credit investment impairment: During the fomth quarter of 2016, the Company incurred $3.2 million in 
impairment charges related to a $4.6 million renewable energy tax credit investment. Investments of this type generate a return 
primarily through the realization of federal and state income tax credits and other tax benefits· accordingly impairment of the 
investment amount is recognized in conjunction with the realization of re lated tax benefits. This investment generated rax savings 
of$5.5 million for 2016. This equity method investment aligns with the Company's strategic emphasis in the renewable energy 
sector. In line with this strategic industry emphasis, the Company originated $124.1 million in loans that support tbe renewable 
energy industry during the fourth quarter of 2016. These loans have no tax credit benefit to the Company. 

Other expenses: Total other expenses increased $3.3 mi ll ion, or 56.9%, compared to 2015 . This increase was largely impacted 
by a $1.4 million impairment loss on aircrnft as management committed to a plan to sell the aircraft prior to year-end. The sale of 
this aircraft took place subsequent to year end with no additional losses. A second significant contributor to growth in this expense 
category was the revised premium requirements for deposit insurance from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation applicable 
to all financial institutions in 2016. The increased deposit insurance premiums resulted in approximately $1 million of additional 
expense. 

Income Tax Expense 

Years ended December 31, 2017vs. 2016 

For 2017 and 2016 income tax (benefit) expense totaled $(2.2) million and $3.4 million, respectively, and the Company's effective 
tax rates were (2.3)% and 20.0%, respectively. The negative effective rate for 2017 was largely a product of significant investments 
in renewable energy assets which generate investment tax credits, the positive tax effects arising from changes in enacted tax 
legislation, and the adoption of a stock-based compensation accounting standard. 

The Company invested $90.6 million and $4.6 million in renewable energy assets thal generated $24.9 mi ll ion and $5.5 million 
in investment tax credits in 2017 and 2016 respectively. Also, on December 22, 2017, the U .. government enacted comprehensive 
tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cut and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act"). The Tax Act makes broad and complex changes 
to the U.S. tax code that affects 2017 including, but not limited to, accelerated depreciation that will allow for full expensing of 
qualified prope11y. The Tax Act also establishes new tax laws that will affect 2018 and after, including a reduction in the U.S. 
federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 2 I%. As a result of the reduction of the federal corporate income tax rate, the 

ompany revalued its net deferred tax liability, excluding after tax credit , as of December 3 1, 20 17. Based on this revaluation, 
the Company has recorded a provisional net tax benefit of $18.9 million to reduce the net deferred tax liabi lity balance which was 
recorded as a reduction in income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 20 17. The 2017 tax rate also benefited from the 
first quarter adoption of a new accounting pronouncement related to the treatment of share based compensation issued by Lhe 
Financial Accounting Standards Board that was effective January I, 2017; "Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): 
Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting," also referred to as ASU 2016-09. 
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Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Among other things, the new Tax Act (i) establishes a new, flat corporate federal statutory income tax rate 
of 2 I%, (ii) eliminates the corporate alternative minimum tax and allows the use of any such carryforwards to offset regular tax 
liability for any taxable year, (iii) limits the deduction for net interest expense incurred by U.S. corporations, (iv) allows businesses 
to immediately expense, for tax purposes, the cost of new investments in certain qualified depreciable assets, (v) eliminates or 
reduces certain deductions related ro meals and enterrainment expenses, (vi) modifies the limitation on excessive employee 
remuneration to eliminate the exception for performance-based compensation and clarifies the definition of a covered employee 
and (vii) limits the deductibility of deposit insurance premiums. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act also significantly changes U.S. tax 
law related to foreign operations, however.such changes do not currently impact the Company. Based.upon current 20 18 projections 
the effective tax rate for 20 ·1 s is expected to be in the low-to-mid single digits· however, there can be no assurance as to the actual 
amount because it will b dependent upon the nature and amount of future income and expenses as wel l as investments generating 
investment tax credits and transactions with discrete tax effects and any possible changes in the Company's provisional adjustments 
in revaluing the deferred tax liability at December 31 2017. The accounting for the impact of the Tax Act is expected to be 
completed during the fourth quarter of2018 and the final amount may differ from the provisional amount due to additional analysis, 
regulatory guidance that may be issued or changes in interpretation . 

J'ears ended December 31, 2016 vs. 2015 

Income tax expense for 2016 and 2015, totaled $3.4 million and $13.8 million, respectively, a decrease of$! 0.4 million, or 75.0%. 
The reduction in income tax expense for 2016 was the product of the above discussed renewable energy tax credit investment in 
the fourth quarter of 2016 combined with a year over year decline in taxable income. The Company's effective tax rate for 2016 
and 2015 was 20.0% and 40.1 %, respectively. The Company intends to continue its emphasis in providing financing to the 
renewable energy sector and expects that additional income tax credits may be generated that benefit the tax rate during 2017. 

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 

Years ended December 31, 2017vs. 2016 

Total assets at December 31, 2017 were $2.76 billion, an increase of $1.00 billion, or 57.2%, compared to total assets of $1.76 
billion at December 31, 2016. This increase was principally driven by the following: 

Growth in cash and investments, largely a product of the secondary offering in August of2017 of$! 13.1 million combined 
with successful deposit gathering campaigns generating $247.4 million in new deposits; 

Growth in loan and lease originations combined with longer retention times of loans held for sale, comprised largely of 
loans in newer verticals which require a period of loan advances to become fully funded prior to being sold; 

Growth in premises and equipment related primarily to construction ofa new aircraft hangar, the addition of two new 
aircraft in replacement of two older ones and the addition of solar panels to meet leasing commitments; 

Increased other assets largely related to: 

$68.0 million one-time gain recognized as a result of the fourth quarter equity method investment in Apiture, 
see Note 3. Unconsolidated Joint Venture for further discussion; 

income taxes receivable arising from investment tax credits generated by investment in solar panels classified 
in premises and equipment in which the Company is the lessor; and 

intangibles of$4.3 million generated by the first quarter acquisition ofReltco. 

Cash and due from banks were $295.3 million at December 3 I, 2017, an increase of$57.3 million, or 24. J %, compared to $238.0 
million at December 31, 2016. This increase was largely the result of the August 2017 secondary public offering which generated 
net proceeds of$ I 13.1 million combined with increases in the deposit portfolio. 

Total investment securities increased $22.3 million during 2017, from $71.1 million at December 31, 2016 to $93.4 million at 
December 31, 2017, an increase of3 l .4%. The portfolio is comprised of US government agency securities, residential mortgage­
backed securities and a mutual fund. 
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Loans held fo r sale increased $286.2 million , or 72 .6%. during 2017. from $394.3 million at December 3 1, 2016 to $680.5 million 
at December 3 I, 2017. The increase was primarily rhe result of strong growth in loan origination activities throughout 2017 
combined with the Company·s continued focus 011 longer duration of loan rercnlion which has improved recurring revenues. 

Loans and leases held for investment increased $436.4 million, or 48.1 %, during 2017, from $907.6 million at December 3 I, 2016 
to $1.34 billion at December 31 2017. The increase was the result ofrobu t loan and lease growth from loan and lease origination 
activities during 2017. 

Premises and equipment increased $114.1 million, or 176.5%, during 2017, from $64.7 million at December 31, 2016 to $178.8 
million at December 3 I, 2017. This increase was primarily driven by construction of a new aircraft hangar and the replacement 
of two older aircraft with two new ones better suited to service the Company's growing nationwide customer ba e and the addition 
of solar panels to meet leasing commitments. 

Foreclosed assets decreased $367 thousand, or 22.3%, to $1.3 million al December 31, 2017, from $1.6 million at December 31 , 
2016. Of this decrease, $156 thousand was associated with foreclosed assets relating to portions of loans not guaranteed by the 
SBA. 

Servicing assets increased $304 thoasand, or 0.6%, during 2017 from $52.0 million at December 31, 2016 to $52.3 million at 
December 31, 2017. The increase in servicing assets is !he result ofloan sales slightly outpacing the amortization of the existing 
serviced portfolio. 

Other assets increased $97.2 million or 262.7% during 2017, from $37.0 million at December 31 , 2016 to $134 .2 million al 
December 3 1 20 I 7. The increase in other assets is primarily the result of the $68.0 mil li on equ ity metJiod investment in Apiture. 
the recognition of $16.2 million in inc0mc taxes receivable arising from investmem tax credits generated from the investment in 
solar panel leasing activities, and lhe firsl quarter 2017 acquisition of the nationwide title insurance business. As a result of the 
title insurance acquisition, other asset includes $4.3 million in intangible assets. 

Total deposits were $2.26 billion al December 31, 2017 an increase of$775.2 million, or 52.2%, from $1.49 billion at December 31, 
2016. The increase in deposits was driven by successful deposit initiatives to support the growth in loan originations. 

Other liabilities increased $15.2 million or 78. I%, during 2017, from $19.S million at December 31, 2016 to $34.7 million at 
December 3 1, 20 I 7. The increase in other liabilities was principally driven by a $1 1.8 million increase in deferred tax liabililies 
combined with an earn-out contjngenl liability of $1 .9 million related to the acquisition of the title insurance business. 

Shareholders' equity at December 31, 2017 was $436.9 million as compared to $222.8 million at December 3 I 20 I 6. The book 
value per share was $10.95 at December I 2017 and average equity ·ro average assets was 13.5% for 20 l 7, compared ro a book 
value per share of $6.5 l at December 3 I, 20 J 6 and average equity to average assets of 14.6% for the year ended December 31 
20 I 6. The change in shareholders equity is prin ' ipally the result of the issuance of 5.2 million addi ti onal common shares with 
net proceeds of$113. 1 million and net income to common shareholders for 2017 of$100.5 million combined with stock-based 
compensation expense of$7.5 million and $56 thousand related to the issuance of stock in the title insurance company acquisition. 
These factors were partially offset by cash withheld in lieu of issuing restricted stock upon vesting of $4.9 million and by $3.8 
million in dividends. 

Years ended December 31, 2016vs. 2015 

Total assets at December 31, 2016 were $1. 76 bill ion, an increase of $702.6 million, or 66 .8%, compared to total assets of $1.05 
billion at December 31, 2015. This increase was principally driven by the following: 

Growth in Joan and lease originations combined with longer retention times of loans held for sale, comprised largely of 
loans in newer verticals wh ich require a period of loan advances to become fully funded prior to being sold · and 

Increased levels of deposits arising from successful deposit gathering efforts. 

Cash and cash equivalents were $238.0 million at December 31, 2016, an increase of $135.4 million, or 132.0%, compared to 
$ I 02.6 million at December 3 I, 2015. This increase was primarily a result of increases in the deposit portfolio. 
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Total investment securities increased $17.3 million during 2016, from $53.8 million at December 31, 2015 to $71.1 million at 
December 31, 2016, an increase of32.2%. The portfolio is comprised of US government agency securities, residential mortgage­
backed securities and a mutual fund. 

Loans held for sale decreased $86.3 million, or 18.0%, during 2016, from $480.6 million at December 31, 2015 to $394.3 million 
at December 31, 2016. This decrease was primarily the result of the second quarterreclassification of$3 l 8.8 million ofunguaranteed 
loans to held for investment classification, offset by strong growth in loan origination activities throughout 2016. 

Loans and leases held for investment increased $627.6 million, or 224.2%, during 2016, from $280.0 million at December 31, 
2015 to $907.6 million at December 31, 2016. The increase was primarily the result of the second quarter transfer of $318.8 
million in unguaranteed loans from held for sale to held for investment combined with robust loan growth from loan origination 
activities during 2016. 

Premises and equipment increased $2.0 million, or 3.2%, during 2016, from $62.7 million at December 31, 2015 to $64.7 million 
at December 31, 2016. This increase was principally comprised of a $7.5 million deposit on two new aircraft in the latter part of 
2016 combined with ongoing construction initiatives to provide infrastructure to support Company growth. Pai1ially offsetting 
the increase in premises and equipment was the transfer of an aircraft with a basis of $3.2 million from premises and equipment 
to other assets. This transfer from premises and equipment to other assets was the result of the Company's conclusion to sell one 
of its the aircraft due to the ineffectiveness of the equipment to serve the growing needs of an expanding nationwide customer 
base. 

Foreclosed assets decreased $1.0 million, or 38.2%, to $1.6 million at December 31, 2016, from $2.7 million at December 31, 
2015. Of this decrease, $126 thousand was associated with foreclosed assets relating to portions of loans not guaranteed by the 
SBA. 

Servicing assets increased $7.8 million, or 17.6%, during 2016 from $44.2 million at December 31, 2015 to $52.0 million at 
December 31, 2016. The increase in servicing assets is primarily the result of loan sales significantly outpacing the amortization 
of the existing serviced portfolio. 

Other assets increased $13.7 million, or 59.0%, during 2016, from $23.3 million at December 31, 2015 to $37.0 million at December 
31, 2016. The increase in other assets includes $8.0 million in new cost and equity method investments, of which $3.7 million is 
in businesses that align with the Company's strategic initiative to be a leader in online banking for small businesses, $2.5 million 
related to community reinvestment and $1.8 million in renewable energy investment tax credit investments. Other significant 
contributors to the growth in other assets were an increase in accrued interest receivable of$2.0 million and the above referenced 
transfer ofan aircraft with a basis of$3.2 million from premises and equipment. 

Total deposits were $1.49 billion at December 31, 2016, an increase of $680.3 million, or 84.5%, from $804.8 million at 
December 31, 2015. The increase in deposits was driven by successful deposit initiatives to supp011the growth in loan originations. 

Shareholders' equity at December 31, 2016 was $222.8 million as compared to $199.5 million at December 31, 2015. The book 
value per share was $6.51 at December 31, 2016 and average equity to average assets was 14.6% for 2016, compared to a book 
value per share of $5.84 at December 31, 2015 and average equity to average assets of 15 .5% for the year ended December 31, 
2015. The increase in shareholders' equity principally represents net income to common shareholders for 2016 of $13.8 million 
combined with stock based compensation expense of $12.1 million, partially offset by $2.4 million in dividends. 
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Loans 

As of December 3 I 2017 and 20 I 6 Lhe cumulative total outstanding principal balance of guaranteed loans sold sin.ce May 2007 
totaled $2.68 billion and $2.28 billion respectively. The Company has historically sold a significant portion of loans it originates 
in the secondary market while the Company cominues to service the loans sold in full. As of December 3 1 2017 and 20 16, combined 
loans and leases held fo r investment and held for sale totaled $2.02 billion and$ J .30 billion, respectively. Any loan or portion of 
a loan that the Company has the intent and ability to sell is carried as held for sale. 

The average age of the held for sale portfolio as of December I 2017 was 9.0 months from origination date. Less than I 0% of 
the current held for sale portfolio is older than two years. The majority of held for sale loans over one year old are comprised of 
construction loans. Construction loans typically have extended build out periods that inhen:ntly resu lt in longer lead times between 
origination and the ultimate sale date. Approximately 41.5% of the held for sa le portfolio is aged between one and two years. All 
loans classified as special mention (risk grade 5) or worse or being identified as impaired are excluded from the held for sale loan 
portfolio. 
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As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, loans and leases held for investment totaled $1.34 billion and $907 .6 million, respectively. 
The increase in loans and leases held fo r investment is the resu lt of continued growth in loan and lease originations. The fo ll owing 
table presents the balance and associated percentage of each category of loans and leases held fo r investment within the loan and 
lea e portfolio at the five most recently completed fiscal year ends. The fo ll owing held for investment loan and lease tab les do not 
include net deferred costs and discou nts on BA 7(a) and U DA unguaranteed loans . The net impact on loans and leases held for 
investment for net deferred costs and discounts on SBA 7(a) unguaranteed loans and leases is $(2.9) million, $(926) thousand, $23 
thousand, $485 thousand, and $(757) thousand thousand as of December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

%of % of % of % of %of 
Loans in Loans in Loans in Loans in Loans in 
Category Category Category Category Category 
of Total Total of Total Total of Total Total of Total Total of Total 

Total Loans Loans Loans Loans Loans Loans Loans Loans Loans 
Loans and and and and and and and and and and 

Leases Leases Leases Leases Leases Leases Leases Leases Leases Leases 

Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture $ 3,274 0.24% $ 1,714 019% $ 30 0.01% $ -% $ -% 

Death Care Management 13,495 1.00 9,684 I 06 4,832 1.73 3,603 1.77 1,782 I 25 

Healthcare 43,301 3.21 37,270 410 15,240 5.44 12,319 6.06 8,739 6.15 

Independent Pharmacies 99,920 7.42 83,677 921 41,588 14 86 34,079 16 ,75 24,026 16.91 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 93,770 6.96 68,335 7.52 I 8,358 6.56 9,660 4.75 2,817 1.98 

Veterinary Industry 46,387 3.45 38,930 4 29 21,579 7.71 20,902 JO 27 19,978 14.06 

Other Industries l 84,903 13.73 94,836 1044 3,230 1.15 494 0.24 17 0.01 

Total 485,050 36.0l 334,446 36.81 104,857 37.46 81,057 39.84 57,359 40.36 

Construction & Development 

Agriculture 34,188 2.54 32,372 3.56 11,351 4.05 3,910 1 92 

Death Care Management 6,119 0 45 3,956 0 44 769 0.27 92 0.05 989 0 70 

Healthcare 49,770 3 70 30,467 3.35 7,231 2.58 2,957 1.45 4,997 3.52 

Independent Pharmacies 1,496 0.11 2,013 0.22 101 0 04 215 0.1 I 101 0.07 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 376 0.03 294 0.03 378 0.13 

Veterinary Industry 13,184 0.98 l 1,514 1,27 3,834 1.37 2,207 1.08 4,199 2.95 

Other Industries 58,120 4.32 31 ,715 3.49 658 0 24 145 0.07 

Total 163,253 12.13 112,331 12.36 24,322 8.68 9,526 4.68 10,286 7.24 

Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 46,717 3 47 5,591 0 62 1,863 0 67 259 013 

Death Care Management 67,381 5.00 52,51 0 5.78 20,327 7.26 18,879 9.28 11,668 8.21 

Healthcare 126,631 9.40 114,28 1 12.58 37,684 1346 26,173 12 86 I 1,129 7.83 

Independent Pharmacies 19,028 1.4 l 15,151 1 67 7,298 2 61 4,750 2 33 3,490 2-46 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 11 ,789 0.88 11 ,462 I 26 2,808 1.00 2,161 1.06 171 0.12 

Veterinary Industry 113,932 8.46 102,906 11 33 59,999 21 43 57,934 28.48 47,896 33.70 

Other Industries 134,172 9.96 46,245 5 09 4,752 1.70 1,464 0.72 107 0 08 

Total 519,650 38.58 348,146 38.33 134,731 48.13 111 ,620 54.86 74,461 52.40 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 178,897 13.28 113,569 12 .50 16,036 5.73 1,248 0.62 

Total 178,897 13.28 113,569 12.50 16,036 5.73 1,248 0.62 

Total Loans and Leases S l ,346,1150 100.00% $908,492 100.00% $279,946 100.00% $203,451 I00.00% 1~2,106 I00.00% 

Regardless of the classification reflected above and discussed in more detail below, the loans the Bank originates are generally to 
small businesses where operating cash flow is the primary source of repayment, but may also include collateralization by real 
estate inventory, accounts receivable, equipment and/or per onal guarantees. When collaternl includes real estate it is typically 
owner-occupied. These common attributes among most of the loans the Bank funds is a product of the Bank's specialization as a 
government guaranteed program lender. 
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Commercial & Industrial. Commercial & Industrial, or C&I, loans and leases increased $150.6 million, or 45 .0%, from 
December 31, 2016 to December 31 , 2017. Increases occurred in all verticals, with most of the growth occurring in the Independent 
Pharmacies, Registered Investment Advisors, and Other Industries verticals which increased $16.2 million, $25.4 million and 
$90. l million , respecci e ly due to the Bank's marketing efforts and brand recognit ion in these industries. The majority of the 
increase in the Other Industries categories was att ributed to Renewable Energy Government 0111rac!ing and Wine and Craft 
Beverage, with respective increases of$26.0 million, $28.8 million and $23 .8 million. Real estate collateral on C&l loans is often 
owner occupied. The premises for industri es in C&T loans tend to have either a small real e late component or the business occupies 
a leasehold space. Terms for C&I loans are generally ten years. 

Construction & Development. Constru tion and Development, or C&D, loans increased $50.9 million, or 45 .3%, from 
December 31 , 2016 to December 31 , 20 17. The increase was also across all verticals, exc pt Independent Pharmacies, with the 
majority of growth arising from increased industry emphasis on facility expansion principally in the Healthcare and Self Storage 
verticals which increased $ 19.3 million and $25.2 million, respf:ctively. Terms for C&D loans are generally 20 to 25 years . 

Commercial Real Estate. Commercial Real Estate, or CRE, loans increased $171 .5 million, or 49.3%, from December 31, 20 I 6 
to December 31, 2017. A 11 CRE verticals experienced growth in 2017, with the largest increases occurring in Agriculture and 
Hotels, included in Other Industries, verticals with year to year growth of $41.1 million and $69.8 million, respectively. Growth 
in CRE lending was largely attributed to ongoing facility expansion and acquisition activity during 2017. 

Commercial Land. Commercial land loans increased $65.3 million, or 57.5%, from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2017. 
Commercial land loans are solely comprised ofloans within the Agriculture vertical. The growth in commercial land loans was 
driven by the Bank's continued expansion into the poultry segment of the Agriculture vertical. 

Loan and Lease Concentration 

Loan and lease concentrations may exist when there are borrowers engaged in similar activities or types ofloans and leases exlt;nded 
to a diverse group of borrowers that could cause those borrowers or portfolios to be similarly impacted by economic or other 
conditions. The breakdown of total held for sale loans by industry sector is presented in the foll owing tabl e. The fo llowing table 
does not include net deferred costs and discount on SBA 7(a) unguaranteed 1.oans. The net impact on loans held for sale for net 
deferred costs and discount on SBA 7(a) and USDA unguaranteed loans is $6.6 million, $4.5 million $3.2 million. $3. 1 million, 
and $475 thousand as of December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
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At December 31, 2017 At December 31, 2016 At December 31, 2015 At December 31, 2014 At December 31, 2013 

Concentration Risk Concentration Risk Concentration Risk Concentration Risk Concentration Risk 

Unguaranteed Guaranteed Total Unguaranteed Guaranteed Total Unguaranteed Gnanmteed Total Unguaranteed Guaranteed Total Unguaranteed Guaranteed Total ---- ---- ---- ------
Commercial & 

Industrial 

Agriculture $ - s 2,276 $ 2,276 $ - s 1,248 $ 1,248 $ 171 s 51 $ 222 $ - $ - s - s - s - $ 

Death Care 
Management - 4,619 4.619 - 841 841 3,483 556 4.039 2,312 2,855 5,167 1,166 2.740 3,906 

Healthcare - 22,540 22,540 - 5,061 5,061 13,728 2,046 15,774 5,250 4,979 10,229 3,404 2,866 6,270 

Independent 
Pharmacies - 2,357 2,357 - 2,930 2,930 29,903 2,833 32,736 24,513 6,696 31,209 13,272 8,058 21,330 

Registered 
[nvestment 
Advisors - 12.20 1 12.201 - 10,360 10,360 17,537 5,087 22.624 9,471 5,667 15, 138 3.355 2,719 6.074 

Veterinary Industry - 17,820 17,820 - 5,639 5,639 12,894 2,838 15,732 9,301 5,744 15,045 9,800 3,202 13,002 

Other Industries - 67,719 67,719 - 32,121 32,121 8,774 6,624 15,398 1,500 963 2..46.l 1.026 Ill t ,IS7 

Total - 129,532 129,532 - 58,200 58,200 86,490 20,035 106,525 52,347 26.90~ 79.l5 1 32,023 19,7 16 51,739 

Construction & 
Development 

Agriculture - 81 ,902 81,902 - 96,028 96,028 17,005 83,949 100,954 2,246 11,230 13,476 

Death Care 
Management - 12)78 12,278 - 10,299 10,299 1,698 5,778 7,476 36 179 215 1.374 5,235 6,609 

Healthcare - 130,154 130,154 - 73,596 73,596 11,469 54,374 65,843 1,764 8,695 10,459 6,493 26,427 32,920 

Independent 
Pharmacies - 4,489 4,489 - 6,041 6,041 152 760 912 - - - 151 158 309 

Registered 
Investment 
Advisors - 1.128 1.128 - 881 881 567 2.835 3.402 

Veterinary Industry - 31,038 31,038 - 21,377 21,377 3,900 19,360 23,260 1,677 8,385 I0,062 4,177 13,110 17,287 

Other Industries - 120.990 I ~0.9'>0 - 38,698 JS,(l9g 1,S90 4,934 6.524 16 79 95 ----Total - JS l ,979 381.979 - 246,910 146.920 36,381 17 1.990 108,37 1 5,739 !8,:i-68 34,307 12,195 44,930 57,125 

Commercial Real 
Estate 

Agriculture - 47,001 47,001 - - - 2,794 6,455 9,249 1,809 9,043 10,852 

Dealh Care 
Management - 10,487 10,487 - 3,336 3,336 17,808 l ,971 19,779 15,572 4,744 20,316 12,015 3,528 15.543 

Healthcare - 25,255 25,255 - 12,224 12,224 34,749 10,974 45,723 24,668 33,787 58,455 6,173 1,822 7,995 

Independent 
Pharmacies - 975 975 - 1,996 1,996 5,661 2,325 7,986 5,082 3,155 8,237 3,528 - 3,528 

Registered 
Investment 
Advisors - 222 222 - 1,186 1,186 2,205 - 2,205 2.73 t 2,464 5, 195 220 109 329 

Veterinary Industry - 15,145 15,145 - 8,039 8,039 32,025 1,690 33,715 26,237 22,932 49,169 18,088 3,932 22.020 

Other Industries - 34,021 34,021 - 8,333 8,333 9,880 1,104 10,984 2,865 1,818 4,683 684 - 684 ----Total - IJJ,106 IJJ,106 - JS,114 35,114 105,122 24,519 129,641 78,964 77,943 156,907 40,708 9,391 50,099 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture - 29,258 29,258 - 49,519 49,51 9 24,38'.? 8,529 32,9 11 S,472 16, 121 21,593 

Tola! - 19,.258 29,!SS - 49,519 49,519 2982 8,529 32,911 5,472 16,121 21 ,593 

Total $ - $ 673,875 $673,875 $ - $ 389,753 $389,753 $ 252,375 $ 225,073 $477,448 $ 142,522 $ 149,536 $292,058 $ 84,926 $ 74,037 $158,963 
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Whenever a loan held for sale exhibits credit quality issues (i.e .. the loan is on nonaccrual. downgraded to spcc_ial mention risk 
grade 5, or greater) it is transferred lo loans and leases held for investment. Accordingly, all loans and leases experiencing charge­
offs are classified as held for investment. For loans and leases transferred from held for sale Lo held for investment during the 
twelve months ended December 3 1, 2017 and 2016 there have been no charge offs and $1. l million in charge offs, respectively. 
For loans transferred from held for investment to held for sale during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 there 
have been no charge offs. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no loans or leases classified as held for sale which were 
identified as being impaired or on nonaccrual status. 

The following table presents total held-for-investment loans and leases by industry sector: 
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Commercial & 
Industrial 

At December JI, 2017 Al December 31, 2016 At December 31, 2015 At December 31, 2014 At December JI, 2013 

Concentration Risk Concentration Risk Concentration Risk Concentration Risk Concentration Risk 

Unguaranteed Guaranteed Total Unguarantced Guaranteed Total Unguaranteed Guaranteed ~ Unguaranteed Guaranteed ~ ...E!!!,uaranteed Guaranteed Total 

Agriculture $ 2,942 $ 332 $ 3,274 $ 1,556 $ 158 $ 1,714 $ 30 $ - $ 30 $ - S - S - $ - $ S 

Death Care 
Management 13,295 200 13,495 9,403 281 9,684 4,832 - 4,832 3,603 - 3,603 1,782 - 1,782 

Healthcare 39,123 4,178 43,301 31,791 5,479 37,270 11,900 3,340 15,240 8,779 3,540 12,319 7.164 1,575 8,739 

Independent 
Pharmacies 91,982 7,938 99,920 78,953 4,724 83,677 40,025 1,563 41,588 31,686 2,393 34,079 24,026 - 24,026 

Registered 
Investment 
Advisors 93,321 449 93,770 67.914 421 68,335 18,358 - 18.358 9.660 9,660 2,817 - 2.817 

Velerinary Industry 43,371 3,016 46,387 35,981 2,949 38,930 19,247 2,332 21,579 17,406 3,4% 20,902 16,444 3,534 19,978 

Other Industries 184,393 510 184,903 94,436 400 94,836 3,124 I 06 3,230 373 121 494 17 - 17 ----- ----- ---- ----
Total 468,427 16,623 485,050 320,034 14,412 334,446 97,516 7,341 104,857 71,507 9,550 81,057 52,250 5,109 57,359 

Construction & 
Development 

Agriculture 30,224 3,964 34,188 32,139 233 32,372 11,233 118 11,351 3,910 - 3,910 

Death Care 
Management 6,119 - 6,119 3,956 - 3,956 769 - 769 92 - 92 989 - 989 

Healthcare 48,302 1,468 49,770 30,467 - 30,467 7,231 - 7,231 2,957 - 2,957 4,997 - 4,997 

Independent 
Pharmacies 1,496 - 1,496 2,013 - 2,013 101 - IOI 215 - 215 101 - IOI 

Registered 
Investment 
Advisors 376 - 376 294 - 294 378 - 378 

Veterinary Industry 13,184 - 13, 184 10, 173 1,341 11 ,5 14 3,296 538 3,834 2,207 - 2,207 4,199 - 4,199 

Other Industries 58,120 - 58,120 31,715 - 31,715 658 - 658 145 - 145 ---- ----
Total 157,821 5,432 163,253 110,757 1,574 112,JJI 23,666 656 24,322 9,526 9,526 10,286 - 10,286 

Commercial Real 
Estate 

Agriculture 30,871 15,846 46,717 5,591 - 5,591 1,863 - 1,863 259 - 259 

Dealh Care 
Managemenl 65,836 1,545 67,381 50,918 1,592 52,510 19,037 1,290 20,327 17,354 1,525 18,879 11,668 - 11 .668 

Healthcare 121 ,635 4,996 126,63 1 106.924 7,357 114,281 36,885 799 37,684 24.254 1,919 26,173 10,329 800 11,129 

Independent 
Pharmacies 17,%6 1,562 19,028 15,151 - 15,151 7,298 - 7,298 4,750 - 4,750 3,490 - 3,490 

Registered 
Investment 
Advisors I T.789 - 11 ,789 T 1,462 - 11,462 2.808 - 2,808 2,161 - 2,161 171 - 171 

Veterinary Industry 103,303 10,629 113,932 94,081 8,825 102,906 52,911 7,088 59,999 49,903 8,031 57,934 41,387 6,509 47,8% 

Other Industries 133,263 909 I 34,172 45,997 248 46,245 4,752 - 4,752 I, 177 287 1,464 I 07 - I 07 ---- ----
Total 484,163 35,487 519,650 JJ0,124 18,022 348,146 125,554 9,177 134,731 99,858 11,762 111 ,620 67,152 7,309 74,461 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 136,752 42,145 178,8g] 109,918 3,651 113,569 16,036 - 16,036 1,248 - 1,248 ----
Total 136,752 42,145 178,897 109,918 3,651 113,569 16,036 - 16,036 1,248 - 1,248 

Total S 1,247,163 $ 99,687 $1,346,8_50 _$ 870,833 $ 37,659 $908,492 S 262,772 $ 17,174 $279,946 $ 182,139 $ 21,312 $203,451 $ 129,688 $ 12,418 $142,106 
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Loans and leases held for investment generally consist of unguaranteed loan and lease balances, loans and leases classified as 
special mention (Risk Grade 5) or worse and those identified as impaired.At December 31,2017, total guaranteed loans and leases 
held for investment classified as special mention or worse was $34.7 million with $19.9 million on a non-accrual basis. Of total 
guaranteed loans and leases held for investment at December 31, 2016, $29.0 million was classified as special mention or worse 
with $19.0 million on a non-accrual ba is. Presently, the Company classifies the guaranteed portion of all performing loans as held 
for sale. 

Agriculture loans and lea es repre enL the largest vertical at $263 .1 mi I lion or 19.5% of the total held for investment balance at 
December 31, 2017. Prom May 2007 through December 31, 2017 the Bank originated $1.0 I billion loans and leases to small 
business professionals in the Agriculture vertical with $782.6 million in outstanding principal remaining in the servicing portfolio 
and $423.5 million on book. Loans and leases to healthcare professionals represent the second largest vertical al $219.7 million 
or 16.3%, of the total held for investment balance. From inception in May 2007 through December 31 , 2017, the Company originated 
$1.31 billion of Joans and leases to small business professionals in the HeaJthcare vertical, with $870.1 million in outstanding 
principal remaining in the servicing portfolio and $397. 7 million on book. Veterinary loans and leases represent the third largest 
vertical at $173.5 million, or 12.9%, of the total held for investment balance. The Veterinary vertical was the original vertical and 
formed the basis of the ompany ' s existing model. From May 2007 through December 31 , 2017, the Bank originated $1.46 billion 
loans and leases to small business professionals in the Veterinary vertical with $798.3 million in outstanding principal remaining 
in the servicing portfolio and $237.5 million remaining on the balance sheet. Loans and leases to Independent Pharmacies represent 
the fourth largest vertical at $120.4 mil lion, or 8.9%, of the total held for investment balance. From May 2007 through December 31, 
2017, the Bank originated $841.7 million Joans and leases to small business professionals in the Pharmacy vertical with $530.9 
million in outstanding principal remaining in the servicing portfolio and $128.3 million on book. 

The Company believes the risk associated with industry concentration is mitigated by the geographical diversity of the overall 
loan and lease portfolio with loans and leases originated in each of the fifty U .. states and certain U .. territories. Additionally 
the ompany has demonstrated the ability to expand lending activities into selected new verticals and intends to continue this 
expansion in the future . To the exte11t that the Company is successful in expanding into new verticals, the Company believes any 
risk related to concentration within any one industry will be further mitigated. 

The maximum loan size under the SBA 7(a) and USDA REAP and B&I programs is $5.0 millioD and $25.0 million, respectively. 
At December 31, 2017, no single SBA or USDA loan had an outstanding borrower principal balance greater than $5.0 million and 
$25.0 million, respectively. The average loan size at origination for the Company s entire po1tfolio in its cho en industries in 2017 
was $1.2 million and the average original lease receivable was $ 152 thousand. At December 31 2017 the average outstanding 
balance per loan was approximately $332 thousand, and the average outstanding balance per lease was $141 thousand. The 
outstanding principal balance of the full loan and lease portfolio, including those serviced for others, totaled $4.92 billion of which 
$1.34 billion was held for investment. 

Loan and Lease Maturity 

As of December 31, 2017, $4.52 billion, or 92.0%, of the total outstanding principal loans and leases, including those serviced for 
others, were variable rate Joans that adjust at specified dates based on the prime lending rate or other variable indices. As of 
December 31, 2017, $3.47 billion, or 70.6%, of total outstanding principal loans and leases were ariable rate loans that adjust on 
either a calendar monthly or calendar quarterly basis using the prime lending rate or other variable indices. At December 3 1 2017, 
93.5%, or $1 .90 billion, of the combined held for sale and held for investment loan and lease portfolio was comprised of variable 
rate loans.At December 31, 2017, $72.9 million, or 5.4%, of the held for investment balance matures in less than five years. Loans 
and leases maturing in greater than five years total $1.27 billion of the total $1.34 billion. The variable rate portion of the total 
held for investment loans and leases is 91.6%, which reflects the Company's strategy to minimize interest rate risk through the 
use of variable rate products. 
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At December 31. 2017 

Remaining Co11tr:1 clual Maturi ty of Total Held for Investment Loans and Leases 
(E d uding ncl deferred costs and discount on SBA 7(a) and USDA unguaranteed loans) 

After One Year and 
One Year or Less Through Five Years After Five Years Total 

Fixed rate loans and leases: 

Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture $ 807 $ 44 $ $ 851 
Death Care Management 230 3,290 3,520 
Healthcare 3,912 3,912 
Independent Pharmacies 353 3,454 3,807 
Registered Investment Advisors 1,163 6,204 7,367 
Veterinary Industry 165 5,048 5,213 
Other Industries 15,261 1, 195 17,618 34 .074 

Total 16,068 3,150 39,526 58,744 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 21 3 2 215 
Death Care Management 351 351 
Healthcare 166 166 
Independent Pharmacies 

Registered Investment Advisors 89 89 
Veterinary Industry 

Other Industries 

Total 213 2 606 821 
Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 17 17 
Death Care Managemenl l 1,497 l 1,497 
Healthcare 17,456 17,456 
Independent Pharmacies 

Registered Investment Advisors 1,030 1,030 
Veterinary Industry 9,049 9,049 
Other Industries 525 7,513 8.038 

Total 542 46,545 47,087 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 27 312 5,763 6,102 
Total 27 312 5,763 6,102 

Total fixed rate loans and leases 16,308 4,006 92,440 112,754 
Variable rate loans and leases: 

Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture 702 316 1,405 2,423 
Death Care Management 101 339 9,535 9,975 
Healthcare 397 626 38,366 39,389 
Independent Pharmacies 12 6,854 89,247 96, l 13 
Registered Investment Advisors 4,830 81,573 86,403 
Vete1 inary Industry 526 2,097 38,551 41,174 
Other Industries 4,990 18,356 127,483 150,829 

Total 6,728 33,418 386,160 426,306 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 33,973 33,973 
Death Care Management 2,010 3,758 5,768 
Healthcare 49,604 49,604 
Independent Pharmacies 1,496 1,496 
Registered Investment Advisors 287 287 
Veterinary Industry 13,184 13,184 
Other Industries 1,173 56,947 58. 120 

Total 1,173 2,010 159,249 162,432 
Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 46,700 46,700 
Death Care Management 1,200 1,499 53,185 55,884 
Healthcare 866 108,309 109,175 
Independent Pharmacies 266 37 18,725 19,028 
Registered Investment Advisors 10,759 10,759 
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Veterinary Industry 

Other Industries 

Total 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 

Total 

Total variable rate loans and leases 
Total 

Asset Quality 

At December 31 , 2017 

Remaining Contractual Maturity of Total Held for Investment Loans and Leases 
(Excluding net deferred costs and discount on SBA 7(a) and USDA unguaranteed loans) 

After One Year and 
One Year or Less Through Five Years After Five Years Total 

1,301 869 102,713 104,883 

1,335 1.744 J 23,055 126.134 

4,102 5,015 463,446 472,563 

125 172,670 172,795 

125 172,670 172,795 
12,003 40,568 1,181 ,525 1,234,096 

$ 2831.1 -1-1.57-1 $ 1,273.965 1,346,850 

Management considers asset quality to be of primary importance. A formal loan review function , independent of loan origination, 
is used to identify and monitor problem loans. This function repmts directly to the Audit & Risk Committee of the Board of 
Directors. 

Nonperforming Assets 

The Bank places loans and leases on nonaccrual status when they become 90 days past due as to principal or interest payments, 
or prior to that if management has determined based upon current information available to it that the timely collection of principal 
or interest is not probable. When a loan or lease is placed on nonaccrual status, any interest previously accrued as income but not 
actually collected is reversed and recorded as a reduction ofloan or lease interest and fee income. Typically, collections of interest 
and principal received on a nonaccrual loan or lease are applied to the outstanding principal as determined at the time of collection 
of the loan or lease. 

Troubled debt restructurings occur when, because of economic or legal reasons pertaining to the debtor's financial difficulties, 
debtors are granted concessions that would not otherwise be considered. Such concessions would include, but are not limited to, 
a modification of terms such as a reduction of the interest rate below the current market rate for a loan or lease with similar risk 
characteristics or the waiving of certain financial covenants without corresponding offsetting compensation or additional support. 
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The following table provides information with respectto nonperforming assets and troubled debt restructurings at the dates indicated. 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Nonaccrual loans: 

Total nonperfonning loans (all on nonaccnial) $ 23.480 $ 23,781 $ 12.367 $ 18,692 $ 8,697 

Total accruing loans past due 90 days or more 

Fore closed assets 1,281 1,648 2,666 1,084 773 

Total troubled debt restructurings 10,223 9,856 11 ,021 10,611 9,736 

Less nonaccmal troubled debt restructurings (8,129) (7,688) (8,814) (9,805) (5,781) 

Total performing troubled debt restructurings 2,094 2.168 2,207 806 3,955 

Total nonperforming assets and troubled debt restructurings 26,855 27,597 17,240 20,582 131-t25 

Total nonperforming loans lo total loans and leases held for investment 1.75% 2.62% 4.42% 9.17% 6.15% 

Total nonperforming loans to total assets 0.85% 1.36% 1.17% 2.78% 2.02% 

Total nonperfom1ing assets and troubled debt restructurings to total assets 0.97% 1.57% 1.64% 3.06% 3.12% 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Nonaccrual loans guaranteed by U.S. government: 

Total nonperforming loans guaranteed by the SBA (all on nonaccrual) $ 19,870 $ 18,997 $ 10,330 $ 15,555 $ 6,983 

Total accruing loans past due 90 days or more guaranteed by the SBA 

Foreclosed assets guaranteed by the SBA 1,191 1.402 2,293 713 432 

Total troubled debt restructurings guaranteed by the SBA 7,178 6,723 7,710 8,433 6,139 

Less nonaccrual troubled debt restmcturings guaranteed by the SBA (7,099) (6,602) (7,550) (8,433) (4,814) 

Total performing troubled debt restructurings guaranteed by SBA 79 121 160 1,325 

Total nonpc1·forming assets and troubled debt restructurings 
guaranteed by the BA 2 1,140 20,520 12,783 16,268 8 740 

Total nonperforming I ans not guaranteed by the SBA to total held for 
investment loans and leases 0.27% 0.53% 0.73% 1.54% 1.21% 

Total nonperforming loans not guaranteed by the SBA to total assets 0.13% 0.27% 0.19% 0.47% 0.40% 

Total nonperfonning assr;:lS and troubled debt restructurings not 
guaranteed by the BA to total assets 0.21% 0.40% 0.42% 0.64% 1.09% 

Total nonperforming assets and tToubled debt restructurings at December 31 , 2017 were $26.9 million, which represented a $742 
thousand or 2.7% decrease from December 3 1, 2016. Total nonperforming assets al December 31, 2017 were composed of 
$23 .S million in nonaccrual loans and $1.3 million of foreclosed assets. Of the $26.9 million ofnonperformingassets $21 . 1 million 
carried an SBA guarantee leaving an unguaranteed exposure of$5 .7 million in total nonperforming assets at December 31, 2017. 
The unguaranteed exposure in total nonperforming assets at December 31, 2016 was $7. I mill ion. Un guaranteed exposure relating 
to nonperforming assets at December 31, 2017 decreased by $1.4 million, or 19.2%, compared to December 31, 2016. 

As a percentage of lhe Bank's total capital nonperforming loans represented 7.8% at December J I 2017, compared to 
nonperforming loans of 15.3% of the Bank 's total capital at December 31, 20 I G. his management's beliefthatthe greater magnitude 
of risk resides in the unguarantecd portion of nonperforming loans. Adjusting the ratio to include only the unguaranteed portion 
ofnonperfonning loans as a percent of the Bank s total capital the ratios at December 31 2017 and December 31, 2016 were 1.2% 
and 3.1 %, respectively. 
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As of December 3 I, 2017 and 2016, potential problem loans and leases and impaired loans and leases totaled $76.8 million and 
$64. 1 million, respectively. Risk Grades 5 through 8 represent the spectrum of ori li cized and impaired loans and leases. At 
December 31, 2017, the portion of criticized loans and leases guaranteed by the SBA or USDA totaled $34.7 million resulting in 
unguaranteed exposure risk of $42.1 million or 3 .4% of total held for investment unguaranteed exposure. This compares to total 
criticized and impaired Joans and leases of $64.1 million at December 31, 20 I 6, of which $29.0 million was guaranteed by the 
SBA or USDA. Loan and leases in the Healthcare and Veterinary industries, two of our largest verticals comprise the largest 
ponion of the total p tenlial problem and impaired loans and leases at 30.0% and 27.3% re pectively. A of December 31 2016, 
potential problem and impaired loans and leases were comprised of 30.8% and 32.9% in Heahhcare and Veterinary Industry 
verticals, respectively. The majority of the impaired loans and leases in the Veterinary Industry were originated prior to 20 I 0. The 
Company believes that its underwriting and credit quality standards have improved as the business has matured . o systemic 
issues were identified in the year over year increase in potential problem and impaired loans and leases which were comprised of 
a relatively small number of borrowers in our most mature verticals. 

The Bank does 1101 classify loans and leases that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfall s as impaired. The 
Bank considers an " insignificant period of time ' from payment delay to be a period of90 days or less . The Bank would consider 
a modification for a customer e ·periencing what is expected to be a shorl term event· that has temporarily impacted cash Oow. Th is 
could be due, among other reasons, to illness, weather, impact from a one-time expense, slower than expected start-up, construction 
issues or other short term issues. ln all cases, credit will review the request to determine if the customer is stressed and how the 
event has impacted the ability of the customer to repay the loan or lease long term. To date, rheonly types of short term modifications 
the Bank has given are payment deferrnl and interest only extensions. The Bank does not typically alter the rate or lengthen the 
amortization of the note due to insignificant payment delays. Short term modifications are not classified as troubled debt 
restructurings, or TDRs, because they do not meet the definition set by the applicable FDIC and accounting standards. 

Management endeavors to be proactive in its approach to identify and resolve problem loans and leases and is focused on working 
with the borrowers and guarantors of these loans and leases to provide loan and lease modifications when warranted. Management 
implements a proactive approach to identifying and classifying loans and leases as criticized, Risk Grade 5. For example, at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, Risk Grade 5 loans and leases totaled $37.0 million and $32. l million, respectively. The increase 
in Risk Grnde 5 loans and leases from December 31, 2016 to 2017 was principally confined to two or our more seasoned verticals· 
Healthcare ($5.1 million) and Agriculture ($3.6 million); these increases were offset by decreases in Veterinary ($3.1 million) and 
Independent Pharmacie $1. I million). The underlying cause of the increase in Risk Grade 5 loans and leases from December 31 
2016 co 2017 was ongoing maturity oflarger existing verticals. At December 31 2017, approximately 99.9% ofloans and leases 
classified as Risk Grade 5 are performing with no current payments past due. While the level of nonperforming assets nuctuates 
in response to changing economic and market conditions, the relative size and composition of the loan and lease portfolio, and 
management' s degree of success in resolving problem assets, management believes that a proactive approach to early identification 
and intervention is critical to successfully managing a small business loan and lease po11folio. 

Interest income that would have been recorded for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 20 I 5 had non accrual loans and 
leases been current throughout the period amounted to $1. I million, $622 thousand, and $794 thousand, respectively. 

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses 

The allowance for loan and lease losses ("ALLL"), a material estimate which could change significantly in the near-term in the 
event of rapidly deteriorating credit quality, is established through a provision for loan and lease losses charged to earnings to 
account for losses that are inherent in the loan and lease portfolio and estimated to occur, and is maintained at a level that management 
considers appropriate to absorb losses in the loan and lease portfolio. Loan and lease losses are charged against the ALLL when 
management believes that the collectability of the principal loan or lease balance is unlikely. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are 
credited to the ALLL when received. 

Judgment in determining the adequacy oft he ALLL is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant 
revision as more information becomes available and as situations and information change. 

The ALLL is evaluated on a quarterly basis by management and takes into consideration such factors as changes in the nature and 
volume of the loan and lease portfolio, overall portfolio quality, review of specific problem loans and leases and current economic 
conditions and trends that may affect borrowers' ability to repay. 
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Estimated credit losses should meet the criteria for accrual ofa loss contingency,i.e., a provision to theALLL, set forth in accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). Methodology for determining the ALLL is generally 
based on GAAP, the Interagency Policy Statement on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses and other regulatory and accounting 
pronouncements. The ALLL is determined by the sum of three separate components: (i) the impaired loan or lease component, 
which addresses specific reserves for impaired loans and leases; (ii) the general reserve component, which addresses reserves for 
pools of homogeneous loans and leases; and (iii) an unallocated reserve component (if any) based on management's judgment and 
experience. The loan and lease pools and impaired loans and leases are mutually exclusive; any loan or lease that is impaired 
should be excluded from its homogenous pool for purposes of that pool's reserve calculation, regardless of the level of impairment. 

During the second quaiter of 2016, the Company implemented enhancements to the methodology for estimating the allowance 
for loan and lease losses, including refinements to the measurement of qua I itative factors in the estimation process. Management 
believes these enhancements will improve the precision of the process for estimating the allowance. These revisions resulted in a 
$390 thousand reduction in the provision for loan and lease losses during the second quarter of 2016. 

The ALLL of $18.2 million at December 31, 2016 increased by $6.0 million, or 32.8%, to $24.2 million at December 31, 2017. 
The ALLL, as a percentage of loans and leases held for investment, amounted to 1.8% at December 3 I , 2017 and 2.0% at 
December 31, 2016. The increase in the allowance for loan and lease losses was largely attributable to continued growth in the 
loan and lease portfolio and charge-off experience, as addressed in the Provision for Loan and Lease Losses section of Results of 
Operations. General reserves as a percentage of non-impaired loans and leases amounted to 1.62% at December 31, 2017 as 
compared to I. 70% at December 31, 2016. See the aforementioned Provision for Loan and Lease Losses section of earlier Results 
of Operations section of this Report for a discussion of the Company's charge-off experience. 

Actual past due loans and leases and loan and lease charge-offs have increased as the portfolios of mature verticals continue to 
season. Management continues to work to improve asset quality. Management believes theALLL of$24.2 million at December 31, 
2017 is appropriate in light of the risk inherent in the loan and lease portfolio . Management's judgments are based on numerous 
assumptions about current events that it believes to be reasonable, but which may or may not be valid. Thus, there can be no 
assurance that loan and lease losses in future periods will not exceed the current ALLL or that future increases in the ALLL will 
not be required. No assurance can be given that management's ongoing evaluation of the loan and lease portfolio in light ofchanging 
economic conditions and other relevant circumstances will not require significant future additions to the ALLL, thus adversely 
affecting the Company's operating results. Additional information on theALLL is presented in Note 5 to the consolidated financial 
statements included with this Report. 
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The following table sets forth the breakdown of the allowance for loan and lease losses by loan and lease category at the dates indicated. 

2017 2016 2015 

%, of 0
/. of % of 

Loans and Loans and Loans and 
Leases in Leases in Leases in 

Total Category Total Category Category 
Loans of Total Loans of Total Total of Total 
and •;., of Total Loans and and '% of Total Loans and Loans and 0

/. of Total Loans and 
Allowance Leases Allowance Leases Allowance Leases Allowance Leases Allowance Leases Allowance Leases ---

Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture s 56 $ 3,274 0 23% 0.24% s 33 $ 1,714 018% 0, 19% s 5 $ 30 0.07% 0.01% 

Death Care Management 47 13,495 0 20 1.00 40 9,684 0 22 l 06 3[ 4,832 0,42 l.72 

Healtl1care 2,030 43,301 8 39 3.21 1,922 37,270 JO 56 4, 10 684 15,240 9.22 5 44 

Independent Pharmacies 1,694 99,920 7 ,00 7.42 873 83,677 4 79 9 21 724 41 ,588 9.76 14.86 

Registered Investment Advisors 1,234 93,770 5,10 6 96 1,907 68,335 [0 47 7 52 220 18,358 2.97 6.56 

Veterinary Industry 632 46,387 2.6] 3.45 834 38,930 4 58 4 29 555 21,579 7.48 7.7 J 

Other lndusb ies 5,058 184,903 20,91 13.73 2,804 94,836 15 40 10.44 547 3,230 7.38 1.15 

Total 10,751 485,050 44.44 36.01 8,413 334,446 46.20 36.81 2,766 104,857 37.30 37.45 

Construction & Development 

Agricultme 494 34,188 2 04 2.54 635 32,372 3.49 3.56 81 J l 1,351 I0.94 4.05 

Death Care Management 15 6,1 [9 0 06 0.45 14 3,956 0 08 0.44 9 769 0.12 0 27 

Healthcare 359 49,770 l 48 3.70 [22 30,467 0,67 3.35 152 7,231 2.05 2 58 

Independent Pharmacies 5 1,496 0.02 0. II 7 2,013 0.04 0.22 I 101 0.01 0 04 

Registe1ed Investment Advisors I 376 0.01 0 03 6 294 0.03 0.03 7 378 0.G9 0 14 

Veterinary lndusny 46 13 ,184 0,19 0 98 59 11,514 0.32 l.27 29 3,834 0,39 J 37 

Other Industries 1,110 58,120 4,59 4.32 850 31,715 4.67 3 49 55 658 0 74 0 24 

Total 2,030 [63,253 8.39 12. 13 1,693 112,331 9.30 12.36 1,064 24,322 14.34 8.69 

Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 484 46,717 2 00 3.47 108 5,591 0.59 0 62 129 1,863 I 74 0 67 

Death Care Management 612 67,381 2 53 5.00 410 52,510 2.25 5 78 99 20.327 1.34 7 26 

Healthcare 1,128 126,63 1 4 67 9.40 693 I 14,281 3.81 12.58 561 37,684 7.57 13 46 

lndependent Phannacies 425 19.028 I 76 1.41 434 15, 151 2.38 167 33 7,298 0.45 2 61 

Registered Investment Advisors 50 11,789 0 21 0 88 220 I 1,462 1 21 1.26 30 2.808 0 40 1 00 

Veterinary Industry 2,470 113,932 10 21 8.46 2,230 102,906 12.25 11.33 1,302 59,999 17 56 21.43 

Other Industries 4.011 134,172 16 58 9.96 1,802 46,245 9.90 5.09 332 4,752 4 48 1.70 

Total 9,180 519,650 37.96 38.58 5,897 348,146 32.39 38.33 2,486 134,731 33.54 48.13 

Commercial Land 

Agriculnire 2,229 178,897 9.21 13.28 2,206 I 13,569 12 11 12 50 l,099 16,036 14 82 5 73 

Total 2,229 178,897 9.21 13.28 2,206 113,569 12.11 12.50 1,099 16,036 14.82 5.73 

Total s 24,190 $1 ,346,850 100.00% 100.00% s 18,209 S 908,492 100.00% I00.00% 5 7,4 15 s 279,946 100.00% 100.00% 
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2014 2013 

o/o of %of 
Loans and Loans and 
Leases in Leases in 

Total Category Total Category 
Loans of Total Loans of Total 
and •;. of Total Loans and and 9/o of Total Loans and 

Allowance Leases Allowance Leases Allowance Leases Allowance Leases ---
Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture $ - $ - -% -% $ - s - -% _01o 

Death Care Management 2 3,603 0 05 1.77 2 1,782 0 07 I 25 

Healthcare 875 12,319 19 85 6_06 334 8,739 12 27 6 I 5 

Independent Pharmacies 336 34.079 7 62 16 75 132 24.026 4.85 16 91 

Registered lnveshnent Advisors 7 9,660 0 16 4.75 74 2,817 2.72 I 98 

Veterinary Industry 114 20,902 2 59 IO 27 304 19,978 I 1.16 14 06 

Other Industries 35 494 0 79 0.24 16 17 0.59 0 OJ 

Total 1,369 81,057 31.06 39.84 862 57,359 31.66 40.36 

Construction & Development 

Agriculture 362 3,910 8.2 1 1.92 

Death Care Management I 92 0,02 0 05 10 989 0.37 0 70 

Healthcare 145 2,957 3 29 L45 242 4,997 8,89 3.52 

Independent Pharmacies 4 215 009 0 JI 2 IOI O.o7 O.o7 

Registered Investment Advisors 

Veterinary Industry 27 2.207 0.61 L09 96 4.199 3.52 2 95 

Other Industries 47 145 1.07 O.o7 

Total 586 9,526 13.29 4.69 350 10,286 12.85 7.24 

Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 25 259 0,57 0.13 

Death Care Management 77 18,879 1.75 9.28 60 11.668 2 20 8 21 

Healthca,e 794 26,173 18.02 12.86 320 11 ,129 I I 75 7,83 

Independent Pharmacies 32 4.750 0.73 2.33 54 3_490 I 98 2.46 

Registered Investment Advisors - 2,161 - 1.06 4 171 0 15 0. 12 

Veterinary Industry 1,122 57,934 25 46 28.48 965 47,896 35 44 33 70 

Other Industries 241 1.464 547 0 72 108 107 3 97 0 08 

Total 2,291 111,620 52.00 54.86 1,511 74,461 55.49 52.40 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 161 1,248 3 65 0 61 

Total 161 1,248 3.65 0.61 --
Total $ 4,407 $ 203,451 J00.00% 100.00% $ 2,723 $ 142,106 100.00% 100.00% 
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Analysis of Loan and Lease Loss Experience. The following table sets fo1th an analysis of the allowance for loan and lease losses 
for the years indicated. 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses: 

Beginning Balance $ 18,209 $ 7,415 $ 4,407 $ 2,723 $ 5,108 

Provision 9,536 12,536 3,806 2,793 (858) 

Charge-offs: 

Commercial & Industrial 

Healthcare (1 ,367) (1,137) (44) (209) (419) 

Independent Pharmacies (882) (6) (274) (294) 

Registered Investment Advisors (236) 

Veterinary Industry (132) (321) (660) (195) (269) 

Total (2,617) (1,464) (978) (698) (688) 

Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management (135) 

Healthcare (14) (29) (25) (76) 

Independent Pharmacies (541) 

Veterinary Industry (622) (707) (135) (263) (819) 

Other Industries (92) (365) 

Total (1,177) (707) (164) (515) (1,260) 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture (58) (63) 

Total (58) (63) 

Total charge-offs (3 852) (2,234) (1,142) (1,213) (1 ,948) 

Recoveries: 

Commercial & Industrial 

Healthcare 79 104 126 17 2 

Independent Pharmacies 3 40 70 

Veterinary Industry 19 342 17 15 25 

Total 101 486 213 32 27 

Commercial Real Estate 

Independent Pharmacies 170 

Veterinary Industry 21 6 131 72 32 

Other Industries 1 

Total 191 6 131 72 33 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 5 

Total 5 

Total recoveries 297 492 344 104 60 

Net transfer to loans held for sale 361 

Ending Balance $ 24 190 $ 18 209 7 415 $ 4,407 $ 2,723 
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Investment Securities 

Investment securities totaled $93.4 million at December 31, 2017, an increase of$22.3 million, or 31.4%, compared to $71.1 
million at December 31, 2016. The increase in the investment portfolio for 2017 was primarily related to purchases of$16.0 million 
in mortgage-backed securities for purposes of complying with the Community Reinvestment Act and purchases of $12. I million 
in mortgage-backed securities to increase cashflow and yield. In addition, the Company purchased $14.9 million in US government 
agencies to replace $10.0 million of maturities in US government agency securities. There was also $78 thousand of dividend 
reinvestment in the 504 Fund mutual fund during 2017. 

The investment securities portfolio consists entirely of available-for-sale securities. The Company purchases securities for the 
investment securities portfolio to manage interest rate risk, ensure a stable source of liquidity and to provide a steady source of 
income in excess of cost of funds. 

The following table sets forth the amortized cost and fair values of the securities portfolio at the dates indicated. 

2017 2016 2015 

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair 
Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value 

Available-for-sale securities: 

US government agencies $ 22,778 $ 22,624 $ 17,803 $ 17,823 $ 21,992 $ 22,068 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 70,167 68,696 52,301 51,273 30,131 29,758 

Mutual fund 2,090 2,035 2,012 1,960 1,951 1,936 

Total available-for-sale $ 95,035 $ 93,355 $ 72,116 $ 71,056 $ 54,074 $ 53,762 

Total securities $ 95,035 $ 93,355 $ 72,116 $ 71,056 $ 54,074 $ 53,762 

The $93.4 million ofUS government agencies, residential mortgage-backed securities and mutual fund in the investment portfolio 
as of December 31, 2017 was spread across seven different issuers . There are forty-two unique securities that have an average fair 
value of$2.2 million, with the largest single security having a fair value of $6.2 million as of December 31, 2017. 

At December 31, 2017, the duration of the overall available-for-sale securities portfolio, excluding the mutual fund, was 
approximately 6.21 years. 

The following table sets forth the stated maturities and weighted average yields of investment securities at December 31, 2017. 
Certain mortgage related securities have adjustable interest rates and will reprice annually within the various maturity ranges 
excluding mutual funds. These repricing schedules are not reflected in the tables below. 

After One After Five 
Within One Year to Five Years to Ten Years After Ten Years 

Total 
Amortized Amortized Average Amortized Average Amortized Average Amortized Average 

Cost Cost Yield Cost Yield Cost Yield Cost Yield 

Available-for-sale 
securities: 

US government securities $ 22,778 $ 6,323 1.32% $ 16,455 1.69% $ -o/o $ -% 

Residential mo1tgage-
backed securities 70,167 6,815 2.40 63,352 3. 18 

Total available-for-sale 
secunt1es $ 92,945 $ 6,323 l 32% $ 16,455 169% $ 6,815 2.40% $ 63,352 . IS%· 

Total securities $ 92,945 $ 6,323 1.32% $ 16,455 1.69% $ 6,815 2.40% $ 63,352 3 18% 

68 



Deposits 

The following table sets forth the composition of deposits. 

2017 2016 2015 

Total Percent Total Percent Total Percent 

Period end: 

Noninterest-bearing demand deposits $ 57,868 2.56% $ 27,990 1.88% $ 21,502 2.67% 

Interest-bearing deposits: 

Interest-bearing checking 36.978 1.64 27.402 1.85 7.937 0.99 

Money market 188,146 8.32 489,978 32.99 367,573 45.67 

Savings 696,989 30.84 

Time deposits 1,280,282 56.64 939.706 63.28 407,776 50.67 

Total 2,202,395 97.44 I 457.086 98.12 783,286 97.33 

Total period end deposits $ 2,260,263 100.00% $ 1.485,076 100.00% $ 804,788 100.00% 

2017 2016 2015 

, ·cragc Average A,•crage 
Total Percent Rate Total Percent Rate Total Percent Rate 

Average: 

Non interest-bearing 
demand deposits $ 40,831 2.21% -% $ 21.665 1.84% -% $ 15,131 2.12% -% 

Interest-bearing deposits: 

Interest-bearing checking 39,213 2.12 0.65 20,410 1.73 0.57 6,604 0.93 0.59 

Money market 413,648 22.38 0.98 423,035 35.93 0.76 347,429 48.74 0.73 

Savings 193,083 10.45 1.39 

Time deposits 1,161,651 62.84 1.48 712.327 60.50 1.45 343,625 48.21 1.39 

Total average deposits $1,848,426 100.00% 1.34% 1.177.437 100.00% 1.18% $7 12,789 100.00% 1.06% 

Deposits increased to $2.26 billion at December 31, 2017 from $1.49 billion at December., I, 2016 an increase of$775.2 million, 
or 52.2%. This increase was primarily due lo the growth of the Company s customer base in the new savings product enhanced 
by a nationwide marketing campaign with attractive rates. Nonintercst-bearing deposits increased $29.9 million. or I 06.7%, during 
ibis period, and interest-bearing deposits increased $745.3 million, or 51 .2% during the same period. The growth in accounts 
during 2017 was primarily in avings and Lime deposi ts although non interest-bearing checking increased sig11ificantly primarily 
through increased trust account deposits. Long-term wholesale funding contributed to the time deposit increases. 

In early 20 l 5, the Company launched a nationwide marketing campaign through a rate listing website and also tarted allowing 
customers to open accounts on line. This nationwide deposit campaign was primarily responsible for the large increase in deposits 
during 2015. Throughout 20 I 6, the ompany continued its nationwide depos il advertising which accounted for the time deposit 
increases and !$ained additional trust account deposits . Wholesale funding contributed to the money market deposit increases. 

At December 3 1. 20 l 7 the aggregate balance of lime deposit accounts individually equal to or greater than $100 thousand totaled 
$769.5 million . Al December "' I, 20 17, 83."'% of all time deposit accounts in amounts equal to or greater than $100 thousand 
were scheduled to mature within one year. The maturity profile of time deposits at December 31, 2017 is as follows: 

More than More than More than 
Three months three months six months to twelve 

Maturity Period or less to six months twelve months months 

Time deposits, $ I 00,000 and over $ 368,747 $ 136,004 $ 135,964 $ 128,799 

Other time deposits 117,668 85,388 48,393 259,319 

Total time deposits $ 486,415 $ 221,392 $ 184,357 $ 388,118 
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Borrowings 

On October 20, 2017, the Company entered into a revolving line of credit of $20.0 million with an unaffiliated commercial bank. 
The line of credit is unsecured and accrues interest at 30 day LIB OR plus I. 750% for a term of 12 months. Payments are interest 
only with all principal and accrued interest due on October 19, 2018. The terms of this loan require the Company to maintain 
minimum capital and debt service coverage ratios. There is no outstanding balance and $20.0 million ofavailable credit is remaining 
on this line of credit at December 3 I, 2017. 

Total Jong-term borrowings decreased $1.3 million at December 31, 2017 from December 31, 2016, as a result of the following: 

On September 11, 2014, the Company financed the construction ofan additional building located on the Company's Tiburon Drive 
campus using a $24.0 million construction line of credit with an unaffiliated commercial bank, secured by both properties at its 
Tiburon Drive main office location. At December 31 , 2017, the construction line was fully advanced with $23 .0 million outstanding 
on the construction line of credit. Payments were interest only through September 11, 2016 at a fixed rate of 3 .95% for a term of 
84 months. Monthly principal and interest payments of$ l 46 thousand began in October 2016 with all principal and accrued interest 
due on September 1 I, 2021. There is no remaining available credit on this construction line at December 3 I, 2017. 

On February 23, 2015 the Company transferred two related party loans to an unaffiliated commercial bank in exchange for $4.7 
million . The exchange price equated to the unpaid principal balance plus accrued but uncollected interest at the time of transfer. 
The terms of the transfer agreement with the unaffiliated commercial bank identified the transaction as a secured borrowing for 
accounting purposes. Interest accrues at prime plus I% with monthly principal and interest payments over a term of 60 months. 
The interest rate at December 31, 2017 was 5.25%. The maturity date is October 5, 2019. The pledged collateral is classified in 
other assets with a fair value of$3.6 million at December 31, 2017. The underlying loans carry a Risk Grade of3 and are current 
with no delinquencies. 

On September 18, 2014, the Company entered into a revolving line ofcredit of$8.l million with an unaffiliated commercial bank. 
On April 18, 2017, the company renewed and increased the revolving line of credit to $25.0 million, with no outstanding balance 
at December 31, 2017. The line of credit is unsecured and accrues interest at prime minus 0.50% for a term of24 months. Payments 
are interest only with all principal and accrued interest due on April 30, 2019. The terms of this loan require the Company to 
maintain minimum capital, liquidity and Texas ratios. There is $25 .0 million of remaining available credit on this line of credit at 
December 31, 2017. 

Small Business Lending Fund 

In April 2011, the Company elected to participate in the Small Business Lending Fund program, or the SBLF program, whereby 
the U.S. Treasury agreed to purchase $6.8 million in senior debt securities issued by the Company. The SBLF funds were received 
on September 13, 20 I I, with the first interest payment due on January I, 2012. During the initial interest period the applicable 
interest rate was set at 1.5%. For all remaining interest periods, the interest rate was determined based on a formula which 
encompassed the percentage change in qualified lending as well as a non-qualifying portion percentage. This rate could range 
from 1.5% to 10.8%, with interest payable quarterly in arrears. On December 1, 2015, the Company redeemed the SBLF Securities 
by repaying the U.S. Treasury in full. 
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Liquidity Management 

Liquidity management refers to the ability to meet day-to-day cash flow requirements based primarily on activity in loan and 
deposit accounts of the Company's customers. Liquidity is immediately available from four major sources: (a) cash on hand and 
on deposit at other banks; (b) the outstanding balance offederal funds sold; ( c) the market value ofunpledged investment securities; 
and (d) availability under lines of credit. At December 31, 2017, the total amount of these four items was $674.2 million, or 24.4% 
of total assets, a decrease of 3.8% of total assets from $495 .8 million, or 28 .2% of total assets, at December 31, 2016. 

Loans and other assets are funded primarily by loan sales wholesale deposits and core deposits. To dale an increasing retail deposit 
base and a table amount of brokered deposits have been adequate to meet loan obligations, whil e maintaining the desired level 
of immediate liquidity. Additionally, an investment securities portfolio is available for both immediate and secondmy liquidity 
purposes. 

At December 31, 2017, none of the investment securities portfolio was pledged to secure public deposits or pledged to retail 
repurchase agreements, while $2.5 million was pledged for uninsured trust assets and $100 thousand was pledged for trust activities 
in the State of Ohio, leaving $90.8 million available to be pledged as collateral. In addition, $1 .5 million held in a Money Market 
account at another bank was pledged for ACH returned item processing related to online deposit account openings. 

Asset/Liability Management and Interest Rate Sensitivity 

One of the primary objectives of asset/liability management is to maximize the net interest margin while minimizing the earnings 
risk associated with changes in interest rates. One method used to manage interest rate sensitivity is to measure, over various time 
periods, the interest rate sensitivity positions, or gaps. This method, however, addresses only the magnitude ohiming differences 
and does not address earnings or market value. Therefore, management uses an earnings simulation model to prepare, on a regular 
basis, earnings projections based on a range of interest rate scenarios to more accurately measure interest rate risk . For more 
information, see Item 7A of this Report. 

The Company's balance sheet is asset-sensitive with a total cumulative gap position of3.92% at December 31, 2017. During the 
year ending December 31, 2017, the production of variable rate loans outpaced the variable deposits that changed the portfolio 
mix to slightly more asset-sensitive. An asset-sensitive position means that net interest income will generally move in the same 
direction as interest rates. For instance, if interest rates increase, net interest income can be expected to increase, and if interest 
rates decrease, net interest income can be expected to decrease. The Company attempts to mitigate interest rate risk with the 
majority of assets and liabilities being short-term, adjustable rate instruments. The quarterly revaluation adjustment to the servicing 
asset, however, adjusts in an opposite direction to interest rate changes. Asset/liability sensitivity is primarily derived from the 
prime-based loans that adjust as the prime interest rate changes in conjunction with the longer duration of indeterminate term 
deposits. 

Capital 

The maintenance of appropriate levels of capital is a management priority and is monitored on a regular basis. The Company's 
principal goals related to the maintenance of capital are to provide adequate capital to support the Company's risk profile consistent 
with the risk appetite approved by the Board of Directors; provide financial flexibility to support future growth and client needs; 
comply with relevant laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance; achieve optimal credit ratings for the Company and its 
subsidiaries· and provide a competitive return to shareholders. Management regularly monitors the capital position of the Company 
on both a consolidated and bank level basis. In this regard management ' s goal is to maintain capital at levels that are in excess of 
the regulatory "well capitalized' levels. Risk-based capital ratios, which include Tier I Capital Total Capital and Common Equity 
Tier I Capital, are calculated based on regulatory guidance related to the measurement of capital and risk-weighted assets. 
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Capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are presented in the table below. 

Minimum To Be 
Well Capitalized 
Under Prompt 

Minimum Capital Corrective Action 
Actual Requirement Provisions <1> 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio 

Consolidated - December 31, 2017 

Common Equity Tier 1 (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 390,816 17.81% $ 98,764 4.50% NIA NIA 
Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 415,006 18.91% $ 175,580 8.00% NIA NIA 
Tier I Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $390,816 17.81% $131,685 6.00% NIA NIA 
Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) $390,816 15.50% $ 100,828 4.00% NIA NIA 
Bank-December 31, 2017 

Common Equity Tier I (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $277,943 12.89% $ 97,060 4.50% $140,197 6.50% 

Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 302,385 14.02% $172,551 8.00% $215,688 10.00% 

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 277,943 12.89% $129,413 6.00% $172,551 8.00% 

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) $ 277,943 11.36% $ 97,864 4.00% $ 122,330 5.00% 

Consolidated- December 31, 2016 
Common Equity Tier 1 (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 206,670 15.31% $ 60,732 4.50% NIA NIA 
Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 223,559 16.56% $ 107,968 8.00% NIA NIA 
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 206,670 15.31% $ 80,976 6.00% NIA NIA 
Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) $ 206,670 12.00% $ 68,919 4.00% NIA NIA 
Bank-December 31, 2016 

Common Equity Tier 1 (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 139,078 10.68% $ 58,579 4.50% $ 84,615 6.50% 

Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 155,423 11.94% $104,141 8.00% $ 130,177 10.00% 

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 139,078 10.68% $ 78,106 6.00% $ 104,141 8.00% 

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) $ 139,078 8.41% $ 66,142 4.00% $ 82,678 5.00% 

Consolidated - December 31, 2015 

Common Equity Tier I (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $191 ,366 23.22% $ 37,087 4.50% NIA NIA 
Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $198,781 24.12% $ 65,933 8.00% NIA NIA 
Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 191 ,366 23 .22% $ 49,450 6.00% NIA NIA 
Tier I Capital (to Average Assets) $ 191 ,366 18.36% $ 41 ,702 4.00% NIA NIA 
Bank - December 31, 2015 

Common Equity Tier I (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 96,056 12.28% $ 35,207 4.50% $ 50,855 6.50% 

Total Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 103,471 13.23% $ 62,591 8.00% $ 78,238 10.00% 

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 96,056 12.28% $ 46,943 6.00% $ 62,591 6.00% 

Tier 1 Capital (to Average Assets) $ 96,056 9.75% $ 39,398 4.00% $ 49,248 5.00% 

(1) Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable at the bank holding company level. 
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Contractual Obligations 

The following table presents the Company's significant fixed and determinable contractual obligations by payment date as of 
December 31, 2017. The payment amounts represent those amounts contractually due to the recipient. The table excludes liabilities 
recorded where management cannot reasonably estimate the timing of any payments that may be required in connection with these 
liabilities. 

Parments Due by Period 

Less than One to Three to More Than 
Total One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years 

Contractual Obligations 

Deposits without stated maturity $ 979,981 $ 979,981 $ $ $ 

Time deposits 1,280,282 892,164 222,361 89,683 76,074 

Long term b01Towings 26,564 853 5,386 20,325 

Operating lease obligations 2,836 964 1.173 469 230 

Total $ 2,289,663 $ 1,873,962 $ 228.920 $ 110.477 $ 76,304 

As ofDecember 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had commitments for on-balance sheet instruments in the amount of$3 .5 million 
and $4.9 million, respectively. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

In the normal course of operations, the Company engages in a variety of financial transactions that, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements. These 
transactions involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate and liquidity risk. Such transactions are used primarily 
to manage customers' requests for funding and take the form of loan or investment commitments, lines of credit and letters of 
credit. 

The contractual amounts of commitments to extend credit represent the amounts of potential accounting loss should the contract 
be fully drawn upon, the customer defaults and any existing collateral has no value. The Company uses the same credit policies 
in making commitments and conditional obligations as the Company does for on-balance sheet instruments. Financial instruments 
whose contract amounts represent credit risk at December 3 I, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows : 

Commitments to extend credit (I) 

Standby letters of credit 

Solar purchase commitments 

Airplane purchase agreement commitments 

Total commitments 

$ 

$ 

2017 

1,701,137 $ 

2,298 

106,921 

25,450 

1,835,806 $ 

2016 2015 

1,342,271 $ 737,572 

343 

21,500 

J,364,114 $ 737,572 

(I) Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition 
established in the contract. Commitments may require payment ofa fee and generally have fixed expiration dates or other 
termination clauses. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and 
judgments that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. The Company bases estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable 
under current circumstances, results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of ce1tain assets and 
liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Estimates are evaluated on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 
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Accounting policies, as described in detail in the notes to the Company's consolidated financial statements, are an integral part of 
the Company's consolidated financial statements.A thorough understanding of these accounting policies is essential when reviewing 
the Company's reported results of operations and financial position. Management believes that the critical accounting policies and 
estimates listed below require the Company to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments about matters that are inherently 
uncertain. 

Determination of the allowance for loan and lease losses; 

Valuation of servicing assets; 

Income taxes; 

Restricted stock unit awards with market price conditions; 

Valuation of foreclosed assets; 

Business combinations and goodwill; and 

Unconsolidated joint ventures. 

Changes in these estimates that are likely to occur from period to period, or the use of different estimates that the Company could 
have reasonably used in the current period, would have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations 
or liquidity. 

Non-GAAP Measures 

Some of the financial measures included in our selected historical consolidated financial data and elsewhere in this Annual Report 
are not measures of financial performance recognized by GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures are: "tangible shareholders' 
equity;" "tangible assets;" "tangible shareholders' equity to tangible assets;" "tangible book value per share;" "efficiency ratio;" 
"non-GA AP net income;" "noninterest income, as adjusted;" "provision for loan and lease losses, as adjusted;" "noninterest expense, 
as adjusted;" and "income tax expense, as adjusted." Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures in its analysis of the 
Company's performance. 

"Tangible shareholders' equity" is total shareholders' equity less goodwill and other intangible assets. Management has 
not considered loan servicing rights as an intangible asset for purposes of this calculation. 

"Tangible assets" is total assets less goodwill and other intangible assets. Management has not considered loan servicing 
rights as an intangible asset for purposes of this calculation. 

"Tangible shareholders' equity to tangible assets" is defined as the ratio of shareholders' equity less goodwill and other 
intangible assets, divided by total assets less goodwill and other intangible assets. Management believes this measure is 
important because it shows relative changes from period to period in equity and total assets, each exclusive of changes 
in intangible assets. Management has not considered loan servicing rights as an intangible asset for purposes of this 
calculation. 

"Tangible book value per share" is defined as total equity reduced by goodwill and other intangible assets divided by 
total common shares outstanding. Management believes this measure is important because it shows changes from period 
to period in book value per share exclusive of changes in intangible assets. Management has not considered loan servicing 
rights as an intangible asset for purposes of this calculation. 

"Efficiency ratio" is defined as total noninterest expense divided by the sum ofnet interest income and noninterest income 
less gain (loss) on sale of securities. Management believes this measure is important as an indicator of productivity because 
it shows the amount of non interest expense that was required to generate a dollar ofrevenue. While the efficiency ratio 
is a measure of productivity, its value reflects the unique attributes of the "high-touch business model" the Company 
employs. 
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"Non-GAAP net income" is defined as net income adjusted to exclude significant non-routine sources of income and 
uses of expenses and an estimated corporate income tax expense across all periods being compared. Management believes 
these measures are important as they allow for an evaluation of the core profitability of the Company's business. 

"Noninterest income, as adjusted" is defined as noninterest income adjusted to exclude significant non-routine sources 
of income, including the gain on contribution to equity method investment and a loss associated with the 2016 renewable 
energy tax credit investment. Management believes these measures are important as they allow for an evaluation of the 
core profitability of the Company's business. 

"Provision for loan and lease losses, as adjusted" is defined as provision for loan and lease losses adjusted to exclude 
significant non-routine sources of provision, including provision for loans reclassified from held for sale to held for 
investment . Management believes these measures are important as they allow for an evaluation of the core profitability 
of the Company's business. 

"Noninterest expense, as adjusted" is defined as noninterest expense adjusted to exclude significant non-routine sources 
of expenses, including stock based compensation expense ofrestricted stock awards for key employee retention with an 
effective date of May 24, 2016, merger costs associated with the Reltco acquisition and Apiture investment, trade-in loss 
on an aircraft and a contract modification for Reltco. Other non-routine sources of noninterest expense included 
impairments of: an aircraft held for sale, goodwill and other intangibles and the 2016 renewable energy tax credit 
investment. Management believes these measures are important as they allow for an evaluation of the core profitability 
of the Company's business. 

"Income tax (benefit) expense, as adjusted" is defined as income tax expense adjusted to exclude significant non-routine 
sources of expense or income, as discussed above, the impact ofrevaluing the Company's net deferred tax liability as a 
result of reduced federal tax rates arising from the December 22, 2017 Tax Act legislation, other renewable energy tax 
expense and renewable energy tax credits arising from the 2016 investment. Management believes these measures are 
important as they allow for an evaluation of the core profitability of the Company's business. 

The Company believes these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information to management and investors that is 
supplementary to the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows computed in accordance with GAAP; however, the 
Company acknowledges that non-GAAP financial measures have a number of limitations. As such, you should not view these 
measures as a substitute for results determined in accordance with GAAP, and they are not necessarily comparable to non-GAAP 
financial measures that other companies use. The following table provides a reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures 
to the most closely related GAAP measure. 
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Years Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

Total shareholders' equity $ 436,933 $ 222,847 $ 199,488 

Less: 

Goodwill 

Other intangible assets 4,264 

Tangible shareholders' equity (a) $ 432.669 $ 222,847 $ 199,488 

Shares outstanding ( c) 39,895,583 34,253,602 34,172,899 

Total assets $ 2,758,474 $ 1,755,261 $ 1,052,622 

Less: 

Goodwill 

Other intangible assets 4,264 

Tangible assets (b) $ 2,754,210 $ 1,755,261 $ 1,052,622 

Tangible shareholders' equity to tangible assets (a/b) 15.71% 12.70% 18.95% 

Tangible book value per share (a/c) 10.85 6.51 5.84 

Efficiency ratio: 

Noninterest expense (d) $ 143,165 $ 106,445 $ 71,715 

Net interest income 78,034 42,649 25,589 

Noninterest income 172,921 93,539 84,328 

Less: gain (loss) on sale of securities 13 

Adjusted operating revenue (e) $ 250,955 $ 136 187 $ I 09.904 

Efficiency ratio (d/e) 57.05% 78.16% 65.25% 
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Years Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

Reconciliation of net income to non-GAAP net income adjusted for 
non-routine income and expenses: 

Net income attributable to Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. $ 100,499 $ 13,773 $ 20,625 

Gain on sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate (3,782) 

Provision for loans reclassified as held for investment 4,023 

Gain on contribution to equity method investment (68,000) 

Stock based compensation ex pense for restricted stock awards with 
an effective date of May 24 20 16 as discussed in Note l O of the 
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial tatements included in 
our March 31, 2016 Form 10-Q 1,370 8,973 

Merger costs associated with Reltco acquisition and Apiture 
investment 2,874 

Trade-in loss on aircraft 206 

Impairment charge taken on aircraft held for sale 1,422 

Impairment expense on goodwill and other intangibles 3,648 

Contract modification ofReltco 1,600 

Renewable energy tax credit investment income, impairment and loss 690 3,239 

Income tax effects and adjustments for non-GAAP items* 23,045 (7,062) 1,513 

Deferred tax liability revaluation (18,921) 

Other renewable energy tax expense 176 176 

Renewable energy tax credit (4,396) 

Non-GAAP net income $ 47.187 $ 20,148 $ 18.356 
•Estimated at 40 0% 

Earnings per share: 

Basic $ 1.29 $ 0.59 $ 0.59 

Diluted $ 1.25 $ 0.57 $ 0.57 

Weighted-average shares outstanding: 

Basic 36,592,893 34,202,168 31,079,032 

Diluted 37,859,535 35,086,959 31,973 ,146 

Reconciliation of financial statement line items as reported to adjusted 
for non-routine income and expenses: 

Noninterest income, as reported $ 172,921 $ 93,539 $ 84,328 

Gain on sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate (3,782) 

Gain on contribution to equity method investment (68,000) 

Renewable energy tax credit investment loss 42 

Noninterest income, as adjusted 104,921 93,581 80,546 

Provision for loan and lease losses, as reported 9,536 12,536 3,806 

Provision for loans reclassified as held for investment (4,023) 

Provision for loan and lease losses, as adjusted $ 9,536 $ 8,513 $ 3,806 
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Years Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

Noninterest expense, as reported $ 143,165 $ 106,445 $ 71 ,715 

Stock based compensation expense (1 ,370) (8,973) 

Merger costs associated with Reltco acquisition and Apiture 
investment (2,874) 

Trade-in loss on aircraft (206) 

Impairment charge taken on aircraft held for sale (1,422) 

Impairment expense on goodwill and other intangibles (3,648) 

Contract modification of Reltco (1,600) 

Renewable energy tax credit investment impairment and loss (690) (3,197) 

Noninterest expense, as adjusted 132,777 92,853 71,715 

Income tax (benefit) expense, as reported (2,245) 3,443 13,795 

Income tax effects and adjustment for non-routine income and 
(23,045) expenses 7,062 (1,513) 

Deferred tax liability revaluation 18,921 

Other renewable energy tax expense (176) (176) 

Renewable energy tax credit 4,396 

Income tax (benefit) expense, as adjusted $ (6,545) $ 14,725 $ 12,282 
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Interest rate risk is a significant market risk and can result from timing and volume differences in the repricing of rate-sensitive 
assets and liabilities, widening or tightening of credit spreads, change · in the general level of market interest rates and changes in 
the shape and level of market yield curves. The Company manages the interest rate sensitivity of interest-bearing liabilities and 
interest-earning assets in an effort to minimize the adverse effects of changes in the interest rate environment. Management of 
interest rate risk is carried out primarily through strategies in olving available-for-sale securilies, loan and lease portfolio and 
available funding sources. 

The Company has a total cumulative gap in interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities of 3.92% as of December 31 , 
2017, indicating that, overall assets will reprice before liabilities. The majority ofboth the Company's loans mid leases and deposits 
have short-term repricing capabilities. The Company has a funding model which differs from that of traditional banks. The majority 
of the Company's revenue is attributable to non-interest income so the Company is Jess dependent on net interest income when 
compared to a 1raditional bank model. WiLh the Company's non-traditional funding model Lhe ompany does not have the traditional 
bank branch network and can operate with lower overhead costs to offset the higher cost of funds used to att.racL deposits. 

The ompany has an Asset/Liabili1y ommittee to communicate, coordinate and control all aspects involving interest rate risk 
management. The Asset/Liabi lity ommittee, which includes five members of our board of directors, establishes and monitors the 
volume, maturities, pricing and mix of assets and funding sources with the objeclive of managing assets and funding sources to 
provide results that are consistent with liquidity, growth. risk limits and profitability goals. Adherence to relevant p licies is 
monitored on an ongoing basis by the Asset/Liability Comminee. 

The matching of assets and liabilities may be analyzed by examining the extent to which such assets and liabilities are "interest 
rate sensitive." An asset or liability is said to be interest rate sensitive within a specific time period if it will mature or reprice 
within that time period. The Company analyzes interest rate sensitivity posilion to manage the risk associated with interest rate 
movements through the use of two simulation models: economic valueofequity, or EVE and net interest income, orN IJ, simulations. 
The EVE simulation provides a long-term view of interest rate risk because it analyzes aJJ of the Bank's futur cash flows. EVE 
is defined as the present value of the Bank 's assets less the present value of its liabilities adjusted for any off-balance sheet items. 
The re-suits show a theoretical change in the economic value of shareholders' equity as interest rates change. 

EVE and NII simulations are completed quarterly and presented to the Asset/Liability Committee. The simulations provide an 
estimate of the impact of changes in interest rates on equity 11nd net interest income under a range of assumptions. The numerous 
assumptions used in the simulation process are reviewed by the Asset/Liability Committee on a quarterly basis. hanges to these 
assumptions can significantly affect the results of the simulation. The simulation incorporates assumptions regarding the potential 
timing in the repricing of certain assets and liabilities, hen market rates change and the changes in spreads between different 
market rates. The simulation analysis incorporates managemen't' s current assessment of the risk that pricing margins will change 
adversely over time due to competition or other factors. 

Simulation analysis is only an estimate of interest rate risk exposure at a particular point in time. The Company conti1m·a1Iy reviews 
the potential effect changes in interest rates could have on the repayment of rate sensitive assets and funding requirements ofrate 
sensitive liabilities. 

The table below sets fo1th an approximation of the ompany s NII sensitivity exposure for the 12-month periods ending 
December 31 2018 and 2019 and 1he Company s EVE sensitivity at December 31, 2017. The simulation uses projected repricing 
of assets and liabilities at December 31, 2017. on the basi of contractual maturities anticipated repayments and cheduled rate 
adjustments. Prepayment rates can have a significant impact on interest income simulation. Because of the large percentage of 
variable rate Joans and mortgage-backed securities the Company holds, rising or falling interest rates have a significant impact on 
the prepayment speeds of earning assets tha1 in turn affect the rate sensitivity position. The Company' s loan and lease portfolio 
COJ1Sists primarily of SBA 7(a) loans, 93 .5% variable rate loans adjustable wid1 the prime race or 3-month LIBOR The Company s 
prepayment speeds react differently in a rising rate environment. Generally, when interest rates rise th Company's prepayments 
tend to increase· the opposite reaction from typical bank loan and lease portfolios. In a rising rate environmem, the Company s 
quarterly adjustable borrowers seek to fix their payments so the loans prepay faster as borrowers refinance into fixed rnte products 
with another lender. When interest rates fall, prepayments tend to slow down. The Cornpany' s sensitivity would be reduced if 
prepayments slow and vice versa. While management believes such assumptions to be reasonable, approximate actual future 
activity may differ from the assumed prepayment rates presented below. 
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Basis Point ("hp") Change in 
Interest Rates 

+400 

+300 

+200 

+100 

-100 

Estimated Increase/Decrease 
in Net Interest Income 

12 Months Ending 
December 31, 2018 

22.0% 

16.5 

11.0 

5.5 

(6.1) 

12 Months Ending 
December 31, 2019 

18.3% 

13.7 

9.1 

4.6 

(4.9) 

Estimated 
Percentage Change in EVE 

As of 
December 31, 2017 

(7.3)% 

(5.9) 

(4.4) 

(2.8) 

2.0 

Rates are increased instantaneously at the beginning of the projection. The Company is overall slightly asset sensitive, therefore 
Lite large percentage of variable rate loans produce positive net interest income results as rates rise. Generally banks will experience 
a decrease in net interest income as rates rise and an increase as rates decline. Sensitivity will decrease in the second year of the 
projection due to interest rates increasing or decreasing for the fi1ll year and also due to the other assumptions used in the analysis 
as noted previously but still have a positive impact in a rising rate environment. Interest rates do not normally move all at once or 
evenly over time, but management believes that the analysis is useful to understanding the potential direction and magnitude of 
net interest income changes due to changing interest rates. 

The EVE analysis shows that the Company would theoretically lose market value in a rising rate environment. The increased fixed 
rate longer-term wholesale deposit has contributed a higher percentage than the assets to the portfolio mix resulting in a negative 
change in market value in a rising rate environment . The favorable EVE change resulting from the loan ponfolio in a rising rate 
analysis is more than offset by the devaluation of the interest-beariJ1g liabilities. 
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORM4TJON 

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain consolidated quarterly financial information. This information is 
derived from the Company's unaudited financial statements, which include, in the opinion of management, all normal recurring 
adjustments which management considers necessary for a fair presentation of the results for such periods. This information should 
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. The results for any quarter are 
not necessarily indicative ofresults for any future period. 

Quarterly Financials 

(dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2017 

4th Qtr 3rd Qtr 2nd Qtr 1st Qtr 

Interest income $ 30,536 $ 28,172 $ 24,345 $ 20,419 

Interest expense 7,560 7,147 5,953 4,778 

Net interest income 22,976 21,025 18,392 15,641 

Provision for loan and lease losses 4,055 2,426 1,556 1,499 

Net interest income after provision for loan and lease 
losses 18,921 18,599 16,836 14,142 

Noninterest income 95,441 25,060 26,667 25,753 

Noninterest expense 41,024 35,856 33,300 32,985 

Income before income taxes 73,338 7,803 10,203 6,910 

Income tax expense (benefit) 1,608 (5,059) 408 798 

Net income to common shareholders $ 71,730 $ 12,862 $ 9,795 $ 6,112 

Net income per share: 

Basic $ 1.80 $ 0.34 $ 0.28 $ 0.18 

Diluted $ 1.74 $ 0.33 $ 0.27 $ 0.17 
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2016 

4th Qtr 3rd Qtr 2nd Qtr 1st Qtr 

Interest income $ 16,914 $ 15,562 $ 13,402 $ 11,394 

Interest expense 4,522 3,931 3,485 2,685 

Net interest income 12,392 11,631 9,917 8,709 

Provision for loan and lease losses 3,844 3,806 3,453 1,433 

Net interest income after provision for loan and lease 

losses 8,548 7,825 6,464 7,276 

Noninterest income 26,327 25,432 19,348 22,432 

Noninterest expense 32,384 27,218 25,132 21,711 

Income before income taxes 2,491 6,039 680 7,997 

Income tax (benefit) expense (2,989) 2,561 557 3,314 

Net income 5,480 3,478 123 4,683 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 8 

Net income to common shareholders $ 5.480 $ 3,479 $ 123 $ 4,691 

Net income per share: 

Basic $ 0.16 $ 0.10 $ 0.00 $ 0.14 

Diluted $ 0.16 $ 0.10 $ 0.00 $ 0.13 
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!JHG 
DIXON HllGHF.S GfJOUMAN. , 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Shareholders and the Board of Directors 
Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Wilmington, North Carolina 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the "Company") 
as of December 3 I, 20 I 7 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in 
shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31 2017 and the related notes 
(collect iv ly referred to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in all material respect , 
the consolidated financial position of the ompany at December 31 , 2017 and 20 16. and the consolidated results of their operations 
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1 20 17, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Publi c Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB ') and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 
the U .. federal laws and app li cable rules and regulations oflhe Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
l'O error or fraud and performing procedures that respond to those risks; examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements; evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management· and eva luating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion . 

Isl Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2010. 

Raleigh, North Carolina 
March 8, 2018 
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Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(Dollars in thousands) 

December 31, December 31, 
2017 2016 

Assets 
Cash and due from banks $ 295,271 $ 238,008 

Certificates of deposit with other banks 3,000 7,250 

Investment securities available-for-sale 93,355 71,056 

Loans held for sale 680,454 394,278 

Loans and leases held for investment 1,343,973 907,566 

Allowance for loan and lease losses (24,190) (I 8,209) 

Net loans and leases 1,319,783 889,357 

Premises and equipment, net 178,790 64,661 

Foreclosed assets 1,281 l,648 

Servicing assets 52,298 51,994 

Other assets 134,242 37,009 

Total assets $ 2,758.474 $ 1,755,261 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 
Liabilities 
Deposits: 

Non interest-bearing $ 57,868 $ 27,990 

Interest-bearing 2,202,395 I 457,086 

Total deposits 2,260,263 1,485,076 

Long term borrowings 26,564 27,843 

Other liabilities 34,714 19,495 

Total liabilities 2,321,541 1,532,414 

Shareltolders equity 
Preferred stock no par value, I 000 000 authori zed, none issued or outstanding at 

December 31 , 2017 and December 31 2016 
Class A common stock no par value I 00,000,000 shares authorized, 35,252,053 and 

29 530,072, share issued and outstanding at December 31 2017 and December 31 , 
149,966 2016, respectively 268,557 

Class B common stock, no par value, I 0,000,000 shares authorized, 4,723,530 shares 
issued, 4,643,530 and 4 723 5 0 shares outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 
December 31 2016, respectively 49,168 50,015 

Retained earnings 120,241 23,518 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,033) ~652) 
Total equity 436,933 222,847 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 2,758.474 $ 1,755,261 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Income 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 

Years Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

Interest income 

Loans and fees on I oans $ 99,633 $ 55, 107 $ 33,340 

Investment securities, taxable 1,432 1, 132 811 

Other interest earning assets 2,407 1,033 300 

Total interest income 103,472 57,272 34,451 

Interest expense 

Deposits 24,223 13,659 7,379 

Borrowings 1,215 964 1,483 

Total interest expense 25,438 14,623 8,862 

Net interest income 78,034 42,649 25,589 

ProPision for loa11 a11d lease losses 9,536 12,536 3,806 

Net interest income after provision for loan and lease losses 68,498 30, 113 21,783 

Noninterest income 

Loan servicing revenue 24,588 21 ,393 16,081 

Loan servicing asset revaluation (13 ,171) (8,391) (6,229) 

Net gains on sales of loans 78,590 75,326 67,385 

Equity in loss of non-consolidated affiliates (26) 

Gain on sale of investment in non-consol idated affiliate 3,782 

Gain on contribution to equity method investment 68,000 

Gain (loss) on sale of investment securities available-for-sale 13 

Construction supervision fee income 1,776 2,667 1,623 

Title insurance income 7,565 

Other noninterest income 5,573 2,543 1,699 

Total noninterest income 172,921 93,539 84,328 

Noninterest expe11se 

Salaries and employee benefits 74,669 62,996 40,323 

Travel expense 8,124 8,205 7,379 

Professional services expense 4,937 3,482 2,643 

Advertising and marketing expense 6,363 4,534 4,333 

Occupancy expense 6,195 4,573 3,475 

Data processing expense 8,449 5,299 3,583 

Equipment expense 7,479 2,246 2,119 

Other loan origination and maintenance expense 4,970 2,825 2,069 

Renewable energy tax credit investment impairment 690 3,197 

FDIC insurance 3,206 1,417 514 

Title insurance closing services expense 2,418 

Impairment expense on goodwill and other intangibles 3,648 

Other expense 12,017 7,671 5,277 

Total noninterest expense 143,165 106,445 71 ,715 

Income before taxes 98,254 17,207 34,396 

Income tax (benefit) expense (2 ,245) 3,443 13,795 

Net income 100,499 13,764 20,601 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 9 24 

Net income attributable to Live Oak Bancshares, Inc $ 100,499 $ 13,773 $ 20,625 

Basic earnings per share $ 2 75 $ 0 40 $ 0.66 

Diluted earnings per share $ 2 .65 $ 0 39 $ 0 65 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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(Dollars in thousands) 

Net income 

Other comprehensive loss before tax: 

Net unrealized loss on investment securities arising during the 
period 

Reclassification adjustment for gain on sale of securities available-
for-sale included in net income 

Other comprehensive loss before tax 

Income tax benefit 

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax 

Total comprehensive income 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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$ 

$ 

Years Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

100,499 $ 13,764 $ 20,601 

(619) (746) (437) 

(1) (13) 

(619) (747) (450) 

238 287 173 

(381) (460) (277) 

100 118 $ 13,304 $ 20,324 



Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 

Common stock Retained Accumulated 
Shares earnings othe,· Non-

(accumulated comprehensive controlling Total 
Class A Class B Amount deficit) income (loss) interest equity 

Balance at December 31, 2014 23,896,400 4,723,530 $ 98,672 $ (6,943) $ 85 $ $ 91,8 14 

Net income (loss) 20,625 (24) 20,601 

Other comprehensive loss (277) (277) 

Consolidation of investment with non-
controlling interest 35 35 

Stock option exercises 52,969 239 239 

Stock option based compensation expense 1,277 1,277 

Restricted stock expense 148 148 

Capital contribution from non-controlling 
interest 22 22 

Issuance of common stock in connection 
with initial public offering, net of issue 
costs 5,500,000 87,171 87,171 

Dividends (distributions to shareholders) (1 ,542) (1 ,542) 

Balance at December 31, 2015 29,449,369 4,723,530 $187,507 $ 12,140 $ (192) $ 33 $ 199,488 

Net income (loss) 13,773 (9) 13,764 

Other comprehensive Joss (460) (460) 

Issuance ofrestricted stock 16,745 

Stock option exercises 63,958 401 401 

Stock option based compensation expense 2,349 2,349 

Restricted stock expense 9,724 9,724 

Acquisition ofnon-controlling interest (24) (24) 

Dividends (distributions to shareholders) (2,395) (2,395) 

Balance at December 31, 2016 29,530,072 4,723,530 $199,981 $ 23,518 $ (652) $ $ 222,847 

Net income 100,499 100,499 

Other comprehensive loss (381) (381) 

Issuance ofrestricted stock 307,6 I 3 

Withholding cash issued in lieu of restricted 
stock issuance (4,891) (4,891) 

Employee stock purchase program 22,634 445 445 

Stock option exercises 109,010 1,026 1,026 

Stock option based compensation expense 1,786 1,786 

Restricted stock expense 5,717 5,717 

Stock issued in acquisition ofReltco, Inc 27,724 565 565 

Non-voting common stock con crted to 
voting common stock in private sale 80,000 (80,000) 

Issuance of common stock in connection 
with secondary offering, net of issue costs 5,175,000 l 13,096 I 13,096 

Dividends (distributions to shareholders) (3 ,776) (3 ,776) 

Balance at December 31, 2017 35,252,05 4,643,5"0 $317,725 $ 120.24 I $ (1 ,033) $ $ 436,933 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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(Dollars in thousands) 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 

Provision for loan and lease losses 

Amortization of premium on securities, net of accretion 

Amo1tization of discount on unguaranteed loans, net 

Impairment expense on goodwill and other intangibles 

Deferred tax expense (benefit) 

Originations ofloans held for sale 

Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale 

Net gains on sale of loans held for sale 

Net loss on sale of foreclosed assets 

Gain on contribution to equity method investment 

Net increase in servicing assets 

Gain on sale of securities available-for-sale 

Gain on sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate 

Net loss on disposal of premises and equipment 

Renewable energy tax credit investment impairment 

Stock option based compensation expense 

Restricted stock expense 

Equity in loss of non-consolidated affiliates 

Stock based compensation expense excess tax benefits 

Business combination contingent consideration fair value adjustment 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Other assets 

Other liabilities 

Net cash used by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchases of securities available-for-sale 

Proceeds from sales, maturities, calls, and principal paydown of securities 
available-for-sale 

Proceeds from sale/collection of foreclosed assets 

Business combination, net of cash acquired 

Investment in certificates of deposit with other banks 

Maturities of certificates of deposit with other banks 

Proceeds from sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate 

Net cash acquired in consolidation of equity method investment 

Capital contribution from non-controlling interest 

Loan and lease originations and principal collections, net 

Purchases of premises and equipment, net 

Net cash (used) provided by investing activities 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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$ 

Years Ended December 31, 

2017 

100,499 

10,279 

9,536 

460 

2,848 

3,648 

12,017 

(1 ,149,617) 

883,366 

(78,590) 

59 

(68,000) 

(304) 

215 

690 

1,786 

5,717 

1,002 

1,950 

$ 

2016 

13,764 

4,260 

12,536 

242 

2,854 

(4,288) 

(1,013,643) 

837,830 

(75,326) 

18 

(7,764) 

(!) 

3,197 

2,349 

9,724 

$ 

2015 

20,601 

3,435 

3,806 

66 

3,146 

936 

(1,034,769) 

745,072 

(67,385) 

14 

(9,231) 

(13) 

(3,782) 

17 

1,277 

148 

26 

(25,247) (8,929) (4,201) 

157 1,227 6,154 

(287,529) (221,950) (334,683) -------- ---------
(43,071) 

19,693 

1,498 

(7,696) 

4,250 

(37,421) 

19,139 

1,221 

(250) 

3,250 

(24,927) 

19,980 

513 

(250) 

9,896 

319 

22 

(385,551) (295,119) 84,475 

(124,139) (10,889) (30,452) ------ ------
(535,016) (320,069) 59,576 ------ ------



Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Years Ended December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Net increase in deposits $ 775,187 $ 680,288 $ 282,708 

Proceeds from long term borrowings 16,900 12,960 

Repayment of long term borrowings (26,279) (532) (26,434) 

Proceeds from short term borrowings 23,100 

Repayment of short term borrowings (15,000) (6,100) 

Stock option exercises 1,026 401 239 

Employee stock purchase program 445 

Withholding cash issued in lieu of restricted stock (4,891) 

Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs 113,096 87,171 

Shareholder dividend distributions (3,776) (2,737) (2,732) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 879,808 677,420 347,812 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 57,263 135,401 72,705 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 238,008 102,607 29,902 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 295,271 $ 238,008 $ 102,607 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information 
Interest paid $ 25,390 $ 14,516 $ 8,840 

Income tax 7,084 8,238 12,326 

Supplemental disclosures ofnoncash operating, investing, and financing 
activities 

Unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes $ (381) $ (460) $ (277) 

Transfers from loans to foreclosed real estate and other repossessions 1,406 406 2,616 

Transfers from foreclosed real estate to SBA receivable 216 185 507 

Transfers of loans accounted for as secured borrowing collateral to other 
assets 4,575 

Transfer from fixed assets to other assets held for sale 4,621 

Dividends declared but not paid 342 

Transfer of Joans held for sale to loans held for investment 63,643 339,567 9,033 

Transfer of Joans held for investment to loans held for sale 19,534 2,296 3,243 

Contingent consideration in acquisition of controlling interest in equity 
method investment 24 170 

Transfers from short term borrowings to long term borrowings 8,100 

Business combination: 

Assets acquired (excluding goodwill) 5,766 

Liabilities assumed 4,681 

Purchase price 8,363 

Goodwill recorded 7,278 

See Notes to Consolidaled Financial Statements 
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 

Live Oak Banking Company (the "Bank") was organized and incorporated under the laws of the State ofNorth Carolina on February 
25, 2008 and commenced operations on May 12, 2008. In December 2008, Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. (the "Company") was formed 
and in the first qum1er of2009 acquired all the outstanding shares of Live Oak Banking Company. The Bank is headqum1ered in 
the city ofWilmington, North Carolina and has five satellite sales offices across the United States. The Bank specializes in providing 
lending and deposit related services to small businesses nationwide in targeted industries, which are referred to as verticals. The 
Bank identifies and grows within credit-worthy industries through expertise within those industries. A significant portion of the 
loans originated by the Bank are guaranteed by the Small Business Administration ("SBA") under the 7(a) Loan Program and to 
a lesser extent by the U.S. Department of Agriculture ("USDA") Rural Energy for America Program ("REAP") and Business & 
Industry ("B&I") loan programs. The guaranteed portion of the loan is generally available for sale in the secondary market. From 
time to time the Bank also engages in the sale of participating interests of the unguaranteed portion. As a state chartered bank, the 
Bank is subject to regulation by the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. On 
July 23, 2015 the Company closed on its initial public offering with a secondary offering completed in August of 2017. 

In 2010, the Bank formed Live Oak Number One, Inc. to hold properties foreclosed on by the Bank. Live Oak Number One is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank. 

In January 2012, the Company formed nCino, LLC ("nCino") to further develop and sell cloud-based banking software that was 
built off of the Force.com platform and transformed into a bank operating system used to streamline the lending process of financial 
institutions. In 2012 nCino was a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company. In 2013 the Company's ownership changed such 
that nCino became a minority-owned subsidiary of the Company. In December 2013 the legal structure ofnCino converted from 
an LLC to a corporation. At year-end 2013, the Company owned 45.94% of nCino. In June of 2014 the Company divested its 
ownership in nCino to shareholders in the form of a dividend with a subsequent investment of $6.1 million later in 2014. At 
December 31, 2014, the Company owned 9.02% ofnCino. During 2015, the Company sold its remaining investment in nCino 
resulting in no ownership as of December 31, 2015. 

In September 2013, the Company acquired Government Loan Solutions ("GLS") as a wholly-owned subsidiary. GLS is a 
management and technology consulting firm that advises and offers solutions and services to participants in the government 
guaranteed lending sector. GLS, which was founded in 2006, primarily provides services in connection with the settlement, 
accounting, and securitization processes for government guaranteed loans, including loans originated under the SBA 7(a) loan 
programs and USDA guaranteed loans. 

In December 2013, the Company jointly formed 504 Fund Advisors, LLC ("504FA") with Pennant Management, Inc. ("Pennant 
Management"). As of December 31, 2014, 504FA was a 50% owned investment established for the purpose of underwriting and 
managing SBA 504 loans held by The 504 Fund ( "the Fund"), formerly known as the Pennant 504 Fund. Two of the three portfolio 
managers of the Fund were employees ofGLS. The third employee was an outside owner/manager of504FA until April 30, 2015. 
The Company's wholly owned subsidiaries, the Bank and GLS, provided various advisory and human resource services to 504FA, 
for which both were reimbursed. The services provided to 504FA did not result in either the Bank or GLS having the ability to 
directly influence management operations or decisions that directly impact the financial standing of the Company or its subsidiaries. 
Accordingly, the Company's investment in 504FA was accounted for under the equity method at December 31, 2014, with a 
carrying amount of$231 thousand. The Company acquired control over 504FA on February 2, 2015 by increasing its ownership 
from 50.0% to 91.3%. The acquisition of an additional 41.3% of ownership occurred in exchange for contingent consideration 
estimated to total $170 thousand. Transactions in the third quarter of2015 increased the Company's ownership to 92.4% at December 
31, 2015. With 7.6% of ownership remaining with a third party investor, amounts of earnings and equity in 504FA attributable to 
the third party investor were disclosed in the Company's consolidated financial statements as related to a noncontrolling interest. 
During the first quarter of 2016, the Company increased ownership to 92.9%. On September 1, 2016, the Company acquired the 
remaining 7.1 % ownership from a third party investor in exchange for contingent consideration estimated to total $24 thousand. 
The Company's cumulative investment in 504FA was $1.4 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

In September 2015, the Company formed Live Oak Grove, LLC ("Grove"), a wholly-owned subsidiary, for the purpose of providing 
Company employees and business visitors an on-site restaurant location. 
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In August 2016, the Company formed Canapi, lnc. ("Canapi") for the purpose of investing in businesses that align with the 
Company's strategic initiative to be a leader in financial technology. Canapi was formerly known as Live Oak Ventures, Inc. 

In November 2016, the Company formed Live Oak Clean Energy Financing LLC for the purpose of providing financing to entities 
for renewable energy applications. 

On February I, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition ofReltco Inc. and National Assurance Title, Inc. ( collectively referred 
to as "Reltco"), two nationwide title agencies under common control based in Tampa, Florida. See Note 2. Title Insurance Business 
for a further discussion of this transaction. 

Basis of Presentation 

Dollar amounts in all tables in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements have been presented in thousands, except percentage, 
Lime period stock option, share and per share data. The accounting and reporting policies of the ompany and the Bank follow 

nited States genera lly accepted accounting principles and general practices within the financial services industry. The fol lowing 
is a description of the significant accounting and reporting policies the ompany fo llows in preparing and presenting its consolidated 
financial statements. 

Consolidation Policy 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Live 
Oak Banking Company Live Oak Number One GLS. 504F'A, Grove Canapi, Live Oal lean Energy Financing and Reltco. All 
sign ificant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In addition, the Company evaluates its 
relationships with other entities to ide1itify whether they are variable interest entities and to assess whether it is the primary 
beneficiary of such entities. 'lflhe determi nation is made that the ompany is the primary beneficiary, then thal entity is included 
in the consolidated financial statements. If an entity is not a variable interest entity, the Company also eval uates arrangements in 
which there is a general partner or managing member to determine whether consolidation is appropriate. 

Unconsolidated investments wher we have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies 
of the respective investee are accounted for using the equity method of accouming; those that are not consolidated or accounted 
for using the equity method of accou nting are accounted for under cost or fair value accounti ng. For these investments accounted 
for under the equity method the Company records its investment in non-consolidated affiliates and the portion of income or loss 
in equity in income of non-consolidated affiliates. The Company periodically evaluates these investments for impairment. 

On January 28, 2013, the Company's ownership in nCino declined by 2 1. -4%, from 64.36% to 42.82%. Thi s decrease in ownership 
and related influence occurred as a result ofnCino selling additional equity to outside investors for $7.5 million. As a result, the 
Company deconsolidated n ino accounting for its rema.ining42.82% investment nsing the equity method. As previously indicated 
the Company divested its remaining ownership in nCino via a dividend lo shareholders in June 20 14. In August 2014 I.he Company 
again invested $6.1 million in nCino for 9.02% ownership. Due to the decreased level of influence the Company's investment in 
nCino at December 31 2014 was accounted for as a cost method investment. During 20 15 the Company sold its remaining 
investment in nCino resulting in no ownership as of December 31, 2015, 20 16 and 2017. 

The Company expects to continue to be one ofnCino's customers; however, the power to direct nCino's activities is now controlled 
by outside investors. 

Variable Interest Entities 

Variable interests are defined as contractual ownership or other interests in an entity that change with fluctuations in an entity's 
net asset value. The primary beneficiary consolidares the variable interest entity ("VIE"). The primary beneficiary is defined as 
the enterprise that has both the po, er to direct the activitie of the VIE that mosr s ign ificantly impacl the entity's economic 
performance and the obligation to absorb losse-s or the right to receive benefits that could be significant to the VIE. 

The ompany has a limited interest in a partnership that owns and operates a solar renewable energy project which is accounted 
for a an equity method investment. Over the course of the investment, the Company will receive federal and state tax credits tax­
related benefits, and excess cash available for distribution, if any. The ompany may be called to sell its interest in the limited 
partnerships through a call option once all investment tax credits have been recognized. 
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This entity meets the criteria of a VIE· however, the Company is not the primary beneficiary oft he entities as the general pai1ner 
has both the power to direct the activities that mosr ignificantly impact the economic performance of the entities and the obligation 
to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could be significant to the entity. While the partllership agreement allows the 
Company to remove the general partner this right is not deemed to be substantive as the general partner can only be removed for 
cause. 

The Company's investments in the unconsolidated VIE is carried in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet and the Company's 
unfunded capital and other commitments related to the unconsolidated VIE is carried in other liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheet. 

The ompany s maximum exposure to loss from this unconsolidated VrE includes the investment recorded on the Company s 
consolidated balance sheet net of unfunded capital commitments and any impairment recognized, and previously recorded tax 
credits which remain subject to recapture by taxing authorities based on compliance features required to be met at the project level. 
While the Company believes the potential for losses from this investment is remote the maximum exposure '""as determined by 
assuming a scenario where related tax credits were recaptured. 

The following table provides a summary of the tax advantaged VIE that the Company has not consolidated as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016: 

Investment carrying amount 

Unfunded capital 

Maximum exposure to loss 

Business Combinations 

2017 

$ 705 $ 

4,221 

2016 

1,394 

690 

5,100 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method in accordance with Accounring tandards Codification 
(A C) 805, Business ombinations. Under the acquisition method identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed and any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date are measured at their fair values as of that date, and are recognized 
separately from goodwill. Results ofoperations of the acquired enti ties are included in the consolidated statements ofcomprehensive 
income from the dare of acquisition . Any measurement-period adjustments are recorde<I in the period the adjustment is identified. 

Business Segments 

Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information i available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in decid.ing how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Management 
has determined that the Company has one significant operatingsegm nt which is providing a lending platform for small businesses 
nationwide. In determining the appropriateness of segment definition. the Company considers the materiality ofa potential segment, 
the components of the business about which financial information is available and components for which management regularly 
evaluates relative to resource allocation and performance assessment. 

Initial and Secondary Public Offerings 

The ompany qualifies as an 'emerging growth company' as defined by rhe Jumpsla1t Our Business Sta11ups Act (JOB Act). In 
April of2015 the Company filed a Registration tatement on Form S-1 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ( EC). 
This Registration tatement was declared effective by the EC on July 22, 20 15. In reliance on that Registration tatement the 
Company issued 5,500 000 shares of voting common stock no par value, at $17.00 per share, in exchange for total proceeds of 
$87 .2 million, net of issue costs. 

In August of 2017, the ompany completed a secondary offering by issuing 5,175,000 shares of voting common stock no par 
value at $23 .00 per share in exchange for total proceeds of $113 .1 million net of issuance costs. The secondary offering was 
made pursuant to a prospectus supplement dated August 8, 20 17 and an accompanying prospectus dated July 28 20 I 7, pursuant 
to the Company's shelfregistration statement on Form S-3 that was filed with the ecurities and Exchange Commission and became 
effective on July 28, 2017. 
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Use of Estimates 

Tn preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
("GAAP"), management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect repmied amounts of assets and liabilities as of 
the date of the balance sheet and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change in the near term relate to the 
determination of the allowance for loan and lease losses, valuations of servicing assets and income taxes . In addition , the gain on 
contribution to equity method investment of$68.0 million was based on management's estimates, including projected cash flows 
of the entity, and is inherently subjective by its nature. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows , cash and cash equivalents are defined as those amounts included 
in the balance sheet caption "cash and due from banks." Cash and cash equivalents have initial maturity of three months or less. 

To comply with banking regulations, the Company is required to maintain certain average cash reserve balances. The daily average 
cash reserve requirement was approximately $6.6 million and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively. 

Certificates of Deposit with other Banks 

Certificates of deposit with other banks have maturities ranging from March 2018 through December 2018 and bear interest at 
rates ranging from 0.15% to 1.90%. None of the certificates of deposit had maturities of 12 months or less at the time of origination. 
All investments in certificates of deposit are with FDIC insured financial institutions and none exceed the maximum insurable 
amount of $250 thousand. 

Investments 

Securities 

Certain debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as "held-to-maturity" 
and recorded at amortized cost. Trading securities are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value included in earnings. 
Securities not classified as held-to-maturity or trading, are classified as "available-for-sale" and recorded at fair value. Unrealized 
gains and losses for available-for-sale investment securities are excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive 
income. The Company's entire portfolio for the periods presented is available-for-sale. 

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the terms of the securities. 

Other 

The Company accounts for other investments either under the equity or cost method. Investments through which there is significant 
influence but not control over the investee are accounted for under the equity method. Investments through which the Company 
is not able to exercise significant influence over the investee are accounted for under the cost method. Other investments are 
generally non-marketable equity investments and are included in the other assets line on the consolidated balance sheet. 
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impairment 

At each reporting date, the Company evaluates each investment in a loss position for other than temporary impairment ( Oar!'). 
The ompany evaluates declines in market value below cost for debt securities by assessing the likelihood of selling the security 
prior to recovering its cost basis. lf the ompany intends to sell the debt security or it is more-likely-than-not that the Company 
will be required to sel l the debt security prior LO recovering its cost basis, the Company will write down the security to fair value 
with the full charge recorded in earnings. If the Company does not intend to sell the debt security and it is not more.-likely-than­
not that the ompany will be required to sell the debt security prior to recovery, the security will not be considered other-than­
temporarily impaired unless there are credit losses associated with the security. In that case: ( I ) where credit losses exist, the 
portion of the impairment related to those credit losses should be recognized in earnings; (2) any remaining difference between 
th fair value and the cost basis should be recognized as part of other comprehensive income. For equity securities. any OTTl is 
recognized with the full charge recorded in earnings. To determine whetheran impairment of equity securities is OTT! , the Com pan 
considers whether it has the ability and intent to hold the investment until there is a market price recovery and considers whether 
evidence indicating the cost of the investment is recoverable outweighs evidence to the contrary. 

In determining v,hether OTTI exists management considers many factors including ( I) the length of time and rhe extent to which 
the fair value has been less than cost 2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer and (3) the intent· and ability 
of the Company to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair 
value. Gains and losses on the sales of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the specific identification 
method. 

Loans Held For Sale 

Management designates loans as held for sale ("HFS") based on its intent to sell guaranteed portions in the SBA and USDA 
Secondaiy Market and unguaranteed portions to participant banks and credit unions. Salability requirements of the guaranteed 
portion include, but are not limited to, full disbursement of the loan commitment amount. Loans originated and intended for sale 
are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value on a loan-by-loan basis. The cost basis of loans held for sale includes the 
deferral of loan origination fees and costs . Deferred fees and costs are accreted and amortized for loans classified held for sale 
until the sale occurs. At loan settlement, the: pro-rata portion, based on the percent of the total loan sold, of the remaining deferred 
fees and costs are recognized as an adjustment to the gain on sale. 

As part of our management of the loans held in our po1tfolio, we will occasionally transfer loans from held for investment to held 
for sale. Upon transfer, any associated allowance for loan and lease loss is released and the carrying value of the loans is adjusted 
to the estimated fair value. The loans are subsequently accounted for at the lower of cost or fair value, with valuation changes 
recorded in other noninterest income. Gains or losses on the sale of these loans are also recorded in noninterest income. In certain 
circumstances, loans designated as held for sale may later be transferred back to the loan and lease po11folio based upon our intent 
and ability to hold the loans for the foreseeable future. The Company transfers these loans to loans and leases held for investment 
at the lower of cost or fair value and establishes a related allowance for loan and lease loss. 

In accordance with SBA regulation, the Bank is required to retain 10% of the principal balance of any SBA 7(a) loan comprised 
ofunguaranteed dollars. With written consent from the SBA, the Bank may sell down to a 5% exposure comprised ofunguaranteed 
dollars. During 2012, the SBA approved the Bank to sell to the 5% retention level participating interests of the unguaranteed 
portion of loans originated on or before June 30, 2012 that had been fully funded for a period of eighteen months . This approval 
expired on June 30, 2014. 

Historically, loans held for sale consisted only of guaranteed loan balances and 1he unguaranteed portion up to the SBA retention 
minimums discussed above. A negative change in the credit quality ofa loan resulted in the loan classification changing from held 
for sale to held for investment. Beginning in June 2016 loans held for sale consist of guaranteed loan balances. The gain on sale 
recognized in income is the sum of the premium on the guaranteed loan and the fair value of the servicing assets recognized, less 
the discount recorded on the unguaranteed portion of the loan retained. 
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The following summarizes the activity pertaining to loans held for sale for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016: 

Balance at beginning of year 

Originations 

Proceeds from sale 

Gain on sale of loans 

Principal collections, net of deferred fees and costs 

Non-cash transfers, net 

Balance at end of period 

Loans and Leases Held for Investment 

2017 

$ 394,278 

1,149,617 

(883,366) 

78,590 

(14,556) 

(44,109) 

$ 680,454 

2016 

$ 480,619 

1,013,643 

(837,830) 

75,326 

(209) 

(337,271) 

$ 394,278 

Loans and leases receivable that m.anagement has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay­
off are classified as held for investmenr ("Hfl") and reported at their outstanding principal amount adjusted for any charge-offs, 
the allowance for loan and lease losses, and any deferred fees or costs on originated loans and leases and unamortized premium 
or discount on purchased loans. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an 
adjustment of the related loan yield using the interest method. Discounts and premiums on any purchased loans are amortized to 
income using the interest method over the remaining period to contractual maturity, adjusted for anticipated prepayments. 
Historically, loans and leases designated as held for investment, included loans and leases identified as more beneficial to hold for 
the long term as well as the required retention amount defined by the SBA comprised ofunguaranteed dollars and loans and leases 
designated as troubled debt restructurings, nonaccrual, and risk grade al a 5 or worse as defined by internal risk rating metrics. 
Beginning June 2016, Joans and leases held for investment consist ofunguaranteed Joan and lease balances and guaranteed and 
unguaranteed Joans and leases designated as troubled debt restructurings, nonaccrual, non-marketable, and risk grade 5 or worse. 

During the second quarter of 2016, the Bank transferred $318.8 million in unguaranteed loans from the HFS category to the HFJ 
category to better reflect intentions of the Company. 

Interes t income on loans and lease is recognized as earned on a daily accrual basis. The accrual of interest on loans and leases is 
discontinued when principal or interest is past due 90 days or the loan or lease is determined to be impaired. Impaired loans and 
leases, or po1tions thereof, are charged off when deemed uncollectible. 

Equipment Leasing 

The Company purchases new equipment for the purpose of leasing such equipment to customers within its verticals. Equipment 
purchased to fulfill commitments to commercial renewable energy projects is leased out under operating leases whi le leases of 
equipment outside of the renewable energy vertical are generally direct financing leases. According ly leased assets under operating 
leases are included in premises and equipment while leased assets under direct financing leases are included in loans and leases 
held for investment. 

Direct Financing Leases 

Interest income on direct financing leases is recognized when earned. Unearned interest is recognized over the lease term on a 
basis which results in a constant rate of return on the unrecovered lease investment. The term of each lease is generally 4-6 years 
which is consistent with the useful life of the equipment with no residual value. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had net 
investments in direct financing lease receivables of $2.0 million. 

Operating Leases 

The term of each operating lease is generally 10 to 15 years. The Company retains ownership of the equipment and associated 
tax benefits such as investment tax credits and accelerated depreciation. At the end of the lease term, the lessee has the option to 
renew the lease for two additional terms or purchase the equipment at the then current fair market value. 
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Rental revenue from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Rental equipment is recorded 
at cost and depreciat d to an estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. The usefu l lives 
generally range from 20 io 25 years and residual values generally range from 20% to 40%. however, tJ1ey are subject to periodic 
evaluation. hanges in useful lives or residual values\ ill impact depreciation expense and any gain or loss from the sale of used 
equipment. The estimated usefol lives and residual values of the Company's leasing equipment are based on industry disposal 
experience and the Company's e>q1ectatio.ns for future sale prices. 

Jfthe Company decides to sell or otherwise dispose of rental equipment it is carried at the l.ower of cost or fair value less costs to 
sell or dispose. Repair and maintenance costs thal do not extend rhe lives of the rental equipment are charged to lirect operating 
expenses at the time the costs are incurred. 

As of December 31 , 2017, the Company had a net investment of $88.4 million in assets included in premises and equipment that 
are subject to operating leases . 

A maturity analysis of future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases is as follows: 

As of December 31, 2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

Thereafter 

Total 

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses 

$ 

$ 

Amount 

5,162 

5,408 

5,428 

5,455 

5,458 

34,046 

60,957 

The allowance for loan and lease losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for loan and 
lease losses charged to earnings. Loan or lease losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the un­
collectibility of a loan or lease balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries if any, are credited to the allowance. 

The allowance for loan and lease losses is evaluated on a regular basis by management and is based upon managements periodic 
review of the collec!ibi lity of the loans or leases in light of historical experience the nature and volume of the loan and lease 
portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrower's ability to repay estimated value of any underlying collateral and 
prevailing economic conditions . This evaluation is inherenlly subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant 
revision as more information becomes available. 

A loan or lease is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be 
unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan or lease 
agreement. Factor considered by management in determining impairment include payment status and other circumstances 
impacting the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. 

Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-ca e basis, taking into 
consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan or lease and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons 
for the delay the borrower' s prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed . 
Impairment is measured on a credit-by-cred it basis by either the present value of expected futu re cash tlows discounted at the loan 
or lease's effective interest rate the loan or lease s obtainable market price, or the fair value of the col lateral if the loan or lease is 
collateral dependent except for large grot1ps of smaller balance homogeneous loans or leases which are collectively evaluated for 
impairment. Smaller balance loan or lease relationships collectively evaluated for impairment are generally comprised of credits 
with unguaranteed exposure of less than $100,000 using a methodology based on historical specific reserves on similar sized loans 
or leases. Loans or leases classified as troubled debt restructured ('TOR") are considered impaired. Loans or leases rhat experience 
insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. 
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A loan or lease is accounted for as a TOR if the ompany, for reasons related to the borrowers financial difficulties, restructures 
a loan or lease. and grants a concession to the borrower thal it would not otherwise grant. A TDR typically involves a modification 
of terms such as a reduction of the interest rate below the current market rate for a loan or lease with similar risk characteristics 
or I.he waiving of certain financial covenants wi1hou1 corresponding offsetting compensation or additional support. The Company 
measures the impairment loss of a TDR using the methodology for individually impaired loans or lea es. 

l nterest is accrued and credited to income based on the principal amount outstanding. The accrual of interest on impaired loans or 
leases is discontinued when, in management's opinion, the borrower may be unable to meet payments as they become due or when 
the loan or lease becomes ninety days past due. Past due status of loans and leases is determi ned based on contractual terms. When 
interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest for the current year is reversed. Interest income is subsequemly 
recognized on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, as appropriate. Cash payments of interest on nonaccrual loans or leases 
will be applied to the principal balance of the loan or lease. When facts and circumstances indicate the borrower has regained the 
ability to meet the required payments, the loan or lease is returned to accrual status. Interest accrua ls are resumed on nonaccrual 
loans or leases only when it is brought current with respect to interest and principal and when, in the judgment of management, 
the loans or leases are estimated to be fully collectible as to all principal and imerest. Management's judgment is based on an 
assessment of the borrower's financial condilion and a recent history of payment performance. 

The Company identifies all impaired loans and leases, including those individually and collectively evaluated for impairment, for 
impairment disclosures. 

Upon transfer from held for sa le classification loans and I ases held for investment become subject to the allowance for loan and 
lease loss review process. As a result of this process, the above mentioned $318.8 million 1.oan reclassification resulted in a $4.0 
million increase in the provision for loan and lea e losses during the second quarter of 20 I 6. 

During the second quarter of 2016, the ompany also implemented enhancements to the methodology for estimating the allowance 
for loan and lease losses, including refinements to the measurement of qualitative facto rs in the estimation process. Management 
believes these enhancements will improve the precision of the process for estimating the allowance but did not fundamentally 
change the Company's approach. These revisions resulted in a $390 thousand reduction in the provision for loan and lease losses 
during the second quarter of 2016. 

Foreclosed Assets 

Real estate properties acquired through or in lieu of, loan foreclosllre are to be sold and are initially recorded at the lower of 
canying amount or fair value less anticipated cost to sell at the date of foreclo ure, establishing a new cost basis. Any write down 
at the time of transfer to foreclosed assets is charged to 1he allowance for loan and lease losses. After foreclo ure, valuations are 
periodically performed by management, and 1he real estate is carried at the lower of carrying amounl or fair alue less cost to sell. 
Subsequent write downs are charged to other loan origination and maintenance expense. Costs relating to improvement of lhe 
property are capitalized while holding costs of the property are charged to other loan origination and maintenance expense in the 
period incurred. 

97 



Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Premises and Equipment 

All premises and equipment, excluding land, are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Land is carried at cost. Additions 
and major replacements or improvements which extend useful lives of property or equipment are capitalized. Maintenance, repairs, 
and minor improvements are expensed as incurred. Upon retirement or other disposition of the assets, the cost and related 
depreciation are removed and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in income. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 
terms of the respective leases or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. Depreciation is computed 
by the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Buildings 

Transportation 

Land Improvements 

Furniture and equipment 

Computers and software 

Servicing Assets 

Years 

39 

5-10 

7-15 

5-10 

3-5 

All sales of loans are executed on a servicing retained basis. The standard SBA loan sale agreement is structured to provide the 
Company with a "servicing spread" paid from a portion of the interest cash flow of the loan. SBA regulations require the Bank to 
retain a portion of the cash flow from the interest payments received for a sold loan. The SBA retention requirement is at least I 00 
basis points in servicing spread while the Company's standard U DA loan sale agreement specifies a servicing spread of40 basis 
points. The portion of the ervicing spread that exceeds adequate compensation for the seivicing function is recognized as a 
servicing asset. Industry practice recognizes adequate compensatioD for se1vicing SBA and USDA loans as 40 basis points. The 
fair value of the servicing a set is measured al the discounted present value of the exce s setvicing spread over the expected life 
of the related loan using appropriate discount rates and assumptions based on industry statistics for prepayment speeds. 

Servicing assets are recognized as separate assets when rights are acquired through purchase or through sa le of financial assets 
and are can-ied at fair value. Generally, purchased servicing rights are capitalized at the cost to acquire the rights. For sales of 
loans. a portion of the cost of originating the loan is allocated to the servicing right based 011 fair value. Fai r value is based on 
market prices for comparable servicing co111racts, when available or alternatively, is based on a valuation model that calcu lates 
the pre ent value of estimated future net servicing income. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants 
would use in estimating future net serv icing income such as adequate compensation for servicing the discount rate the custodial 
earnings rate, an inflation rate, ancillary income, prepayment speeds and default rate and losses. Capitalized servicing rights are 
carried at fair value as of the reporting date. hanges to fair value are reported in loan servicing asset revaluation. 

Servicing fee income is recorded for fees earned for servicing loans. The fees are based on a contractual percentage of the outstanding 
principal or a fixed amount per loan and are recorded as income when earned. 

The Company's investment in a loan is allocated between the retained portion of the loan, the servicing asset, and the sold portion 
of the loan on the date the loan is sold. 

When only a portion ofa loan is sold, GAAP requires the Company to reallocate the canying basis between the portion of the loan 
sold and the portion of the loan retained based on the relative fair value of the respective portions as of the date of sale. The 
maximum gain on sale that can be recognized is the difference between the fair value of the guaranteed portion sold and the 
reallocated basis of the portion of the loan sold. The Company measures the fair value of the guaranteed portion of the loan by the 
cash premium at which the sale was consummated. The limitation on the maximum gain allowed to be recognized results in a 
discount recorded on the unguaranteed dollars retained. The carrying value of the retained portion of the loan is discounted based 
in part on the estimates derived from the Company's comparable nonguaranteed loan sales. 
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Derivative Financial Instruments 

During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company began using exchange-traded interest rate futures contracts to manage interest 
rate risk that may impact expected gains arising from future econdary market loan sales. Upon entering into a futures contract, 
the Company is required to pledge to the counterpart)' an amount of cash equal to a certai n percentage of the contract amount, also 
known as an initial margin deposit. Subsequent payments known as variation margin, are made or received by the Company each 
day to settle the daily fluctuations in the fair value of the underlying contract. Investments in these derivative contracts are subject 
to risks that can result in a Joss of all or part ofan investment. Credit risk is considered low because the counterparties are futures 
exchanges. The Company has not designated any derivative as a hedging instrument under applicable accounting guidance. 
Changes in fair value of the derivative contracts is recorded as a component of "net gains on sales of loans" on the consolidated 
tatement of income. The ompany recognized a loss of$1 I 7 thousand and a gain of$3 I thousand on the derivative contracts for 

the years ended December 3 I, 20 I 7 and 2016, respectively. The total notional amount of derivative contracts outstanding was 
$29.9 million and $8.0 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The fair value of the derivative contracts on the 
balance sheet date is zero due to the daily cash settlement of contracts. 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Goodwill is the purchase premium after adjusting for the fair value ofnet assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed 
for potential impairment on an annual basis, or when events or circumstances indicate a potential impairment, at the related reporting 
unit level. The goodwill impairment test involves comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value, including 
goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwi ll of the reporting unit is considered not impaired; 
however, iflhe carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge must be recorded. An impairment 
loss recognized cannot exceed the amount of goodwill assigned to a reporting unit. An impairment loss establishes a new basis in 
the goodwill and subsequent reversals of goodwill impairment losses are not permitted under applicable accounting guidance . 

For intangible assets subjectto amortization, the recoverability test is performed when a triggering event occurs and an impairment 
loss is recognized if the carrying value of the intangible asset is not recoverable and exceeds fair value. The carrying value of the 
intangible asset is considered not recoverable ifit exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use 
of the asset. Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives are not subject to amortization.An impairment Joss is recognized 
if the carrying value of the intangible asset with an indefinite life exceeds its fair value. 

Intangibles subject to amortization related to the Reltco acquisition include non-compete agreements with former employees 
amortized over five years and customer relationships amortized over eight years. The Reltco trade name had a carrying amount 
of $480 thousand as of December 3 I, 2017, and is the only indefinite-lived intangible asset. 

The following table shows carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of all intangible assets as of December 31, 2017. There 
were no intangible assets related to Reltco as of December 31, 2016. 

Amortizable intangible assets as of December 31, 2017: 

Carrying Accumulated 
Amount Amottization 

Non-compete agreements $ 405 $ (74) 

Customer relationships 3,900 (447) 

Total $ 4 305 $ (521) 

The Company's projected amottization expense for the years ending December 31, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is $569 thousand 
per year. Projected amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 is $494 thousand. 

99 



Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

As of October 31, 2017, it was determined that impairment existed at the Reltco reporting unit and impairment charges of $3.6 
million were recorded. These impairment charges for the year ended December 31, 2017 are reflected in a separate line in the 
income statement and are comprised of the following components: 

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 

Contingent consideration liability 

Total impairment expense on goodwill and other intangibles 

See Note 2. Title Insurance Business for further discussion related to impairment ofReltco. 

Long-Lived Assets 

$ 

$ 

720 

7,278 

(4,350) 

3,648 

The Company evaluates the carrying value of rental equipment and identifiable definite lived intangible assets for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances have occurred that would indicate the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. A key 
element in determining the recoverability oflong-lived assets is the Company's outlook as to the future market conditions for its 
rental equipment. If the carrying amount is not fully recoverable, an impairment loss is recognized to reduce the carrying amount 
to fair value. The Company determines fair value based upon the condition of the rental equipment and the projected net cash 
flows from its rental and sale considering current market conditions. During the year ended December 31, 2017, there were no 
impairments of long-lived assets. 

Impairment of Long -Lived Asset Reclassified to Held for Sale 

During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company determined that retention of one of its aircraft was ineffective in serving the needs 
of an expanding nationwide customer base. As a result of this determination, the Company began marketing the aircraft for sale. 
Subsequently in December 2016, the Company entered into a sale agreement with a third party with expected total proceeds, net 
of expenses, of $3 .2 million. An impairment expense of $1.4 million was recorded and included in the "Other expense" line item 
in the 2016 consolidated statements of income upon adjusting the carrying amount to the expected fair value. The expected fair 
value of the aircraft of$3.2 million is reflected in the consolidated 2016 balance sheet in the "Other assets" line item. The sale of 
this aircraft took place in January 2017 with no additional loss. 

Change in Accounting Estimate 

During 2017, the Company assessed its estimate of the useful lives of the Company's aircraft transportation. The Company revised 
its original useful life estimate of20 years and currently estimates that its aircraft transportation will have a useful life of IO years . 
The effects ofreflecting this change in accounting estimate on the 2017 consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Decrease in: 

Net income 

Basic EPS 

Diluted EPS 

100 

Year Ended 

December 31, 2017 

$ 

$ 

$ 

894 

0.02 

0.02 
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Common Stock 

On June I 1, 2014, the Company amended its Articles of Incorporation to create two classes of common stock. These two classes 
are identified as Class A and Class B for Voting Common Stock and Non-Voting Common Stock, respectively, in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet and statement of changes in shareholders' equity. Voting and Non-Voting Common Stock holders have 
identical rights and privileges, with the exception that Non-Voting Common shares have no voting power unless cir umstances 
arise where instances creating the on-Voting Common hares are modified in any way that negatively impact rights of holder. 
Stock splits or dividends of Voting and Non-Voting Common Shares shall be in like stock (voting for voting and non-voting for 
non-voting). Any number of Non-Voting Common Stock may be converted to an equal number of Voting Common Stock at the 
option of the holder; provided that holder is not the initial transferee or an affiliate of initial transferee. 

Advertising Expense 

Marketing costs are recognized in the month the event or advertisement takes place. These costs are included in advertising and 
marketing expense as presented in the consolidated statements of income. 

Income Taxes 

Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
(excluding deferred tax assets and liabilities related to business combinations or components of other comprehensive income) . 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for the temporary differences between carrying amounts 
and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax rates. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred assets and 
liabilities is recognized in income taxes during the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance, if needed, 
reduces deferred tax assets to the expected amount more likely than not to be realized. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent 
upon the level of historical income, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, reversals of deferred tax liabilities and estimates 
of future taxable income. 

The Company uses the flow-through method of accounting on investment that generate investment tax credits. Under this method, 
investment tax credits are recognized as a reduction to income tax expense immediately in the period that the credit is generated. 
to the extent permitted by tax law. In accounting for any temporary difference that arise, the Company has e lected the income 
statement method whereby deferred taxes are adjusted through income tax expense. 

The Company eva luates uncertain tax positions at the end of each reporting peri.od. The Company may recognize the tax benefit 
from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing 
authorities, based on !he technical merits of the position. The tax benefit recognized in the financial statements from any such 
position is measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 
settlement. For tax positions not meeting the "more likely than not" test. no tax benefit is recorded. Any interest and/or penalties 
related to income taxes are reported as a component of income tax expense. 

The Company has determined that it does not have any material unrecognized tax benefits or obligations as of December 31, 
2017. Fiscal years ending on or after December 3 I, 2014 remain subject to examination by federal and state tax authorities. 

Comprehensive Income 

Annual comprehensive income reflects the change in the Company ' s equity during 1he year arising from transactions and events 
other than investment by and distributions to shareholders. The 011 ly components of other comprehensive income consist of rea lized 
and unrealized gains and losses related to investment securities. 

Stock Compensation Plans 

The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions in the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with GAAP. The cost is measured based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. The expense 
measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and restricted stock based on the grant-date fair 
value of the award, and recognizes the cost over the vesting period as indicated in the option agreement. 
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Fair J/(l/ue of Financi"l Instruments 

GAAP defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in 
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date. The Company determines the fair values of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy established 
per GAAP which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when 
measuring fair value. Investment securities available-for-sale and servicing assets are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. 
Loans held for sale, certain impaired Joans and foreclosed assets are carried at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

Earnings Per Share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each period. 
Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur, upon the exercise of stock options or upon the vesting 
ofrestricted stock grants, any of which would result in the issuance of common stock that would then be shared in the net income 
of the Company. 

December 31, 

2017 2016 2015 

Basic earnings per share: 

Net income available to common shareholders $ 100,499 $ 13,773 $ 20,625 

Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 36,592,893 34,202,168 31 ,079,032 

Basic earnings per share $ 2.75 $ 0.40 $ 0.66 

Diluted earnings per share: 

Net income available to common shareholders, for diluted earnings per 
share $ 100,499 $ 13,773 $ 20,625 

Total weighted-average basic shares outstanding 36,592,893 34,202,168 31,079,032 

Add effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock grants 1,266,642 884,791 894,114 

Total weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 37,859,535 35,086,959 31,973,146 

Diluted earnings per share $ 2.65 $ 0.39 $ 0.65 

Anti-dilutive shares 253,338 I ,777 035 1,811 776 

Reclassifications and Corrections 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period's consolidated financial statements to place them on a comparable 
basis with the current year. Net income and shareholders' equity previously reported were not affected by these reclassifications. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

The following is a summaty of recent authoritative pronouncements that could impact the accounting, reporting, and/or disclosure 
of financial information by the Company. 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, 
"Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)" ("ASU 2014-09"). This standard is intended to clarify the principles for 
recognizing revenue and to develop a common revenue standard for GAAP. The Company's revenue is comprised ofloan servicing 
revenue, net gains on sales of loans and net interest income on financial assets and financial liabilities, all of which are explicitly 
excluded from the scope of ASU 2014-09, and non-interest income. The Company's revenue streams included in non-interest 
income that are within the scope of the guidance are primarily related to sales of foreclosed assets, construction supervision fees, 
title insurance income and trust fiduciary fees . The Company adopted the standard in the first quarter of2018 with no effect on 
the consolidated financial statements. 
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In Februa,y 2016, the FASB iSSl1ed A U o. 2016-02, ''Leases (Topic 842)' ("A U 2016-02" ). The fASB issued this ASU to 
increase transparency and comparabi li ty among organizations by recognizing lease a ets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet 
by lessee for those leases classifie.d as operating leases under current GAAP and disclosing key information about leasing 
arrangements. The amendments in this A U are effective for the Company on January 1, 2019. The impact of this standard \ ill 
depend on the ompany's lease portfolio at the time of the adoption and the Company is currently assessing the effect that the 
adoption of this standard will have on the consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2016, the FASB issued A SU No.2016-09, "Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee 
Share-Based PaymentAccounting ("ASU 2016-09"). ASU 2016-09 simplifies the accounting for share-based payment transactions 
for items including income tax consequences, classification of award as equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement 
of cash flows . U 2016-09 was effective and adopted by the Company on January I 2017. Sta1ting in the first quarter of 2017, 
stock-based compensation excess tax benefits or deficiencies are reflected in the Consolidated Statements oflncome as a component 
of the income tax expense where as they previously were recognized in equity. Additionally, the Consolidated tatements of Cash 
Flows now present excess tax benefits as an operatfog activity while any cash paid in li eu of shares for tax-withholding being 
classified as a financing act ivity. There were no excess tax benefits in the prior period presented for reclassification. Finally the 
Company will continue to incorporate actual forfeitures as they occur in the accrual of compensation expense. As a result of the 
adoption of A U 2016-09, the onsolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2017 was impacted as 
follows: a $1.0 million increase to net cash provided by operating activities and a $4.9 million increase to net cash used in financing 
activities. The adoption of ASU 2016-09 further resulted in a $0.03 increase in basic and diluted EPS for the year ended December 
31, 2017. See Note 10 for information regarding the additional impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, "Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments" ("ASU 2016-13"). 
This new guidance replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in currentstandards with an expected credit loss methodology 
and requires consideration of a broader range of information to determine credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 requires the 
measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held ar the reporting date based on historical experience, current 
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts and requires enhanced disclosures related to the significant estimates and 
judgments used in estimating credit losses, as well as the credit quality and underwriting standards ofan organization's portfolio . 
In addition, ASU 2016-13 amends the accounting for credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities and purchased financial 
assets with credit deterioration. SU 20 I G-1 3 will be effective for the Company on January I. 2020. The Company is currently 
evaluating the potential impact of ASU 2016-13 on the consol idated financial statements. In that regard, a cross-functional working 
group has been formed, under the direction of the Company's Chief Financial Officer and Chief Cred it Ofiicel'. The working group 
is comprised of individuals from various functional areas including credit, risk management finance and information technology 
among others. The ompany is currently developing an implementation plan to include assessment of proces es, portfolio 
segmentation model development, system requirements and the identification of data and resource needs, among other things. 
The ompany has also selected a third-party vendor solution to assist in the application of the ASU 2016-13 . While the ompany 
is curremly unable to reasonably estimate the impactofadoptingA U 2016- 13, the impact of adoplion is expected to be significantly 
influenced by the composition characteristics and quality of loan and securities portfolios as well as the prevailing economic 
conditions and forecasts as of the adoption date. 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-0 I "Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Clarifying the Definition of a 
Business" ("ASU 2017-01 "). ASU 2017-01 clarifies the definition and provides a more robust framework to use in determining 
when a set of assets and activities constitutes a business. ASU 2017-0 I is intended to provide guidance when evaluating whether 
transactions shou ld be accounted for as acquisitions or disposals) of assets or businesses. ASU 2017-01 will be effective for the 
Company on January 1, 2018. The Company does not expect this amendment to have a material effect on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

In Janua,y 2017 the FASB issuedASU 2017-04, ' Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic350)- Si111plifying the Test for Goodwill 
Impairment ( 'A U 2017-04"). This ASU eliminates Step 2 from the goodwi l I impairment test. Under the new guidance, entities 
shou ld perform its annual or interim goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying 
amount and recognize an impairment charge for the a111ount by which the carrying amount exceeds the repo11ing nnit s fair va lue. 
Additionally, this ASU eliminates the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount to perform a 
qualitative assessment and if it fails that qualitative test, to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. The amendments in 
this ASU are effective for th.e Company on January 1, 2020, with early adoption permitted for interim or annual goodwi II impairment 
tests performed on testing dates a1ter January 1, 2017. The Company elected to early adopt ASU 2017-04 in the fourth quarter of 
2017. Refer to Note 2. Title Insurance Business for information on this adoption. 
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In February 2017, the FASB issued A SU No. 2017-05, "Other Income - Gains and Losses from the Derecognition ofNonfinancial 
Assets (Subtopic 610-20)- Clarifying the Scope of Asset Derecognition Guidance and Accounting for Partial Sales ofNonfinancial 
Assets" ("ASU 2017-05"). ASU 2017-05 clarifies the scope of Subtopic 610-20 and adds guidance on nonfinancial asset 
derecognition as well as the accounting for partial sales of nonfinancial assets. The amendments conform the derecognition 
guidance on nonfinancial assets with the model for transactions in the new revenue standard. ASU 2017-05 will be effective for 
the Company on January I, 2018 and is not expected to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, "Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) - Scope of Modification 
Accounting" ("ASU 2017-09"). ASU 2017-09 clarifies when changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award 
should be accounted for as a modification . This guidance indicates modification accounting is required when the fair value, vesting 
conditions, or classification of the award changes. ASU 2017-09 will be effective for the Company on January I, 2018 and is not 
expected to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements . 

In August 2017, the FASB issuedASUNo. 2017-12, "Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815)-Targeted Improvements to Accounting 
for HedgingActivities" ("ASU 2017-12"). ASU 2017-12 amends the hedge accounting recognition and presentation requirements 
in ASC 815 to improve the transparency and understandability of information conveyed to financial statement users about an 
entity's risk management activities to better align the entity's financial reporting for hedging relationships with those risk 
management activities and to reduce the complexity of and simplify the application of hedge accounting. ASU 2017-12 will be 
effective for the Company on Januaiy I, 2019 and is not expected to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, "Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): 
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income" ("ASU 2018-02") . ASU 2018-02 
addresses the income tax accounting treatment of the stranded tax effects within other comprehensive income. The ASU allows 
for an entity to reclassify the stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act from accumulated other comprehensive 
income to retained earnings. ASU 2018-02 will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 
The Company will early adoptASU 2018-02 in the first quarter of2018 and will reclassify its stranded tax debit of$244 thousand 
within accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings at March 31, 2018. 

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Company's balance sheets, statements of income and cash flows. 

Note 2. Title Insurance Business 

Business Combination 

On February 1, 2017, the Company completed its acquisition ofReltco, Inc. and National Assurance Title, Inc. ( collectively referred 
to as "Reltco"), two nationwide title agencies under common control based in Tampa, Florida. The acquisition continues the 
Company's growth strategy, including vertically integrating with complementary services to deliver a high-quality customer 
experience with speed. 

On the acquisition date, the fair value ofReltco included $5.8 million in assets and $4.7 million in liabilities. The total acquisition 
gross consideration at the time of the transaction, including earn-out contingent consideration was approximately $15 .8 million. 
The acquisition was valued at $12.7 million after consideration of the applicable fair value adjustments to the earn-out, resulting 
in the Company paying $7.8 million in cash and issuing 27,724 shares of its common stock at closing in addition to an earn-out 
ofup to 184,012 shares of its stock and $3.8 million in cash, in exchange for all of the outstanding shares of Reltco . The earn-out 
was recorded as a $4.3 million contingent liability on the acquisition date and is earned proportionally based on the ratio of the 
new subsidiary's actual future aggregate net income after tax divided by a target net income after tax of approximately $6.0 
million overthe four year earn-out period. Fair value measurement of the earn-out was calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation. 
The Monte Carlo Simulation simulates 100,000 trials to assess the expected market price as of the earn-out measurement date at 
the end of each of the next four years based on the Cox, Ross & Rubinstein option pricing methodology. The Monte Carlo Simulation 
utilized various assumptions that include a risk free rate of return through the end of each measurement period equivalent to that 
of a U.S. Treasury, expected volatility of30.00% over four years and a dividend yield of 0.40%. 
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The merger was accounted for in accordance with the acqu isition method of accounting and the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date separately from goodwi ll. The estimated 
fair values ofassets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on the information availableallhe date oftheacquisition. Management 
continues to evaluate these fair values, which are subject to revision as additional information becomes available. Contingent 
consideration is recorded at fair value based on the terms of the purchase agreement wi th subsequent qua11erly changes in fair 
value recorded through earnings. The fair value of contingent consideration upon acquisition was $4.3 million and increased by 
$350 thousand during the period leading up to the October 31 20'17 impairment assessment date discussed below. During th i 
pre-impairment assessment period fair value was estimated using the Monte arlo Simulation. The assumptions utilized include 
a risk-free rate of return through the end of each measurement period equivalent to that of a U.S. Treasury expected vo lalility 
of30.00% over the remaining 3.25 years and a dividend yield of0.51 %. 

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price on the date of acquisition to assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed based on their estimated fair values: 

Fair value of assets acquired 

Cash 

Accounts receivable 

Intangible assets 

Total assets acquired 

Fair value of liabilities assumed 

Contingent consideration 

Accounts payable and other liabilities 

Total liabilities assumed 

Net assets acquired 

Purchase price 

Common shares issued 

Purchase price per share of the Company's common stock 

Company common stock issued 

Cash 

Total purchase price 

Goodwill 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

102 

159 

5,505 

5,766 

4,300 

381 

4,681 

I 085 

27,724 

20.38 

565 

7,798 

8,363 

7 278 

Goodwill recorded represents future revenues and efficiencies gained through 1he Reltco acquisition . Goodwill in this transaction 
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. At the date of acquisition, intangible assets consisted of trade names of$ I .2 
million , customer relationships of$3.9 million and non-compete agreements of$405 thousand. 

The Company recorded merger expenses of $766 thousand and $115 thousand during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 
2016, respectively, related to the Reltco acquisition . 

Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment 

Goodwill and intangible assets arc evaluated for potential impairment annually or when circumstances indicate potential impairment 
may have occurred. Impairment' losses, if any are determined based upon the excess of carrying value over the estimated fair value 
of the asset. 

As of October 3 ·1, 2017 the ompany determined that its goodwill and certain intangible assets related to the Reltco business 
combination had indications of impairment. Reltco ' s financial performance was significantly lower during the first nine-months 
ofoperations and expectations of future profitability for the reporting unit were also lower than originally expected due to a slowing 
of refinance activity in the morlgage industty. The slowing of refinance activity in the mortgage industry was largely driven by 
increased levels of market rates during 2017. 
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In performing the goodwill impairment t~ ting and measurement proces. to identify possible impairment. the estimated fair value 
ofthe Reltco reporting unit was developed using the income and market approaches to value Reltco. The income approach consisted 
of discouming projected long-term future cash !'lows, which are derived from interna l forecasts and economic expectations for 
Reltco. The market valuation approach utilized revenue and EBITDA multiples from comparable market transactions. 

The results of the impairment test indicated that the estimated fair a lue of Reltco was less than book value which resulted in a 
goodwill impairment charge of$7.3 million in accordance with accounting for Intangibles Goodwill and other under A 360. 
Th is non-cash goodwi 11 i mpairmem charge to earnings was recorded as a component of impairment expense on goodwi 11 and other 
intangibles in the consolidated statement of income. 

While the intangibles subject to amortization were determined to be recoverable based on an undiscounted cash flow analysis, 
impairment of$720 thousand was realized for indefinite life tradenames. This non-cash intangible impairment charge to earnings 
wa recorded as a component of impairment expense on goodwill and other intangibles in the consolidated statement of income. 

The following is a summary of activity in goodwill for the Reltco reporting unit: 

Balance, December 31, 2016 

Goodwill acquired during 2017 

Accumulated impairment losses 

Balance, December 31, 2017 

$ 

$ 

7,278 

(7,278) 

As a result ofReltco's results of operations and the direct contractual inclusion of impairment losses in the determination of earn 
out consideration, the fair value of the contingent consideration decreased by $4.4 million, which is recorded as a component of 
impairment expense on goodwi ll and other intangibles in the consolidated statement of income. The Company subsequently 
mod'ified the acquisition contract to change lhe definition of net income related to the earn-out contingent consideration which 
resulted in $1.6 million in salaries and employee benefit expense. 

Following is a summary of activity in contingent consideration for the Reltco reporting unit: 

Balance, December 31, 2016 

Contingent consideration recorded upon acquisition 

Fair value adjustments prior to October 31, 2017 impairment assessment 

Impact of impairment assessment 

Effect of purchase contract modification 

Balance, December 31, 2017 

$ 

$ 

4,300 

350 

(4,350) 

1,600 

1,900 

Fair value of contingent consideration was estimated using the Monte Carlo Simulation. The assumptions utilized in the determining 
the impact of the impairment assessment and subsequent purchase contract modification include a risk-free rate of return through 
the end of each measurement period equivalent ·to that of a U.S. TreaSUI)' expected volati lity of 25.00% over the remaining 3.00 
years and a dividend yield of 0.51 %. 

Pro Formas 

The following pro forma financial information reflects the Company's estimated consolidated proforma results of operations as 
if the Reltco acquisition occurred on January l, of each of the below years: 

Revenue (net interest income and noninterest income) 

Net income available to common shareholders 

Basic earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share 

$ 

106 

2017 

251,723 

100,537 

2.75 

2.66 

2016 2015 

$ 148,322 $ 116,582 

15,363 21,451 

0.45 0.69 

0.44 0.67 



Note 3. Unconsolidated Joint Venture 
On October I, 2017, the Company closed the digital banking joint venture between Live Oak Banking Company and First Data 

Corporation ("First Data"). The new company, named Apiture, combines First Data's and the Bank's digital banking platforms, 

products, services, and certain human resources used in the creation and delivery of technology solutions for financial institutions. 

The contributed assets of both the Company and First Data are considered businesses in accordance with relevant accounting 

standards. At closing both the Bank and First Data received equal voting interests in Apiture in exchange for their respective 

contributions. As a term of the closing agreements, First Data is entitled to a preference in Apiture's cash earnings from the date 

of closing through December 3 I, 20 I 7 and all of 2018, not to exceed $ I 8.0 million and $18.9 million, respectively. 

As a result of this transaction, the Company and F irst Data each have, directly or indirectly equal voting interests in Apiture. In 
addition, the ompany has analyzed the Contribution Agreemen t and determined thatApiture is not a variable interest entity. The 
Company also considered the partners' participating rights under the Contribution Agreement and determ i.ned that the joint venture 
partners have the ability to participate in major decisions, which equates to share_d decision making. Accordingly, the Bank has 
significant influence but does not control the joint venture. Therefore, the joint venture will be accounted for as an equity method 
investment effective on October 1, 2017 (the date of the transaction) . Under the equity method of accounting, the net equity 
investment of the Bank and the Bank's shar of net income or loss from the unconsolidated entity will be reflected in the Company's 
consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of income. 

The estimated fair value of Apiture at the date of closing was approximately $150 million. Based on the aforementioned cash 
earnings preference to First Data during 2017 and 2018, the valuation of equity interests received in exchange for contributions 
by the two initial investors was unequal. As a consequence of this preference the initial economic interest in Apiture for First Data 
was equal to 54.7% or $82.0 mi ti ion. while the Company's initial economic interest in A piture was equal to 45 .3%, or $68.0 million. 
As the Company had no carrying amount for its contribution in the formation of Apiture, the transaction resulted in the recognition 
of a $68.0 million equity method investment included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet and a one-time pre-tax gain 
of the same amount reflected in gain on contribution to equity method investment on the consolidated income statement at the 
date of closing. The estimated fair value of Apiture and the related initial economic interests of investors were based on a discounted 
cash flows which are inherently subjective by nature. 

As a result of unequal economic interests arising from the cash earnings preference, distribution rights and priorities set foith in 
the Contribution Agreement differ from what is reflected by the underlying percentage voting interests of First Data and Live Oak. 
Accordingly, GAAP income (loss) is allocated utilizing the hypothetical liquidation at book value ("HLBV") method. Under the 
HLBV method, in which we allocate income or loss based on the change in each unitholders' claim on the net assets of Apiture at 
period end, after adjusting for any distributions or contributions made during such period. The HLBV method is commonly applied 
to equity investments where cash distribution percentages vary at different points in time and are not directly linked to an equity 
holder's ownership percentage. 

The HLBV method is a balance sheet-focused approach. A calculation is prepared at each balance sheet date to determine the 
amount that unitholders would receive if Apiture were to liquidate all of its assets (at GAAP net book value) and distribute the 
resulting proceeds to its creditors and unitholders based on the contractually defined liquidation priorities. The difference between 
the calculated liquidation distribution amounts at the beginning and the end of the repo1ting period, after adjusting for capital 
contributions and distributions, is used to derive each unitholder's share of the income (loss) for the period. Due to the stated cash 
earnings preference to First Data and because the HLBV method incorporates non-cash items such as amortization e ·pense, in 
any given period, income or loss may be allocated disproportionately to unitholders as compared to their respective owner hip 
percentage in our operating partnership, and net income (loss) attributable to the Bank could be more or less net income than actual 
cash distributions received and more or less income or loss than what may be received in the event of an actual liquidation. 
Additionally, the HLBV method could result in no net income attributable to the Company during a period when Apiture reports 
net income. 
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Note 4. Securities 

The carrying amount of securities and their approximate fair values are reflected in the following table: 

December 31 1 2017 

US government agencies 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Mutual fund 

Total 

December 31 2 2016 

US government agencies 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Mutual fund 

Total 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Amortized 
Cost 

22,778 $ 

70,167 

2,090 

95,035 $ 

17,803 $ 

52,301 

2,012 

72J 16 $ 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, there were no sales of securities. 

Unrealized 
Gains 

Unrealized Fair 
Losses Value 

3 $ 157 $ 22,624 

1,472 68,696 

55 2,035 

4 $ 1,684 $ 93,355 

52 $ 32 $ 17,823 

3 1,031 51,273 

52 1,960 

1,115 $ 71,056 
======= 

55 $ 

During the year ended December 31, 2016, one security was sold for $1.9 million resulting in a net gain of $1 thousand. 

Twelve securities were sold for $17.7 million resulting in a net gain on sale of securities of $13 thousand during the year ended 
December 31, 2015. 

The following tables show gross unrealized losses and fair value, aggregated by investment category and length of time that the 
individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position. 

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
Dcccmbcr31 2 2017 V11lue Losses Value Losses Value Losses 

US government agencies $ 14,842 $ 100 $ 6,465 $ 57 $ 21,307 $ 157 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 23,481 439 40,648 1,033 64,129 1,472 

Mutual fund 2,035 55 2,035 55 

Total $ 38,323 $ 539 $ 49,148 $ 1, 145 $ 87.471 $ 1,684 

Less Than 12 Months l2 Months or More Total 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized 
December 31, 2016 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses 

US government agencies $ 6,508 $ 32 $ $ $ 6,508 $ 32 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 49,109 1,017 1,635 14 50,744 1,031 

Mutual fund 1,960 52 1,960 52 

Total $ 57,577 $ 1,101 $ 1,635 $ 14 $ 59,212 $ 1,115 

At December 31, 2017, there were twenty-three residential mortgage-backed securities, three US government agencies and the 
504 mutual fund in unrealized loss positions for greater than 12 months and eight residential mortgage-backed securities and five 
US government agency securities in unrealized loss position for less than 12 months. Unrealized losses at December 31, 2016 
consisted of two residential mortgage-backed securities in unrealized loss positions for greater than 12 months and three US 
government agency securities, twenty-two residential mortgage-backed securities and the 504 Fund mutual fund investment in 
unrealized loss positions for less than 12 months. 
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These unrealized losses are primarily the result of volatility in the market and are related to market interest rates . Since none of 
the unrealized losses relate to marketability of the securities or the issuer's ability to honor redemption obligations, and the Company 
has the intent and ability to hold these securilies until they recover their value, none of lhe securities are deemed to be other than 
temporarily impaired. 

All residential mortgage-backed securities in the Company's portfolio at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were backed 
by US government sponsored enterprises ("GSEs"). 

The following is a summary of investment securities by maturity: 

US government agencies 

Within one year 

One to five years 

Total 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 

Five to ten years 

After 10 years 

Total 

Total 

$ 

$ 

Available-for-sale 

Amortized 
cost 

6,323 $ 

16,455 

22,778 

6,815 

63,352 

70,167 

92,945 $ 

Fair 
value 

6,295 

16,329 

22,624 

6,701 

61,995 

68,696 

91.320 
======= 

The table above reflects contractual maturities. Actual results will differ as the loans underlying the mortgage-backed securities 
may repay sooner than scheduled. This table excludes the 504 Fund mutual fund investment. 

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, investment securities with a fair market value of $2.5 million and $1.2 million, respectively, 
were pledged to the Company's trust department for uninsured trust assets held by the trust department and $100 thousand was 
pledged to the Ohio State Treasurer to allow the ompany's trust department to conduct business in the State of Ohio. In addition, 
$1.5 million, was pledged to secure a line of credit with the Company's correspondent bank at December 31, 2016. 
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Note 5. Loans Held for Investment and Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses 

Loan and Lease Portfolio Segments 

The following describes the risk characteristics relevant to each of the portfolio segments . Each loan and lease category is assigned 
a risk grade during the origination and closing process based on criteria described later in this section. 

Commercial and industrial 

Commercial and industrial loans (C&I) receive similar underwriting treatment as commercial real estate loans in thatthe repayment 
source is analyzed to determine its ability to meet cash flow coverage requirements as set forth by Bank policies. Repayment of 
the Bank's C&I loans generally comes from the generation of cash flow as the result of the borrower's business operations. This 
business cycle itself brings a certain level ofrisk to the portfolio. In some instances, these loans may carry a higher degree ofrisk 
due to a variety ofreasons-illiquid collateral, specialized equipment, highly depreciable assets, uncollectable accounts receivable, 
revolving balances, or simply being unsecured. As a result of these characteristics, the SBA guarantee on these loans is an important 
factor in mitigating risk. 

Construction and Development 

Construction and development loans are for the purpose of acquisition and development of land to be improved through the 
construction of commercial buildings. Such loans are usually paid off through the conversion to permanent financing for the long­
term benefit of the borrower's ongoing operations. At the completion of the project, if the loan is converted to permanent financing 
or if scheduled loan amortization begins, it is then reclassified to the "Commercial Real Estate" segment. Underwriting of 
construction and development loans typically includes analysis of not only the borrower' s financial condition and ability to meet 
the required debt obligations, but also the general market conditions associated with the area and type of project being funded. 

Commercial Real Estate 

Commercial real estate loans are extensions of credit secured by owner occupied and non-owner occupied collateral. Underwriting 
generally involves intensive analysis of the financial strength of the borrower and guarantor, liquidation value of the subject 
collateral, the associated unguaranteed exposure, and any available secondary sources of repayment, with the greatest emphasis 
given to a borrower's capacity to meet cash flow coverage requirements as set forth by Bank policies. Such repayment of owner 
occupied loans is commonly derived from the successful ongoing operations of the business occupying the property. These typically 
include small businesses and professional practices. 

Commercial Land 

Commercial land loans are extensions of credit secured by farmland. Such loans are often for land improvements related to 
agricultural endeavors that may include construction of new specialized facilities . These loans are usually repaid through the 
conversion to permanent financing, or if scheduled loan amortization begins, for the long-term benefit of the borrower' s ongoing 
operations. Underwriting generally involves intensive analysis of the financial strength of the borrower and guarantor, liquidation 
value of the subject collateral, the associated unguaranteed exposure, and any available secondary sources of repayment, with the 
greatest emphasis given to a borrower's capacity to meet cash flow coverage requirements as set forth by Bank policies. 

Each of the loan types referenced in the sections above is further segmented into verticals in which the Bank chooses to operate. 
The Bank chooses to finance businesses operating in specific industries because of certain similarities. The similarities range from 
historical default and loss characteristics to business operations. However, there are differences that create the necessity to 
underwrite these loans according to varying criteria and guidelines . When underwriting a loan, the Bank considers numerous 
factors such as cash flow coverage, the credit scores of the guarantors, revenue growth, practice ownership experience and debt 
service capacity. Minimum guidelines have been set with regard to these various factors and deviations from those guidelines 
require compensating strengths when considering a proposed loan. 
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Loans and leases consist of the following: 

December 31, December 31, 
2017 2016 

Commercial & Industrial 
Agriculture $ 3,274 $ 1,714 

Death Care Management 13,495 9,684 

Healthcare 43 ,301 37,270 

Independent Pharmacies 99,920 83,677 

Registered Investment Advisors 93,770 68,335 

Veterinary Industry 46,387 38,930 
Other Industries I 84,903 94,836 

Total 485,050 334,446 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 34,188 32,372 

Death Care Management 6,119 3,956 

Healthcare 49,770 30,467 

Independent Pharmacies 1,496 2,013 

Registered Investment Advisors 376 294 

Veterinary Industry 13,184 11,514 

Other Industries 58,120 31,715 
Total 163,253 112,331 

Commercial Real Estate 
Agriculture 46,717 5,591 

Death Care Management 67,381 52,510 

Healthcare 126,631 114,281 

Independent Pharmacies 19,028 15,151 

Registered Investment Advisors 11,789 11,462 

Veterinary Industry 113,932 102,906 

Other Industries 134,172 46,245 

Total 519,650 348,146 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 178,897 113,569 

Total 178,897 113,569 
Total Loans and Leases 1 1,346,850 908,492 

Net Deferred Costs 8,545 7,648 

Discount on SBA 7(a) and USDA Unguaranteed 2 (11,422) (8,574) 

Loans and Leases, Net of Unearned $ 113431973 $ 9071566 

Total loans and leases include $99.7 million and $37.7 million of U.S. government guaranteed loans as ofDecember 31, 
2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. 

2 The Company measures the carrying value of the retained portion of loans sold at fair value under ASC Subtopic 
825-10. The value of these retained loan balances is discounted based on the estimates derived from comparable 
unguaranteed loan sales. 
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Credit Risk Profile 

The Bank uses internal Joan and lease reviews to assess the performance of individual loans and leases by industry segment. An 
independent review of the Joan and lease portfolio is performed annually by an external firm. The goal of the Bank's annual review 
of each borrower's financial performance is to validate the adequacy of the risk grade assigned. 

The Bank uses a grading system to rank the quality of each loan and lease. The grade is periodically evaluated and adjusted as 
performance dictates. Loan and lease grades I through 4 are passing grades and grade 5 is special mention. Collectively, grades 
6 through 8 represent classified loans and leases in the Bank's portfolio. The following guidelines govern the assignment of these 
risk grades: 

Exceptional (1 Rated): These loans and leases are of the highest quality, with strong, well-documented sources ofrepayment. Debt 
service coverage ("DS ) is over 1. 75X based on historical results. Secondary source of repayment is strong, with a Joan to value 
("LTV") of 65% or less if secured solely by commercial real estate ("CRE"). Discounted collateral coverage from all sources 
should exceed 125%. Guarantors have credit scores above 740. 

Quality (2 Rated): These loans and leases are of good qua I ity, with good. well-documented sources of repayment. D is over 
l .25X based on historical or pro-forma results. Secondary source ofrepayment is good, with a LTV of75% ot less if secured solely 
by CRE. Discounted collateral coverage should exceed I 00%. Guarantors have credit scores above 700. 

Acceptable (3 rated): These loans and leases are of acceptable quality, with acceptable sources ofrepayment. DSC ofover I.OOX 
based on historical or pro-forma results. Companies that do not meet these credit metrics must be evaluated to determine if they 
should be graded below this level. 

Acceptable ( 4 rated): These loans and leases are considered very weak pass. These loans and leases are riskier than a 3-rated credit, 
but due to various mitigating factors are not considered a Special Mention or worse. The mitigating factors must clear! be identified 
to offset further downgrade. Examples of loans and leases that may be put in this category include start-up loans and leases and 
loans and leases with less than I: 1 cash flow coverage with other sources ofrepayment. 

Special mention (5 rated): These loans and leases are considered as emerging problems, with potentially unsatisfactory 
characteristics. These loans and leases require greater management attention. A loan or lease may be put into this category if the 
Bank is unable to obtain financial reporting from a company to fully evaluate its position. 

Substandard (6 rated): Loans and leases graded Substandard are inadequately protected by current sound net.worth, paying capacity 
of the borrower, or pledged collateral. They typically have unsatisfactory characteristics causing more than acceptable levels of 
risk, and have one or more well-defined weaknesses that could jeopardize the repayment of the debt. 

Doubtful (7 rated): Loans and leases graded Doubtful have inherent weaknesses that make collection or liquidation in full 
questionable. Loans and leases graded Doubtful must be placed on non-accrual status. 

Loss (8 rated): Loss rated loans and leases are considered uncollectible and of such little value that their continuance as an active 
Bank asset is not warranted. The asset should be charged off, even though partial recovery may be possible in the future . 
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The following tables summarize the risk grades of each category: 

Risk Grades Risk Grade Risk Grades 
] - 4 5 6-8 Total 

December 31, 2017 

Commercial & Industrial 
Agriculture $ 3,052 $ 222 $ $ 3,274 

Death Care Management 13,371 117 7 13,495 

Healthcare 36,530 2,246 4,525 43,301 

Independent Pharmacies 86,152 5,541 8,227 99,920 

Registered Investment Advisors 90,91 I 2,134 725 93,770 

Veterinary Industry 42,313 1,704 2,370 46,387 

Other Industries 184,540 363 184,903 

Total 456,869 12,327 15,854 485,050 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 31,738 2,450 34,188 

Death Care Management 6,119 6,119 

Healthcare 47,813 699 1,258 49,770 

Independent Pharmacies 1,496 1,496 

Registered Investment Advisors 376 376 

Veterinary Industry 13,184 13,184 

Other Industries 58,120 58,120 

Total 158,846 3,149 1,258 163,253 
Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 46,717 46,717 

Death Care Management 60,671 3,881 2,829 67,381 

Healthcare 112,321 9,992 4,318 126,631 

Independent Pharmacies 15,641 1,825 1,562 19,028 

Registered Investment Advisors 11,649 140 11,789 

Veterinary Industry 97,065 2,948 13,919 113,932 

Other Industries 133,493 679 134,172 

Total 477,557 19,465 22,628 519,650 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 176,811 2,086 178,897 

Total 176,811 2,086 178,897 
Total1 

$ 1,270,083 $ 37,027 $ 39,740 $ 1,346,850 
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Risk Grades Risk Grade Risk Grades 
1 - 4 5 6-8 Total 

December 31 2 2016 

Commercial & Industrial 
Agriculture $ 1,656 $ 58 $ $ 1,714 

Death Care Management 9,452 121 111 9,684 

Healthcare 28,723 681 7,866 37,270 

Independent Pharmacies 73,948 6,542 3,187 83,677 

Registered Investment Advisors 65,297 2,246 792 68,335 

Veterinary Industry 34,407 1,967 2,556 38,930 

Other Industries 94,736 100 94,836 

Total 308,219 11,715 14,512 334,446 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 32,061 311 32,372 

Death Care Management 3,956 3,956 

Healthcare 30,467 30,467 

Independent Pharmacies 2,013 2,013 

Registered Investment Advisors 294 294 

Veterinary Industry 9,725 1,789 11,514 

Other Industries 31,715 31,715 

Total 110,231 1,789 311 112,331 
Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 5,591 5,591 

Death Care Management 46,427 4,314 1,769 52,510 

Healthcare 103,097 7,142 4,042 114,281 

Independent Pharmacies 12,654 1,968 529 15,151 

Registered Investment Advisors 11,462 11,462 

Veterinary Industry 88,168 3,995 10,743 102,906 

Other Industries 46,245 46,245 

Total 313,644 17,419 17,083 348,146 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 112,333 1,138 98 113,569 

Total 112,333 1,138 98 113,569 
Total1 $ 844,427 $ 32,061 $ 32,004 $ 9081492 

Total loans and leases include $99. 7 million of U.S. government guaranteed loans as of December 31, 2017, segregated 
by risk grade as follows: Risk Grades 1 - 4 = $65.0 million, Risk Grade 5 = $6.7 million , Risk Grades 6 - 8 = $28.0 
million. As of December 31, 2016 total loans and leases include $37.7 million of U.S. government guaranteed loans, 
segregated by risk grade as follows: Risk Grades 1 - 4 = $8.7 million, Risk Grade 5 = $7.7 million, Risk Grades 6- 8 = 
$21.3 million. 
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Past Due Loans and Leases 

Loans and leasecS are considered past due if the required principal and interest payments have not been received as of the date such 
payments were due. Loans and leases less than 30 days pas( due and accruing are included within current loans and leases shown 
below. T he following tables show an age analysis of pas t due loans and leases as of the dates presented. 

Less Than 
30 Days 30-89 Days Greater 90 

Past Olle & 30-89 Days Past Due & Than 90 Total No1 Days or More 
Not P,tSl Due Not Days Past Accruing Total Loans Past Due & 

Accruing & Accruing Accrulll!!, Due & Past Due Current and Leases Still Accruing 

December 31, 2017 

Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture $ $ $ $ $ $ 3,274 $ 3,274 $ 

Death Care Management 13,495 13,495 

Healthcare 788 131 14 3,004 3,937 39,364 43,301 

Independent Phannacies 236 2,930 1,349 3,376 7,891 92,029 99,920 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 321 321 93A49 93.770 

Veterinary Industry 212 594 508 797 2,1 l I 44,276 46,387 

Other Industries 184 903 184.903 
Total 1,236 3,976 1,871 7,177 14,260 470,790 485,050 

Construction & Development 

Agriculture 34,188 34.188 

Death Care Management 6,119 6,119 

Healthcare 49,770 49,770 

Independent Pharmacies 1,496 1,496 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 376 376 

Veterinary Industry 13,184 13,184 

Other Industries 58,120 58,120 

Total 163,253 163,253 

Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 46,717 46,717 

Death Care Management 168 1,391 1,559 65,822 67,381 

Healthcare 40 54 1,916 1,550 3,560 123,071 126,63 1 

Independent Phmmacies 1.562 1,562 17,466 19,028 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 11 ,789 11 ,789 

Veterinary Industry 1.804 3,226 4,765 9,795 104,137 113,932 

Other Industries 134.172 134,172 

Total 1,844 3,280 2,084 9,268 16,476 503,174 519,650 

Comme,·cial Land 

Agriculture 178,897 178.897 

Total 178,897 178,897 

Tota11 3,080 7,256 3,955 16,445 30,736 $1,316,114 1,346,850 
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Les Than 30 Gremer 90 
Dn}'s Past 30-89 On s 30-89 Days Than 90 Total Nol Days or More 

Due& Not Pas1 Due Past Due & 0(1yS Accruing Tmal Loans Pat Due& 
Accruing & Accruing Not i\ccruing Past Om: & Past Due Current and Lenses Still Accruing 

December 31, 2016 

Commercial & Industrial 

Agriculture $ $ $ $ $ $ 1.714 $ 1,714 $ 

Death Care Management 9.684 9,684 

Healthcare 272 496 5,920 6,688 30,582 37,270 

Independent Phannacies 42 293 408 2,349 3,092 80.585 83,677 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 68,335 68,335 

Veterinary Industry 32 I51 646 1,441 2,270 36,660 38,930 

Other Industries 94.836 94836 

Total 74 716 1,550 9,710 12,050 322,396 334,446 

Construction & Development 

Agriculture 231 80 311 32,061 32,372 

Death Care Management 3,956 3,956 

Healthcare 30,467 30,467 

Independent Phaimacies 2,013 2,013 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 294 294 

Veterinary Industry 11,514 11,514 

Other Industries 3 1,7 15 31,715 

Total 231 80 311 112,020 11 2 33 1 

Commercial Real Estate 

Agriculture 5,591 5,591 

Death Care Management 188 1,423 1.6]] 50,899 52,510 

Healthcare 3,180 45 3.225 111 ,056 114,281 

Independent Phamiacies 529 529 14,622 15,151 

Registered Investment 
Advisors 11,462 11,462 

Veterinary Industry 898 3,981 737 5.)58 10.774 92,132 102,906 

Other Industries 46,245 46,245 

Total 898 3,981 4,105 7,155 16,139 332,007 348,146 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 58 40 98 113,471 113,569 

Total 58 40 98 113,471 I 13 569 

Total1 $ 1,261 4 8 17 5655 16,86- s 28,598 879,894 S 908,492 $ 

Toi al loans and leases include $99.7 million of U.S. government guaranteed loans as of December 3 1, 2017 of which 
$15.0 million is greater than 90 days past due $7.4 million is 30-89 days past due and $77.3 million is included in current 
loans and leases as presented above. As of December 31 20 16, total loans and leases include $37.7 million of U.S. 

government guaranteed loans, of which $13 .7 million is greater than 90 days past due $6.8 million is 30-89 days past 
due and $ 17.2 million is included in current loans and leases as presented above. 
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Nonaccrual Loans and Leases 

Loans and leases that become 90 days delinquent or in cases where there is evidence that the borrowers ability to make the 
required payments is impaired. are placed in nonaccrual status and interest accrual is discontinued. lf interest on nonaccrual loans 
and leases had been accrued in accordance with the original terms. intere l income would have increased by approximately $1.1 
million $622 thousand and $794 thousand for the years ended December 3 1, 2017, 20 16, and 20 15. respectively. All nonaccrual 
loans and leases are incl.uded in the held for investment portfolio. 

Nonaccrual loans and leases as ofDecember 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 are as follows: 

December 31, 2017 

Commercial & Industrial 
Healthcare 

Independent Pharmacies 

Veterinary Industry 

Total 
Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management 

Healthcare 

Independent Pharmacies 

Veterinary Industry 

Total 
Total 

Dcccmbc1· 31 1 2016 

Commercial & Industrial 
Healthcare 

Independent Pharmacies 

Veterinary Industry 

Total 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 

Total 

Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management 

Healthcare 
Independent Pharmacies 
Veterinary Industry 

Total 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 
Total 

Total 
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Loan and Lease 
Balance 

Guaranteed 
Balance 

Unguaranteed 
Exposure 

$ 3,806 $ 3,235 $ 571 

$ 

4,961 

1,517 

10,284 

1,559 

3,506 

1,562 

6,569 

13,196 
23,480 $ 

3,906 

1,478 

8,619 

1,237 

2,719 

1,562 

1,055 

39 

1,665 

322 

787 

5,733 836 

11,251 1,945 

19,870 =$======3=,6=10= 

Loan and Lease Guaranteed Unguaranteed 
Balance Balance Exposure 

$ 6,416 $ 5,152 $ 1,264 

$ 

2,799 

2,119 

11,334 

231 

231 

1,611 

3,225 
529 

6,793 
12,158 

58 
58 

23,781 $ 

2,204 

2,079 

9,435 

173 

173 

1,263 

2,731 

5.395 
9,389 

595 

40 

1,899 

58 

58 

348 

494 
529 

1,398 
2,769 

58 
58 

18,997 $ 4,784 ======= 
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Allowance for Loan and Lease Loss Methodology 

The methodology and the estimation process for calculating the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses ("ALLL") is described 
below: 

Estimated credit losses should meet the criteria for accrual ofa loss contingency, i.e., a provision to the AL LL, set forth in GAAP. The 
Company's methodology for determining the ALLL is based on the requirements ofGAAP, the Interagency Policy Statement on 
the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses and other regulato,y and accounting pronouncements. The ALLL is determined by the 
sum oftluee separate components: (i) the impaired loan and lease component, which addresses specific reserves for impai1·ed loans 
and leases· (ii) the general reserve component, which addresses reserves for pools of homogeneous loans and leases; and (iii) an 
unallocated reserve component (if any) based on management sjudgment and experience. The loan and lease pools and impaired 
loans and leases are mutually exclusive; any loan or lease t.hat is impaired is excluded from its homogenous pool for purposes of 
that pool's reserve calculation, regardless of the level of impairment. 

The ALLL policy for pooled loans and leases is governed in accordance with banking regulatory guidance for homogenous pools 
of non-impaired loans and leases that have similar risk characteristics. The Company follows a consistent and structured approach 
for assessing the need for reserves within each individual loan and lease pool. 

Loans and leases are considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the creditor will be 
unable to collect all interest and principal payments due according to the originally contracted, or reasonably modified, terms of 
the loan or lease agreement. The ompany has determined that loans and leases that meet the criteria defined below must be 
reviewed quarterly to determine if they are impaired. 

All commercial loans and leases classified substandard or worse. 

Any other delinquent loan or lease that is in a nonaccrual status, or any loan or lease that is delinquent more than 89 days 
and still accruing interest. 

Any loan or lease which has been modified such that it meets the definition of a TDR. 

The Company's policy for impaired loan accounting subjects all loans and leases to impairment recognition; however, loan and 
lease relationships with unguaranteed credit exposure of less than $100,000 are generally not evaluated on an individual basis for 
impairment and instead are evaluated collectively using a methodology based on historical specific reserves on similar sized loans 
or leases. Any loan or lease not meeting the above criteria and delermined to be impaired is subjected to an impairment analysis, 
which is a calculation of the probable loss on the loan or lease. This portion is the loan's "impairment," and is established as a 
specific reserve against the loan or lease, or charged against the ALLL. 

Individual specific reserve amounts imply probability ofloss and may not be carried in the reserve indefinitely. When the amount 
of the actual loss becomes reasonably quantifiable, the amount of the loss is charged off against the ALLL, whether or not all 
liquidation and recovery efforts have been completed. If the total amount of the individual specific reserve that will eventually be 
charged off cannot yet be sufficiently quantified but some portion of the impairment can be viewed as a confirmed loss, then the 
confirmed loss portion should be charged off against the ALLL and the individual specific reserve reduced by a corresponding 
amount. 

For impaired loans and leases, the reserve amount is calculated on a loan or lease-specific basis. The Company utilizes two methods 
of analyzing impaired loans and leases not guaranteed by the SBA: 

The Fair Market Value of Collateral method utilizes the value at which the collateral could be sold considering the appraised 
value, appraisal discount rate, prior liens and selling costs. The amount of the reserve is the deficit of the estimated 
collateral value compared to the loan or lease balance. 

The Present Value of Future Cash Flows method takes into account the amount and timing of cash flows and the effective 
interest rate used to discount the cash flows. 
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The following tables detail activity in the allowance for loan and lease losses by portfolio segment allowance for the periods 
presented: 

Construction & Commercial Commercial Commercial 
Development Real Estate & Jnduslrial Land Total 

December 31 1 2017 

Beginning Balance $ 1,693 $ 5,897 $ 8,413 $ 2,206 $ 18,209 

Charge offs (1,177) (2,617) (58) (3,852) 

Recoveries 191 101 5 297 

Provision 337 4,269 4,854 76 9,536 

Ending Balance $ 2 030 $ 9,180 $ 10,751 $ 2,229 $ 24,190 

DcrcmbcrJI , 2016 

Beginning Balance $ 1,064 $ 2,486 $ 2,766 $ 1,099 $ 7,415 

Charge offs (707) (1,464) (63) (2,234) 

Recoveries 6 486 492 

Provision 629 4,112 6,625 1,170 12,536 

Ending Balance $ 1,693 $ 5,897 $ 8,413 $ 2,206 $ 18.209 

December 31 1 2015 

Beginning Balance $ 586 $ 2,291 $ 1,369 $ 161 $ 4,407 

Charge offs (164) (978) (1,142) 

Recoveries 131 213 344 

Provision 478 228 2,162 938 3,806 

Ending Balance $ 1,064 $ 2,486 $ 2,766 $ 1 099 $ 7,415 

The following tables detail the recorded allowance for loan and lease losses and the investment in loans and lease related to each 
portfolio segment, disaggregated on the basis of impairment evaluation methodology: 

Construction & Commercial Commercial Commercial 
December 31, 2017 Development Real Estate & Industrial Land Total 

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses: 

Loans and leases individually evaluated 
for impairment $ 157 $ 1,502 $ 1,126 $ $ 2,785 

Loans and leases collectively evaluated 
for impairment2 1,873 7,678 9,625 2,229 21,405 

Total allowance for loan and lease losses $ 2,030 $ 9 180 $ 10,75 1 $ 2,229 $ 24,190 

Loans and leases receivable 1
: 

Loans and leases individually evaluated 
for impairment $ 1,237 $ 17,105 $ 8,672 $ $ 27,014 

Loans and leases collectively evaluated 
for impairment2 162,016 502,545 476,378 178,897 1,319,836 

Total loans and leases receivable $ 163,253 $ 519,650 $ 485,050 $ l 78,897 $ 1,346,850 
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Construction 
& Commercial Commercial Commercial 

Dcctmbcr31, 2016 Development Real Estate & Industrial Land Total 

Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses: 

Loans and leases individually evaluated 
for impairment $ $ 1,496 $ 1,458 $ $ 2,954 

Loans and leases collectively evaluated 
for impairment2 1,693 4,401 6,955 2,206 15,255 

Total allowance for loan and lease losses $ 1,693 $ 5,897 $ 8,413 $ 2,206 $ 18,209 

Loans and Leases Receivable 1
: 

Loans and leases individually evaluated 
for impairment $ $ 16,359 $ 6,884 $ $ 23,243 

Loans and leases collectively evaluated 
for impairment" 112,331 331,787 327,562 113,569 885,249 

Total Joans and leases receivable $ 112,331 $ 348,146 $ 334,446 $ 113,569 $ 908,492 

Loans and leases receivable includes $99.7 million of U.S. government guaranteed loans as of December 31, 2017, of 
which $28.1 million are impaired. As of December 3 I, 2016, loans and leases receivable includes $37.7 million of U.S. 
government guaranteed loans, of which $22.1 million are considered impaired. 

2 Included in loans and leases collectively evaluated for impairment are impaired loans and leases with individual 
unguaranteed exposure of less than $100 thousand. As of December 31, 2017, these balances totaled $14.8 million, of 
which $13.2 million are guaranteed by the U.S. government and $1.6 million are unguaranteed. As ofDecember 31, 2016, 
these balances totaled $12.3 million, of which $10.0 million are guaranteed by the U.S. government and $2.3 million are 
unguaranteed. The allowance for loan and lease losses associated with these loans and leases totaled $279 thousand and 
$438 thousand as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. 
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Loans and leases classified as impaired as of the dates presented are summarized in the following tables. 

Recorded Guaranteed Unguaranteed 
December 31, 2017 Investment Balance Exposure 

Commercial & Industrial 
Death Care Management $ 7 $ $ 7 

Healthcare 4,551 3,235 1,316 

Independent Pharmacies 8,571 6,356 2,215 

Registered Investment Advisors 733 733 

Veterinary Industry 2,762 2,001 761 

Total 16,624 11,592 5,032 
Construction & Development 

Healthcare 1,237 944 293 
Total 1,237 944 293 

Commercial Real Estate 
Death Care Management 2,831 1,237 1,594 

Healthcare 4,315 2,967 1,348 

Independent Pharmacies 1,562 1,562 

Veterinary Industry 15,266 9,768 5,498 

Total 23,974 15,534 8,440 
Commercial Land 
Agriculture 

Total 
Total $ 41,835 $ 28,070 $ 13,765 

Recorded Guaranteed Unguaranteed 
December 31, 2016 Investment Balance Exposure 

Commercial & Industrial 
Death Care Management $ 111 $ $ 111 

Healthcare 7,923 5,453 2,470 

Independent Pharmacies 3,514 2,495 1,019 

Registered Investment Advisors 796 796 
Veterinary Industry 2,882 2,199 683 

Total 15,226 10,147 5,079 

Construction & Development 

Agriculture 300 233 67 

Total 300 233 67 

Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management 1,768 1,264 504 

Healthcare 4,044 2,985 1,059 

Independent Pharmacies 528 528 

Veterinary Industry 13,561 7,518 6,043 

Total 19,901 11,767 8,134 

Commercial Land 

Agriculture 91 91 

Total 91 91 

Total $ 35,518 $ 22,147 $ 13,371 
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The following table presents evaluated balances of loans and leases classified as impaired at the dates presented that carried an 
associated reserve as compared to those with no reserve. The recorded investment includes accrued interest and net deferred loan 
and lease fees or costs. 

December 31, 2017 

Recorded Investment 

With a With No Unpaid Related 
Recorded Recorded P,·incipal Allowance 
Allowance Allowance Total Balance Recorded 

Commercial & Industrial 
Death Care Management $ $ 7 $ 7 $ 7 $ 

Healthcare 3,521 1,030 4,551 5,643 165 

Independent Pharmacies 8,154 417 8,571 9,078 521 

Registered Investment Advisors 662 71 733 725 504 

Veterinary Industry 2,505 257 2,762 3,113 182 
Total 14,842 J,782 16,624 18,566 1,372 

Construction & Development 
Healthcare 1,237 1,237 1,258 157 

Total 1,237 J,237 1,258 157 
Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management 2,221 610 2,831 2,964 260 

Healthcare 3,717 598 4,315 4,332 192 

Independent Pharmacies 1,562 1,562 1,933 8 

Veterinary Industry 13,711 1,555 15,266 16,584 1,075 
Total 21,211 2,763 23,974 25,813 1,535 

Commercial Land 
Agriculture 58 

Total 58 
Total Impaired Loans and Leases $ 37l290 $ 42545 $ 412835 $ 452695 $ 31064 
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December 31, 2016 

Recorded Investment 

With a With No Unpaid Related 
Recorded Recorded Principal Allowance 
Allowance Allowance Total Balance Recorded 

Commercial & Industrial 
Death Care Management $ 8 $ 103 $ 111 $ 111 $ 
Healthcare 7,259 664 7,923 8,120 778 

Independent Pharmacies 3,184 330 3,514 3,610 327 

Registered Investment Advisors 796 796 792 514 
Veterinary Industry 2,754 128 2,882 3,369 106 

Total 14,001 1,225 15,226 16,002 1,726 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 300 300 311 13 
Total 300 300 311 13 

Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management 1,580 188 1,768 1,904 34 
Healthcare 3,514 530 4,044 4,042 47 
Independent Pharmacies 528 528 529 284 
Veterinary Industry 11,193 2,368 13,561 14,283 1,273 

Total 16,815 3,086 19,901 20,758 1,638 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 91 91 161 15 
Total 91 91 161 15 

Total Impaired Loans and Leases $ 31,207 $ 4,311 $ 35,518 $ 37,232 $ 3,392 
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The following table presents the average recorded investment of impaired loans and leases for each period presented and 
interest income recognized during the period in which the loans and leases were considered impaired. 

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

Jntrresl Interest lnltrest 
Average Income Average Income Averagt Income 
Balance Recognized Balance Recognized Balance Recognized 

Commercial & Industrial 

Death Care Management $ 8 $ $ 112 $ 1 $ $ 

Healthcare 6,101 53 7,513 81 3,375 276 

Independent Pharmacies 6,018 100 2,570 76 1,701 148 

Registered Investment Advisors 759 so 817 22 

Veterinary Industry 2,523 45 2,537 35 2,029 109 

Total 15,409 248 13,549 215 7,105 533 
Construction & Development 

Agriculture 317 

Healthcare 1,240 11 

Total 1,240 11 317 
Commercial Real Estate 

Death Care Management 2,882 so 1,789 7 1,420 

Healthcare 4,381 49 4,093 41 1,403 

Independent Pharmacies 1,708 538 3 

Veterinary Industry 14,605 536 13,554 336 10,870 556 

Other Industries 

Total 23,576 635 19,974 387 13,693 556 
Commercial Land 

Agriculture 113 294 

Total 113 294 
Total $40,338 $ 894 $34, 134 $ 602 $20,798 $ 1,089 
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The following table represent the types ofTDRs that were made during the periods presented: 

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

All Restructurings All Restructurings All Restructurings 

Number Number Number 
of Pre- Post- of Pre- Post- (>( Pre- Post-

Loans modification modification Loans modification modification Lo:01s modificntion modific:11ion 
and Recorded Recorded and Recorded Recorded nml T!ccorded Recorded 

Leases Investment Investment Leases Investment Investment Leases Investment Investment 

fnleresl On(v 

Commercial & Industrial 

Healthcare $ $ $ $ 3 $ 1,087 $ 1,087 

Commercial Real Estate 

Healthcare 94 94 

Tola/ lnieresl Only 4 1,181 1,181 

Ex/ended Amorti:a11on 

Commercial & Industrial 

Independent Pharmacies 2 322 308 

Total Ex/ended 
A1norti:a1ion 2 322 308 

Payme111 l cfcrral om/ 
Extendl!d ..tmoni:::111ion 

Commercial & Industrial 

Independent Pharmacies 262 262 

Total Paymenl Deferral 
and Extended 
A morti:at ion 262 262 

Payment D~ferral 

Commercial & Industrial 

Veterinary Industry 2 559 559 420 420 

Healthcare 1 440 440 

Total Payment Deferral 2 SS9 559 2 ---860 860 

Total 3 821 821 2 860 860 6 1,503 s 1,-189 

Concessions made to improve a loan and lease ' s performance have varying degrees of success. During the twelve months ended 
December 31 2017, one TDR that was modified within the Melve months ended December 3 1, 2017 subsequently defaulted . This 
TDR was a commercial and industrial independent pharmacy loan that was previously modifi ed for payment deferral and extended 
amortization. The recorded investment for this TDR at December 3 1 2017 w.is $I.I million. During the tv,elve months 
ended December 31, 2016, one TDR that was modified within the twelve month ended December 31, 2016 subsequently 
defaulted . This TDR was a commercial and industrial healthcare loan that was previously modified for payment deferral. There 
was no recorded investmenl for this TDR at December 31, 2016. No TD Rs that were modified within the previous rwelve months 
ending December 31, 2015 subsequently defaulted. 
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Note 6. Servicing Assets 

Loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying balance sheet. The unpaid principal balances of loans serviced for 
others requiring recognition of a servicing asset were $2.44 billion, $2.22 billion and $1.78 billion at December 31, 2017,2016 
and 2015, respectively. The unpaid principal balance for all loans serviced for others was $2.54 billion, $2.35 billion and $1.94 
billion at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

The following summarizes the activity pertaining to servicing rights: 

Balance at beginning of period 

Additions, net 

Fair value changes: 

Due to changes in valuation inputs or assumptions 

Decay due to increases in principal paydowns or runoff 

Balance at end of period 

$ 

$ 

2017 

51,994 

14,028 

(2,722) 

(11 ,002) 

52,298 

2016 

$ 44,230 

16,584 

(955) 

(7,865) 

$ 51 ,994 

The fair value of servicing rights was determined using discount rates ranging from 0.00% to 15.40% on December 31, 2017, and 
8.70%to 13.90% on December 3 I, 2016. The fair value of servicing rights was determined using prepayment speeds ranging from 
0.00% to 11 .50% on December 31, 2017 and 2.40% to 9.80% on December 3I,2016, depending on the stratification of the specific 
right. Changes to fair value are reported in loan servicing revenue and revaluation within the consolidated statements of income. 

The fair value of servicing rights is highly sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions. Changes in prepayment speed 
assumptions have the most significant impact on the fair value of servicing rights. Generally, as interest rates rise on variable rate 
loans, loan prepayments increase due to an increase in refinance activity, which results in a decrease in the fair value of servicing 
assets. Measurement of fair value is limited to the conditions existing and the assumptions used as of a patticular point in time, 
and those assumptions may not be appropriate if they are applied at a different time. 

Note 7. P1·emises, Equipment and Leases 

Components of Premises and Equipment 

Components of premises and equipment and total accumulated depreciation at December 31 , 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

2017 2016 

Buildings $ 21,875 $ 21 ,713 

Land improvements 3,566 3,524 

Furniture and equipment 10,391 9,735 

Computers and software 561 444 

Leasehold improvements 7,539 612 

Land 8,650 3,749 

Transportation 44,863 23,470 

Solar panels 90,640 

Deposits on fixed assets 6,534 10,320 

Premises and equipment, total 194,619 73,567 

Less accumulated depreciation (15,829) (8,906) 

Premises and equipment, net of depreciation $ 178,790 $ 64,661 
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Deposits on fixed assets consist primarily ofprel imina1y costs related the Company's planned third building and parking deck at 
its headquarters campus and initial deposit on a new airplane. Outstanding contract commitments for the new airplane purchase 
is $25.5 million with the final purchase payments expected in the second quarler of 2019. Depreciation expense for the years 
ended December 3 1, 20 17, 2016 and 2015 amounted to $9.6 million, $4 .2 million and $2.9 million, respectively. 

Lease Obligations 

Pursuant to the terms of non-cancelable lease agreements in effect at December 31, 20 I 7 pertaining to Company premises and 
equipment, future minimum rent commitments under various operating leases are as follows: 

Year Amount 

2018 $ 964 

2019 793 

2020 380 

2021 232 

2022 237 

Thereafter 230 

Total $ 2836 

ertain leases contain renewal options for various additional terms after the expiration of the current lease term. Lease payments 
for the renewal period are not included in the future minimum lease table above. 

The Company's total rent expense related to the aforementioned leases for 2017, 2016, and 2015 was $848 thousand, $632 thousand 
and $385 thousand, respectively. 

Note 8. Deposits 

The types of deposits at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are: 

2017 2016 

Noninterest-bearing deposits $ 57,868 $ 27,990 

Interest-bearing deposits: 

Interest-bearing checking 36,978 27,402 

Money market 188,146 489,978 

Savings \ 696,989 

Time deposits 1,280,282 939,706 

Total 2,202,395 1,457,086 

Total deposits $ 2,260,263 $ 1,485,076 
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The aggregate amount of time deposits in denominations of $250 thousand or more at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was 
approximately $234.4 million and $253.7 million, respectively. At December 31, 2017 the scheduled maturities of total time 
deposits are as follows : 

Year 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

Thereafter 

Total 

There were no pledged certificates of deposit as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. 

Note 9. Borrowings 

Total outstanding short and long term borrowings consisted of the following: 

Short term borrowings 

On October 20, 2017. ·the Company entered into a revolving line of credit of $20 million ~ith an 
unaffiliated commercial bank. The note is unsecured and accrues interest at LrBOR plus 1. 750% 
for a term of 12 months. Payments are interest only with all principal and accrued interest due 
on October 19, 2018. The tenns of this loan require th.e Company to maintain minimum capital 
and debt service coverage ratios. N o advances have been made to this line of credit and there is 

Amount 

$ 892,164 

116,615 

105,746 

66,420 

23,263 

76,074 

$ l 280,282 

December 31, December 31, 
2017 2016 

$20 million of available credit remaining at December 31, 2017. $ $ -----
Total short term borrowings $ $ 

Long term borrowings 

On eptcmber 11. 2014 the Company financed the construction ofan additional building located 
on the Company ' s Tiburon Drive main campus for a $24 million construction line of credit with 
an unaffiliated commercial bank. secured by both properties at ils Tiburon Drive main facility 
location . Paymems were interest only through September 11.2016 at a fixed rate of 3.95% for a 
term of 84 months. Monthly principal and interest payments of 146 thousand began in October 
2016 with all principal and accrued interest due on eptember 11. 2021 . The construction line is 
fully disbursed and there was no remaining available credit on this construction line at December 

===== 
December 31, December 31, 

2017 2016 

31 , 201~ $ 22,990 $ 23,864 

On Februaiy 23, 2015, the Company transferred two related party loans to an unaffiliated commercial 
bank in exchange for $4.7 million . The exchange price equated to the unpaid principal balance 
plus accrued bllt uncollected interest al the ti111e of transfer. The terms of the transfer agreement 
with the unaffiliated commercial bank identified the transaction as a secured borrowing for 
accounting purposes. Tnterest accrues at prime plus I% with monthly principal and interest 
payments over a term of 60 months. The illleresl rate al December 31 , 20 l 7 is 5 .25%. The maturity 
date is October 5 2019. The pledged collateral is classified in other assets with a fair value of 
$3 .6 million al December 31 , 2017. Underlying loans carry a risk grade of 3 and are current with 
no delinquencies. 

On September 18, 2014, the Company entered into a note payable revolving line of credit of$8.'J 
million with an unaffiliated commercial bank. On April 18 2017, the Company renewed and 
increased the revolving line of credit to $25 million . The note is unsecured and accrues interest 
at Prime minus 0.50% for a 1er111 of24 months. Payments are interest only with all principal and 
accrued interest due on April 30 2019. The terms of this loan require the Company to maintain 
minimum capital liquidrty and Texas ratios. This line of credit was paid in full on August 25 , 
2017 a11d there is $25 million of available credit remaining at December 31 , 2017. 

Total long term borrowings 
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The Company may purchase federal funds through unsecured federal funds lines of credit with various correspondent banks, which 
totaled $47.5 million and $26.5 million as of December 3 1, 2017 and 2016. These lines are intended for short-term borrowings 
and are subject to restrictions limiting the frequency and Lerms of advances. These lines of credit are payable on demand and bear 
interest based upon the daily federal funds rate. The Company had no outstanding balances on the lines of credit as of December 31, 
2017 or 2016. 

The Company has entered into a repurchase agreement with a third party for up to $5 million as of December 3 1, 2017 and 2016. 
At the time tl1e Company enters into a transaction with the third party the ompany must transfer securitie.s or other assets aga inst 
the funds received. The terms of the agreement are set at market condition at the time the Company enters into such transaction. 
The Company had no outstanding balance on the repurchase agreement as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

The ompany may borrow funds through the Federal Reserve Bank s discount window. These borrowings are secured by a blanket 
floating lien on qualifying loans with a balance of $348.5 mil!ion and $28 1.~ million as ofDecember 3 1, 2017 and 20 16, respectively. 
At December 31 2017 and 20 16, the ompaoy had approximately $189. l million and $ 142.7 million respectively in borrowing 
capacity available under these arrangements with no outstanding balance as of December 3 1, 20 17 or 2016. 

Note 10. Income Taxes 

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

2017 2016 2015 

Current income tax (benefit) expense: 

Federal $ (15 ,424) $ 6,487 $ 11,387 

State 1,162 1,244 1,472 

Total current tax (benefit) expense (14,262) 7,731 12,859 

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense: 

Federal 8,389 (3,848) 992 

State 3,628 (440) (56) 

Total deferred tax (benefit) expense 12,017 (4,288) 936 

Income tax (benefit) expense, as reported $ (2,245) $ 3 443 $ 13,795 

Reported income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35% to 
income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 as follows: 

2017 2016 2015 

Income tax expense computed at the statutory rate $ 34,389 $ 6,023 $ 12,039 

State income tax, net of federal benefit 3,114 523 920 

Stock-based compensation expense (380) 768 423 

Change in U.S. tax rate (18,921) 

Other 62 525 413 

Decrease in taxes due to investment tax credit (20,509) (4,396) 

Total income tax expense $ (2,245) $ 3,443 $ 13,795 

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred lo as the Tax Cut and Jobs 
Act (the "Tax Act" ). The Tax Act makes broad and complex changes to the U . . tax code that affects 2017, including, but not 
limited to, accelerated depreciation that will allow for full expensing of qualified properly. The Ta· Act also establishes new tax 
laws that will affect 2018 and after, including a reduction in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21 %. The 
21% tax rate positively impacted 2017 due to the revaluation of the Company s deferred tax assets and liabilities. As uch the 
Company recorded a provisional net tax benefit of$18.9 million. 
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On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 ("SAB 118"), which provides guidance on 
accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year 
from the Tax Act enactment date for companies to complete the accounting under ASC 740, Income Taxes. In accordance with 
SAB 118, a company must reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the Tax Act for which the accounting under ASC 740 
is complete. To the extent that a company's accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act is incomplete but it is able 
to determine a reasonable estimate, it must record a provisional estimate in the financial statements. The Company has recorded 
a provisional amount in the consolidated financial statements and expects the accounting to be completed during the fourth quarter 
of 2018. The final amount may differ from the provisional amount due to additional analysis, regulatory guidance that may be 
issued or changes in interpretation. 

Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

Deferred tax assets: 

Tax credit canyforwards 

Allowance for loan and lease losses 

Mark to market on loans held for sale 

Stock-based compensation expense 

Goodwill and intangibles 

Accrued expenses 

Other 

Total deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Investment in joint venture 

Unguaranteed loan discount 

Premises and equipment 

Deferred loan fees and costs, net 

Other 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax liability 

2017 

$ 20,272 

5,806 

5,751 

1,872 

1,259 

375 

1,062 

36,397 

16,320 

6,615 

24,112 

1,139 

323 

48,509 

$ 12,112 

2016 2015 

$ $ 

6;828 2,780 

3,877 

725 505 

1,395 734 

12,825 4,019 

4,644 4,083 

7,193 3,952 

1,321 892 

13,158 8,927 

$ 333 $ 4,908 

The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset of $20.3 million related to tax credit carryforwards which will expire in 2037. 

The Company does not have any material uncertain tax positions and does not have any interest and penalties recorded in the 
income statement for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. The Company files a consolidated income tax return 
in the U.S. federal tax jurisdiction. 

Note 11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

There are three levels of inputs in the fair value hierarchy that may be used to measure fair value. Financial instruments are 
considered Level 1 when valuation can be based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 financial 
instruments are valued using quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or models 
using inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data of substantially the full term of the assets or 
liabilities. Financial instruments are considered Level 3 when their values are determined using pricing models, discounted cash 
flow methodologies or similar techniques and at least one significant model assumption or input is unobservable and when 
determination of the fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation. 
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Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 

The following sections provide a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well 
as the general classification of such instruments pursuant to the fair value hierarchy: 

Investment securities: Where quoted prices are available in an active market, securities are classified within Level 1 of the valuation 
hierarchy. Level 1 securities would include highly liquid government bonds, mortgage products and exchange traded equities. If 
quoted market prices are not available, then fair values are estimated by using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with 
similar characteristics, discounted cash flow or at net asset value per share. Level 2 securities would include US government agency 
securities, mortgage-backed securities, obligations of states and political subdivisions and certain corporate, asset backed and other 
securities. In certain cases where there is limited activity or less transparency around inputs to the valuation, securities are classified 
within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. 

lmpaired loans: Impairment of a loan is based on the fair value of the collateral of the loan for collateral-dependent loans. Fair 
value of the loan's collateral, when the loan is dependent on collateral, is determined by appraisals or independent valuation which 
is then adjusted for the cost related to liquidation of the collateral. For non-collateral dependent loans, impairment is determined 
by the present value of expected future cash flows. Tm paired loans classified as Level 3 are based on management's judgment and 
estimation. 

Servicing assets: Servicing rights do not trade in an active, open market with readily observable prices. While sales of servicing 
rights do occur, the precise terms and conditions typically are not readily available. Accordingly, the Company estimates the fair 
value of servicing rights using discounted cash flow models incorporating numerous assumptions from the perspective of a market 
participant including servicing income, servicing costs, market discount rates and prepayment speeds. Due to the nature of the 
valuation inputs, servicing rights are classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. 

Foreclosed assets: Foreclosed real estate is adjusted to fair value less selling costs upon transfer of the loans to foreclosed real 
estate. Subsequently, foreclosed real estate is carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value less selling costs. Fair value is 
based upon independent market prices, appraised values of the collateral or management's estimation of the value of the collateral. 
When the fair value of the collateral is based on an observable market price or a current appraised value, the Company records 
the foreclosed asset as nonrecurring Level 2. When an appraised value is not available or management determines the fair value 
of the collateral is further impaired below the appraised value and there is no observable market price, the Company records 
foreclosed real estate as nonrecurring Level 3. Foreclosed assets classified as Level 3 are based on management's judgment and 
estimation. 

Contingent consideration liability: Contingent consideration associated with the acquisition ofReltco will be adjusted to fair value 
quarterly until settled. The assumptions used to measure fair value are based on internal metrics that are unobservable and therefore 
the contingent consideration liability is classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. 

Recurring Fair Value 

The tables below present the recorded amount of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 

December 31, 2017 Total Level I Leve12 Level 3 

Investment securities available-for-sale 

US government agencies $ 22,624 $ $ 22,624 $ 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 68,696 68,696 

Mutual fund 2,035 2,035 

Servicing assets 1 52,298 52,298 

Total assets at fair value $ 145,653 $ $ 93,355 $ 52,298 

Contingent consideration liability" $ 1,900 $ $ $ 1,900 

Total liabilities at fair value $ 1,900 $ $ $ 1,900 
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December 31, 2016 Total Level 1 Level 2 Leve13 

Investment securities available-for-sale 

US government agencies $ 17,823 $ $ 17,823 $ 

Residential mortgage-backed securities 51,273 51,273 

Mutual fund 1,960 1,960 

Servicing assets1 51,994 51,994 

Total assets at fair value $ 123,050 $ $ 71,056 $ 51,994 

See Note 6 for a rollforward of recurring Level 3 fair values for servicing assets. 

2 See Note 2 for activity related to the recurring Level 3 fair value for the contingent consideration liability and various 
assumptions used in the fair value measurement. 

Non-recurring Fair Value 

The tables below present the recorded amount of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis . 

December 31, 2017 Total Level I Leve12 Leve13 

Impaired loans $ 34,493 $ $ $ 34,493 

Foreclosed assets 1,281 1,281 

Total assets at fair value $ 35,774 $ $ $ 35,774 

December 31, 2016 Total Level 1 Level2 Level 3 

Impaired loans $ 27,815 $ $ $ 27,815 

Foreclosed assets 1,648 1,648 

Total assets at fair value $ 29,463 $ $ $ 29,463 

Level 3 Analysis 

For Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of December 31, 20 J 7 and December 3I,2016 
the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements were as follows: 

December 31, 2017 

Lcvtl 3 Assrls with Significant 
Unobservublr Inputs Fair Value 

Impaired Loans $ 34,493 

Foreclosed Assets 

December 31, 2016 

Ltvtl 3 Assets with Significant 

$ 1,281 

Unobserv:ible Inputs Fair Value 

lmpaired Loans $ 27,815 

Foreclosed Assets $ 1,648 

Valuation Technique 

Discounted appraisals 
Discounted expected cash flows 

Discounted appraisals 

Valuation Technique 

Discounted appraisals 
Discounted expected cash flows 

Discounted appraisals 

Significant Unobservable Inputs 

Appraisal adjustments (I) 
Interest rate & repayment term 

Appraisal adjustments ( 1) 

Significant Unobservable Inputs 

Appraisal adjustments (I) 
Interest rate & repayment term 

Appraisal adjustments (I) 

Range 

10%to25% 
Weighted 

average discount 
rate 6.26% 

10%to 37% 

Range 

Oo/oto 25% 
Weighted 

average discount 
rate 5.28% 

10%to 35% 

(I) Appraisals may be adjusted by management for customized discounting criteria, estimated sales costs, and proprietary 
qualitative adjustments. 
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Estimated Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 

GAA P also requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments carried at book value on the consolidated 
balance sheet. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or 
other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used including the discount rate and 
estimates of future cash flows. In that regard. the derived fai r value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent 
markets and in many cases could not be realized in immediate settlement of the instruments.Accordingly, the aggregate fair value 
amounts presented do not represent the underlying va.lue of the Company. 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the ompany in estimating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments 
not measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sh ets: 

Cash and due from banks: The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash and due from banks approximate their fair 
values. 

Cer1ificates ~f deposit with other banks: The fair value of ce1tificates of deposit with other banks is estimated based on discounting 
cash flows using the rates currently offered for instruments of similar remaining maturities. 

Loans held for sale: The fair values of loans held for sale are based on quoted market prices, where available, and determined by 
discounting estimated cash flows using interest rates approximating the ompany s currelll' origination rates for similar loans 
adjusted to reflect the inherent credit risk. 

loans and leases held.for lnvestme111: or variable-rate loans and leases that reprice frequently and with no significant change in 
cred it risk fair values are ba ed on carrying amounts. The fair values for other Joans and leases are estimated using discounted 
cash flow analysis, based on interest rates currently being offered for loans and leases with similar terms to borrowers of similar 
credit quality. Loan and lease fair value estimates include judgments regarding future expected loss experience and risk 
characteristics. Fair values for impaired loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis or underlying collateral values, 
where applicable. 

Accrued interest: The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value. 

Deposits: The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (e.g. interest and non-interest checking, passbook savings, and certain 
types of money market accounts) are, by definition , equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting dale (i.e., their carrying 
amount's) . The carrying amounts of variable-rate, fixed-term money market accounts and certificates of deposit approximate their 
fair values at the reporting date. Fair values for fixed-rate certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow 
calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities 
on time deposits. 

Shorr and long /enn borrowings: The fair values of the ompany s short term borrowings approximate fair value while long term 
borrowings are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on the Company s current incremental debt rates for similar 
types of debt arrangements. 
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The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are as follows: 

Quoted Price In 
Active Markets 

for Significant 
Identical Assets Other Significant 

Carrying /Liabilities Observable tfoobsc1·\':1ble Total Fair 
December 31, 2017 Amount (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3) Value 

Financial assets 
Cash and due from banks $ 295,271 $ 295,271 $ $ $ 295,271 

Ce1tificates of deposit with other banks 3,000 2,993 2,993 

Investment securities, available-for-sale 93,355 93,355 93,355 

Loans held for sale 680,454 706,972 706,972 

Loans and leases, net of allowance for loan 
and lease losses 1,319,783 1,319,615 1,319,615 

Servicing assets 52,298 52,298 52,298 

Accrued interest receivable 10,160 10,160 10,160 

Financial liabilities 
Deposits 2,260,263 2,232,370 2,232,370 

Accrued interest payable 367 367 367 

Long term borrowings 26,564 27,390 27,390 

Quoted Price In 
Active Markets 

for Significant 
Identical Assets Other Significant 

Carrying /Liabilities Observable Unobservable Total Fair 
December 31, 2016 Amount (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3) Value 

Financial assets 
Cash and due from banks $ 238,008 $ 238,008 $ $ $ 238,008 

Ce1tificates of deposit with other banks 7,250 7,236 7,236 

Investment securities, available-for-sale 71,056 71,056 71,056 

Loans held for sale 394,278 397,391 397,391 

Loans and leases, net of allowance for loan 
and lease losses 889,357 873,158 873,158 

Servicing assets 51,994 51,994 51,994 

Accrued interest receivable 7,520 7,520 7,520 

Financial liabilities 
Deposits 1,485,076 1,469,173 1,469,173 

Accrued interest payable 319 319 319 

Long term borrowings 27,843 29,559 29,559 

Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies 

Litigation 

In the normal course of business the Company is involved in various legal proceedings. Management believes that the outcome 
of such proceedings will not materially affect the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company. 

Fina11cial Instruments with Off-balance-sheet Risk 

The Company is party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing 
needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. These 
instruments involve, to varying degrees, credit risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheet. 
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The Company's exposure to credit loss in the event ofnonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for commitments 
to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Company uses the 
same credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as for on-balance-sheet instruments. A summary of the 
Company's commitments is as follows: 

December 31, December 31, 
2017 2016 

Commitments to extend credit $ 1,701,137 $ 1,342,271 

Standby letters of credit 2,298 343 

Solar purchase commitments 106,921 

Airplane purchase agreement commitments 25,450 21,500 

Total unfunded off-balance sheet credit risk $ 1,835,806 $ 1,364,J 14 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established 
in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a 
fee. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not 
necessarily represent future cash requirements. The Company evaluates each customer' s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. 
The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is based on management's credit 
evaluation of the party. Collateral held varies, but may include accounts receivable, inventory, property and equipment, residential 
real estate and income-producing commercial properties. In 2012, the Company began issuing commitment letters after approval 
of the loan by the Credit Department. Commitment letters generally expire ninety days after issuance. 

Solar purchase commitments are to purchase solar assets to fulfill leasing obligations. 

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a customer to a 
third party. Those guarantees are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. The credit risk involved 
in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. Collateral held varies 
as specified above and is required in instances which the Company deems necessary. 

As of December 3 I, 2017 and 2016, the Company had commitments for on-balance sheet instruments in the amount of$3.5 million 
and $4.9 million, respectively. 

Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Although the Company is not subject to any geographic concentrations, a substantial amount of the Company's loans and 
commitments to extend credit have been granted to customers in the agriculture, healthcare and veterinary verticals . The 
concentrations of credit by type of loan are set forth in Note 5. The distribution of commitments to extend credit approximates the 
distribution of loans outstanding. The Company does not have a significant number of credits to any single borrower or group of 
related borrowers whereby their retained exposure exceeds $7.5 million, except for nine relationships that have a retained 
unguaranteed exposure of$101.7 million of which $70.0 million of the unguaranteed exposure has been disbursed . 

Additionally, the Company has future minimum lease payments due under non-cancelable operating leases totaling $61.0 million, 
of which $43.4 million is due from three relationships. 

The Company from time-to-time may have cash and cash equivalents on deposit with financial institutions that exceed federally­
insured limits. 
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Note 13. Benefit Plans 

Defined Contribution Plan 

The Company maintains an employee benefit plan pursuant to Section 401 (k) of the lnternal Revenue Code. The plan covers 
substantially all employees who are at least 21 years of age and have completed one month of service. Participallls may contribute 
a percentage of compensation, subject to a maximum allowed und r tl1e Code. In addition the Company makes certain matching 
contributions and may make additional contributions at the discretion of the board of directors. Company expense relating to !he 
plan for the years ended December 3 I, 2017, 2016, and 2015 amounted to 2.5 million, $2.0 million and $1.4 million, respectively. 

Flexible Benefits Plan 

The Company maintains a Flexible Benefits Plan which covers substantially all employees. Participants may set aside pre-tax 
dollars to provide for future expenses such as dependent care. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

The ompany adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (2014 E PP) on ctober 8. 20 14. On May 24, 2016. the 2014 ESPP 
was amended and the Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan became effective (ESPP), within the meaning of 
Section 423 of the lnternal Revenue ode of 1986 as amended. Under lhis plan, eligible employees are able to purchase available 
shares with post-tax dollars as of the grant date. In order for employees to be eligib le to participate in this plan they must be 
employed or on an authorized leave of absence from the Company or any subsidiary immedialely prior to the grant date. E PP 
stock purchases cannot exceed $25 thousand in fair market value per employee per calendar year. Options to purchase shares under 
the ESPP are granted at a 15% discount to fair market value. Expense recognized in relation to the E PP was $79 thousand in 
fiscal year 2017. There were no E PP purchases during 2015 or 20 I 6. 

Stock Option Plans 

ln 2008, the Company adopted both an Incentive tock Option (ISO) Plan and a Non-Qualified Stock Option (NQSO) Plan. Options 
granted under both plans expire no more tl1an len years from date of grant. Exercise prices under both plans are set by the board 
of directors at the date of grant but shal I not be less than 100% of fair market value of the related stock at the dace of the grant. 
Options vest over three to seven year periods from the date of the grant for both plans. 

On March 20, 20 I 5, the Company adopted the 20 15 Omnibus tock Incentive Plan which replaced the previously existingAmended 
Incentive Stock Option Plan and onstatutory Stock Option Plan. ubsequently on May 24 2016, the 2015 Omnibus tock 
Incentive Plan (the "Plan") was amended and restated to authorize awards covering a maximum of 7,000.000 common voting 
shares and has an expiration date of March 20, 2025. Options or restricted shares granted under the the Plan expire no more than 
IO years from date of grant. Exercise prices under the Plan are set by the Board of Directors a! the date of grant, but sha ll not be 
le. s than I 00% of fair market va lue of the related stock at the date of the grant. Options or restricted shares vest over a min imum 
of three years from the date of the grant. 

Compensation cost relating to share-ba ed payment transactions are recognized in the financial statements with measurement 
based upon the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. For the years ended December 3 1, 2017, 2016 and 2015 
the Company recognized $1. 7 million, $2.3 million and $1.3 millioi1 in compensation e-xpense for tock options respectively. 

Stock option activity under the Plan during the year ended December 31, 2017 is summarized below. 

Outstanding at December 31, 20 I 6 

Exercised 

Forfeited 

Granted 

Outstanding at December 3 I, 20 I 7 

Exercisable at December 31, 2017 

Shares 

3,478,208 

109,010 

310,739 

3 058,459 

693,460 
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Weighted Average 
Weighlrd Avcrnge Remaining 

E enise Price Contractual Term 

$ 11.51 

9.41 

14.37 

$ 11.30 7.04 years 

$ 10.43 6.83 ~ears 

Aggregare Intrinsic 
Value 

$ 38,398,463 

$ 9,308,406 
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The following is a summary of non-vested stock option activity for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2017, 20 I 6, 
and 2015. 

Weighted Anragr Grant 
Shares Date Fair V~lue 

Non-vested at December 31, 2014 1,704,230 $ 1.18 

Granted 2,088,316 6.81 

Vested 173,180 0.88 

Forfeited 225,925 2.66 

Non-vested at December 31, 2015 3,393,441 4.56 

Granted 169,987 6.58 

Vested 372,515 4.41 

Forfeited 174,813 3.06 

Non-vested at December 31, 2016 3,016,100 4.78 

Granted 

Vested 340,362 4.36 

Forfeited 310,739 6.25 

Non-vested at December 31, 2017 2,364 999 $ 4.65 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 was $1 .5 million, $590 
thousand, and $445 thousand, respectively. 

At December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation costs relating to stock options amounted to $8.8 million which will be 
recognized over a weighted average period of2.70 years. 

The weighted average fair value of each stock option gran t is estimared on the date of grant. using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model. The expected volatility is based on historical volatility. The risk-free interest rates for periods within the contractual life 
of the awards are based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The expected life is based on historical 
exercise experience. The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company's history and expectation of dividend payouts . 

There were no options granted in 2017. 

Weighted average assumptions used for options granted during the the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows : 

2016 2015 

Risk free rate 1.56% 1.95% 

Dividend yield 0.05% 1.00% 

Volatility 44.20% 43.53% 

Average life (in years) 7 4-7 
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Restricted Stock Plan 

In 2010, the Company adopted a Restricted Stock Plan. Under this plan, a total ofl,350,000 shares of Common Stock were available 
for issuance to eligible employees. Restricted stock grants vest in equal installments over a two to four year period from the date 
of the grant. During 2015, 65,122 restricted shares at a weighted average grant date fair value of$16.10 per share were granted 
under the 2015 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan which replaced the previously existing Restricted Stock Plan. During 2016, 2,962,486 
restricted stock units were granted to eligible employees and outside directors at a weighted average grant date fair value of$9.76 
per share, of which 2,872,000 restricted stock units had market price conditions or non-market-related performance criteria 
restrictions. During 2017, 340,318 restricted stock units were granted to eligible employees and outside directors at a weighted 
average grant date fair value of $17 .00 per share, of which 233,791 restricted stock units had market price conditions or non­
market-related performances criteria restrictions. 

The fair value of each restricted stock unit is based on the market value of the Company's stock on the date of the grant. Restricted 
stock awards are authorized in the form ofrestricted stock awards or units ("RSUs") and restricted stock awards or units with a 
market price condition ("Market RSUs"). 

RSUs have a restriction based on the passage of time and may also have a restriction based on a non-market-related performance 
criteria. The fair value of the RS Us is based on the closing price on the date of the grant. 

Market RSUs also have a restriction based on the passage of time and non-market-related performance criteria, but also have a 
restriction based on market price criteria related to the Company's share price closing at or above a specified price ranging from 
$34.00 to $38.00 per share for at least twenty (20) consecutive trading days at any time prior to the expiration date of the grants. 
The amount of Market RS Us earned will not exceed 100% of the Market RSUs awarded. The fair value of the Market RSUs and 
the implied service period is calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation method. 

The following is a summary of non-vested RSU stock activity for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair 

Shares Value 

Non-vested at December 31, 2016 134,969 $ 14.96 

Granted 106,527 23.71 

Vested 39,002 15.45 

Forfeited 20,680 14.55 

Non-vested at December 31, 201 7 181,814 $ 20.03 

During 2016 and 2015, the Company granted 597,986 and 65,122 RSUs, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value 
for RSUs granted in 2016 and 2015 were $15.61 and $16.10, respectively. 

For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 the Company recognized $741 thousand, $8.5 million, and $148 thousand 
in compensation expense for RSUs, respectively. 

At December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation costs relating to RS Us amounted to $3 .2 million which will be recognized 
over a weighted average period of 4.54 years. 
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The following is a summary of non-vested Market RSU stock activity for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair 

Shares Value 

Non-vested at December 3 I, 2016 2,364,500 $ 8.28 

Granted 233,791 13 .94 

Vested 

Forfeited 65,483 9.17 

Non-vested at December 31, 2017 2,532,808 $ 8.78 

During 2016, the Company granted 2,364,500 Market RSUs with a weighted average grant date fair value of$8.28. 

The compensation expense for Market RSUs is measured based on their grant date fair value as calculated using the Monte Carlo 
Simulation and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the average vesting period. The Monte Carlo Simulation used 100,000 
simulation paths to assess the expected date of achieving the market price criteria. 

Related to the 100,733 Market RSUs granted on January 31, 2017 and the 3,058 Market RS Us granted on May 8, 2017, the share 
price simulation was based on the Cox, Ross & Rubinstein option pricing methodology for a period of7.0 years. The implied term 
of the restricted stock was 4.1 years. The Monte Carlo Simulation used various assumptions that included a risk free rate ofreturn 
of2.28%, expected volatility of 30.00% and a dividend yield of0.39%. 

Related to the 130,000 Market RS Us granted on August 7, 2017, the share price simulation was based on the Cox, Ross & Rubinstein 
option pricing methodology for a period of 7.0 years. The implied term of the restricted stock was 3.9 years. The Monte Carlo 
Simulation used various assumptions that included a risk free rate ofreturn of2.07%, expected volatility of30.00% and a dividend 
yield of0.33%. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized $5.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, in 
compensation expense for Market RSUs. 

At December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation costs relating to Market RSUs amounted to $16.2 million which will be 
recognized over a weighted average period of 3.01 years. 

Employee/Outside Director Bonus Plan 

In 2014, the Company adopted a Bonus Plan whereby eligible employees and outside directors were qualified to receive quarterly 
and annual bonus payments based on each individual's base pay/annual director fees and the profitability of the Company. In 2016, 
the Company approved a revised Incentive Compensation Plan and the payout criteria was adjusted for exceeding thresholds based 
on certain performance metrics and the profitability of the Company and applied to full-time employees only. Total expenses 
related to the bonus plan for employees were $3.2 million, $2.9 million, and $3.2 million for the years ended December 31 , 2017, 
2016, and 2015, respectively. Total expenses related to the bonus plan for outside directors was $14 thousand for the year ended 
December 31, 2015. For 2016 and 2017, this plan no longer applied to outside directors. 
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Note 14. Regulatory Matters 

Dividends 

The Bank, as a North Carolina banking corporation, may pay dividends to shareholders provided the bank does not make distributions 
that reduce its capital below its applicable required capital, pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes Section 53C-4-7. However, 
regulatory authorities may limit payment of dividends by any bank when it is determined that such a limitation is in the public 
interest and is necessary to ensure financial soundness of the bank. 

Capital Requirements 

The Company ( on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the 
federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional 
discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company's and Bank's financial 
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the Company and the 
Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and certain off-balance­
sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting principles. The capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative 
judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors. Prompt corrective action provisions are not 
applicable to bank holding companies. 

The Basel III Capital Rules, a comprehensive capital framework for U.S. banking organizations, became effective for the Company 
and Bank on January 1, 2015 (subjectto a phase-in period for certain provisions). Quantitative measures established by the Basel III 
Capital Rules to ensure capital adequacy require the maintenance of minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital, Tier 1 capital and Total capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), 
and of Tier 1 capital to adjusted quarterly average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 
that the Company and the Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject. 

When fully phased in on January 1, 2019, the Basel III Capital Rules will require the Company and Bank to maintain (i) a minimum 
ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ofat least 4.5%, plus a 2.5% "capital conservation buffer" (which 
is added to the 4.5% Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio as that buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a minimum ratio of 
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets ofat least 7.0% upon full implementation), (ii) a minimum ratio of Tier I 
capital to risk-weighted assets ofat least 6.0%, plus the capital conservation buffer (which is added to the 6.0% Tier 1 capital ratio 
as that buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a minimum Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.5% upon full implementation), ( iii) a minimum 
ratio ofTotal capital (that is, Tier I plus Tier 2) to risk-weighted assets ofat least 8.0%, plus the capital conservation buffer (which 
is added to the 8.0% total capital ratio as that buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a minimum total capital ratio of I 0.5% upon 
full implementation) and (iv) a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%, calculated as the ratio ofTier 1 capital to average quarterly assets. 

The implementation of the capital conservation buffer began on January I, 2016 at the 0.625% level and will be phased in over 
a three-year period (increasing by that amount on each subsequent January I, until it reaches 2.5% on January I, 2019). Banking 
institutions with a ratio of Common Equity Tier I capital to risk-weighted assets below the effective minimum (4.5% plus the 
capital conservation buffer) will face constraints on dividends, equity repurchases and compensation based on the amount of the 
shortfall. 

As of December 31, 2017, the most recent notification from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation categorized the Bank as 
well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well capitalized, an institution 
must maintain minimum common equity Tier 1 risk-based, total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth 
in the following tables. There are no conditions or events since the notification that management believes have changed the Bank's 
category. 
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Capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, are presented in the table below. 

Minimum Capital Minimum To Be Well 
Actual Requirement Capitalized 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio 

Consolidated - December 31, 2017 

Common Equity Tier 1 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 390,816 17.81% $ 98,764 4.50% $ 142,659 6.50% 

Total Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 415,006 18.91% $ 175,580 8.00% $ 219,475 10.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 390,816 17.81% $ 131,685 6.00% $ 175,580 8.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

(to Average Assets) $ 390,816 15.50% $ 100,828 4.00% $ 126,036 5.00% 

Bank - December 31, 2017 

Common Equity Tier I 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 277,943 12.89% $ 97,060 4.50% $ 140,197 6.50% 

Total Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 302,385 14.02% $ 172,551 8.00% $ 215,688 10.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 277,943 12.89% $ 129,413 6.00% $ 172,551 8.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

( to Average Assets) $ 277,943 11.36% $ 97,864 4.00% $ 122,330 5.00% 

Consolidated- December 31, 2016 

Common Equity Tier l 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 206,670 15.31% $ 60,732 4.50% $ 87,724 6.50% 

Total Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 223,559 16.56% $ 107,968 8.00% $ 134,960 10.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 206,670 15.31 % $ 80,976 6.00% $ 107,968 8.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

( to Average Assets) $ 206,670 12.00% $ 68,919 4.00% $ 86,149 5.00% 

Bank- December 31, 2016 

Common Equity Tier 1 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 139,078 10.68% $ 58,579 4.50% $ 84,615 6.50% 

Total Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 155,423 11.94% $ 104,141 8.00% $ 130,177 10.00% 

Tier I Capital 

(to Risk-Weighted Assets) $ 139,078 10.68% $ 78,106 6.00% $ 104,141 8.00% 

Tier 1 Capital 

( to Average Assets) $ 139,078 8.41% $ 66,142 4.00% $ 82,678 5.00% 
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Note 15. Transactions with Related Parties 

The Company has entered into transactions,. ith its directors, officers, ignificant shareholders and their affiliates (related parties). 
Such iransactions were made in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms and conditions, including interest 
rates, as those preva'iling at the same time for comparable transactions with other customers, and did not in the opinion of 
management. involve more than normal risk or present other un-favorabl features. 

There were no related party loans at December 31, 2017 and 2016, other than those disclosed as secured borrowings in Note 9. 

Deposits from related parties held by the Company at December 31, 2017 and 2016 amounted to $42.8 million and $24.4 million, 
respectively. 

During the year ended December~ 1, 2016, the Company invested $7 thousand in Ple.>."US Funds II and III, L.P. which is included 
in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31 2017 and 2016 with a balance of $1.0 million . There were no 
additional investments in Plexus Funds IT and 1H L.P. during the year ended December 31 2017. In May 2016 the Company 
committed to invest $2.5 million in Plexus Fund I -C L.P. which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2017 and 2016, with $188 thousand of the commitment invested during 2016 and an add itional $375 thousand 
invested during 2017. A member of the Company' s board of directors is also a member of Plexus Capital, the administrator of 
Plexus Funds lI, III and IV, L.P. 

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the ompany invested $1.0 million in DefenseStonn, Inc. ("DefenseStorm"), which 
is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets with a balance of $1.5 million at both December 31, 20 l 7 and 2016. 
The ompany ho.Ids voting and non-voting equity in DefenseStonn which is accounted for as a cost method investment. 
DefenseStorm provides a broad range of lT and cyber security solutions principally designed for financial institutions. As of 
December 31, 2017, the Company held approximately 7.9% ofDefenseStorm on a fully diluted basis in the form of both voting 
and non-voting common equity, including approximately 4.0% voting control. Directors and officers of the Company ai1d their 
affiliates col lectively own approximately 9.8% ofDefenseScorm on a fully diluted basis as of December 31 2017. During 2017 
and 2016, the ompauy had business transactions with DefenseStorm amounting to $405 thousand and $47 thousand, respectively, 
for cyber security event monitoring services. 

During the year nded December 31. 20 16, lhe ompany invested $2.8 million in Finxact LLC ("finxact") a developer of core 
processing software and services for the banking industry, which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. At 
December 3 1 2017, tJ1e ompnny holds approximate.ly 18.8% of Finxact on a fully diluted basis in the form of both voting and 
non-voting equity, including approximately 14. 1 % voting control. This investment is accounted for as an equity method investment 
due to the Company's ability to exercise significant influence over financial and operating policies of Finxact. Certain officers 
and directors oflhe Company collectively own approximately 7.5% ofFinxact on a fully cli luted basis in the form of non-voting 
equity at December 3 I, 2017. 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Com1,any invested $1.5 million in Payrailz, LLC ("Payrailz") an entity tlrnt provides 
digital payment services to the financial services industr which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. At 
December 31. 2017, the Company holds approximately 16.0% of Payrailz on a. fully diluted basis in the form of voting equity. 
This investment is accounted for as an equity method investment due to the ompany's ability to exercise significant in'fluence 
over financial and operating policies of Payrailz. ertain officers and directors of the ompany collectively own approximately 
4.3% of Payrailz on a fully diluted basis in the form of voting equity at December 31, 2017. 

During the year ended December 3 1 2017 the Company closed the digital banking joint venture between Live Oak Banking 
ompany and First Data Corporation creating a new company called Apiture. See Note 3. Unconsolidated Joint Venture for 

further di cuss ion. During 2017 the Company had business transactions wirh Apit11re amounting to $304 thousand for professional 
services. 
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ote 16. Parent ompany Only Financial tatemenls 

The following balance sheets statements of income and statements of cash flows for Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. should be read in 

conjunction with the consolidated financia l statements and the notes thereto. 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Investment in subsidiaries 

Premises & equipment, net 

Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Long term borrowings 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders' equity: 

Common stock 

Retained earnings 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 

Total equity 

Total liabilities & shareholders' equity 

Balance Sheets 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

143 

2017 

54,502 $ 

351,647 

33,948 

25,457 

465,554 $ 

26,564 $ 

2,057 

28,621 

317,725 

120,241 

(1,033) 

436,933 

465 554 $ 

2016 

14,029 

174,957 

30,290 

32,391 

251,667 

27,843 

977 

28,820 

199,981 

23,518 

(652) 

222,847 

251,667 
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Statements of Income 

2017 2016 2015 

Interest income $ 5 $ 50 $ 70 

Interest expense 1,210 964 1,156 

Net interest loss (1,205) (914) (1,086) 

Noninterest income: 

Dividends from banking subsidiary 4,205 

Gain on sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate 3,782 

Other noninterest income 2,114 2,041 1,360 

Total noninterest income 2,114 2,041 9,347 

Noninterest expense: 

Salaries and employee benefits 10,531 12,785 2,592 

Professional services expense 1,192 675 812 

Renewable energy tax credit investment impairment 690 3,197 

Contingent consideration fair value adjustment (4,350) 

Other expense 2,588 2,076 1,719 

Total noninterest expense 10,651 18,733 5,123 

Net (loss) income before equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries (9,742) ( I 7,606) 3,138 

Income tax benefit (320) (10,065) (41) 

Net (loss) income (9,422) (7,541) 3,179 

Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries in excess of dividends 
from subsidiaries 109,921 21,305 17,422 

Net income 100,499 13,764 20,601 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 9 24 

Net income attributable to Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. $ 100,499 $ 13,773 $ 20,625 
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Statements of Cash Flows 

2017 2016 2015 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income $ 100,499 $ 13,764 $ 20,601 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities: 

Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries in excess of 
dividends of subsidiaries (109,921) (21,305) (17,422) 

Depreciation 1,188 1,173 739 

Impairment on contingent consideration (4,350) 

Deferred income tax (5,376) (2,695) 582 

Renewable energy tax credit investment impairment 690 3,197 

Stock option based compensation expense 1,786 2,349 1,277 

Restricted stock expense 5,717 9,724 148 

Gain on sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate (3,782) 

Business combination contingent consideration fair value adjustment 1,950 

Net change in other assets 11 ,649 (17,930) (8,785) 

Net change in other liabilities (820) (358) 1,422 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 3,012 (12,081) (5,220) 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Capital investment in subsidiaries (55,240) (45,870) (28,250) 

Net change in advances to subsidiaries 640 

Business combination, net of cash acquired (7,696) 

Proceeds from sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliate 9,896 

Capital contribution from non-controlling interest 22 

Purchases of premises and equipment (4,864) (143) (11,397) 

Net cash used in investing activities (67,160) (46,013) (29,729) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from long term borrowings 16,900 12,960 

Repayments of long term borrowings (26,279) (532) (26,609) 

Proceeds from short term borrowings 8,100 

Stock option exercises 1,026 401 239 

Employee stock purchase program 445 

Withholding cash issued in lieu ofrestricted stock (4,891) 

Sale of common stock, net 113,096 87,171 

Shareholder dividend distributions (3,776) (2,737) (2,732) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 104,621 (2,868) 71,029 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 40,473 (60,962) 36,080 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14,029 74,991 38,911 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 54,502 $ 14,029 $ 74,991 
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Note 17. Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated subsequent events through the date the financial statements were available to be issued and determined 
that the following events required disclosure: 

Debt Repayment 

On January 31, 2018, the Company repaid in full the $24.0 million construction line of credit with an unaffiliated commercial 
bank. The balance of the long term borrowing was $23.0 million at December 31, 2017. The payoff amount on January 31, 2018 
was $23.2 million, including a $229 thousand prepayment penalty. 

Investment Securities Purchase 

On February 22, 2018, the Company purchased eighteen residential mortgage-backed securities for a total of $170.3 million with 
a weighted average book yield of3 .02% and an average life of 4.9 years. These purchases are part of a strategic plan to enhance 
the Company's contingent funding sources. 
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Item 9. 

None. 

Item 9A. 

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the 
supervision and with the participation of its management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures. In designing and evaluating the disclosure 
controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, 
can provide only reasonable assurance ofachieving the desired control objectives, and management was required to apply judgment 
in evaluating its controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules I 3a-l 5(e) and l5d-J 5(e) under the 
Exchange Act), were effective as ofthe end of the period covered by this report. 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

As of December 31, 2017, management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting based 
on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting established in "Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013)," 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations ("COSO") of the Treadway Commission. Based on the assessment, 
management determined that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017. 

Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm, audited the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Their report is included in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data under the heading "Report oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm." This Annual Report on Form 
10-K does not include an attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm due to an exemption established 
by the JOBS Act for emerging growth companies. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) 
under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2017, that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. 

None. 

OTHER INFORMATION 
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PART III 

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The information required by Item JO will be included in LOB's definitive proxy statement for the 2018 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders (the "Proxy Statement"), under the headings "Proposal I: Election of Directors," "Qualification of Directors," 
"Executive Officers," "ReportoftheAudit and Risk Committee," and "Section I6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" 
and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant 
to Regulation I 4A within 120 days of the end of our 2017 fiscal year. 

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by Item 1 I will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings "Executive Compensation and 
Other Matters" and "Corporate Governance - Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation and is incorporated 
herein by reference. 

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS 

The information required by Ttem 12 will be included in the Proxy Statement under the headings "Beneficial Ownership of Our 
Common Stock" and "Executive ompensation and Other Matters - Equity Compensation Plan Information" and is incorporated 
herein by reference. 

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE 

The information required by Item I.) will be included in the Corporate Governance section of the Proxy tatement under the 
headings· Director Independence." "Director Relationships " ' Indebtedness of and Transactions with Management" and "Certain 
Relationships and Related Person Transactions' and is incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by Item 14 will be included in the Proxy Statement under the heading "Proposal 3: Ratification of 
Independent Auditors" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)(l) Financial taternents. The following financial statements and supplementary data are included in Item 8 of this report. 

Financial Statements 

Quarterly Financial Information 

Reports oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 

Consolidated Statements oflncome for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. All applicable financial statement schedules required under Regulation S-X have been 
included in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial tatements 

(a)(3) Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

Date: March 8, 2018 

Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 

(Registrant) 

By: Isl James S. Mahan III 

James S. Mahan III 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on 
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Isl James S. Mahan lII 

James S. Mahan III 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

Isl S. Brett Caines 

S. Brett Caines 

Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

Isl J. Wesley Sutherland 

J. Wesley Sutherland 

Chief Accounting Officer 

(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Isl William L. Williams III 

William L. Williams Ill 

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Isl William H. Cameron 

William H. Cameron 

Director 

Isl Diane B. Glassman 

Diane B. Glossman 

Director 
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Date 

March 8, 2018 

March 8, 2018 

March 8, 2018 

March 8, 2018 

March 8, 2018 

March 8, 2018 



Isl Glen F. Hoffsis 

Glen F. Hoffsis March 8, 2018 

Director 

Isl Howard K. Landis 

Howard K. Landis March 8, 2018 

Director 

Isl Miltom E. Petty 

Miltom E. Petty March 8, 2018 

Director 

Isl Jerald L. Pullins 

Jerald L. Pullins March 8, 2018 

Director 

Isl Neil L. Underwood 

Neil L. Underwood March 8, 2018 

Director 
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference or filed herewith. References to the "2015 10-K" are to the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. References to the "2016 I 0-K" are to the Company's Annual Report 

on Farm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

Exhibit 
No. 

2.1 

3.1 

3.2 

4.1 

4.2 

IO.I 

10.2 

10.3 

10.4.1 

10.4.2 

10.4.3 

10.5.1 

10.5.2 

10.5.3 

10.6.1 

10.6.2 

10.7.1 

10.7.2 

10.7.3 

10.7.4 

10.7.5 

10.7.6 

10.7.7 

10.7.8 

Description of Exhibit 

ontribution Agreement dated as of May 9, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the current rep01t on 
Form 8-K filed on May 5, 2017) 

Amended and Restated rticles ofl ncorporation of Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
3.1 ofthe registration statement on Form S-1, filed on June 19, 2015) 

mended Bylaws ofLivcOak Bancshares, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit3.2 of the registration statement 
on Form S-1, filed on June 19 2015) 

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the registration statement on Form 
S-1 filed on June 19, 2015) 

Registration and Other Rights Agreement between Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. and Wellington purchasers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the registration statement on Fonn S-1, filed on June 19, 2015) 

2008 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registration 
statement on Form S-1, filed on June 19, 2015) 

2008 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the registration 
statement on Form S-1, filed on June 19, 20 l 5) 

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the quarterly 
report on Form I 0-Q filed on August 8, 20 16) 

2015 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the registration statement on 
Farm S-1 filed on June 19 20 15) 

Amendment to 2015 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan dated December 1 7, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.4.2 of the 2015 10-K) 

2015 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated effective May 24, 2016 (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1 of 1he current report on Form 8-K filed on May 27, 2016) 

Securities Purchase Agreement. dated May 28, 2014 between Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. and Wei I ington purchasers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the registration statement on Form S-1 filed on June l 9, 2015) 

First Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 31, 2014 between Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. and 
Wellington purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the registration statement on Form S-1 filed 
on June I 2015) 

Second Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated ugust 1, 2014 between Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. 
and Wellington purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the registration statement on Form S-1 
filed on June 19 20 J 5) 

Software Service Agreement between Live Oak Banking Company and nCino, LLC, dated ovember 1, 20 l 2 
(incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit JO.JO of the registration statement on Form S-1 filed on June 19, 2015) 

Amendment to oftware Service Agreement dated October 9, 2015, between Live Oak Banking Company and 
nCino, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.2 of the 2015 10-K) 

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement for executive officers under the 2015 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 10.8 of the 20 15 l 0-K) 

Performance RSU Award Agreement for Neil L. Underwood (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the 
current report on Form 8-K filed on March 25, 2016) 

Performance RSU Award Agreement with tock Price Condition for Neil L. Underwood (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 99.2 of the current report on Form 8-K filed on March 25, 2016) 

Form of Performance RSU AwardAgreementwith Stock Price Condition for certain executive officers (incorporated 
by reference lo Exhibit 99.1 of the current report on Form 8-K filed on December 2, 2016) 

Form of Performance RSU AwardAgreementwith Stock Price Condition for certain executive officers (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the current rep01t on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2017) 

Form of Performance RSU Award Agreement with Stock Price Condition for certain executive officers* 

Form ofRSU Award Agreement with Separation Agreement for Gregory B. Thompson dated February 12, 2018* 

Form of 2017 RSU Award Agreement for non-employee directors* 
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* 

Exhibit 
No. 

21.1 

23.l 

31.1 

31.2 

32 

101 

Description of Exhibit 

Subsidiaries of the Registrant* 

Consent of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm - Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP* 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002* 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002* 

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002** 

Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 
2017 and 2016; (ii) Consolidated Statements oflncome for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; 
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; 
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 
and 2015; (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015; 
and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.* 

Indicates a document being filed with this Form 10-K. 

** Furnished herewith. This exhibit shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that Section. Such exhibit shall not be deemed incorporated into any filing under 
the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
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Stock Performance Graph 

Our voting common stock is listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "LOB." The Stock 
Performance Graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock for the period 
from July 23, 2015, through December 31 , 2017, with the cumulative total return of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the 
Nasdaq Bank Index over the same period. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on July 23, 2015, in the common 
stock of Live Oak Bancshares, Inc. , in the Nasdaq Composite Index and in the Nasdaq Bank Index and assumes reinvestment 
of dividends, if any. 
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STOCK INFORMATION 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

James S. Mahan III - Cliaim1u11 und Cl,i,fExewli\'c Officer 

\Villiam L. Williams III - Exewlive Via Presiclcnl aiid Vice C/u1irm11n 
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Original cover artwork by Sabrina Bennbassat 
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